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Vonage is a leading provider of
broadband telephone services
with over 2.2 million subscriber
lines as of December 31, 2006.
Our award-winning technology
enables anyone to make and
receive phone calls with

a touch tone telephone almost
anywhere a broadband Internet
connection is available. We deliver
feature-rich and cost effective
communication services that
offer users an experience similar
to traditional telephone services.
Vonage's service is sold through
the Internet and through national
retailers including Best Buy,
Circuit City, WalMart and Target
and is available to customers

in the United States, Canada
and the United Kingdom. Our
Residential Premium Unlimited
and Small Business Unlimited
calling plans offer consumers
unlimited local and long distance
calling, and popular features
ike call waiting, call forwarding
and voicemail—for one low,

lat monthly rate.
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Fello,

To our new stockholders and employees, and welcome to
the first annual report for Vonage as a public company.
Vonage came into being in 2001 to fulfill the great potential
of telephone communication. We knew that the only way
to do it was by offering the market an evolutionary leap
in phone technology that delivered excellent service and

customer-friendly pricing. After 125 years of old phone

company ways—entrenched, overly regulated, and wary of
change—the new has blown in fast and furious. Vonage is an
innovation whose time has come, and because of its exceptional
customer benefit, it is technology at its best. By leveraging
existing broadband networks, we can offer our customers both
significant savings and the ability to communicate when, where,
and how they choose.

2006 Numbers and Trends

By 2006, we recognized that we were well aligned with strong
market trends and decided to access the capital amarkets to help
facilitate our growth. The $493 million of net proceeds raised in
our initial public offering provides a robust platform for us going
forward. While we are disappointed by the subsequent decline
in our stock price, we remain focused on building the business for
the long-term. Overall, this year’s metrics give us plenty of cause
for optimism. Subscriber lines grew from 1.3 million in 2005 to 2.2 million
by the end of 2006—an increase of nearly one million lines. Cumulative
calls completed over our network have expanded exponentially,
from 5 million back in 2002 to more than 7.5 billion in 2006. Revenue
was $269 million in 2005 and grew to $607 million in 2006.
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Most Significant Events in Telecommunications




A BETTER WAY TO PHONE ON YOUR TERMS

L eading the phone revolution

We understand what people really want from their communications
provider: convenience, control, and comfort. Every day, our engineers,
network technicians, and customer care specialists come to work focused
on fulfilling those desires. Because we provide an easy-to-use, reliable,
high-quality phone service, Vonage has become synonymous with VoIP
in America. Vonage Convenience is having a phone portable enough to
work almost anywhere in the world there is a broadband connection.
Vonage Control is the ability to manage your communications experience
through your web-based account with all the ease the internet provides.
Vonage Comfort is having a feature-rich phone service at a price that

86 V@nage delivers real value.
in a nutshell: Just the beginning
We marry We're in the business of bringing phone service into the 21st century,
innovation where it belongs, and we're excited to be moving the future of
with a deep communication technology into your home and business sooner than
understanding .?(ou d thought possible. Customer-centered lnno.vatuon is how we do
£ ¢ R it. For example, dual-mode phone technology will allow customers
of customers to move seamlessly between Wi-Fi hotspots and cellular areas, making
preferences dropped calls virtually extinct.
to deliver
. Change will always be at the heart of the Vonage story. So will the

feature-rich T .

.9y refreshing simplicity of our customer-focused business model:
Phone SErviCe.”” oy ceptional service with great savings, and no hidden fees. That will
Jeffrey Citron never change.

Jeffrey Citron
Chairman and Chief Strategist
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No hassles. No gimmicks.

No kidding.



A BETTER WAY TO PHONE ON YOUR TERM!

Vonage is total phone freedom. For starters, freedom
to choose any Vonage-enabled device you want. With
Vonage, you get the newest in phone service, but through
the phone you prefer, whether it’s a Vonage-enabled
home phone, V-phone, or your existing phone. You also
get the freedom to move. Since your Vonage number
can be used virtually anywhere there’s broadband access,
you can enjoy having one number that goes wherever
you go. Then there’s the freedom to add great features,
all by yourself. You can self-configure any of 20 standard
features, from voicemail to call waiting. And we give

|
them to you at no extra cost, just the way you want.
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d Why check messages
d in two places when
you can see everything in
one? Soon you'll be able to
have your Vonage voicemails
transcribed and delivered
o you via email or through
the web.




The people’s phone.

With 25 standard and premium features, Vonage enables everyone to
get the most out of their phone service, no matter how they use it.

With Name Call Wolt
Calling In-NetysN
Area Code Sel
Return Callery
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A BETTER WAY TO PHONE ON YOUR TERMS

Our feature-rich menu includes:

Voicemail Plus

Access your voicemail by phone, web,

or email—whichever is most convenient.
Caller ID With Name

See who's calling you before you pick up
the phone.

Call Waiting

Take an incoming call while you're already
on another call.

Call Forwarding

$end incoming calls to any phone number
in the United States, Puerto Rico and
Canada. With our SimulRing feature, your
incoming calls ring your Vonage number
plus up to 5 other numbers simultaneously.
3-Way Calling

Conference call two other parties at

the same time.

Free In-Network Calls

Whether you're calling domestically or
internationally, talk as long as you like to
another Vonage subscriber for free.

Take Vonage With You

Take your phone number with you
almost anywhere you travel.

Area Code Selection

Choose a new number in your local
calling area or almost anywhere in

the country.

Call Transfer

Transfer a call to any other number at
the touch of a button.

Click-2-Call

Select a phone number from anywhere
on your computer and Vonage dials it
instantly.

Call Return

Ring back that missed call.

Caller ID Block

Block your identity when making a phone call
Repeat Dialing

Keep dialing a busy line until you get through,
International Call Block

8lock and unblock international calls,
saving you from the expense of unintended
international calling.

| Ring Lists

" o o Vonage lets your Virtual or Toll-Free
Mumber ring on multiple lines,

Call Hunt

Route incoming calls to different numbers
in the order you choose. Calls “hunt” for
the line that answers first.

V-Forecast

Check the weather anywhere in the U.S.
by dialing 1-700-WEATHER from your
Vonage phone.

V-Access

Let your friends and family dial your
Vonage line for the price of a local call

or toll-free.

For more information, visit:
www.yonage.com/features

VONAGE ANNUAL REPORT 2006 (0)(9)




Vonage can make a call across the globe a local call. Take your
portable Vonage-enabled adapter almost anywhere there’s
broadband access and the world is at your fingertips. And for
less than you would believe. Calls to 5 European countries are
free on Vonage's unlimited plans and Vonage offers low rates
for many international calls. There’s no additional charge when
you call another Vonage number.
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A BETTER WAY TO PHONE ON YOUR TERMS
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Free daiing o
§ Zurgpear Tountries
With & Vonage Unlimited Plan
you can call France, Ireland, Italy,
Spainiand the United Kingdom
for free. And the calls don't
have to be to Vonage customers

—you can call anyone.

The “omage WV prnone
The V-;Phone lets you take Vonage
convenience wherever you go.
Smaller than the smallest cell
phon%e. it connects you to the
world almost anywhere theres a
broadband Internet connection.
Myl Phoar Mumbers

A Vonage Virtual Phone Number
forwards calls to your designated
Vonage number. With virtual
phone numbers, your important
clients in Paris and Milan can
reach you for the cost of a
local‘call.

pRY- ‘~ Lrnaes for te
Vona'ge simplifies your phone
expe:rience with one number
and identity that you can
bring with you anywhere, for
as long as you like.
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We're there for customers 24/7.




A BETTER WAY TO PHONE ON YOUR TERMS

Vonage isn't just a better phone service.
It's people who care about making your
experience the best it can be. Our Customer
Care team is here to help with anything
from installation questions to setting up
your voicemail. You can reach us anytime.
We're here and we care, 24/7.

Installation is as simple as
setting up your Internet
connection, but if you don’t
have time to do it, we'll send
out a professional installer
to get you up and running.

The U.S. Vonage Customer
Care team works out of our
headquarters in Holmdel,
New Jersey. Before helping
you, your Yonage care
representatives complete
instructor-led and online
training.




Two clicks to freedom.

Although the Vonage experience is a new way to phone, the
setup should be familiar. It's similar to setting up your modem;
simply connect your Vonage-enabled adapter to your high-speed
Internet connection and phone, and start experiencing a whole
new way to communicate. You can enjoy amazing service and
great savings within minutes of receiving your Vonage-enabled
adapter. It's small enough to bring anywhere, one of the reasons
Vonage is the most convenient way to phone.
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A BETTER WAY TO PHONE ON YOUR TERMS
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Annual Revenue
{in millions)

2003 2004 2005 2006

Average Monthly Revenue
per Line
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2003 2004 2005 2006

Curpulative Calls Completed

ovey Vonage Network

2003 2004 2005 2006

Direct Margin*

I
2003 2004 2005 12006
|

Total Subscriber Lines
(in millions) '
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Cumulative Call Minutes
over Vonage Network
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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006
or

[1 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission file number 001-32887

VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware ‘ 11-3547680
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) {IRS Employer Identification No.)
23 Main Street, Holmdel, New Jersey 07733
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (732) 528-2600

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, Par Value $3.001 Per Share The New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: Stock Options to Purchase Common Stock,
Par Value $0.001 Per Share

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act. Yes [] No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the
Act. Yes [] No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months {or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 diays. Yes No [J

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to ltem 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated
filer. (See definition of “accelerated filer and large accelerated filer” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Large accelerated filer [] Accelerated filer ] Non-accelerated filer

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act). Yes No

The aggregate market value of the common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant at June 30, 2006 was
$640,778.472.

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant’s common stock as of March 31, 2007 was 155,388,353,
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The information required by Part III of this report, to the extent not set forth herein, is incorporated by
reference from the Registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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Forward-Looking Statements

From time to time, we may provide information, whether orally or in writing, including certain

statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which are deemed to be “forward-locking” within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “Litigation Reform Act™). These

35

forward-looking statements and other information are based on our beliefs as well as assumptions made by
us using informarion currently available,




The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “wili,” “should” and similar
expressions, as they relate to us, are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Such statements
reflect our current views with respect to future events and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and
assumptions. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying
assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those described herein as anticipated,
believed, estimated, expected or intended or using other similar expressions. We do not intend to update
these forward-looking statements, except as required by law.

In accordance with the provisions of the Litigation Reform Act, we are making investors aware that
such forward-looking statements, because they relate to future events, are by their very nature subject to
many important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by the

forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, any exhibits to this Form 10-K

and other public statements we make. Such factors include, but are not limited to: our damaging and
disruptive intellectual property and other litigation; our efforts to design around third-party intellectual
property and implement such design arounds; our history of net operating losses and our need for cash to
finance our growth; the competition we face; our dependence on our customers’ existing broadband
connections; differences between our service and traditional phone services, including our 911 service;
uncertainties relating to regulation of VolP services; system disruptions or flaws in our technology; the risk
that VoIP does not gain broader acceptance; and other factors that are set forth in the “Risk Factors”
section, the “Legal Proceedings” section, the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of
Operations and Financial Condition” section and other sections of this Annuat Report on Form 10-K, as
well as in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K.




PART I

{tem 1. Business
Overview

We are a leading provider of broadband telephone services with over 2.2 millien subscriber lines as of
December 31, 2006. Utilizing our innovative Voice over Internet Protocol, or VolP, technology platform,
we offer feature-rich, low-cost communications services that offer users an experience similar to traditional
telephone services. While customers in the United States currently represent over 95% of our subscriber
lines, we continue to expand internationatly, having launched our service in Canada in November 2004 and
in the United Kingdom in May 2005. Since our initial launch in October 2002, we have experienced rapid
subscriber line growth. For example, we grew from (1.4 million subscriber lines as of December 31, 2004 to
1.3 million as of December 31, 2005 and to over 2.2 million as of December 31, 2006.

We offer our customers a variety of service plans, each of which has a fixed monthly fee. Each of our
service plans includes a full suite of features typically offered by traditional circuit-switched telephone
service providers, such as call waiting, caller ID and call forwarding. In addition, we offer several
enhanced features at no additional charge that are not typically offered by traditional telephone service
providers, such as area code selection, web- and e-mail-based voicemail and an account management
website that allows customers to add or change their features online. We also offer a number of premium
services for an additional fee, such as toll free numbers, fax numbers and virtual phone numbers. We offer
low international per minute calling rates for calls to locations outside the United States, Puerto Rico,
Canada, and certain European countries. We believe the combination of these factors allows us to offer an
attractive value proposition to our customers.

Qur customers can make and receive calls using a standard telephone plugged into a portable Vonage-
enabled device almost anywhere a broadband Internet connection is available. We transmit these calls
using VolP technology, which converts voice signals into digital data packets for transmission over the
Internet. We provide our service by using our customers’ existing broadband Internet connections,
eliminating the need for us to build or lease costly “last-mile’ networks. In addition, our network is based
on internally developed software and industry standard servers, rather than the more expensive circuit
switches used by traditional tetephone service providers. This network design enables us to monitor,
maintain and expand our network quickly and efficiently while realizing capital and operating cost savings.

We have invested heavily to build a strong brand that helps drive our subscriber growth. We employ
an integrated marketing strategy that includes extensive television, online, direct mail, telemarketing, print
and radio advertising, a customer referral program and a range of other promotions, all designed to build
our brand, attract new subscribers and retain existing customers. We employ a broad distribution strategy
and acquire customers through our websites, our toll free numbers and our presence in leading retail
outlets, including, Best Buy, Circuijt City, CompUSA and RadioShack stores.

Recent Developments

Verizon Litigation

On June 12, 2006, a lawsuit was filed against us and our subsidiary Vonage America Inc., by Verizon
Services Corp., Verizon Laboratories Inc., and Verizon Communications, Inc. in the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Virginia. Verizon alleged that we infringed seven patents in connection
with providing VolP services and sought injunctive relief, compensatory and treble damages and attorneys’
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fees. Verizon dismissed its claims with respect to two of its patents prior to trial, which commenced on
February 21, 2007. After triat on the merits, a jury returned a verdict finding that we infringed three of the
patents-in-suit. The jury rejected Verizon's claim for willful infringement, treble damages, and attorneys’
fees, and awarded compensatory damages in the amount of $58 million. The trial court subsequently
indicated that it would award Verizon $1.6 million in prejudgment interest on the $58 million jury award.
The trial court issued a permanent injunction with respect to the three patents the jury found to be infringed
effective April 12, 2007. The trial court has permitted us to continue to service existing customers pending
appeal, subject to deposit into escrow of a 5.5% royalty on a quarterly basis. The trial court ordered that we
may not use our technology that was found to be infringing to provide services to new customers. In
addition, we posted a $66 million bond to stay execution of the monetary judgment pending appeal. On
April 6, 2007, we fited an amended notice of appeal with the United States Court of Appeals for the
Federal Circuit, which issued a temporary stay of the injunction imposed by the trial court. The temporary
stay will remain in effect until the appellate court rules on whether to grant a stay for the duration of the
appeal. The Court of Appeals has set a briefing scheduie and ordered the parties to appear for oral
argument on our request for a stay pending appeal on April 24, 2007. Although we will continue to
vigorously defend against Verizon’s claims, which we believe are without merit, and are continuing to
work on designing around the Verizon patents, we ultimately may not be successful and may be prohibited
from offering our service to new customers. If we are prohibited from offering our service to new
customers, we will be required to cease selling our service through all channels and may still be obligated -
to make payments to certain of our existing vendors. For additional risks relating to our patent litigation,
see “Item 1A. Risk Factors—We are, and may in the future be, subject to damaging and disruptive
intellectual property litigation that could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations
and financial condition, as well as the continued viability of our company” and “Our efforts to design
around third-party intellectual property and implement such design arounds, including in connection with
our Verizon patent litigation, may cause disruptions to our service.”

Unless otherwise indicated, the disclosure set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been
prepared based on the assumption that we will continue to be able to execute our business plan and offer
our service to new customers in 2007,

Reduction-in-Force

On April 11, 2007, we determined to reduce our total workforce by approximately 10% to reduce
costs and improve efficiency. We anticipate incurring a charge of approximately $5.0 million, all of which
would be for one-time employee termination benefits. This charge will be expensed in the second quarter
of 2007 and would result in cash payments of approximately $5.0 million during 2007.

Resignation of Chief Executive Officer

On April 12, 2007, we announced that Michael Snyder stepped down from his position as Chief
Executive Officer and resigned from cur Board of Directors, effective April L1, 2007. We also announced
that Jeffrey A. Citron, our Chairman and Chief Strategist has been appointed, effective April 11, 2007, as
our interim Chief Executive Officer and is expected to serve on a short-term basis. In addition, we have
immediately commenced a search for Mr. Snyder’s replacement. ‘

Our Strengths
We believe we have the following strengths:

s VolP Market Position and Brand. We are a leading provider of broadband telephone services to
residential customers in the United States. Since our inception through December 31, 2006, we
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have raised approximately $1.1 billion of capital and spent approximately $678.8 million for
online, television, print, radio and promotional marketing campaigns designed to build our brand
and to attract and retain customers. In July 2005, Frost & Sullivan, a global growth consulting
company, called us “synonymous with VoIP” in presenting us with their Award for Brand
Development Strategy Leadership, which was awarded in recognition of our strong marketing
and brand development activities. We believe our strong brand recognition has enhanced our
ability to sell our services through direct and retail distribution channels allowing us to capitalize
on growing market demand for broadband and VolIP.

* Attractive Value Proposition. We offer our customers an attractive value proposition: quality
communications services with standard and enhanced features at prices considerably lower than
those of traditional telephone services. Our most popular catling plan, the Residential Premium
Unlimited Plan, offers residential customers unlimited calling minutes within the United States
and to Puerto Rico and Canada any time of the day, any day of the week, for $24.99 per month

_plus applicable fees and taxes. Beginning in May 2006, we started offering free calls to certain
European countries for customers who use our Residential Premium Unlimited Plan. All of our
plans include innovative applications such as area code selection, online account management
and personalized web-enabled voicemail and basic features such as caller ID, call waiting and
call forwarding, all at no additional cost. Another key aspect of our value proposition is the
portability of our service, enabling our customers to use Vonage-enabled devices to make and
receive calls with their Vonage phone numbers almost anywhere that a broadband Internet
connection is available.

* Innavanve Low- Cost Technology Platform. We have invested significant resources in creating
and maintaining our innovative software and network technology platform. We believe this
technology platform not only provides us with a competitive advantage over many other VoIP
service providers but also allows us to maintain a low cost structure relative to traditional
telephone and cable companies by:

* leveraging our customers’ existing broadband Internet connections, which eliminates our
nzed to construct or maintain costly “last mile” telecommunications networks to reach our
customers;

* using software rather than more expensive circuit switches or dedicated softswitches to
route calls over our network;

= enabling us to remotely configure, monitor and update features in real time without the need
for a costly field service visit from a technician;

+ enabling our customers to add or change their service features online, reducing our customer
care expenses;

* allowing us to offer plug-and-play Vonage-enabled devices that our customers can connect
by themselves to access our service, making our service portable and also eliminating the
need for a costly field service visit from a technician; and

. pJ oviding for an online billing and automated payment system which lowers costs by
reducing the number of employees dedicated to billing and collection functions and
eliminating the need for paper bills.

Our technology platform is scaleable, meaning that we require only modest capital investments in
physical plant, and, as the needs of our growing customer base increase, we can augment our capacity at a

low incremental cost. Our platform also allows us to enter new markets.rapidly and offer our services at
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attractive prices. Qur development team continuously works to enhance our technology, develop new
features and maintain our leadership position in broadband telephone services.

Strong Distribution. We have developed both a strong direct sales channel, represented by our
websites and toll free numbers, and an extensive retail distribution channel. We support both our direct and
retail distribution channels through integrated advertising campaigns.

« 1In 2006, we generated approximately 87% of our net subscriber line additions through our direct
sales channel. Our online advertisements are linked directly to our website, where prospective
customers can immediately subscribe to our services.

+ In 2006, we generated approximately 13% of our net subscriber line additions through our retail
sales channel. Our service currently is available at the outlets of leading national and regional
retailers, including Best Buy, Circuit City, CompUSA, RadioShack and Fry’s. As one of the
bestselling VoIP brands in the United States, we believe that retailers give us prominence over
other VoIP providers in their selling space and direct most customer inquiries about VoIP to our
service. We also believe that we provide an attractive VoIP offering for national retail chains
because our service offering in the United States is national, unlike that of cable and traditional
telephone companies. In addition, we have relationships with popular equipment manufacturers,
such as Linksys, Motorola, Uniden and VTech, that have enhanced our attractiveness to retailers,
who can cross-promote our products with the products of these major manufacturers, further
strengthening our sales within the retail channel. More recently we have worked with
manufacturers to have Vonage-certified VoIP chipsets installed in a variety of common
communications devices, such as cordless phones. By introducing such common use products,
we have been able to expand our presence beyond electronics stores into general interest
retailers, which we believe will increase the attractiveness of our product to mainstream
consumers.

QOur Strategy

We believe that our strong brand identity and reputation for quality communications services are
instrumental to building our customer base. Our core business strategy is to develop additional innovative
features, products and services, expand distribution and improve the customer experience in order to attract
new and retain existing customers. As we build on our leading brand and our above-mentioned strengths,
we are pursuing the following additional business strategies:

» Develop Additional Innovative Features, Products and Services. We believe our technology,
product innovation and strategic relationships have helped us achieve our leadership position in
broadband telephone services. Our Development teams work to improve our technology platform
and develop additional features that we believe will be valued by our customers. Our relationship
with Texas Instruments, for example, has resulted in the development of a Vonage-certified
reference design and related chipsets that can be incorporated into telephone and networking
devices, such as VTech cordless telephones and Motorola wireless routers, allowing purchasers
of these devices to subscribe to Vonage services without obtaining additional hardware. To help
maintain our leadership position, we intend to further develop our relationships with leading
semiconductor chip and consumer device manufacturers to ensure that our customers can access
our services using a wide variety of attractive equipment alternatives in the future.

Expand Distribution Capabilities. We seek to further éxpand our distribution capabilities to
achieve greater adoption among mainstream consumers. We plan to continue to execute robust
marketing campaigns to support both our direct and retail sales channels and offer a wider variety
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of attractive equipment alternatives to further drive mainstream adoption of our service.
Additionally, we intend to grow our existing relationships and develop new relationships with
major retailers in order to enhance and reinforce the Vonage brand in mainstream consumers’
minds and reach them in a familiar sales environment. For example, we have third-party field
personnel who visit stores every month on our behalf to promote Vonage product knowledge, to
check on product placement and availability and to drive in-store sales efforts. We also plan to
offer a wider variety of attractive equipment alternatives to help continue to drive mainstream
adopticon of our services,

¢ h 1,

»  Continue to Improve the Cusromer Expenence We have been successful at bu11d1ng our
customer base while trying to manage customer churn. As we seek to expand our business, we
will continue to focus on maintaining a positive customer experience. We also will further
enhance our autornated online account management system, which already allows our customers

' 10 monitor their call activity, listen to voicemails, add lines; change features and plans, check
their bills and make customer referrals online. We will continue to enhance our live customer
care through the strategic use of outsourcing, such as for device installation support.

s Expand into New Geographic Markets. Our technology platform allows us to enter new markets

 with madest capital expenditures. We evaluate new markets based on the number of broadband
customers, competitive landscape and regulatory environment.- We already have'launched
services in the United States, Canada and the United Kingdom and intend to take advantage of
our modular and scaleable technology platform to selectively expand into additional international
markets over time, subject to regulatory and other considerations. In certain countries, we may
need to conduct business through a joini-venture with a local pariner, For additional information
reg,ardmg, our geographic markets, see Note 11 to our consohdated financial statements included
elsewhete in this Annual Report on Form' 10-K.

Service Offerings ‘ o '

We offer our broadband telephone services to cuslomers through a variety of service plans with
different pricing structures. All of our service plans include an array of both basic and enhanced features,

and customers have the opportunity to purchase a number of premium features at an additional fee. In order

to access our service, a customer need only connect a standard touch-tone telephone to a broadband
Internet connection through a small Vonage-enabled device. After connectmg the device, our customers
can use a standard telephone to make and receive calls.

Plans

Within the United States, we currently offer two residential calling plans and two calling plans that
cater to small offices or home offices. Each plan offers calling within the United States and to Puerto Rico
and Canada, plus a package of enhanced services and features, for a fixed monthly fee. Beginning in
May 2006, we started offering free calls to certain European countries for customers who use our
Residential Premium Unlimited plan. ln addmon we offer low mternatlonal calhng rates for calls to other
locations. '

We also offer other plans, including Residential Fax Service, Business Fax and SoftPhone, which are
described below. As of December 31, 2006, approximately 91% of our U.S. subscriber lines were for
residential service, and approximately 73% of those residential subscriber lines were the premium
unlimited plan. We offer similar plans in Canada and the United Kingdom.
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Basic and Enhanced Features

Each of our calling plans provides a number of basic features including Call Waiting, Calier ID with
Name and Call Forwarding. All of our calling plans include a wide range of enhanced features at no
additional charge to our customers, such as:

Area Code Selection. Customers can select from approximately 253 U.S. area codes for their
telephone number for use with our service, regardless of physical location.

Service and Number Portability. Our service is portable. Our customers can use their Vonage
phone numbers to make and receive calls almost anywhere in the world that a broadband Internet
connection is available by taking their Vonage-enabled device with them or using a Vonage
V-Phone, WiFi phone or SoftPhone.

Online Account Management. Customers can view and manage their accounts online. Qur service
provides capabilities such as real-time feature management, call forwarding options and a
lifetime call activity log.

Personalized Web-Enabled Voicemail. Our service allows customers to receive e-mail
notification of a voicemail with the voice message attached to the e-mail message as an audio
file. Our customers can also check and retrieve voicemails online or from any touch-tone phone.

Premium Services

We also offer a number of premium services for additional costs. These services include:

Virtual Phone Number. A customer can have additional inbound telephone numbers that ring on
a primary subscriber line, each for an additional fee. Each of these inbound telephone numbers
can have a different area code. For example, a customer living in New York City with a New
York City phone number can purchase a Los Angeles virtual phone number that rings on the
customer’s primary subscriber line. In this instance, a caller from Los Angeles could call the
customer’s virtual phone number and be billed as if the customer were in Los Angeles. In
addition to U.S. virtual phone numbers, we offer virtual phone numbers from Canada, France,
Ttaly, the Republic of Ireland, Mexico, Spain and the United Kingdom and plan to offer virtual
phone numbers in additional countries. Virtual phone numbers are not included in our subscriber
line count.

Toll Free Plus. A customer can have tol] free numbers that ring on an existing subscriber line.
Toll free numbers are not included in our subscriber line count.

Vonage SoftPhone. A SoftPhone is a software application that can be downloaded and installed
on computers, laptops and WiFi-enabled personal digital assistant devices. It enables a user to
use a computer as a full- functioning telephone, with its own phone number, through a screen-
based interface that works just like a telephone keypad.

Residential Fax Service. We offer 250 minutes of outgoing fax service within the United States,
Puerto Rico and Canada on a dedicated fax line plus unlimited incoming faxes, with customers
charged a per minute fee of 3.9 cents thereafter.

Business Fax Service. We offer 500 minutes of outgoing fax service within the United States,
Puerto Rico and Canada on a dedicated fax line plus unlimited incoming faxes, with customers
charged a per minute fee of 3.9 cents thereafter. One business fax line is included in each of our
business calling pians.




Devices

We believe that our ability to offer a variety of devices with enhanced features and capabilities
differentiates our service offering from that of many of our competitors. Our plug-and-play Vonage-
enabled devices permit our customers to take their equipment to different locations where broadband
service is available as well as switch to different Internet service providers and continue to make and
receive calls on their Vonage phone numbers. We offer our customers a range of equipment alternatives for
their Vonage-enabled devices based upon our relationships with leading technology companies.

» Analog Telephone Adapter. Our analog telephone adapters, which convert analog audio signals
into digital data packets for transmission over the Internet, are plugged in between the customer’s
touch-tone telephone and existing broadband Internet connection. We currently offer stand-alone
adapters manufactured by Linksys and D-Link.

« Integrated Adapter and Router. Our integrated adapters and routers simplify installation by
combining a standard adapter and a broadband router in one device. We currently offer these
devices, which are manufactured by Linksys, D-Link and Motorola, with standard and WiFi-
enabled routers.

o Integrated Cordless Phone, Adapter and Router. In July 2005, we launched our first cordless
multi-phone system, which is manufactured by VTech. This device offers customers further
integration of customer equipment by integrating a standard cordless phene system, our adapter
and a router into one device. These cordless multi-phene systems are designed to appeal to
mainsiream consumers. In addition, Uniden, a leading cordless phone manufacturer, launched a
more feature-rich Vonage-enabled cordless phone in late 2005.

+  WiFi Phone. The UTStarcom F1000 WiFi phone is a pocket-sized, wireless Internet phone that
uses Vonage service by connecting to wireless Internet access points, also known as WiFi
hotspots, worldwide. The WiFi phone works at open WiFi hot spots or known compatible
encrypted sites.

¢ V-Phone. The Vonage V-Phone is a USB compatible device designed for use with our service.
Vonage software comes pre-loaded on the V-Phone and updates itself on the device's 256
megabyte flash drive without installing any software on the host laptop or PC. The V-Phone
comes with a standard 2.5 millimeter stereo earpiece microphone and customers can make and
receive calls by plugging the device into virtually any Windows-based laptop or PC with a high
speed broadband internet connection.

Network Operations

QOur network operations are conducted by our wholly owned subsidiary, Vonage Network Inc., which
holds our networking equipment and employs the personnel who develop our technology.

How Vonage Calls Work

When our customer makes a call, our equipment and network transmit the call through the following
process:

¢ the call starts from the phone handset and travels to the customer’s Vonage-enabled device,
which then converts the analog audio signals into digital data packets;

+ the digital data packets are sent through the customer’s existing broadband connection over the
Internet to our call processing center; and




« the digital data packets are routed by our call processing center in one of two ways depending
upon the call recipient:

« for recipients who use Vonage, the digital data packets are routed directly over the Internet
to the recipient’s tocation and converted back to analog signals by the recipient’s Vonage-
enabled device; and

+ for recipients who are not Vonage customers, the digital data packets are routed through one
of our regional data connection points, which converts the digital data packets back to
analog signals and routes the call to the public switched telephone network.

If someone who does not have Vonage service calls a Vonage customer, the call is routed over the
public switched telephone network to a gateway at one of our regional data connection points, where the
analog signal is converted into digital data packets, and we route the call over the Internet through our call
processing center to our customer.

3
.
:

LR LL] ;)

Our scaleable network architecture and centrally managed technology platform are designed to
provide customers with the familiar functions and ease of use associated with traditional telephone service
while allowing us to maintain and upgrade our network without significant capital expenditure and to
provide our services at a low cost. Our network is based on internally developed software, rather than the
expensive circuit switches and softswitches used by other telephone service providers. We have also
developed a number of software systems, such as our web-based billing system, that provide our customers
with valuable features while simultaneously enabling us to manage our business more efficiently.

Core Network Elements

*  Vonage-Enabled Devices. We work with a number of leading equipment manufacturers to
provide our customers with a variety of equipment alternatives while ensuring that all devices
have the functionality found in our standard Vonage-enabled adapter. -
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Call Processing Centers. Our call processing centers communicate with the equipment at the
Vonage customer’s location to authenticate and authorize access to our network. The call
processing centers are also responsible for all call signaling in our network, such as initiating
phone calls, delivering inbound calls to a customer’s phone, and other calling features such as
call forwarding. The call processing centers are built from our internally developed software and
industry-standard servers and make use of techniques in distributed computing.

Regional Data Connection Points. Calls into or out of our network, where one of the parties is
not a Vonage custoiner, are interconnected with the public switched telephone network at 24
regional data connection points, 20 of which are in the United States. Our interconnections with
the public switched telephone network are made pursuant to agreements we have with several
telecommunications providers. Under these agreements, we transfer calls originated by our
customers to other carriers who connect the call to the called party, We pay a per-minute charge
for this. The calls are transferred from our equipment to other carriers at connection points that
are typically housed in small co-location facilities in which we lease space from other
telecommunications providers. We generally pay monthly for this co-location, based on the
amount of space we use. As we.expand, we launch additional regional data connection points to
reduce our network transport and other costs. This method of connecting to the public switched
telephone network allows us to expand capacity quickly, as necessary to meet call volume, and to

. provide redundancy within our network. Our business is not substantially dependent upon our

agreements with other carriers or our interconnection agreements, because we can casily
substitute other telecommunications providers in order to obtain the same or similar service at
similar cost,

Other Key Systems

Nerwork Operations Center. We currently maintain a network operations center at our
headquarters. The network operations center monitors and manages the status and health of our
netwark elements, allowing us to manage our network in real time, respond to alert notifications
and re-route network traffic as needed. We pursue a multi-faceted approach to managing our
netwark to ensure high call quality and reliable communications services to our customers.

Back Office Systems. In addition to our network management systems, we have developed a
number of software systems that enable us to manage our network and service offering more
efficiently and effectively. Key aspects of these systems include:

. »  Customer Device Management System. We have developed a suite of software solutions that

enable us to remotely provision, monitor and configure customer devices and services.
When we develop new service offerings or software solutions, we can securely update a
customer’s equipment and software features in real time without the nzed for costly-field
visits. )

»  Web Portal. We provide a fully functional customer web portal that allows our customers to
configure and manage almost all aspects of their service on the Internet. In addition, we
have developed our own scaleable web-based billing system that allows our customers to
access all of their call usage and billing details.

*  Reporting Tools. To enhance our network operations efforts, we have a series of internally
developed monitoring and reporting tools that enable us to more efféctively manage our
network and quickly and efficiently recognize and respond to potential issues.

Emergency Calling Service and Enhanced 911 Service, We have deployed E-911 service to
approximately 93% of our U.S. customer base that is comparable to the emergency calling
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services provided to customers of traditional wireline telephone companies in the same area. For
customers in areas where our E-911 service is available, emergency calls are routed, subject to
the limitations discussed below, directly to an emergency services dispatcher at the PSAP in the
area of the customer’s registered location. The dispatcher will have automnatic access to the
customer’s telephone number and registered location information. However, if a customer places
an emergency call using the customer’s Vonage-enabled device in a location different from the
one registered with us, the emergency call will be routed to a PSAP in the customer’s registered
focation, not the customer’s actual location at the time of the call. Every time a customer moves
his or her Vonage-enabled device to a new location, the customer’s registered location
information must be updated and verified. Until this occurs, the customer will have to verbally
advise the emergency dispatcher of his or her actual location at the time of the call and wait for
the call to be transferred, if possible, to the appropriate local emergency response center before
emergency assistance can be dispatched.

In some cases, even under our E-911 service, emergency calls may be routed to a PSAP in
the area of the customer’s registered location, but such PSAP may not be capable of receiving our
transmission of the caller’s registered location information and, in some cases, the caller’s phone
number. Where the emergency call center is unable to process the information, the caller is
provided a service that is similar to the basic 911 services offered to some wireline telephone
customers and some wireless customers. In these instances, the emergency caller may be required
to verbally advise the operator of their location at the time of the call and, in some cases, provide
a call back number so that the call can be handled or forwarded to an appropriate emergency
dispatcher.

The emergency calls of customers located in areas where we currently do not provide either
E-911 or the basic 911 described above are either routed directly to the PSAP in the area of the
customer’s location or supported by a national call center that is run by a third party provider and
operates 24 hours a day, seven days a week. In these cases, a caller must provide the operator
with his or her physical location and call back number. If a customer reaches the call center, the
operator will coordinate connecting the caller to the appropriate PSAP or emergency services
provider. Our E-911 service does not support the calls of our V-Phone, WiFi phone and
SoftPhone users. The emergency calls of our V-Phone, WiFi phone and SoftPhone users are
supported by the national call center.

Security. We have developed a service architecture and platform that use industry-standard
security techniques and allow us to remotely manage customer devices. Any Vonage-enabled device
used by our customers can be securely managed by us, and these devices use authentication
mechanisms to identify themselves to our service in order to place and receive calls. We regularly
update our protocols and systems to protect against unauthorized access.

Agreements with E-911 Service Providers. To enable us to effectively deploy and provide our
E-911 service, we currently maintain agreements with several E-911 service providers, Intrado, Inc.
maintains an extensive public safety answering point, or PSAP, database for the purpose of deploying
and operating E-911 services. The database includes contact, technical infrastructure, boundary and
routing information for delivery of calls to PSAP or emergency service providers in the United States.
Our agreement with Intrado, Inc. will continue through July 2008, and we have the option to extend
the agreement for successive one-year terms thereafter.

Qur agreement with Level 3 Communications assists us in the routing and termination of E-911
calls. For those customers located in an E-911 area serviced by our agreement with Level 3
Communications, emergency calls are routed directly to an emergency service dispatcher at the PSAP
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in the area of the customer’s registered location. The dispatcher will have automatic access to the
customer’s telephone number and registered location information. The agreement will continue
through December 2008, and then will convert 10 a month-to-month basis unless terminated by us or
by Level 3 Communications upon thirty days written notice.

While our new E-911 service being deployed in the United States is designed to route calls in a
fashion similar to traditional wireline services, our new E-911 capabilities are not yet available in all
locations. Some of the emergency calls of customers located in areas where we are currently unable to
provide either E-911 or the basic 911 services are routed to a national call center that is run by
TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. and operates 24 hours a day, seven days a week. The call center
operator will coordinate connecting the caller to the appropriate PSAP or emergency services
provider. :

TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. also maintains an extensive PSAP database for the purpose of
deploying and operating E-911 services. The database includes contact, technical infrastructure,
boundary and routing information for delivery of calls to PSAP or emergency service providers in the
United States. Our agreement with TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. will continue through
June 2008, and then will automatically renew for one-year periods thereafter, unless either we or
TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. notifies the other party within sixty days of the expiration of the
relevant period.

Other Agreements. We have entered into agreements with several service providers to assist us
with operations. We support local number portability for our customers, which allow new customers
to retain their existing telephone numbers when subscribing to our services. We rely on our agreement
with Synchronoss Technologies Inc. to facilitate the transfer of customer telephone numbers. This
agreement will continue through May 2007, and we may extend the agreement for successive one-year
terms thereafter.

* Third Pasty Verification, Inc. performs the third party verification of pertinent local number
portability information from our subscribers. This verification is an integral process step prior to
porting a customer from one local telephone company to us. Our agreement with Third Party
Verification, Inc. will continue through May 2009, and will automatically renew for one-year
periods thereafter, unless either we or Third Party Verification, Inc. notifies the other party
within sixty days of the expiration of the relevant period. -

* Our agreement with NeuStar, Inc. provides us with certain operations support systems services
that enable us to implement our local number portability solution. Pursuant to the agreement,
NeuStar, Inc. enables us to exchange information with other communication service providers to
facilitate the transfer of new customers’ telephone numbers when subscribing to our services.
This agreement will continue through December 2009, unless either we or NeuStar, Inc.
experiences any of several insolvency events defined in the agreement, or commits any event of
default defined in the agreement.

Technology and Development

We conduct substantial ongoing technology development to continually strengthen our network

platform and enhance the communications services we offer to our customers. We seek to hire talented and
innovative engineers and software programmers to solve challenging problems in areas such as distributed
computing and high availability systems. For example, through our patent-pending SIP-thru-NATSM
technology, we have developed the ability to provide VolP phone service to a customer whose Vonage-
enabled device is located behind a network firewall without requiring any manual configuration.
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Key technology initiatives include the following:

Cost-Effective Scalability

Our rapid growth requires us to quickly and efficiently scale our operations to meet increased call
volume, while continuing to ensure call quality and service reliability. We continue o research new
hardware and software technologies that will further enable us to grow. We also identify and use
commercial products and systems from vendors, such as Sun Microsystems, Sonus Networks, Oracle,
Cisco and IBM, where appropriate. ‘ '

Customer Equipment Alternatives

We believe that our customers desire a wide array of equipment alternatives for accessing our
services, As a result of our development efforts with Texas Instruments, Vonage-certified chipsets and
reference designs can be incorporated in computing and telephony devices. Another equipment alternative
is a wireless handset that was developed by UTStarcom using its own technology. This wireless handset,
which was released in the second half of 2005, is an integrated phone and adapter employing WiFi
technology that allows customers to use Vonage phone service while roaming throughout an enterprise
campus, home or public WiFi network. We continue to pursue additional strategic relationships with -
leading semiconductor chip manufacturers, similar to our existing relationship with Texas Instruments.

Marketing . : : :

Our marketing objective is to achieve subscriber liné goals by cost-effectively acquiring and retaining
customers. We will achieve these goals by investing in the Vonage brand, increasing customer loyalty and
by effectively delivering the right message to the right customers at the right time. When promoting our
telephone service, we target both the home and small business markets. Our marketing messages focus on
value, guality and reliability of service, and premium features that help customers communicate whenever,
however and wherever they choose.

We employ an integrated multi-channel approach to marketing. We make use of broad-reach and
highly-targeted media channels including television, online, direct mail, database, alternative media, print,
telemarketing, partner marketing and customer referral programs. As a national provider, we believe we are
able to buy online and traditional media in a highly efficient manner. We give our consumers a choice to
transact in a manner that is easy and convenient. Qur customers have multiple channels and ways to
purchase Vonage services and products, through the internet, by phone, in a retail store or a kiosk, They
can choose various payment options, like credit cards, debit cards and electronic check payments, or ECP.

We monitor the results of our marketing efforts closely in a number of ways, including the cost of
acquiring new subscriber lines, to evaluate which approaches produce the best results and deploy our
marketing resources accordingly. All of our testing follows disciplined direct marketing tactics which helps
us isolate the variables that are driving performance. And, because we track performance beyond the gross
sale, we are able to put a priority on those programs that attempt to bring in customers. We believe the
scale of our advertising program has given us greater purchasing power than many of our competitors and
has enabled us to negotiate-favorable pricing arrangements. Unlike our regiconal competitors, we are able to
leverage national advertising campaigns. We are opportunistic in our purchase of available advertising slots
and keep part of our budget in reserve to take advantage of last-minute opportunities. This approach often
provides significant cost savings, enabling us to reach a greater number of potential customers more cost-
efficiently. : ) ‘

14




We make use of marketing research to gain consumer insights into brand, product and service
performance. We also monitor brand strength among VoIP, broadband and dial-up customers. Market
research is also leveraged in the areas of testing, retention marketing and product marketing, We believe
gaining insights into customer needs, wants and preferences is a key marketing asset.

We augment these marketing efforts with Refer-a-Friend, our online customer referral program, Under
this program, existing customers can use the Vonage website to send e-mails to their friends that describe
our service offerings and track their responses. In return for referring a new customer, both the new and the
existing customer receive a service credit. Approximately 11% of the net subscriber line additions through
our direct sales channel, representing 10% of our net subscriber line additions in 2006 resulted from
customer referrals.

Sales and Distribution
Direct Sales

The primary sales channel for our service historically has been online direct sales, Customers can
subscribe to our services at our websites, http://www,vonage.com, http:/fwww, vonage.ca and htip://
www.vonage.ca.uk, or through our toll free number. We complement this sales channel with outbound
telephone direct sales. In 2006, approximately 87% of our net subscriber line additions were added through
our direct sales channel.

Retail Sales

In addition to our direct sales channel, we also offer sales through our retail channel. Qur service
currently is available at the outlets of leading national and regional retailers, including Best Buy, Circuit
City, CompUSA. and RadioShack. We believe that the availability of our devices through premier retailers
enhances and reinforces the Vonage brand with consumers and that the retail channel increases our ability
to acquire mainstream consumers by reaching them in a familiar and interactive shopping environment. By
working with manufactarers to have Vonage-certified VolP chipsets installed in a variety of common
communications devices, such as cordless phones, we have been able 10 expand our presence beyond
electronics stores into general interest retailers. As there is limited space in the stores of leading retailers,
we believe our presence in them provides us with a competitive advantage in new subscriber line
acquisitions. We also benefit from the co-marketing of our service with broadband Internet connectivity,
customer equipment and home networking equipment by some of our retailers.

We believe that we provide an attractive VolP offering for national retail chains and that they give our
displays prominence in their selling space and direct most customer inquiries about VoIP to our service. In
addition, because our service offering in the United States is national, our retail product offerings have
greater appeal to large regional and national chains than the offerings of cable operators and local
telephone companies, which are regional. In our ongoing effort to reach more customers and build our
brand, we continually build our retail relationships and work to increase our retail store presence, We
currently are negotiating with several major retailers to expand our retail sales network. '
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We have seen increases in retail sales over time, which accounted for 13% of our net subscriber line
additions in 2006, and we anticipate further growth from our retail sales relationships. The following table
lists some of our major retail sales relationships, each of which has been in place since at least
December 2004: :

*  Amazon.com +  CompUSA « Sam’s Club

* Best Buy « Fry's »  Staples

* Buy.com »  J&R Music World - + Staples Business Depot (Canada)

« Circuit City ¢+ RadioShack : * The Source by Circuit City (Canada)

In addition, we launched a retail presence through Wal-Mart, Wal-Mart (Canada), Target, Micro
Center, London Drugs (Canada), Best Buy/Future Shop (Canada), Office Depot (Canada), CompuSmart
(Canada), Telephone Booth (Canada), Wireless Wave (Canada), Staples (UK), Comet {UK), and PC World
(UK).

Customer Relations
Customer Service

We offer our customers support 24 hours a day, seven days a week through both our comprehensive
online account management website and our toll free number. We believe that many customers use our
online account management website first when they have a question or problem with their service and that
many of them are able to resolve their concerns online without needing to speak to a customer care
representative. Our customers can manage almost all aspects of their accounts online. This capability both
empowers our customers through self-service and reduces our customer care €Xpenses.

Customers who cannot or do not wish to resolve their questions through our website can contact a live
customer care representative through our toll free number. We staff our customer care hotline through a
combination of our own employees and‘outsourced customer care representatives, Customer calls are
handled by one of three tiers of trained responders, based on the nature and complexity of the customer’s
question or problem. We also have a separate team of Vonage employees dedicated to resolving customers’
complex local number portability issues that could not be handled by our outsourced personnel.

We are expanding and improving our customer care team in order to support the rapid growth of our
business. All new customer care representatives are trained through an established program developed and
led by Vonage employees. We also offer continuing training programs for our existing employees, which
employees can use to improve their skills and advance to new positions in our company.

We also continue to evaluate our customer care systems and invest in new appliéations to improve our
responsiveness. For example, in March 2005 we upgraded our call center technology, which expanded our
call center capacity and improved our call and staff management capability. In 2006, our average monthly
customer churn increased to 2.5%, from 2.0% in 2005. We believe this is due to our rapid growth and
inability to hire enough qualified customer care employees, which led to less than satisfactory customer
care and, in part due to increased competition.

Billing

All customer billing is automated through our website, and notifications of credit and debit card
charges and ECP are distributed by e-mail. We automatically collect all fees from our customers’ credit
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card, debit card and ECP. By collecting monthly subscription fees in-advance and certain other charges s
hortly after they are incurred, we are able 10 reduce the amount of accounts receivable that we have
outstanding, thus allowing us 1o have lower working capital requirements. Collecting in this manner also
helps us mitigate bad debt exposure, which is recorded as a reduction to revenue. If a customer’s credit
card, debit card or ECP is declined, we generally suspend international calling capabilities as well as the
customer’s ability to incur domestic usage charges in excess of the customer’s plan minutes. Historically,
in most cases. we are able to correct the problem with the customer within the current monthly billing
cycle. If the customer’s credit card, debit card or ECP cannot be successfully processed during two billing
cycles (i.e. the current and subsequent month’s bitling cycle), we terminate the account. As part of our
effort to improve: customer satisfaction and increase retention, we extended our customer grace period for
non-payment in order to better resolve customer accounts that may be past due. This extension had a
one-time positive impact of 10 basm points on our average monthly customer churn for the quarter ended
December 31, 2006.

lntellectual Property

We believe that our technological position depends primarily on the experience, technical compctcncc'
and the creative ability of our engineering and technology staff. We review our technological developments
with our technology staff and business units to identify the features of our core technology that provides us
with a technological or commercial advantage and file patent applications as necessary to protect these
features in the United States and internationally. Our company policies require our employees to assign
their intetlectual property rights to us and to treat all technology as our confidential information. We have
filed several patent applications to protect our technology, which are all currently pencing,

In addition 10 developing technology, we evaluate the licensing and acquisition of intellectual property
of others in order to identify technology that provides us with a technological or commercial advantage.
We recently acquired three patents from Digital Packet Licensing Inc. that enable VolIP technology. The
three acquired patents are related to the compression of packetized digital signals commonly used in VoIP
technology. One of the patents has expired, and the other patents expire in 2008 and 2013, respectively.

After a trial on the merits in our patent litigation with Verizon, a jury returned a verdict finding that
we infringed on three of Verizon’s patents and awarded compensatory damages in the amount of $38
million. The trial court issued a permanent injunction with respect to the three patents the jury found to be
infringed. The trial court has permitted us to continue Lo service existing customers pending appeal, subject
to deposit into escrow of a 5.5% royalty on a quarterly basis. The trial court alse issued an order
prohibiting us from servicing new customers using our technology that was found to be infringing. On
April 6, 2007, the. United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit issued a temporary stay of the
injunction imposed by the trial court. The temporary stay will remain in effect until the appellate court
rules on whether 1o grant a stay for the duration of the appeal. The Court of Appeals has set a briefing
schedule and ordered the parties to appear for oral argument on our request for a stay pending appeal on
April 24, 2007. For more information, see “Itern 3. Legal Proceedings — Patent Litigation.”

We are the owner of numerous trademarks and service marks and have applied for registration of our
trademarks and service marks in the United States and abroad to establish and protect our brand names as
part of our intellectual property strategy. Some of our registered marks include Vonage®, Redefining
Communications®, Vonage Digital Voice® and Vonage The Broadband Phone Company®. These
registered marks have a duration of ﬁve years from the date they are registered.
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We endeavor to protect our internally developed systems and maintain our trademarks and service
marks. Typically, we enter into confidentiality or license agreements with our employees, consultants,
customers and vendors in an effort to control access to and distribution of our technology, software,
documentation and other information.

Competition

We face strong competition from incumbent telephone companies, cable companies, alternative voice
communication providers and wireless companies. Because most of our target customers are already
purchasing communications services from one or more of these providers, our success is dependent upon
our ability to attract these customers away from their existing providers. This will become more difficult as
the early adopter market becomes saturated and mainstream customers make up more of our target market.
We believe that the principal competitive factors affecting our ability to attract and retain customers are
price, call quality, reliability, customer service, and enhanced services and features.

Incumbent telephone companies

The incumbent telephone companies are our primary competitors and have histortcally dominated
their regional markets. These competitors include AT&T, Qwest Communications and Verizon
Communications as well as rural incumbents, such as Citizens Communications. These competitors are
substantially larger and better capitalized than we are and have the advantage of a large existing customer
base. Many of their customers either do not have a broadband Internet connection or are very satisfied with
their current service. In addition, many users of traditional phone service who might otherwise switch to
our service do not have the ability to cancel their traditional phone service without also losing their
broadband DSL service. While a majority of broadband users today subscribe to cable modem service,
recent trends suggest that DSL providers are gaining broadband market share. Others are not willing to
install a Vonage-enabled device, accept the limitations of our emergency calling service, forgo service
during power outages or irust a new company such as Vonage with a vital service. Before subscribing to
our service, a substantial majority of our new customers must first decide to terminate their service from
their incumbent telephone company or pay for our service in addition to their existing service.

The incumbent phone companies own networks that include a last mile connection to substantially all
of our existing and potential customers as well as the places our customers call. As a result, the vast
majority of the calls placed by a Vonage customer are carried over the “last mile” by an incumbent phone
company, and we indirectly pay access charges to these competitors for each of these calls. In contrast,
traditional wireline providers do not pay us when their customers call our customers. Their “last mile”
connections enable these competitors to bundle phone service with Internet access and television at prices
we may find difficult to compete with.

We currently charge prices that are significantly lower than prices charged by the incumbent phone
companies, which has facilitated our rapid growth. We believe the incumbent phone companies have
significant overhead expenses, which have resulted in the high prices they charge. However, their marginal
cost to complete each additional call on their networks is negligible. This could lead them to decrease the
prices they charge, which would have an adverse effect on our ability to attract and retain their customers.
We also currently compete successfully with the incumbent phone companies on the basis of the features
we offer that they do not (such as area code selection and virtual phone numbers) and features we offer at
no extra charge. The incumbent phone companies might be able to improve their offerings in these areas,
which would also have an adverse effect on our ability to attract and retain customers. Furthermore, the
incumbent phone companies could offer broadband communications through subsidiaries that are not
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burdened with their overhead and legacy equipment. Given their ability to offer DSL last mile connections,
this would significantly enhance their ability to compete with us on the basis of price and features. For
example, on May 3, 2006, Verizon Communications reduced the price of their VolP service to $24.95 per
month for their unlimited calling plan.

The incumbent phone companies have long-standing relationships with regulators, legislators,
lobbyists and the media: This can be an advantage for them because legislative, regulatory or judicial
developments in our rapidly evolving industry and public perception could have a material effect on the
value of our stack. s

Cable éompagties

. These competitors include companies such as Cablevision, Comcast, Cox Communications and Time
Warner Cable. Cable companies have made and are continuing to-make substantial investments in
delivering last mile broadband Internet access to their customers. As a result, they can be expected to
compete intensely for the money that their customers spend for phone service over that connection. They
provide Internet access and cable television to most of our existing and potential customers. This allows
them to engage in highly targeted, low-cost direct marketing and may enhance their image as trusted |
providers of services. :

Cable companies are aggressively using their existing customer relationships to bundle services. For
example, they bundle Internet access, cable television and phone service with an implied price jor the
phone service that may be significantly below ours. In addition to their existing bundling.capabilities,
Advance/Newhouse Communications, Comeast, Cox Communications and Time Warner Cable announced
on November 2, 2005 that they will form a joint venture with Sprint Nextel which will enable these cable
companies to offer wireless services as a fourth element of their bundle of service offerings. We beheve
this joint venture will further enhance the competitive offering of cable companies.-

Cable companies are able to advertise on their local access channels with no significant out-of-pocket
cost and through mailings in bills with little marginal cost. They also receive advertising time as part of
their relationships with television networks, and they are able to use this time to promote their telephone
service offerings.- L : !

Cable companies’ ownership of Internet connections to our customers could enable them to detect and
interfere with the completion of our customers’ calls. These companies may degrade the quality of, give
low priority to or block entirely the information packets and other data we transmit over their lines. In
addition, these companies may attempt to charge their customers more for using our services. This could
also apply to phone compames that connect our customers to the Internet. '

-We belneve our ability to successfully compete with cable companies is enhancc‘d by the features we
offer that cable companies do not offer (such as portable service and wide choice of area codes) and
because our national presence makes us more attractive to national retail outlets and allows us to more
efficiently purchase national advertising.

Wireless telephone compames

We also compete with wireless phone companies, such as AT&T (former]y Cingular Wireless LLC),
Sprint Nextel Corporation, T-Mobile USA; Inc. and Verizon Wireless. Some consumers use wireless
phones, instead of VolP phones, as a replacement for a wireline phone. Also, wireless phone companies
increasingly are providing wireless broadband Internet access to their customers and may in the future offer
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VolP to their customers. We belicve some of these companies are developing a dual mode phone that will
be able to use VolP where broadband access is available and cellular phone service elsewhere. Wireless
telephone companies have a strong retail presence and have significant financial resources.

Alternative voice communication providers

Many alternative voice communication providers are smaller companies with limited resources that
seek to offer a primary line replacement service. These providers have not achieved customer penetration
or market traction comparable to ours.

In addition to these competitors, we also compete with companies that offer computer-based VoIP
services. These computer-based VoIP services typically are not marketed as a primary line replacement,
but because they offer their users the ability to call and be called from any phone using a dedicated phone
number, they may be used to replace traditional phone service. Some of these service providers may choose
to sacrifice revenue in order to gain market share and have offered their services at lower prices or for free.
We believe that Skype (a service of eBay), in particular, has a large group of users, many of whom may
potentially use Skype as their only phone service. With Skype, however, the ability to make and receive
calls over the public switched telephone network is a feature that costs extra and which only a fraction of
Skype users purchase, as compared to Skype’s free service that has a larger market penetration. :

We may also increasingly face competition from large, well-capitalized Internet companies, such as
Google, Microsoft and Yahoo!, which have launched or plan to launch VoIP-enabled instant messaging
services. While not all of these competitors currently offer the ability to call or be called by anyone not
using their service, in the future they may integrate such capabilities into their service offerings. In
addition, a continuing trend toward consolidation of telecommunications companies and the formation of
strategic alliances within the telecommunications industry, as well as the development of new technologies,
could give rise to significant new competition.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, we had 1,790 employees. None of our employees is subject to a collective
bargaining agreement. On April 11, 2007, we determined to reduce our total workforce by approximately
10% to reduce costs and improve efficiency.

Available Information

We maintain a website with the address www.voragge.com. The information contained on our website
is not included as a part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Other than
an investor’s own Internet access charges, we make available free of charge through our website our
Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K, and
amendments (o these reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we have electronically filed such
material with, or furnished such material to, the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Certifications

Our interim chief executive officer and chief financial officer have provided the certifications required
by Rule 13a-14(a} under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, copies of which are filed as exhibits to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, our interim chief executive officer intends to submit the initial
annual chief executive officer certification to the New York Stock Exchange no later than June 23, 2007 in
accordance with the New York Stock Exchange listing requirements.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks below, as well as all of the other information contained in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K and our financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, in evaluating our company and our business. Any of these risks could
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and the trading price
of our conunon stock.

Risks Related to Our Business

We are, and may in the future be, subject to damaging and disruptive intellectual property litigation that
could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition, as well
as the continued viability of our company.

We have been named as a defendant in several suits currently pending that relate to alleged patent
infringement and recently a judgment has been entered against us in our patent litigation with Verizon. See
“Item 3. Legal Proceedings—Patent Litigation.” In addition, we have been subject to other infringement
claims in the past and, given the rapid technological change in our industry and our continual development
of new products and services, we may be subject to infringement claims in the future. We may be unaware
of filed patent applications and issued patents that could relate to our products and services. Intellectual
property litigation, especially our ongoing patent litigation with Verizon, if determined against us, could:

= result in the loss of a substantial number of existing customers or prohibit the acquisition of new
customers;

* lead to an event of default under the terms of our convertible notes, which could accelerate the
payment of approximately $253.6 million of principal and interest under our notes;

= cause us to accelerate expenditures to preserve existing revenues;

* cause existing or new vendors to require prepaymeants or letters of credit;

* cause us to lose access to key distribution channels;

* result in substantial employee layoffs or risk the permanent loss of highly-valued employees;

« materially and adversely affect our brand in the market place and cause a substantial loss of
goodwill;

= cause our stock price to decline significantly or otherwise cause us to fail to meet the continued
listing requirements of the New York Stock Exchange, which could result in the delisting of our
common stock from the Exchange;

» materially and adversely affect our liquidity, including our ability to pay debts and other
obligations as they become due; and

+ lead to the bankruptcy or liquidation of the company.

Parties making claims of infringement may be able to obtain injunctive or other equitable relief that
could effectively block our ability to provide our services and could cause us to pay substantial royalties,
licensing fees or damages. For example, in our patent litigation with Verizon the trial court issued a
permanent injunction with respect to the three patents the jury found to be infringed effective April 12,
2007. The trial court permitted us to continue to service existing customers pending appeal, subject to
deposit into escrow of a 5.5% royalty on a quarterly basis. In addition, the trial court required us to post a
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$66 million bond to stay execution of the monetary judgment pending appeal. The trial court issued an
order prohibiting us from servicing new customers using our technology that was found to be infringing. In
the event of a successful claim of infringement or in the case of the Verizon litigation, we may need to
obtain one or more licenses from third parties, which may not be available at a reascnable cost, if at all.
The defense of any lawsuit could result in time-consuming and expensive litigation, regardless of the
merits of such claims.

Our efforts to design around third-party intellectual property and implement such design arounds,
including in connection with our Verizon patent litigation, may cause disruptions to our service.

If the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit fails to grant a stay for the duration of our appeal in the
Verizon litigation, we will be prohibited from providing service to new customers if we are unable to
design around the technology found to be infringing. If we are unable to acquire additional customers, this
would delay or prevent our profitability, result in the acceleration of expenditures to preserve existing
revenues and further negatively affect our business. We are continuing to work on designing around the
Verizon patents as construed by the trial court and may in the future be required to develop and design
around other third-party intellectual property. Implementation of these design arounds, including those we
may in the future implement in connection with our patent litigation with Verizon, may not be feasible or,
if feasible, may take several months to implement, and may cause service interruptions or be temporarily or
permanently incompatible with some of the features we currently offer. If service interruptions affect the
perceived reliability of our service or if we are required to limit our offering of service features, we may
have difficulty attracting and retaining customers and our brand reputation, results of operations and
financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

We have incurred quarterly losses since our inception, and we may continue to incur losses in the
Sfuture.

We have incurred losses since our inception, and we may continue to incur losses in the future. For the
period from our inception through December 31, 2006, our accurnulated deficit was $720.9 million. Our
quarterly net losses generally increased each quarter from our inception through the quarter ended
December 31, 20035, for which our net loss was $71.7 million. In 2006, our quarterly net losses decreased
each quarter with the exception of the forth quarter.

For the quarter ended December 31, 2006, our net loss was $117.1 million which includes $52.5
million in costs related to the Verizon patent litigation judgment entered against us. Initially, our net losses
were driven principally by start-up costs and the costs of developing our technology. More recently, our net
losses have been driven principally by marketing expense, which was $365.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006, In order to grow our revenue and customer base, we have chosen to spend a significant
amount on marketing expenditures. In addition, we plan to continue to invest in research and development
and customer care. We are pursuing a balance of growth and profitability, in the near term to capitalize on
the current expansion of the broadband and VoIP markets and enhance the future value of our company.
Although we believe we will achieve profitability in the future, we ultimately may not be successful and
we may never achieve profitability. In the past, we projected that we would generate net income during
future periods, but then generated a net loss. We intend to continue to spend a significant amount on
marketing expenditures, and we may continue to generate net losses for the foreseeable future. In addition,
we will always be required to incur some marketing expense in order to replace customers who terminate
our service, or “‘churn.” Further, marketing expense is not the only factor that may contribute to our net
losses. For example, interest expense on our convertible notes of at least $12.7 million annually will
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contribute to our net losses unless the convertible notes are converted or repaid prior to the maturity date.’
This amount will increase if we pay interest in kind on these notes. As a result, even if we significantly
reduce our marketing expense, we may continue to incur net losses.

If we are unable to compete successfully, we could lose market share and revenue.

The telecornmunications industry is highly competitive. We face intense competition from traditional
telephone companies, wireless companies, cable companies and alternative voice communication
providers. Our principal competitors are the traditional telephone service providers, namely AT&T, Inc.
(formerly SBC Communications Inc.), Citizens Communications Corp., Qwest Communications
International Inc. and Verizon Communications, Inc., which provide telephone service based on the public
switched telephone network. Some of these traditional providers also have added or are planning to add
VolP services to their existing telephone and broadband offerings. We also face, or expect to face,
competition from cable companies, such as Cablevision Systems Corp., Charter Communications, Inc.,
Comecast Corporation, Cox Communications, Inc. and Time Warner Cable (a division of Time
Warner Inc.), which have added or are planning to add VolP services to their existing cable television,
voice and broadband offerings. Further, wireless providers, including AT&T, Sprint Nextel Corporation,
T-Mobile USA Inc. and Verizon Wireless, offer services that some customers may prefer over wireline
service. In the future, as wireless companies offer more minutes at lower prices, their services may become
more attractive to customers as a replacement for wireline service. Some of these providers may be
developing a dual mode phone that will be able to use VolP where broadband access is available and
cellular phone service elsewhere, which will pose additional competition to our offerings.

Most traditional wireline and wireless telephone service providers and cable companies are
substantially larger and better capitalized than we are and have the advantage of a large existing customer
base. Because most of our target customers are atready purchasing communications services from one or .
more of these providers, our success is dependent upon our ability to attract target customers away from
their existing providers. Until recently, our target market has been composed largely of early adopters, or
people who tend to seek out new technologies and services. Attracting customers away from their existing
providers wiil become more difficult as the early adopter market becomes saturated and mainstream
customers make up more of our target market. In addition, these competitors could focus their substantial
financial resources to develop competing technology that may be more attractive to potenual customers
than what we offer. Our competitors’ financial resources may allow them to offer services at prices below
cost or even for free in order to maintain and gain market share or otherwise improve their competitive
positions. Qur competitors also could use their greater financial resources to offer VolP services with more
attractive service packages that include on-site installation and more robust customer service. In addition,
because of the other services our competitors provide, they may choose to offer VolP services as part of a
bundle that includles other products, such as video, high speed Internet access and wireless telephone
service, which we: do not offer. This bundle may enable our competitors to offer VolP service at prices with
which we may not be able to compete or to offer functionality that integrates VoIP service with their other
offerings, both of which may be more desirable to consumers. Any of these competitive factors could make
it more difficult fior us to attract and retain customers, cause us to lower our prices in order to compete and
reduce our market share and revenues.

We also compete against established alternative voice communication providers, such as Skype (a
service of eBay Inc.), and face competition from other large, well-capitalized Internet companies, such as
Google Inc., Microsoft Corporation and Yahoo! Inc., which have recently launched or plan to launch VolP-
enabled instant messaging services. In addition, we compete with independent VoIP service providers.
Some of these service providers may choose to sacrifice revenue in order to gain market share and have
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offered their services at lower prices or for free. In order to compete with such service providers, we may
have to significantly reduce our prices, which would delay or prevent our profitability.

Decreasing telecommunications prices may cause us to lower our prices to remain competitive, which
could delay or prevent our future profitability.

Currently, our prices are lower than those of many of our competitors for comparable services.
However, domestic and international telecommunications prices have decreased significantly over the last
few years, and we anticipate that prices will continue to decrease. Users who select our service offerings to
take advantage of our prices may switch to another service provider as the difference between prices
diminishes or disappears, and we may be unable to use our price as a distinguishing feature to attract new
customers in the future. Such competition or continued price decreases may require us to lower our prices
to remain competitive, may result in reduced revenue, a loss of customers or a decrease in our subscriber
line growth and may delay or prevent our future profitability.

If VoIP technology fails to gain acceptance among mainstream consumers, our ability fo grow our
business will be limited.

The market for VoIP service is continuing to rapidly evolve. We cuirrently generate most of our
revenue from the sale of VoIP services and related products to residential customers. Revenue generated
from sales to residential customers will continue to account for most of our revenue for the foreseeable
future. We believe that a significant portion of our initial residential customers are early adopters of VoIP
technology. However, in order for our business to continue to grow and to become profitable, VoIP
technology must gain acceptance among mainstream COnsumers, who tend to be less technically
knowledgeable and more resistant to new technology services. Because potential VoIP customers need to
connect additional hardware not required for the use of traditional telephone service, mainstream
consumers may be reluctant to use our service. We have shifted our focus of advertising to reach out to the
mainstream consumer and increase brand awareness, primarily with new television commercials. However,
if mainstream consumers choose not to adopt our techriology, our ability to grow our business will be
limited. :

Certain aspects of our service are not the same as traditional telephone service, which may limit the
acceptance of our services by mainstream consumers and our potential for growth.

Certain aspects of our service are not the same as traditional telephone service. Our continued growth
is dependent on the adoption of our services by mainstream customers, so these differences are becoming
increasingly important. For example:

« Both our E-911 and emergency calling services are different, in significant respects, from the 911
service associated with traditional wireline and wireless telephone providers and, in certain cases,
with other VoIP providers.

+  Qur customers may experience lower call quality than they are used to from traditional wireline
telephone companies, including static, echoes and delays in transmissions. .

«  Our customers may experience higher dropped-call rates than they are used to from traditional
wireline telephone companies.

«  Custoraers who obtain new phone numbers from us do not appear in the phone book and their
phone numbers are not available through directory assistance services offered by traditional
telephone companies.

«  Qur customers cannot accept collect calls.
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« In the event of a power loss or Internet access interruption experienced by a customer, our
service is interrupted. Unlike some of our competitors, we have not installed batteries at customer
premises to provide emergency power for our customers’ equipment if they lose power, although
we do have backup power systems for our network equipment and service platform.

If customers do not accept the differences between our service and traditional telephone service, they
may choose to remain with their current telephone service provider or may choose to return to service
provided by traditional telephone companies,

Our emergency and E-911 calling services are different from those offered by traditional wireline
telephone companies and may expose us to significant liability.

Both our emergency calling service and our E-911 calling service are different, in significant respects,
from the emergency calling services offered by traditional wireline telephone companies. 1n each case,
those differences may cause significant delays, or even failures, in callers’ receipt of the emergency
assistance they need. '

Traditional wireline telephone companies route emergency calls over a dedicated infrastructure
directly to an emergency services dispatcher at the PSAP in the caller's area. Generally, the dispatcher
automatically receives the caller’s phone number and actual location information. While our E-911 service
being deployed in the United States is designed to route calls in a fashion similar to traditional wireline
services, our E-911 capabilities are not yet available in all locations. In addition, the only location
information that our E-91 1 service can transmit 10 a dispatcher at a PSAP is the information that our
customers have rzgistered with us. A customer’s registered location may be different from the customer’s
actual location at the time of the call because customers can use their Vonage-enabled devices to make
calls almost anywhere a broadband connection is availabie.

We are currently deploying E-911 service that is comparable to the emergency calling services
provided to customers of traditional wireline telephone companies in the same area. For those customers
located in an E-911 area, emergency calls are routed, subject to the limitations discussed below, directly to
an emergency services dispatcher at the PSAP in the area of the customer’s registered location. The
dispatcher will have automatic access to the customer’s telephone number and registered location
information. However, if a customer places an emergency call using the customer’s Vonage-enabled device
in a location different from the one registered with us, the emergency call will be routed to a PSAP in the
customer’s registered location, not the customer’s actual location at the time of the call. Every time a
customer moves his or her Vonage-enabled device to a new location, the customer’s registered location
information must be updated and verified. Until that takes place, the customer will have to verbally advise
the emergency dispatcher of his or her actual location at the time of the call and wait for the call to be
transferred. if possible, to the appropriate local emergency response center before emergency assistance
can be dispatched.

In some cases, even under our E-911 service, emergency calls may be routed to a PSAP in the area of
the customer’s registered location, but such PSAP may not be capable of receiving our transmission of the
caller’s registered location information and, in some cases, the caller’s phone number. Where the
emergency call center is unable to process the information, the caller is provided a service that is similar to
the basic 911 services offered to some wireline telephone customers. In these instances, the emergency
caller may be required to verbally advise the operator of their location at the time of the call and, in some
cases, a call back number so that the cail can be handled or forwarded to an appropriate emergency
dispatcher,
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The emergency calls of customers located in areas where we are currently unable to provide either
E-911 or the basic 911 described above are supported by a national call center that is run by a third-party
provider and operates 24 hours a day, seven days a week. In these cases, a calter must provide the operator
with his or her physical location and call back number. The operator will then coordinate connecting the
caller to the appropriate PSAP or emergency services provider. Our E-911 service does not support the
calls of our WiFi phone, SoftPhone users and V-phone. The emergency calis of our WiFi phone, SoftPhone
users and V-phone are supported by the national call center. :

If one of our customers experiences a broadband or power outage, or if a network failure were to
occur, the customer will not be able to reach an emergency services provider.

Delays our customers encounter when making emergency services calls and any inability of the-
answering point to automatically recognize the caller’s location or telephone number can have devastating
consequences. Customers have attempted, and may in the future attempt, to hold us responsible for any
loss, damage, personal injury or death suffered as a result. Some traditional phone companies also may be
unable to provide the precise location or the caller’s telephone number when their customers place
emergency calls. However, traditional phone companies are covered by legislation exempting them from
liability for failures of emergency calling services and we are not. This liability could be significant. In
addition, we have lost, and may in the future lose, existing and prospective customers because of the
limitations inherent in our emergency calling services. Any of these factors could cause us to lose revenues,
incur greater expenses or cause our reputation or financial results to suffer.

Flaws in our technology and systems could cause delays or interruptions of service, damage our
reputation, cause us to lose customers and limit our growth.

Although we have designed our service network to reduce the possibility of disruptions or other
outages, our service may be disrupted by problems with our technology and systems, such as malfunctions
in our software or other facilities and overloading of our network. Our customers have experienced
interruptions in the past and may experience interruptions in the future as a result of these types of
problems. Interruptions have in the past anid may in the future cause us to lose customers and offer
substantial customer credits, which could adversely affect our revenue and profitability. During 2006, we
had multiple outages that affected groups of customers at various times, some of which affected large
groups of customers for several hours. In addition, because our systems and our customers’ ability to use
our services are Internet-dependent, our services may be subject to “hacker attacks™ from the Internet,
which could have a significant impact on our systems and services. If service interruptions adversely affect
the perceived reliability of our service, we may have difficulty attracting and retaining customers and our
brand reputation and growth may suffer.

Our ability to provide our service is dependent upon third-party facilities and equipment, the failure of
which could cause delays or interruptions of our service, damage our reputation, cause us o lose
customers and limit our growth.

Our success depends on our ability to provide quality and reliable service, which is in part dependent
upon the proper functioning of facilities and equipment owned and operated by third parties and is,
therefore, beyond our control. Unlike traditional wireline telephone service or wireless service, our service
requires our customers to have an operative broadband Internet connection and an electrical power supply,
which are provided by the customer’s Internet service provider and electric utility company, respectively,
and not by us. The quality of some broadband Internet connections may be too poor for customers to use
our services properly. In addition, if there is any interruption to a customer’s broadband Internet service or
electrical power supply, that customer will be unable to make or receive calls, including emergency calls,
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using our service, We also outsource several of our network functions to third-party providers. For
example, we outsource the maintenance of our regional data connection points, which are the facilities at
which our network interconnects with the public switched telephone network. If our third-party service
providers fail to maintain these facilities properly, or fail to respond quickly to problems, our customers
may experience service interruptions. Our customers have experienced such interruptions in the past and
will experience interruptions in the future. In addition, our new E-911 service is currently dependent upon
several third-pany providers. Interruptions in service from these vendors could cause failures in our
customers’ access to E-911 services. Interruptions in our service caused by third-party facilities have in the
past caused and nay in the future cause us to lose customers, or cause us to offer substantial customer
credits, which could adversely affect our revenue and profitability. If interruptions adversely affect the
perceived reliability of our service, we may have difficulty attracting new customers and our brand,
reputation and growth will be negatively impacted.

We may not be able to maintain adequate customer care during periods of growth or in connection with
our addition of new and complex Vonage-enabled devices, which could adversely affect our ability to
grow and cause our financial results to be negatively affected.

Good custoraer care is important to acquiring and retaining customers. In the recent past, we have not
been able lo expand our customer care operations quickly enough to meet the needs of our greatly
increased customer base, and the quality of our customer care has suffered. For example, in the first half of
2006, our customers experienced lenger than acceptable hold times when they called us for assistance. In
2006, our average monthly customer churn rate increased to 2.5% from 2.0% in 2005, We believe this
increase was due in part to our rapid growth and inability 10 hire enough qualified customer care employees
which led to less than satisfactory customer care during these quarters. In the future, as we broaden our
Vonage-enabled device offerings and our customers build increasingly complex home networking
environments, we will face additional challenges in training our customer care staff. Historically, we have
faced a high turnover rate among our customer care employees. We continue to hire and train customer
care representatives at a rapid rate in order to meet the needs of our growing customer base. If we are
unable to hire, train and retain sufficient personnel to provide adequate customer care, we may experience
slower growth, increased costs and higher churn levels, which would cause our financial results to be
negatively impacted.

If we are unable to improve our process for local number portability provisioning, our growth may be
negatively affected.

We support local number portability for our customers, which allow our customers to retain their
existing telephone numbers when subscribing to our services, Transferring numbers is a manual process
that in the past could have taken us 20 business days or longer, although we have taken steps to automate
this process to reduce the delay. A new Vonage customer must maintain both Vonage service and the
customer’s existing telephone service during the transferring process. By comparison, transferring wireless
telephone numbers among wireless service providers generally takes several hours, and transferring
wireline telephone numbers among traditional wireline service providers generally takes a few days. The
additional delay that we experience is due to our reliance on the telephone company from which the
customer is transferring and to the lack of full automation in our process. Further, because we are not a
regulated telecommunications provider, we must rely on the telephone companies, over whom we have no
control, to transfer numbers. We also rely on two third parties who have contractual obligations to us to
facilitate the transfer of customers’ telephone numbers. Local number portability is considered an
important feature by many potential customers, and if we fail to reduce related delays, we may experience
increased difficulty in acquiring new customers.
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A higher rate of customer terminations would negatively affect our business by reducing our revenue or
requiring us to spend more money to grow our customer base.

Our rate of customer terminations, or average monthly customer churn, was 2.5% for the year ended
December 31, 2006. During that period, 430,376 of our customers terminated. Our churn rate could
increase in the future if customers are not satisfied with our service. Other factors, including increased
competition from other providers, also influence our churn rate.

Because of churn, we have to acquire new customers on an ongoing basis just to maintain our existing
level of customers and revenues. As a result, marketing expense is an ongoing requirement of our business.
If our churn rate increases, we will have to acquire even more new customers in order to maintain our
existing revenues. We incur significant costs to acquire new customers, and those costs are an important
factor in determining our net losses and achieving future profitability. Therefore, if we are unsuccessful in
retaining customers or are required to spend significant amounts to acquire new customers beyond those
budgeted, our revenue could decrease and our net losses could increase.

We may require significant additional capital to pursue our growth strategy, but we may not be able to
obtain additional financing on favorable terms or at all.

We intend to continue spending substantial amounts on marketing and product development in order
to grow our business. Although we believe we will achieve profitability in the future, we may need to
obtain additional financing to respond to new competitive pressures or to respond to opportunities to
develop or acquire complementary businesses or technologies. Our significant losses to date may prevent
us from obtaining additional funds on favarable terms or at all. For the year ended December 31, 2006, we
recorded a net loss of $338.6 million, which includes $52.5 million related to the Verizon patent litigation
judgment entered against us. Because of these losses and our limited tangible assets, we do not fit
traditional credit lending criteria, which, in particular, could make it difficult for us to obtain loans or to
access the capital markets. For example, we discussed a revolving credit facility with commercial banks in
the summer of 2005. As a result of those discussions, we believe most commercial lenders will require us
to very significantly reduce our loss from operations before they will lend us money. In addition, the terms
of our outstanding convertible notes provide for additional shares to be issued upon conversion if we sell
shares of our common stock at a price that is less than the average trading price of our common stock over
the 10-day period prior to any such sale, which might further limit our access to the capital markets.
Finally, our ability to raise additional capital through the issuance of equity securities may be impaired due
to the events surrounding our TPO and our ongoing patent litigation, including our litigation with Verizon.
A failure to obtain additional financing could adversely affect our ability to grow and maintain.our
business.

As a result of being a public company, we incur increased costs that may place a strain on our resources
or divert our management’s attention from other business concerns.

As a public company, we incur additional legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur
as a private company. The Exchange Act requires us to file annual, quarterly and current reports with
respect to our business and financial condition, which requires us to incur legal and accounting expenses.
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires us to maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal
control over financial reporting. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, significant resources and
management oversight are required. We expect the corporate governance rules and regulations of the SEC
and the New York Stock Exchange will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and make some
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activities more time consuming and costly. These requirements may place a strain on our systems and
resources and may divert our management’s attention from other business concerns, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Because much of our potential success and value lies in our use of internally developed systems and
software, if we fail to protect them, it could negatively affect us.

Our ability to compete effectively is dependent in large part upon the maintenance and protection of
systems and software that we have developed internally based on open standards. While we have several
pending patent applications and recently acquired three patents from Digital Packet Licensing, Inc. that
enable VoIP technology, we cannot patent much of the technology that is important to our business. In
addition, our pending patent applications may not be successful. To date, we have relied on copyright,
trademark and trade secret laws, as well as confidentiality procedures and licensing arrangements, to
establish and protect our rights to this technology. We typically enter into confidentiality or license
agreements with our employees, consultants, customers and vendors in an effort to control access to and
distribution of technology, software, documentation and other information. Despite these precautions, it
may be possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use this technology without authorization,
Policing unauthorized use of this technology is difficult. The steps we take may not prevent
misappropriation of the technology we rely on. In addition, effective protection may be unavailable or
limited in some jurisdictions outside the United States, Canada and the United Kingdom. Litigation may be
necessary in the future to enforce or protect our rights or to determine the validity and scope of the rights of
others. That litigation could cause us to incur substantial costs and divert resources away from our daily
business, which in turts could materially adversely affect our business,

We are currently subject to securities class action litigations, the unfavorable outcome of which might
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

A number of putative class action lawsuits have been filed against us, certain of our officers and
directors, and the lead underwriters of our recent initial public offering, alleging, among other things,
securities laws violations. We expect a consolidated complaint to be filed at some time in the future and
intend to contest such lawsuit vigorously. We cannot, however, determine the outcome or resolution of
these claims or the timing for their resolution. In addition to the expense and burden incurred in defending
this litigation and any damages that we may suffer, our management’s efforts and attention may be diverted
from the ordinary business operations in order to address these claims. If the final resolution of this
litigation is unfavorable to vs, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows may be
materially adversely affected if our existing insurance coverage is unavailable or inadequate to resolve the
matter.

Future disruptive new technologies could have a negative effect on our businesses.

VoIP technclogy, which our business is based upon, did not exist and was not commercially viable
until relatively recently. VoIP technology is having a disruptive effect on traditional telephone companies,
whose businesses are based on other technologies. We also are subject to the risk of future disruptive
technologies. If new technologies develop that are able to deliver competing voice services at lower prices,
better or more conveniently, it could have a material adverse effect on us.
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The past background of our founder, Chairman, Chief Strategist and interim Chief Executive Officer,
Jeffrey A. Citron, may adversely affect our ab:hty to enter into business relationships and may have
other adverse effects on our business.

Prior to joining Vonage, Mr. Citron was associated with Datek Securities Corporation and Datek
Online Holdings Corp., including as an employee of, and consultant for, Datek Securities and, later, as one
of the principal executive officers and largest stockholders of Datek Online. Datek Online, which was
formed in early 1998 following a reorganization of the Datek business, was a large online brokerage firm.
Datek Securities was a registered broker-dealer that engaged in a number of businesses, including
proprietary trading and order execution services. During a portion of the time Mr. Citron was associated
with Datek Securities, the SEC alleged that Datek Securities, Mr. Citron and other individuals participated
in an extensive fraudulent scheme involving improper use of the Nasdaq Stock Market’s Small Order
Execution System or SOES. Datek Securities (through its successor iCapital Markets LLC), Mr. Citron
and other individuals entered into settlements with the SEC in 2002 and 2003, which resulted in extensive
fines, bans from future association with securities brokers or dealers and enjoinments against future
violations of certain U.S. securities laws. The NASD previously had imposed disciplinary action against
Datek Securities, Mr. Citron and other individuals in connection with alleged violations of the rules and
regulations regarding the SOES.

There is a risk that some third parties will not do business with us, that some prospective investors
will not purchase our securities or that some customers may be wary of signing up for service withus as a
result of allegations against Mr. Citron and his past SEC and NASD settlements. We believe that some
financial institutions and accounting firms have declined to enter into business relationships with us in the
past, at least in part because of these matters. Other institutions and potential business associates may not
be able to do business with us because of internal policies that restrict associations with individuals who
have entered into SEC and NASD scttlements. While we believe that these matters have not had a material
impact on our business, they may have a greater impact on us while we are a public company, including by
adversely affecting our ability to enter into commercial relationships with third parties that we need to
effectively and competitively grow our business. Further, should Mr. Citron in the future be accused of, or
be shown to have engaged in, additional improper or illegal activities, the impact of those accusations or
the potential penalties from such activities could be exacerbated because of the matters discussed above. If
any of these risks were to be realized, there could be a material adverse effect on our business or the market
price of our common stock. :

Regulation of VolP services is developing and therefore uncertain, and current or Juture legislative,
regulatory or judicial actions could adversely affect our business and expose us to liability.

Our business has developed in an environment largely free from government regulation. However, the
United States and other countries have begun to assert regulatory authority over VolP and are continuing to
evaluate how VoIP will be regulated in the future. Both the application of existing rules to us and our
competitors and the effects of future regulatory developments are uncertain.

Current or future legistative, judicial or other regulatory actions could have a negative effect on our
business. If we become subject to the rules and regulations applicable to telecommunications providers in
individual states, we may incur significant litigation and compliance costs, and we may have to restructure
our service offerings, exit certain markets or raise the price of our services, any of which could cause our
services to be less attractive to customers. In addition, future regulatory developments could increase our
cost of doing business and limit our growth.
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Our international operations are also subject to regulatory risks, including the risk that regulations in
some jurisdictions will prohibit us from providing our services cost-effectively or at all, which could limit -
our growth. Curteatly, there are several countries where regulations prohibit us from offering service. In
addition, because customers can use our services almost anywhere that a broadband Internet connection is
available, including countries where providing VolP services is illegal, the governments of those countries
may attempt to assert jurisdiction over us, which could expose us to significant liability and regulation.

The success of our business relies on customers’ continued and unimpéded access to broadband service.
Providers of broadband services may be able to block our services or charge their customers more for
also using our services, which could adversely affect our revenue and gmwth

Our customers must have broadband access to the Intemet in order to use our service. Some provnders
of broadband access. may take measures that affect their customers’ ability to use our service, such as
degrading the quality of the data packets we transmit over their lines, giving those packets low priority,
giving other packets higher priority than ours, blocking our packets entirely or attempting to charge their
customers more {or also using our services.

It is not clear whether suppliers of broadband Internet access have a legal obligation to allow their
customers to access and use our service without interference. As a result of recent decisions by the U.S.
Supreme Court and the FCC, providers of broadband services are subject to relatively light regulation by
the FCC. Consequently, federal and state regulators might not prohibit broadband providers from limiting
their customers’ access to. VoIP or otherwise discriminating against VolP providers. Interference with our
service or higher charges for also using our service could cause us to lose existing customers, impair our
ability to attract rew customers and harm our revenue and growth.

These problems could also arise in international markets. For example, in 2006 a Canadian cable
provider began offering an optional Cdn$10 per month “quality of service premium” to customers who use
third-party VolIP services over its facilities. However, customers who purchase VolP services directly from
this cable provider are not required to pay this additional fee. -

If we fail to comply with FCC regulations requiring us to provide E-911 emergency calling services, we
may be subject to fines or penalties, which could include disconnection of our service for certain
customers or prohibifions on marketing of our services and accépting new customers in certain areas.

The FCC relzased an order on June 3, 2003 requiring us to notify our customers of any differences
between our emergency catling services and those available through traditional telephone providers and
obtain affirmative-acknowledgments from-our customers of those notifications. The rules also required us
to offer by November 28, 2005 enhanced emergency calling services, or E-911, to all of our customers
located in areas where E-911 service is available from their traditional wireline telephone company. E-911
service allows emergency calls from our customers to be routed directly to an emergency dispatcher in a
customer’s registered location and gives the dispatcher automatic access to the customer’s telephone
number and regisiered location information,

We have notified our customers of the differences between our emergency calling services and those
available through traditional telephony providers and have received affirmative acknowledgement from
substantially all of our customers. We also took steps to comply with the FCC’s order by the November 28,
2005 deadline, but we are not currently in full compliance and do not expect to be in full compliance in the
short term unless we are granted a waiver of the requirements by the FCC. As of December 31, 20006, we
were not providing E-911 service to approximately 7% of our U.S. subscriber lines.
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The consequences of failure to comply fully with the FCC’s order currently are unclear. On
November 7, 2005, the FCC’s Enforcement Bureau issued a public notice stating that it would not require
disconnection of existing customers to whom E-911 service cannot be provided by November 28, 2005, but
it also stated that it expected VoIP providers to stop marketing and accepting new subscribers in areas
where they cannot provide E-911 service after November 28, 2005. It is not clear whether the FCC will
enforce this restriction or how it would do so. On November 28, 2005, we filed a petition for extension of
time and limited waiver of certain of the enhanced emergency service requirements, including the
limitations on marketing and accepting new customers. We are continuing to market our services and
accept new customers in areas in which we do not provide E-911 service. The FCC has not acted on our
petition, and we cannot predict whether the FCC will grant our petition or provide other relief. Should we
be unable to obtain an extension of time to implement the requirements of the order, we may be subject to
enforcement action by the FCC that could include monetary forfeitures, cease and desist orders and other
penalties. We also may be required to stop serving customers to whom we cannot provide the E-911
service required by the FCC’s rules and to stop marketing our services and accepting new customers in
areas in which we cannot provide the E-911 service. Any of these actions could significantly harm our
business.

Taxes and 911-related fees will increase our customers’ cost of using our services and could result in
penalties being imposed on us.

Until recently, we did not collect or remit state or municipal taxes, such as sales, excise, and ad
valorem taxes, fees or surcharges on the charges to our customers for our services, except that we have
historically complied with the collection of New Jersey State sales tax. We have received inquirtes or
demands from a number of state and municipal taxing agencies seeking payment of taxes, fees or
surcharges that are applied to or collected from customers of providers of traditional public switched
telephone network services. Although we have consistently maintained that these 1axes, fees or surcharges
do not apply to our service for a variety of reasons depending on the statute or rule that establishes such
obligations, a number of states have changed their statutes as part of streamlined sales tax initiatives and
we are now collecting and remitting sales taxes in those states. The collection of these taxes, fees or
surcharges will have the effect of decreasing any price advantage we may have.

In addition, a few states have enacted statutes or administrative rules that address how VolP providers
should contribute to support public safety agencies, and in those states we began to remit fees to the
appropriate state agencies. We have also contacted authorities in each of the other states 10 discuss how we
can financially contribute to the 911 system. State and local governments may also assess fees to pay for
emergency services in a customer’s community. As of December 31, 2006, we are collecting and remitting
911 related fees o the appropriate authorities in eighteen states. We expect this fee for most of our
customers to be between $0.50 to $1.50 per month, and as high as $3.00 for a limited number of customers,
depending on their location. We also began charging customers an Emergency 911 Cost Recovery fee of
$0.99 per month, effective March 7, 2006. This fee is designed to cover some of our costs associated with
complying with E-911 regulation and operating our national 911 emergency call center. The collection of
these 911 fees will also have the effect of decreasing any price advantage we may have.

We have established a U.S. tax reserve of $7.8 million, as of December 31, 2006 to account for the
claims by some states that we should have collected and remitted sales taxes and 911 fees in the past. If our

ultimate liability exceeds that amount, it could have a material adverse effect on us.

In addition, in June 2006 the FCC in its Order concluded that VolP providers must begin contributing
to the Federal Universal Service Fund, or USF, based on a safe harbor of 64.9%. In October 2006, we
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began recouping our contributions through a customer surcharge, which was $1.24 per line in the fourth
quarter of 2006. Vonage has filed an appeal of the FCC’s USF Order in the United States Court of Appeals
for the District of Columbia Circuit, and oral arguments were heard on February 7, 2007. A decision is
expected by August 2007. If Vonage prevails in this appeal, our USF contributions may be lowered by the
FCC and we will be able to tecoup a lesser amount from our Custormers.

’

Our service requires an operative broadband connection, and if the adoption of broadband does not
progress as expected, the market for our services will not grow and we may not be able to grow our
business and increase our revenue, ' .

Use of our service requires that the user be a subscriber to an existing broadband Internet service,
most typically provided through a cable or digital subscriber line, or DSL, connection. Although the
number of broadband subscribers worldwide has grown significantly over the last five years, this service
has not yet been adopted by a majority of consumers. If the adoption of broadband services does not
continue 1o grow, the market for our services may not grow. As a result, we may not be able to increase our
revenue and become profitable.

We will need to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. If we fail to achieve and
maintain adequate internal control over financial reporting, our business, results of operations and
Sinancial condition could be materially adversely affected.

As a public company, our systems of internal control over financial reporting are required to comply
with the standards adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Beard. We continue 1o evaluate
our interna! controls for compliance. We have also commenced a section 404 compliance project. Although
our review is not complete, we have taken steps to improve our internal control structure by hiring
dedicated, internal Sarbanes-Oxley Act compliance personnel to analyze and improve our internal controls,
and have supplemented with outside consultants as needed. During the course of our evaluation, we may
identify areas requiring improvement and may be required to design enhanced processes and controls to
address issues identified through this review. This could result in significant’delays and cost to us and
require us to divert substantial resources, including management time, from other activities. We cannot be
certain regarding when we will be able to successfully complete the procedures, certification and
attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, If we fail to achieve and
maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, we may not be able to conclude that we have effective
internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Moreover, effective
internal controls are necessary for us to produce reliable financial reports and are important to help prevent
fraud. As a result, our failure to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 on a timely basis could result in the
loss of investor confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, which in turn could harm the
market value of our common stock. Any failure to maintain effective internal controls also could impair
our ability to manage ourbusiness and harm our financial results, :

Jeffrey A. Citron, our founder, Chairman, Chief Strategist, interim Chief Executive Officer and
principal stockholder, exerts significant influence over us.

As of December 31, 2006, Mr. Citron beneficially owns approximately 34% of our outstanding
common stock, including outstanding securities convertible into or exercisable for common stock held by
Mr. Citron, As a result, Mr, Citron is able to exert significant influence over all matters presented to our
stockholders for approval, including election and removal of our directors and change of control
transactions. In addition, as our Chairman, Chief Strategist and interim Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Citron
has and will continue to have significant influence over our strategy, technotogy and other matters.

Mr. Citron’s interzsts may not always coincide with the interests of other holders of our common stock.
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The market price of our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile, and purchasers of our
common stock could incur substantial losses.

Securities markets experience significant price and volume fluctuations. This market volatility, as well
as general economic conditions, could cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate
substantially. The trading price of our common stock has been, and is likely to continue to be, volatile.
Many factors that are beyond our control may significantly affect the market price of our shares. These
factors include: '

« judgments in our intellectual property litigation and other litigation;

» changes in our earnings or variations in operating results;

+ any shortfall in revenue or increase in losses from levels expected by securities analysts;
+ changes in regulatory policies or tax law;

« operating performance of companies comparable to us; and

 general economic trends and other external factors.

If any of these factors causes the price of our common stock to fall, investors may not be able to sell
their common stock at or above their respective purchase prices.

Our stock price may decline due to sales of shares by our other stockholders.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock, or the perception that these sales may occur, may
adversely affect the price of our common stock and impede our ability to raise capital through the issuance
of equity securities in the future. There were 155,388,353 shares of our common stock outstanding as of
March 31, 2007. All shares sold in our initial public offering are freely transferable without restriction or
further registration under the Securities Act, subject to restrictions that may be applicable to our
“affiliates,” as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Substantially all of the shares held
by our pre-IPO stockholders are subject to registration rights, and these rights may be exercised. You
should expect a significant number of these shares to be sold, which may further decrease the price of
shares of our common stock. Shares issuable upon exercise of our options and warrants and upon
conversion of our convertible notes also may be sold in the market in the future.

Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and convertible notes contain provisions that could delay or
discourage a takeover attempt, which could prevent the completion of a transaction in which our
stockholders could receive a substantial premium over the then-current market price for their shares.

Certain provisions of our restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws
may make it more difficult for, or have the effect of discouraging, a third party from acquiring control of us
or changing our board of directors and management. These provisions:

»  permit our board of directors to issue additional shares of commeon stock and preferred stock and
to establish the number of shares, series designation, voting powers (if any), preferences, other
special rights, qualifications, limitations or restrictions of any series of preferred stock;

» limit the ability of stockholders to amend our restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws,
including supermajority requirements;
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+ allow only our board of directors, Chairman of the board of directors, Chief Strategist or Chief
Executive Officer to call special meetings of our stockholders;

* eliminate the ability of stockholders to act by written consent;
* require advance notice for stockholder proposals and director nominations;
+ limit the removal of directors and the filling of director vacancies; and
+ establish a classified board of directors with staggered three-year terms.
In addition, our convertible notes provide that upon a change of control, helders may require us to

redeem all or a portion of their convertible notes at a price equal to the principal amount of notes to be
redeemed, plus any accrued and unpaid interest and potentially a premium.

Such provisions could have the effect of depriving stockholders of an opportunity to sell their shares
at a premium over prevailing market prices. Any delay or prevention of, or significant payments required to
be made upon, a.change of control transaction or changes in our board of directors or management could
deter potential acquirers or prevent the completion of a transaction in which our stockholders could receive
a substantial premiumn over the then-current market price for their shares.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicabie. .

Item 2. Properties

The following is a summary of our offices and locations:

Lease
. Square  Expiration
Location Business Use . . Footage Date
Holmdel, New Jersey ............ Corporate Headquarters, Network .- 350,000 2017
Operations, Customer Service, Sales and
Marketing, and Administration
Washington, D.C. ............... Regulatory 5,009 2011
Mississauga, Ontario . . ........... Customer Service, Sales and Marketing, 28,500 2010
' Administration
London, United Kingdom ......... Sales and Marketing, Administration 3,472 2010

We believe that the facilities that we occupy are adequate for our current needs and do not anticipate
leasing any additional space.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we may become party to litigation and subject to claims, normally those incident o
the ordinary course of our business. '

1Peria, Inc. On October 10, 2003, we terminated our contract with [Peria, Inc., our former voicemail
vendor. Under the terms of-the contract, we were permitted to terminate the contract for any reason. On
April 12, 2004, IPeria filed a complaint against Vonage in the Superior Court for the County of Suffolk,
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Massachusetts. [Peria asserted a number of different claims, including breach of contract, copyright
infringement, breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, negligent misrepresentations, fraud
and unfair and deceptive trade practices. In support of these claims, IPeria essentially alleges that it
provided voicemail services to Vonage consistent with the terms of the contract and that Vonage failed to
pay for those services in violation of the contract. The complaint sought payment of $619,000 plus accrued
interest that IPeria asseris it is owed on the contract and treble damages, On February 11, 2007 the parties
signed a settlement agreement pursuant to which Vonage agreed to pay [Peria $865,000 in return for a
dismissal of the lawsuit and a release of all claims, which was fully reserved in our December 31, 2006
financial statements.

Joshua B. Tanzer. On October 18, 2005, Joshua B. Tanzer commenced a suit against Vonage in the
United States District Court for the Southern District of New York seeking damages of approximately
$14.24 million and has subsequently sent us a letter increasing his claim to $26.75 million. Mr. Tanzer
claims that damages are due with respect to our sale of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock and Series E
Convertible Preferred Stock and convertible notes pursuant to the terms of an engagement letter governing
services performed by Nanes Delorme Capital Management for Vonage. We believe that our obligations
with respect to Mr. Tanzer and Nanes Delorme were completely performed at the conclusion of the
Series C Convertible Preferred Stock offering. On December 8, 2006, Vonage and Nanes entered into a
settlement agreement pursuant to which Vonage agreed to pay Nanes $25,000 in return for a full release of
ail claims by Nanes. However, Vonage intends to vigorously defend Tanzer’s claims and is prepared to file
a summary judgment motion dismissing Tanzer’s complaint as soon as it is granted permission by the
Court to do so. Vonage also believes that an unfavorable outcome would not have a material adverse effect
on our results of operations and cash flows in the period in which the matter is resolved. Based upon early
settlement discussions, we have recorded a reserve to cover the potential exposure relating to this litigation,
which reserve was not material to our financial statements.

Shaw Communications Inc. and Shaw Cablesystems G.P. On March 27, 2006, Shaw
Communications Inc. and Shaw Cablesystems G.P. (collectively “Shaw”) filed a Statement of Claim with
the Court of the Queen’s Bench of Alberta, Judicial Centre of Catgary. The Statement of Claim alleges that
certain statements attributed to Vonage Canada regarding Shaw’s “Quality of Service Enhancement” fee
are false, misleading and defamatory and have interfered with Shaw’s relations with its customers. Shaw is
seeking an injunction, damages and attorney’s fees. We believe Shaw’s claims have no merit and intend to
vigorously defend the lawsuit.

State Artorney General Proceedings. Several state attorneys general have initiated investigations and,
in two states, have commenced litigation concerning our marketing disclosures and advertising, We
cooperated with these investigations and on December {4, 2006 entered into agreements to settle the
litigation with the state attorney general of Texas, and the investigations being conducted by the state
attorneys general of Florida, [Hinois, Massachusetts, Michigan and North Carolina. With respect to our
settlements, we have recorded a reserve to cover the exposure relating to these investigations, which was
not material to our December 31, 2006 financial statements.

* On May 3, 2005, the Office of the Attorney General for the State of Corinecticut filed a
complaint against us, alleging that our advertising and provision of emergency calling service
violated the Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act and certain state regulations. We answered
the complaint on July 7, 2005 and denied its allegations, We have undertaken settlement
discussions with the Connecticut Attorney General and have voluntarily provided information
requested during the course of those discussions. If these discussions are not successful, we
intend to vigorously defend against the lawsuit,
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On March 7, 2006, the Attorney General of Missouri issued a civil investigative demand for
documents related to our emergency calling service. We responded to the civil investigative
demard on Aprit 3, 2006. The Missouri Attorney General has not filed a complaint against us or
taken other formal action.

We received a subpoena dated June 29, 2006 from the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Office of
Attorney General, Bureau of Consumer Protection seeking a wide variety of documents. The
Attorney General’s office has since agreed to narrow the scope of documents it seeks to certain
materials relating to advertising to, and subscriptions by, Pennsylvania consumers, and the
training and general form of compensation paid to personnel that market and provides customer
care functions for our service. We made a rolling production of responsive materials, which was
complated in 2006,

Federal Trade Commission Ihvestigarz'on. On August 31, 2005, the Federal Trade Commission, or
FTC, issued a Civil Investigative Demand to us which requested information regarding our 911 service and
complaints or nctices pertaining to that service, our residential unlimited calling plan and our cbmpliance
and our telemarketing vendors’ compliance with the FTC’s Telemarketing Sales Rule including, but not
limited to, the requirement to refrain from telemarketing to persons who appear on the National Do Not
Call Registry. No formal action has been filed against Vonage at this time. We are unable at this time to
predict the outceme of the FTC’s investigation, whether a formal action will be filed against Vonage, to
assess the likelihood of a favorable or unfavorable outcome in that event, or to estimate the amount of
liability in the event of an unfavorable outcome.

Patent Litigation.

Sprint. On October 12, 2005, a lawsuit was filed against us by Sprint Communications Company
L.P. in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas. Sprint alleges that we have
infringed seven patents in connection with providing VolP services. Sprint seeks injunctive
relief, compensatory and treble damages and attorney’s fees in unspecified amounts. In our
answer filed on November.3, 2005, we have denied Sprint’s allegations and have counterclaimed
for a declaration of non-infringement, invalidity and unenforceability of the patents. We believe
that we have meritorious defenses against the claims asserted by Sprint and intend to vigorously
defend the lawsuit. This matter is currently in the discovery stage and a trial may begin by the
end of 2007.

Rates Technology. On October 6, 2005, a lawsuit was filed against us by Rates Technology Inc.
in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York. Rates alleged that we
infringed two patents in connection with the least cost routing of telephone calls over the public
switchad telephone network. Rates sought injunctive relief, attorney’s fees, compensatory
damages in excess of one billion dollars and a trebling thereof. On March 9, 2007, Rates
dismissed the lawsuit without prejudice.

Verizon. On June 12, 2006, a lawsuit was filed against us and our subsidiary Vonage America
Inc., by Verizon Services Corp., Verizon Laboratories Inc. and Verizon Communications, Inc., in
the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia. Verizon alleged that we
infringed seven patents in connection with providing VoIP services and sought injunctive relief,
compensatory and treble damages, and attorney’s fees. Verizon dismissed its claims with respect
to two of the patents prior to trial, which commenced on February 21, 2007, After trial on the
merits, a jury returned a verdict finding that we did not infringe two of the five patents-in-suit,
and finding that we infringed three of the patents-in-suit. The jury rejected Verizon’s claim for
willful infringement, treble damages, and attorney’s fees, and awarded compensatory damages in
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the amount of $58 million. The trial court subsequently indicated that it would award Verizon
i $1.6 million in prejudgment interest on the $58 million jury award, We filed post-trial motions
challenging the jury’s verdict and related rulings, which were denied by the trial court. The trial
court issued a permanent injunction with respect to the three patents the jury found to be
infringed effective April 12, 2007, The trial court has permitied us to continue to service existing
customers pending appeal, subject to deposit into escrow of a 5.5% royalty on a quarterly basis,
The trial court also ordered that we may not service new customers using our technology that was
found to be infringing pending appeal. In addition, we posted a $66 miilion bond to stay
execution of the monetary judgment pending appeal. On April 6, 2007, we filed an amended
notice of appeal with the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, which issued a
temporary stay of the injunction, The temporary stay will remain in effect until the appellate
court rules on whether to grant a stay for the duration of the appeal. The Court has set a briefing
schedule and ordered the parties to appear for oral argument on our request for a stay pending
appeal on April 24, 2007. We will continue to vigorously defend against Verizon’s claims, which |
we believe are without merit.

Klausner Technologies. On July 10, 2006, a lawsuit was filed against us and Vonage America by
Klausner Technologies, Inc., in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas,
Klausner aileges that we have infringed one of its patents with voice mail technology. Klausner
seeks injunctive relief, compensatory and treble damages and attorney’s fees. In our answer filed

- on September 14, 2006, we denied Klausner's allegations and have counterclaimed for a
declaration of non-infringement, invalidity and unenforceability of the patent. We believe that we
have meritorious defenses against the claims asserted by Klausner, and intend to vigorously
defend the lawsuil.

BEST AVAILABLE COPY

»  Web Telephony. On March 14, 2007, Web Telephony, LLC filed suit in the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Texas against Vonage Holdings Corp., Vonage America Inc.,

' and several other defendants. The complaint in this litigation alleges that we are infringing two
telecommunications patents held by Web Telephony and seeks monetary compensation for
claimed damages as well as injunctive relief. We believe that we have meritorious defenses
against these claims and intend to contest vigorously Web Telephony’s infringement allegations.
The Court has not set a discovery or trial schedule in this matter.

With respect to the patent litigation identified above, we believe that we have meritorious defenses
against the claims. However, we might not ultimately prevail in these actions, Whether or not we
ultimately prevail, litigation could be time-consuming and costly and injure our reputalion. If any of the
plaintiffs prevail in their respective actions, we may be required to negotiate royalty or license agreements
with respect to the patents at issue, and may not be able to enter into such agreements on acceptable terms,
if at all. Any limitation on our ability to provide a service or product could cause us to lose revenue-
generating opportunities and require us to incur additional expenses. These potential costs and expenses, as
well as the need to pay additional damages awarded in the favor of the plaintiffs could materially adversely

affect our business.

IPO Lirigations. During June 2006 and July 2006, Vonage, several of our officers and directors, and
the firms who served as the underwriters in our initial public offering, or PO, were named as defendants in
several similar purporied ciass action lawsuits. The cases were filed in the United States District Court for
the District of New Jersey, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, the
Supreme Court of the State of New York, which was subsequently removed to the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of New York, and the Superior Court of New Jersey, which was subsequently
removed to the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey.
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The complaints assert claims under the federal securities laws on behalf of a professed class consisting
of all those who were allegedly damaged as a result of acquiring our common stock in connection with our
1PO. The complaints allege, among other things, that we omitted and/or misstated certain facts concerning
the IPO’s Customer Directed Share Program. Some complaints also allege the IPQO prospectus contained
misrepresentations or omissions concerning certain of our products and/or the prior experience of some of
our management. One complaint (fnouve v. Vonage Holdings Corp. et al. ), which was filed in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of New York and subsequently voluntarily dismissed,
included an allegation of open market securities fraud during a purported class period of May 24, 2006 to
June 19, 2006 in addition to claims arising cut of the IPO. On January 9, 2007, the Judicial Panel on
Muttidistrict Litigation transferred all remaining complaints to the District of New Jersey and we expect a
consolidated complaint to be filed at some time in the future.

On July 14, 2006, Vonage and the firms who served as the underwriters in our IPQ were named as
defendants in a separate lawsuit filed in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey
(Norsworthy v. Vonage Holdings Corp. et al.). This purported class action lawsuit asserts state law breach
of contract and negligence claims relating to the alleged inability of participants’ in our Customer Directed
Share Program to trade their shares after the IPO. On March 16, 2007, an Order was entered voluntarily
dismissing the case without prejudice.

Although we believe that we and the individual defendants have meritorious defenses to the claims
made in each of the aforementioned complaints and intend to contest each lawsuit vigorously, an adverse
resolution of any of the lawsuits may have a material adverse eftect on our financial position and results of
operations in the period in which the lawsuits are resolved. We are not presently able 1o reasonably
estimate potential losses, if any, related to the lawsuits,

We also are involved in certain other threatened and pending legal proceedings, including several
class actions asserting claims as relating to our marketing, business practices, and quality of service. From
time to titne, we receive subpoenas or civil investigative demands from governmental agencies for
information that may be pertinent to their confidential investigations. Although the results of litigation
claims and investigations cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that the final outcome of such
matiers will not have a material adverse effect on our business. Regardiess of outcome, litigation can have
an adverse impact on us because of defense costs, diversion of management resources and other factors,

Regulation BEST AVAILABLE COPY

Overview of Regulatory Environment

Traditional telephone service historically has been subject to extensive federal and state regulation,
while Internet services generally have been subject to less regulation. Because some elements of VoIP
resemble the services provided by traditional telephone companies and others resemble the services
provided by Internet service providers, the VoIP industry has not fit easily within the existing framework
of telecommunications law and until recently has developed in an environment largely free from
regulation.

The Federal Communications Commission, or FCC, the U.S. Congress and various regulatory bodies
in the states and in foreign countries have begun to assert regulatory authority over VolP providers and are
continuing to evaluate how VoIP will be regulated in the future. In addition, while some of the existing
regulation concerning VolP is applicable to the entire industry, many rulings are limited to individual
companies or categories of service. As a resuit, both the application of existing rules to us and our
competitors and the effects of future regulatory developments are uncertain.

~
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Jurisdiction over Vonage's VoIP Services

On November 12, 2004, the FCC declared that our service is subject to federal regulation and
preempted the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission, or MPUC, from imposing certain of its regulations
on us. The FCC's decision was based on its conclusion that our service is interstate in nature and cannot be’
separated into interstate and intrastate components. While this ruling does not exempt us from all state
oversight of our service, it effectively prevents state telecommunications regulators from imposing certain

burdensome and i mconsxstent market entry requirements and certain other state utility rules and regulations
Qn our service,

The MPUC, the state public utility commissions of California, New York and Ohio, and the National
Association of State Utility Consumer Advocates appealed the FCC's November 12, 2004 order. California
has since withdrawn its appeal. The appeals have been consolidated in the United States Court of Appeals
for the Eighth Circuit. Briefing has been completed, and oral argument was held on January 12, 2006. On
March 21, 2007, the United States Court of Appeals for the 8th Circuit affirmed the FCC’s declaratory
ruling preempting state regulation of Vonage’s service. The 8th Circuit found that it is impossible for
Vonage to separate its interstate traffic from its intrastate traffic because of the nomadic nature of the
service. As a result, the 8th Circuit held that it was reasonable for the FCC to preempt state regulation of
Vonage's service. The 8th Circuit was clear, however, that the preemplive effect of the FCC’s declaratory
ruling may be reexamined if technological advances allow for the separation of interstate and intrastate
components of the nomadic VoIP service. Therefore, the preemption of state authority over Vonage's
service hinges on the inability to separate the interstate and intrastate components of the service.

The New York State Public Service Commission, or NYPSC, also attempted to assert regulatory.
authority over our services. On September 10, 2003, Frontier Telephone of Rochester, Inc. filed a
complaint with the NYPSC, alleging that our provision of service violated New York law. In response, the
NYPSC initiated a generic proceeding to examine VolP issues. The NYPSC later ruled that our service was
subject to its jurisdiction and ordered us to file a tariff and an application for authority to offer
communications services in New York. However, on July 16, 2004, we obtained a preliminary injunction
from the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York preventing the NYPSC from
enforcing its order until the conclusion of further proceedings. The District Court’s order noted that we
were likely to succeed on the merits of our claim that we were exempt from regulation by the NYPSC. On
December 20, 2004, we filed a motion for a permanent injunction. On December 14, 2005, the District
Court denied that motion. However, the court stated that its preliminary injunction would remain in place
until the FCC concludes its ongoing rulemaking regarding the regulatory classification of VolP services,
which is discussed below.

In addition to these proceedings, we have received inquiries regarding our service from various state
telecommunications regulators. We also are aware of a number of proceedings, informal investigations and
complaints not directed at us but concerning various forms of VoIP in several other states.

Regulatory Classification of VoIP Services

On February 12, 2004, the FCC initiated a rulemaking proceeding concerning the provision of voice
and other services and applications utilizing Internet Protocol technology. As part of this proceeding, the
FCC is considering whether VolP services like ours should be classified as information services or
telecommunications services. We believe our service should be classified as an information service. If the
FCC decides to classify VoIP services like ours as telecommunications services, we could become subject
to rules and regulations that apply to providers of traditional telephony services. This could require us to -’
restructure our service offering or raise the price of our service, or could otherwise significantly harm our
business. ‘
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While the FCC has not reached a decision on the classification of VolP services like ours, it has ruled
on the classification of specific VoIP services offered by others. The FCC has drawn distinctions among
different Lypes of VoIP services, and has concluded that some VoIP services are telecommunications
services while others are information services. The FCC’s conclusions in those proceedings do not
determine the classification of our service, but they likely will inform the FCC’s decision regarding VoIP
services like ours,

VolP E-911 Matters

On June 3, 2005, the FCC reteased an order and notice of proposed rulemaking concerning VoIP
emergency services. The order set forth two primary requirements for providers of “interconnected VolP
services” such as ours, meaning VolP services that can be used to send calls to and receive calls from users
on ihe public switched telephone network.

First, the order requires us to notify our customers of the differences between the emergency services
available through us and those available through traditional telephony providers. We also must receive
affirmative acknowledgment from all of our customers that they understand the nature of the emergency
services available through our service. On September 27, 2005, the FCC’s Enforcement Bureau released an
order stating that the Enforcement Bureau will not pursue enforcement actions against VolP providers, like
us, that have received affirmative acknowledgement from at least 90% of their subscribers. We are required
to file a report with the FCC when we receive affirmative acknowledgments from 100% of our customer
base. We have received affirmative acknowledgment from substantiaily all of our customers that they
understand the nature of the emergency services available through our service, and thus we are
substantially in compliance with the first aspect of the FCC’s June 3, 2005 order.

Second, the order requires us to provide enhanced emergency dialing capabilities, or E-911, to ail of
our customers by November 28, 2005. Under the terms of the order, we are required to use the dedicated
wireline E-G11 network to transmit customers’ 911 calls, callback number and customer-provided location
information to the emergency authority serving the customer’s specified location.

On November 7, 2005, the FCC’s Enforcement Bureau issued a Public Notice with respect to that
requirement. The Public Notice indicated that providers who have not fully complied with the enhanced
emergency dialing capabilities requirement are not required to discontinue the provision of services to
existing clients, but that the FCC expects that such providers will discontinue marketing their services and
accepting new customers in areas in which the providers cannot offer enhanced emergency dialing
capabilities.

We also have taken steps to comply with the enhanced emergency service rules, but we were unable to
comply with all of the requirements of the FCC’s order by the November 28, 2005 deadline, are not
currently in compliance with the FCC’s expectations on marketing, and do not expect to be in compliance
in the short term unless we are granted a waiver of the requirements by the FCC. For approximately 7% of
our customers, we are currently unable to provide E-911 coverage. We may be subject to enforcement
action by the FCC that could include monetary forfeitures, cease and desist orders, and other penalties. Any
of these penalties could materially harm our business, Although we are not currently required to do so, we
have advised the FCC that we will not provide service in any new rate center until we can provide E-911
service in that rate center. As of December 31, 2006, we were providing E-911 services to approximately
93% of our U.S. subscriber lines. Additional progress is being made on a regular basis. and we hope to be
able to provide E-911 capabilities to nearly all of our remaining subscriber lines within the year. If the FCC
orders us to disconnect customers or stop accepting new customers in areas where we have not yet
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implemented E-911 capability, it would reduce our subscriber growth while we work to complete the roll-
out. This may result in an increase in our marketing cost per gross subscriber line addition, since most of
our marketing programs are national in nature and we cannot significantly reduce our marketing costs in
areas in which we could not accept new customers.

The FCC’s June 3, 2005 order also included a notice of proposed rulemaking that considers, among
other things, whether interconnected VoIP providers like us must transition to an emergency services
system that would enable interconnected VolP providers to establish the location of their customers
without the customer providing location information. The comment period closed September 12, 2005. We
do not know when the FCC may take further action in this proceeding, but anticipate that it could be before
the end of the year. If the FCC adopts additional regulatory obligations, implementing systems to comply
with the obligations could be time consuming and expensive.

CALEA

On August 5, 2005, the FCC released an Order extending the obligations of Communications
Assistance for Law Enforcement Act, or CALEA, to interconnected VolP providers. Under CALEA,
telecommunications carriers must assist law enforcement in executing electronic surveillance, which
include the capability of providing call content and call-identifying information to a local enforcement
agency, or LEA, pursuant to a court order or other lawful authorization.

The FCC in a subsequent Qrder released on May 12, 2006 required all interconnected VolP providers to
become fully CALEA compliant by May 14, 2007. The FCC allowed VoIP providers to comply with CALEA
through the use of a solution provided by a trusted third party, or TTP, with the ability to extract cali content
and call-identifying information from a VolP provider’s network. While the FCC permits carriers to use the
services provided by TTPs to become CALEA compliant by the deadline, the carrier remains ultimately
responsible for ensuring the timely delivery of call content and call-identifying information to law
enforcement, and for protecting subscriber privacy, as required by CALEA. We selected a TTP to provide a
solution for CALEA compliant lawful interception of communications by May 14, 2007.

To date, we have taken significant steps towards CALEA compliance, which include testing the
CALEA solution with the FBI. However, recent issues with testing may affect our compliance with the
CALEA requirements by the May 14, 2007 deadline. We are actively working through these issues and
expect resolution prior to May 14, 2007, but in the interim, we are pursuing alternative solutions that will
allow LEAs access to call content and call-identifying information by the deadline. We have also advised
the FCC of our CALEA progress and our efforts at implementing alternative solutions if deemed necessary,
While unlikely, we could be subject to an enforcement action by the FCC if our CALEA solution is not
fully operational by May 14, 2007 and our alternative solutions are proven ineffective.

Customer Proprietary Network Information (CPNI)

On April 2, 2007, the FCC released its Order extending the application of the customer proprietary
network information, or CPNI, rules to interconnected VoIP providers. VolP providers have six months
from the effective date of the Order to implement all the CPNI rules.

CPNI includes information such as the phone numbers called by a consumer; the frequency, duration,
and timing of such calls; and any services/features purchased by the consumer, such as call waiting, call
forwarding, and caller ID, in addition to other information that may appear on a consumer’s bill.
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Under the FCC’s existing rules, carriers may not use CPNI without customer approval except in
narrow circumstances related to their provision of existing services, and must comply with detailed
customer approval processes when using CPNI outside of these narrow circomstances. The new CPNI
requirements are aimed at establishing more stringent security measures for access to a customer’s CPNI
data in the form of enhanced passwords for on-line access and call-in access to account information as well
as customer notification of account or password changes.

At the present time we do not utilize our customer’s CPNI in a manner which would require us to
obtain consent from our customers, but in the event that we do in the future, we will be required to adhere
1o specific CPNI rules aimed at marketing such services. Within the next six months we will be required to
implement internal processes in order to be compliant with all the CPNI rules. We have engaged all the
impacted business units and compliance is expected by the deadline.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the quarter ended December 31,
2006.

Executive Officers and Directors of the Registrant

Our executive officers and directors are listed below,

Jeffrey A. Citron, Director, Chairman, Chief Strategist and Interim Chief Executive Officer.
Jeffrey A. Citron, age 36, was our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer from January 2001 through
February 2006. He resigned from his position as Chief Executive Officer and became our Chief Strategist
in February 2006. On April 11, 2007, in connection with the resignation of Michael Snyder as our Chief
Executive Officer, our board of directors appointed Mr. Citron as our interim Chief Executive Officer. Mr.
Citron is expected to serve in the role on a short-term basis. In 1995, Mr. Citron founded The Island ECN,
a computerized trading system designed to automate the order execution process. Mr, Citron became the |
Chairman and CEQ of Datek Online Holdings Corp. in February 1998 and departed The Island ECN and
Datek in October 1999.

John 8. Rego, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer. John S. Rego,
age 45, joined Vonage as Chief Financial Officer in July 2002 and manages accounting, finance, planning,
taxation and facilities, From 2001 to 2002, Mr, Rego served as Vice President of Finance for business
operations at RCN Corporation, From 1998 to 2000, Mr. Rego served in a variety of corporate and
operational finance positions at Winstar Communications, including Vice President of Finance for the
SME, Internet, Web Hosting and Professional Services divisions. Additionally, Mr. Rego spent over
14 years in practice as a certified public accountant with international CPA firms.

Louis A. Mamakos, Executive Vice President and Chief Technology Officer. Louis A, Mamakos, -
age 47, has been our Chief Technology Officer since July 2004 and oversees all technclogy functions at
Vonage, which include new product and services development, supervision of all research projects and
integration of all technology-based activities into Vonage's corporate strategy. Prior to joining Vonage,
Mr. Mamakos served as a Fellow for Hyperchip, Inc., a start-up that built scaleable, high-performance core
routers, from July 2002 to May 2004. Prior to Hyperchip, Mr. Mamakos held various engineering and
architecture positions at UUNET Technologies, now known as MCI, from 1993 to May 2002. Prior to
UUNET Techrologies, Mr. Mamakos spent nearly 12 years as Assistant Manager for Network
Infrastructure at the University of Maryland, College Park.
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Sharon A. O’Leary, Executive Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Secretary. Sharon A.
O’Leary, age 48, joined Vonage in August 2005 as Chief Legal Officer. From 2002 to 2005, Ms. O’Leary
served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of TeleTech Holdings Inc. From 2000 to
2002, she was Senior Vice President and General Counsel for LoneTree Capital, a venture capital firm.
From 1998 to 2000, Ms. ()’ Leary was Vice President— Law with MediaOne Group, where she managed
the general corporate securities, antitrust, litigation, risk management, human resources and public
relations advice areas of the law department. From 1987 to 1998, Ms. O’ Leary held various commercial
transactions positions within the legal department of U S WEST, with the exception of a four-year break
from 1993 1o 1997 when she was a Partner with the law firm of Browning, Kaleczyc, Berry & Hoven,
managing its mergers and acquisitions practice.

Timothy G. Smith, President, Vonage Network Inc. Timothy Smith, age 39, has served as President
of Vonage Network since November 2006 and Interim President since June 2006 and is responsible for our
network and systems operations globally and Vonage Network staff management. From July 2005 through
June 2006 Mr. Smith served as our Senior Vice President of Network and Systems Infrastructure where he
was responsible for overseeing our management information systems, network operating center and
systems architecture. Prior to joining Vonage, from July 2003 to July 2005, Mr. Smith served as a Senior
Technical Individual Contributor at Sun Microsystems, Inc., where he focused on both high priority tactical
and strategic projects. From June 2000 to July 2003, Mr. Smith served as the Vice President, Network
Engineering at Wayport, Inc, a leading provider of high-speed Wi-Fi wireless and wired Internet access,
where he lead the company’s network engineering, network operations and IT. Prior to Wayport, Mz. Smith
held various positions including Director at UUNET Technologies from 1995 to 2000.

Peter Barris, Director. Peter Barris, age 55, joined our board of directqrs in September 2004.
MTr. Barris has served as Managing Genera! Partner of New Enterprise Associates, LLC, or NEA, since
1999. He has been with NEA since 1992, and he serves as either an executive officer or General Partner of
various NEA entities. Mr. Barris serves on the boards of directors of the Mid-Atlantic Venture Associatton,
Innerworkings, Inc., the National Venture Capital Association and Venture Philanthropy Partners and is a
Member of the Board of Trustees of Northwestern University, the Board of Overseers of the Tuck School
at Dartmouth College and the Board of Advisors of the Tuck’s Center for Private Equity and
Entrepreneurship at Dartmouth College.

Morton David, Director. Morton David, age 70, joined our board of directors in August 2001.
Mr. David served as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Franklin Computer Corporation (later
Franklin Electronic Publishers, Inc.) from 1983 to 1998. Mr. David currently serves on the board of
directors of Sharper Image Corporation and previously served on the board of directors of Datek Online
Holdings Corp. from 1998 until its acquisition by Ameritrade Holdings in 2002.

J. Sanford Miller, Director. J. Sanford (Sandy) Miller, age 57, joined our board of directors in
January 2004, Mr. Miller is a General Partner in Institutional Venture Partners (IVP), which he joined in
April 2006. Prior to joining IVP, Mr. Miller was a Senior Partner at 3i, which he joined in 2001. Prior to
joining 3i, Mr. Miller co-founded Thomas Weise! Partners in 1998, where he was a Member of the
Executive Committee, Chief Administrative and Strategic Officer and Co-Director of Investment Banking.
From 1990 to 1998, Mr. Miller was a Senior Partner at Montgomery Securities, where he led the
technology and healthcare groups. Previously, he was a Managing Director and ran the technology and
healtheare investment banking divisions in San Francisco for Merrill Lynch from 1987 to 1990. Mr. Miller
is a College Trustee at the University of Virginia and serves on the Management Board of the Stanford
Graduate School of Business. Mr, Miller is our Lead Director.
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Governor Thomas J. Ridge, Director. Governor Thomas J. Ridge, age 61, joined our board of
directors in August 2005. From January 2003 to January 2005, Governor Ridge served as the Secretary of
the United States Department of Homeland Security. From 2001 through 2002, Governor Ridge served as
the Special Assistant to the President for Homeland Security, an Executive Office created by President
Bush in October 2001. Governor Ridge served as Governor of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania for two
terms from 1995 through 2001 and was a member of the U.S. House of Representatives from 1983 through
1995. Governor Ridge currently serves on the boards of directors of The Home Depot, Inc. and Exelon
Corporation. : ' g

John J. Roberts, Director. John J. Roberts, age 62, joined our board of directors in August 2004,
Mr. Roberts served as Global Managing Partner for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP from 1998 until his
retirement in June 2002. From 1994 to 1998, Mr. Roberts served as Chief Operating Officer of Coopers &
Lybrand, which merged with Price Waterhouse in 1998. He currently serves on the boards of directors and
audit committees of Armstrong Holdings, Inc., Safeguard Scieritifics, Inc. and the Pennsylvania Real Estate
Investment Trust. He is a Member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Harry Weller, Director. Harry Weller, age 37, joined our board of directors in November 2003,
Mr. Weller joined NEA in 2002 as a Partner and serves as Assistant Vice President of NEA Development
Corp. From 1998 to 2001, Mr. Weller served as a Partner at FBR Technology Venture Partners. Mr. Weller
currently serves on the board of directors of Sourcefire, Inc.

Recent Developments

On March 30, 2007, Betsy S. Atkins resigned from our board of directors.

On April 11, 2007, Michael Snyder stepped.down from his position as Chief Executive Officer and
resigned from our board of directors. Jeffrey A. Citron, our Chairman and Chief Strategist was appointed,
effective Aprit 11, 2007, as our interim Chief Executive Officer and is expected to serve on a short-term
basis. In addition, we have immediately commenced a search for Mr. Snyder’s replacement.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Eqmty, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases
of Equity Securities

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock has been listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol *VG”
since May 24, 2006. Prior to that time, there was no public market for our common stock. The following
table sets forth the high and low sales prices for our common stock as reported on the NYSE for the
quarterly periods indicated.

Price Range of
Common Stock
_High ~ Low
2006
Fourth quarter ......... e e $ 789 $6.40
Third QUAartEr .. ...\t e i e $ 907 $630
Second quarter (fromMay 24) ............. ... ... $17.25 §$825

Holders

At March 31, 2007, we had approximately 174 stockholders of record. This number does not include
beneficial owners whose shares are held in street name.

Dividends

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock, and we do not anticipate paying any cash
dividends on our common stock for at least the next 12 months. We intend to retain all of our earnings, if
any, for general corporate purposes, and, if appropriate, to finance the expansion of our business.

Use of Proceeds from Initial Public Offering

On May 23, 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission declared effective our Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-131659) relating to our IPO. After deducting underwriting discounts
and commissions and other offering expenses, our net proceeds from the offering equaled approximately
$491.1 million, which includes $1.9 million of costs incurred in 2005. We have invested the net proceeds
of the offering in short-term, interest bearing securities pending their use to fund our expansion, including
funding marketing expenses and operating losses. There has been no material change in our planned use of
proceeds from our IPO as described in our final prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b). As of December 31, 2006, we have not used any of the net proceeds
from the IPO.

Sales of Securities Not Registered Under the Securities Act

During 2006, we issued to directors, officers and employees options to purchase 4,510,027 shares of
our common stock with per share exercise prices ranging from $6.76 to $18.00, and issued and sold 57,309
shares of our common stock upon exercise of options for aggregate consideration of $52,676. The issuance
of these securities was exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933 in reliance on Rule 701 of
the Securities Act of 1933 pursuant to compensatory benefit plans approved by our board of directors.
There were no underwriters employed in connection with these issuances.
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Stock Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total return of our common stock between May 24, 2006
{the date of our IPQ) and December 31, 2006, with the cumulative total return of (1) the S&P 500 Index,
(2) the NASDAQ Telecom Index and (3) the NYSE Composite Index, This graph assumes the investment
of $100 on May 24, 2006 in our common stock, the S&P 500 Index, the NASDAQ Telecom Index and the
NYSE Composite Index, and assumes the reinvestment of dividends, if any. The graph assumes-the initial
value of our common stock on May 24, 2006 was the closing sales price of $14.85 per share,

v

The graph below and related information shall not be deemed “‘soliciting material” or “filed” with the
Securities and Exchange Commission or otherwise subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, nor shall such information be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing
under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act, except to the extent we specifically request that such
information be treated as soliciting material or specifically incorporate such information by reference into a
document filed under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

Comparison of the Cumulative Total Return on Common Stock between
May 24 and December 31, 2006

Among Vonage Holdings Corp, the S&P 500 Index, the NASDAQ Telecom Index and the NYSE
Composite Index
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1006 Month-End
—&~ Yonage Hoeldings Corp. ——S&P 500 Index
—#r— NASDAQ Telecom Index ~»—NYSE Composite Index
Vonage NASDAQ NYSE
Holdings S&P 500 Telecom Composite
Corp. Index Index .ﬂy_(_ Date
$100.00 . $100.00 $100.00 $100.00 5124/06
$ 80.94 $100.92 $ 98.83 $101.56 5/31/06
$ 57.85 $100.92 $ 94.99 $101.32 6/30/06
$ 47.74 $101.44 $ 85.58 $102.22 7/31/06
$ 57.31 $103.60 %9774 5104.04 8/31/06
3 46.33 $106.14 $101.68 $105.04 9/29/06
$ 46.33 $109.48 $106.23 $108.83 10/31/06
$ 4377 $111.29 S114.12 $111.24 11/30/06
$ 4673 $112.69 $115.53 $113.35 12729406
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth our selected historical financial information. The statement of
operations and cash flow data for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 and the balance sheet
data as of December 31, 2006 and 2003 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements and
related notes included eisewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The statement of operations and
cash flow data for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the balance sheet data as of
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements and
related notes not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The results included below and elsewhere
are not necessarily indicative of our future performance. You should read this information together with
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our
consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form

10-K.

For the Years Ended

December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Statement of Operations Data:
Operating Revenues: ) .
Telephony services .........ooivin i innn $581,806 $238,165 % 75864 $16905 § 797
Customer equipment and shipping .. ............. 25,591 11,031 3,844 1,817 174
607,397 269,196 79,708 18,722 971
Operating Expenses:
Direct cost of telephony services (1) ............. 223,303 84,050 23,209 8,556 1,599
Directcostof goodssold ........ ... ... ... ... 62,730 40,441 18,878 4,867 855
Selling, general and administrative .............. 272,826 154,716 49,186 19,174 7,846
Marketing .......... ... ool e 365,349 243,404 56,075 11,819 1,983
Depreciation and amortization .................. 23,677 11,122 3,907 2,367 1,114
947,885 533,733 151,255 46,783 13,397
Loss fromoperations ..........covvviivnnnnnnn (340,488) (264,537) (71,547 (28,061) (12,426)
Netloss ....ovvnini i $(338,573) $(261,334) $(69,921) $(29.974) 3(12,742)
Net loss per common share calculation: .
Netloss ....oornini i $(338,573) $(261,334) 3(69.921) $(29.974) $(12,742)
Imputed dividend on preferred shares ............ — (605) — — —
Net loss attributable to common shareholders . ... .. $(338,573) $(261,939) $(69,921) $(29.974) $(12,742)
Net loss per common share:
Basicanddiluted ........... ... .o £ (359 § (189.67) $ (51.41) § (21.14) § (B.96)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basicanddiluted .......... . ... .. ool 94,207 1,381 1,360 1,418 1,422
Statement of Cash Flow Data:
Net cash used in operating activities ............. $(188,898) $(189,765) $(38.600) $(16,583) $(11,140)
Net cash used in investing activities . . ............ (210,798) (154,638) (73,707 {4,933) (4,935)
Net cash provided by financing activities ......... 477,429 434,006 141,094 34,226 14,804

48




December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(dollars in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data (at period end):

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities ... $499,736 $ 266,379 § 105,768 § 14245 § 1,536
Property and equipment, net .. ........ ... ... 131,842 103 638 16,290 9,325 5,262
Total @SSETS o\ v v e o it 757,524 446,562 136,493 28,311 10,583
Convertiblenotes . ......... . ... ... 253,430 247,958 = -— —
Capital lease obligations . .. .................... 24,255 - 22431 -— 5 31
Total liabilities ..................... ... ..... 574,323 426,620 51,045 14,038 2,952
Total redeemable preferred stock ... ... ... ... — 388,427 192,521 51,409 15,963
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) .............. 183,201 (368,485} (107,073) (37,136) (8,337)

(1) Excludes depreciation and amortization of $12,715 for 2006, $6,671 for 2005, $2,519 for 2004, $1,388 for 2003
and $642 for 2002. ‘

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulis of Operations

You should read the following discussion together with “Selected Financial Data” and our
consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form
10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements, which involve risks and uncertainties. Gur
actual results may differ materially from those we currently anticipate as a result of many factors,
including the factors we describe under “Risk Factors,” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form -
10-K.

Overview

We are a leading provider of broadband telephone services with over 2.2 million subscriber lines as of
December 31, 2006, Our services use Voice over Internet Protocol, or VolP, technology, which enables
voice communications over the Internet through the conversion and compression of voice signals into data
packets. In order to use our service offerings, customers must have access to a broadband Internet
connection with sufficient bandwidth (generaily 60 kilobits per second or more} for transmitting those data
packets.

We earn revenue and generate cash primarily through our broadband telephone service plans, each of
which offers a different pricing structure based on a fixed monthly fee. We generate most of our revenue
from those fees, substantially all of which we bill to our customers’ credit cards, debit cards or electronic

-check payments, or ECP, one month in advance,

We have invested heavily in an integrated marketing strategy to build strong brand awareness that
supports our sales and distribution efforts. We acquire customers through a number of sales channels,
including our websites, toll free numbers and a presence in major retailers located in the United States,
Canada and the United Kingdom, We also acquire a significant number of new customers through
Refer-a-Friend, our online customer referral program.

We launched our service in the United States in October 2002, in Canada in November 2004 and in
the United Kingdom in May 2005. Since our U.S. launch, we have experienced rapid revenue and
subscriber line growth. While our revenue has grown rapidly, we have incurred an accumulated deficit of
$720.9 million from our inception through December 31, 2006. Although our net losses initially were
driven primarily by start-up costs and the cost of developing our technology, more recently our net losses
have been driven by our growth strategy. In order to grow our customer base and revenue, we have chosen
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to increase our marketing expenses significantly, rather than secking to generate net income. In addition,
we plan to continue to invest in research and development and customer care. Recently, we announced we
are seeking to balance growth with profitability. We incurred marketing expense of $365.3 million, $243.4
million and $56.1 million and a net loss of $338.6 million, which includes $52.5 million in costs related to
the Verizon patent litigation judgment entered against us, $261.3 million and $69.9 million for 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively. We intend to continue to pursue growth because we believe it will position us as a
strong competitor in the long term. Although we believe we will achieve profitability in the future, we
ultimately may not be successful and we may never achieve profitability.

In March 2007, a judgment was entered against us in the amount of $58.0 million in our Verizon
patent litigation, This amount plus pre and post judgment interest and costs of $8.0 million was posted as a
bond to stay execution of the judgment pending appeal. We must also deposit into escrow a 5.5% royalty
on a quarterly basis for as long as we are using the infringing technology. For 2007, we currently estimate
the quarterly amount to be $10.5 miltion, which will fluctuate with our revenue. The trial court has
permitted us to continue to service existing customers pending appeal but will not permit us to service new
customers. We appealed the jury verdict and the trial court’s decision not to stay the injunction with respect
to new customers. On April 6, 2007, the United States Court of Appeats for the Federal Circuit issued a
temporary stay of the injunction. This stay will remain in effect until the matter is fully briefed and decided
by the appetlate court. The court has set a briefing schedule and ordered the parties to appear for oral
argument on our request for a stay pending appeal on April 24, 2007. We will continue to vigorously
defend against Verizon’s claims, which we believe are without merit. -

On April 11, 2007, we determined to reduce our total workforce by approximately 10% in the second
quarter of 2007 to reduce costs and improve efficiency. We anticipate incurring a charge of approximately
$5.0 million, all of which would be for one-time employee termination benefits. This charge will be
expensed in the second quarter of 2007 and would result in cash payments of approximately $5.0 million
during 2007.

Trends in Our Industry and Business

A number of trends in our industry and business have a significant effect on our results of operations
and are important to an understanding of our financial statements. These trends include:

Broadband adoption. The number of U.S. households with broadband Internet access has grown
significantly. We expect this trend to continue. We benefit from this trend because our service requires a
broadband Internet connection and our potential addressable market increases as broadband adoption
increases.

Changing competitive landscape. We are facing increasing competition from other companies that
offer multiple services such as cable television, voice and broadband Internet service. Several of these
competitors are offering VoIP or other voice services as part of a bundle, in which they offer voice services
at a lower price than we do to new subscribers. In addition, several of these competitors are working to -
develop new integrated offerings that we cannot provide and that could make their services more attractive
to customers. We also compete against established alternative voice communication providers and
independent VoIP service providers. Some of these service providers may choose to sacrifice revenue in
order to gain market share and have offered their services at lower prices or for free. These offerings could
negatively affect our ability to acquire new customers or retain our existing customers.

Subscriber line growth. Since our launch, we have experienced rapid subscriber line growth. For
example, we grew from 390,566 subscriber lines as of December 31, 2004 to 1,269,038 as of December 31,
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2005 and to 2,224,111 as of December 31, 2006. If we receive a permanent stay of execution of the 1
injunction or if we implement court-approved design arounds, we believe we will continue to'add
subscriber lines in future periods; however, we do not expect to sustain our historical subscriber line
growth rate on a percentage basis due to a combination of increased competition, a significantly-larger and:’
growing customer base and increasing saturation among our 1nmal target customer base, Wthh mcluded
many early adoptcrs

4 .

Average monthly customer chizrn. For 2006, we experienced average monthly customer churn of 2.5%
compared to 2.0% for 2005. We believe this increase was driven primarily by increased competition and
our continued rapid growth and inability to hire enough qualified customer caré employees, ‘which led to -
less than sansfactory customer care durmg 2006 We continue to work on 1mprov1ng our customer care.

. L. . E ' P

We believe that our churn will fluctuate over time and may increase as a result of the adverse decision
in the Verizon patent litigation and as we shift our marketing focus from early adopters to mainstream
customers and acquire customers from new sources, such as outbound tclemarketmg, that hlstumally have
had a hlgher churn rate. ‘

" Average monthly revenue per, line..Our average monthly revenue per line increased to $28.98 for 2006
compared to $27.03 for 2005. In March 2006 we began charging customers an Emergency 911, Cost
Recovery fee, and in October 2006, we- began collecting Universal Service Fund (“USF”) fromour .,
customers, which has increased average monthly revenue per line. In addition, an increasing number of
customers are choosing the residential unlimited plan as a result of the first month free promotion which -,
has a posmve effect on longer term average monthly revenue per line. These increases could be negatlvely
affected by the timing and duration of promotions such as the second line promotion introduced in late. .
May 2006. In addition, in May 2006 we started offering free calls to. certain countries in Europe for
customers on our unlimited plans, which decreased average monthly revenue per line. For 2007, we belleve
that our average monthly revenue per line.will remain steady or shghtly increase. - . e

Average monthly direct cost of telephony services per line. Our average monthly direct cost of
telephony services per line increased to $10.65 for 2006 compared to $8.44 for 2005. This increase was
primarily due to.the Verizon patent litigation judgment entered against us and the costs of E-911 .
compliance and taxes we pay on our services, including government imposed taxes such as USF, which
was offset by decreases driven by changes in customers’ calling patterns as international calling is a lower
portion of our overall call volume and our fixed network costs are being spread over a larger subscriber line
base. Of the $51.3 million Verizon judgment recorded for the year ended December 31, 2006, $32.0,
million pertained 1o 2006 and the balance to prior years. c .

Regulation. Our business has developed in an environment largely free from regulation. However, the
United States and other countries have begun to examine how VoIP-services should be regulated, and a .
number of initiatives could have an impact on our business. For example, the FCC has concluded'that - -
wireline breadband Internet access, such as DSL and Internet access provided by cable companies, is an .
information service and is subject to lighter regulation than telecommunications. services. This order may -
give providers of wireline broadband Internet access the right to discriminate against our services, charge
their customers an extra fee to use our service or block our service. We believe it is unlikely that this will-
occur on a widespread basis, but if it does it would have a material adverse effect on us. Other regulatory -
initiatives include the assertion of state regulatory authority over us, FCC rulemaking regarding'emergency-
calling services and proposed reforms for the intercarrier compensation systermn. In addition, the FCC
recently concluded that VoIP providers must begin contributing to the Universal Service Fund on
October 1,2006, an order that we are appealing. The Internal Revenue Service, however, has discontinued -
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the requirement to collect the Federal Excise Tax, which we stopped collecting on June 24, 2006. o
Complying with regulatory developments may affect our business by increasing our operating expenses,
including legal and consulting fees, requiring us to make srgmﬁcant capital expenditures or increasing the
taxes and regulatory fees we pay. . - .- e ey

E-911 'rolf—out. As of December 31, 2006, we were providing E-911 services to approxinlately 93% of
our U.S. subscriber lines. We expect to complete the E-911 rolt-out to nearly all of our remaining '
subscriber lines in the near term. If the FCC orders us to disconnect.customers or stop accepting new
customers in areas where we have not yet lrnplemented E-91 1 capability, it would reduce our subscrrber
growth while we work to complete the rol] out. This may, result in an increase in our marketing cost per
gross subscnber lme addition, since most of our rnarketmg programs are nanonal in nature and we cannot
significantly reduce our markenng costs in areas in which we could not accept new customers.

.
. . L P e L .o . e
e . a + hes : * . 4 .

Operating Revenues -+ .. S SRR . o : T
' ‘ Lt N e = [T A et Lot y ot S
Operating revenues consists of telephony services revenue and customer equipment and shipping

revenue. -

Te!ephony services revenue. Substantially-all of our operanng revenues are telephony services
revenue: In the United States, we offer two residential plans,’ “Résidéntial Premium Unlirited” and-
“Residential Bas1c 500,” and two small office and homé office plans, “Small Business Unlimited” and
“Small Business Basié-”-Each of our unlimited plans offers unlimited domestic calling as well as free
calling 'to Puerto Rico, Canada and selected European countries, subject to certain restrictions, and ¢ach of
ouf basi¢ plans offers a limited number of domestic-calling minutes per month. Under our basic plans, we
charge‘on-a per minute basis-whén the number of doinestic calling minutes included in the plan is exceeded
for a particular month Inteérhational calls (except for calls to certain European countries under our
unlimited plans) are charged on a per rnmute basis. These per minute fees are not mcluded in our monthly
subscription fees. We offer-similar plans in Canada and thé United Kingdom.

We derive most of our telephony services revenue from monthly subscription fees that we charge our
customers under our service plans. We also offer residential fax'service, virtual phone numbers, toll free
numbers and other services, ‘for each of which we charge an additional monthly fee. One business fax line
is included with each of our two small office and home office plans,:but we charge monthly fees for
additional business fax lines. We automatically charge these fees to our customers’ credit cards, debit cards
or ECP, monthly in.advance. We automatically charge the per minute fees not included in our monthly -
subscription fees to our customers’ .credit cards, debit cards or ECP monthly in arrears unless they exceed a
certain dollar threshold, in which case they are charged immediately. :

By collecting monthly subscription fees in advance and certain other.charges immediately after they
are incurred, we are ablé to reduce the amount of accounts receivable that we have outstanding, thus -
allowing us to have lowér working capital requirements, Collecting in this manner also-helps us mitigate .
bad.debt losses, which are recorded as a reduction torevenue. If a customer’s credit card, debit card or ECP
is declined,.we generally suspend international-calling: capabilities as well as the customer’s ability to incur
domestic usage-charges in' excess of their.plan minutes. Historically, in most cases we ate able to correct.
the problem with the customer within the current monthly billing cycle. If the customer’s credit card, debit
card or ECP cannot be successfully processed dunng two blllmg cycles (i.e., the current and subsequent
month’s brllmg cycle), we terminate the account. e . T

We also generate revenue by chargmg a fee for actwatmg service. Through June 2005 we charged an.
activation fee to our direct channel customers, or those customers who purchase equipment directly from .
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us. Beginning in fuly 2005, we also began charging an activation fee to our retail channel customers, or
customers who purchase equipment from retail stores. For our direct channel customers, activation fees,
together with the related customer acquisition amounts for equipment, are deferred and amortized over the
estimated averagé customer relationship period. For our retail channel customers, rebates and retailer
commissions up to but not exceeding the activation fee, are also deferred and amortized over the estimated
average customer relationship period. The amortization of deferred customer equipment expense is
recorded to direct cost of goods sold. The amortization of deferred rebates is recorded as a reducticn to
telephony services revenue. The amortization of deferred retailer commissions is recorded as marketing
expense. Through December 31, 2004, we estimated that the average customer relationship period would
be 30 months based upon comparisons to other telecommunications companies. For 2005, this period was
reevaluated based on our experience to date and we now estimate it will be 60 months. We have applied the
60-month customer relationship period on a prospective basis beginning January 1, 2005. For 2006 and
2007, we have confirmed that the customer relationship period should be 60 months.

In the United States, we charge regulatory recovery fees on a monthly basis to defray the costs
associated with regulatory consulting and compliance as well as related litigation, E-911 compliance and to
cover taxes that we are charged by the suppllers of telecommunications services. In addition, beginning on
October 1, 2006 we began charging customers Federal USF. We record these fees as revenue,

Prior to June 30, 2005, we generally charged a disconnect fee to customers who did not return their
customer equipment 10 us upon termination of service, regardless of the length of time between activation
and termination, On July 1, 2003, we changed our termination policy. We no longer accept returns of any
customer equipment after 30 days, and for all subscribers who became our customer prior to February 1,
2007, we will charge a disconnect fee to customers who terminate their servi¢e within one year of
activation. For subscribers who became our customiers after February 1, 2007, we will charge a disconnect
fee to customers who terminate their service within two years of activation. Disconnect fees are recorded as
revenue and are recognized at the time the customer terminates service.

Telephony services revenue is offset by the cost of certain customer acquisition activities, such as
rebates and promations.

Customer equipment and shipping revenye. Customer equipment and shipping revenue consists of
revenue from sales of customer equipment to our wholesalers or directly to customers and retailers. In
addition, customer-equipment and shlppmg revenue includes the fees that we charge our customers for
shipping any equnpment to them

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses consist of direct cost of telephony services, direct cost of goods sold, selling,
general and administrative expense, marketing expense and depreciation and amortization.

Direct cost of telephony services. Direct cost of telephony services primarily consists of fees that we
pay to third parties on an ongoing basis in ordef to provide our services. These fees include:

* Access charges that we pay to other telephone companies to terminate domestic and international
calls on the public switched telephone network. These costs represented approximately 43% and
2% of our direct cost of telephony services for 2006 and 2005, respectively, with a portion of
these payments ultimately being made to incumbent telephone companies. When a Vonage
subscriber calls another Vonage subscriber, we do not pay an access charge.

« . The cost of leasing interconnections to route calls over the Internet and transfer calls between the
Internet and the public switched telephone networks of various long distance carriers.
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The cost of leasing from other telephone companies the telephone numbers that we provide to our
customers. We lease these telephone numbers on a monthly basis.

The cost of co-locating our regional data connection point equipment in third-party facilities
owned by other telephone companies, internet service providers, or collocation facility providers.

The cost of providing local number portability, which allows customers to move their existing
telephone numbers from another provider to our service. Only regulated telecommunications
providers have access to the centralized number databases that facilitate this process. Because we
are not a regulated telecommunications provider, we must pay other telecommunications
providers to process our local number portability requests.

The cost of complying with the new FCC regulations regarding VoIP emergency services, which
require us to provide enhanced emergency dialing capabilities to transmit 911 calls for all of our
customers,

Taxes that we pay on our purchase of telecommunications services from our suppliers or imposed
by government agencies such as Federal USF.

In 2006, a portion of the Verizon patent litigation judgment entered against us and in the future it
will include royalties for use of third party intellectual property.

Direct cost of goods sold. Direct cost of goods sold primarily consists of costs that we incur when a
customer first subscribes to our service. These costs include:

The cost of the equipment that we provide to customers who subscribe to our service through our
direct sales channel in excess of activation fees. The remaining cost of customer equipment is
deferred and amortized over the estimated average customer relationship period.

The cost of the equipment that we sell directly to retailers.

The cost of shipping and handling for customer equipment, together with the installation manual,
that we ship to customers.

The cost of products or services that we give customers as promotions.

Selling, general and administrative expense. Selling, general and administrative expense includes:

Compensation and benefit costs for all employees, which is the largest component of selling,
general and administrative expense and includes customer care, research and development,
network engineering and operations, sales and marketing, executive, legal, finance, human
resources and business development personnel.

Compensation expense related to stock-based awards to employees and directors.
Qutsourced labor related to customer care and retail in-store support activities.

Transaction fees paid to credit card, credit card and ECP companies, which include a per
transaction charge in addition to a percent of billings charge.

Rent and related expenses.

Professional fees for legal, accounting, tax, public relations, lobbying and development activities.

Marketing expense. Marketing expense consists of:

Advertising costs, which comprise a majority of our marketing expense and include online,
television, print and radio advertising, direct mail, alternative media, promotions, sponsorships
and inbound and outbound telemarketing.
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* Creative and production costs.
* The costs to serve and track our online advertising.

»  Certain amounts we pay to retailers for newspaper insert advertising, product placement and
activation commissions.

* The cost associated with our customer referral program.

Depreciation and amortization expenses. Depreciation and amortization expenses include:

+ Depreciation of our network equipment, furniture and fixtures, and employee computer
equipment,

*  Amortization of leasehold improvements and purchased software.

* Amortization of intangible assets (patents).

Other Income (Expense)
Other Income (Expense) consists of:
» Interest income on cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities.
+ Interest expense on notes payable, the Verizon patent litigation judgment and capital leases.
» Amortization of deferred financing costs.
* Accretion of convertible notes.
* Gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment.
*  Debt conversion expense relating to the conversion of notes payable to equity.
For 2007 and subsequent years through 2010, we will have annual interest expense on our convertible
notes of at least $12.7 million unless the convertible notes are converted, repaid prior to maturity date or

the holders require us to repurchase all or any portion of the convertible notes on December 16, 2008. This
amount will increase if we pay interest in kind on these notes.

Key Operating Data

The following table contains certain key operating data that our management uses to measure the
growth of our business and our operating performance:;

For the Years Ended
December 21,
2006 2005 2004
Gross subscriber line additions ... ................ 1,470,138 1,099,641 364,214
Net subscriber line additions .................... 955,073 878,472 304,849

Subseriber lines (at periodend) .................. 2224111 1,269,038 390,566
Average monthly customerchurn . ... ... ... 25% 2.0% 1.8%
Average monthly revenue perline ................ $§ 2898 § 2703 § 27.89
Average monthly telephony services revenue per .

line ... 3 2976 $ 2593 F 2655
Average monthly direct cost of telephony services per

line ... ... $ 1065 3§ 844 5 812
Marketing costs per gross subscriber line addition ... $ 24851 $ 221.35 § 153.96
Employees (excluding temporary help) (at period . ‘

end) ... e e 1,790 1,355 - 648




Gross subscriber line additions. Gross subscriber line additions for a particular period are calculated
by taking the net subscriber line additions during that particular period and adding to that the number of
subscriber lines that terminated during that period. This number does not include subscriber lines both
added and terminated during the period, where termination occurred within the first 30 days after
activation. The number does include, however, subscriber lines added during the period that are terminated
within 30 days of activation but after the end of the period.

Net subscriber line additions. Net subscriber line additions for a particiilar period reflect the number
of subscriber lines at the end of the period, less the number of subscriber lines at the beginning of the
period.

Subscriber lines. Our subscriber lines include, as of a particular date, all subscriber lines from which a
customer can make an outbound telephone call on that date. Qur subscriber lines include fax lines and
SoftPhones but do not include our virtual phone numbers or toll free numbers, which only allow inbound
telephone calls to customers. We added approximately 1 million subscriber lines from 1,269,038 subscriber
lines as of December 31, 2005 to 2,224,111 as of December 31, 2006. The increase in our subscriber lines
was directly related to an increase in our advertising spending and our expansion to other media, such as
television, direct mail, alternative media and outbound telemarketing, which have a broader customer
reach.

Average monthly customer churn. Average monthly customer churn for a particular period is
calculated by dividing the number of customers that terminated during that period by the simple average
number of customers during the period, and dividing the result by the number of months in the period. The
simple average number of customers during the period is the number of customers on the first day of the
period, plus the number of customers on the last day of the period, divided by two. Terminations, as used in
the calculation of churn statistics, do not include customers terminated during the period if termination
occurred within the first 30 days after activation. Our average monthly customer churn was 2.5% for 2006
compared to 2.0% for 2005. As part of our effort to improve customer satisfaction and increase retention,
in the fourth quarter of 2006 we extended our customer grace period for non-payment in order to betier
resolve customer accounts that may be past due. This extension had a one-time positive impact of 10 basis
points on our average monthly customer churn for the fourth quarter. We monitor churn on a daily basis
and use it as an indicator of the level of customer satisfaction. Other companies may calculate churn
differently, and their churn data may not be directly comparable to ours. Customers who have been with us
for a year or more tend to have a significantly lower churn rate than customers who have not. This means
that during periods of rapid customer growth our churn rate is likely to increase. In addition, our churn will
fluctuate over time and may increase due to increased competition, uncertainty surrounding our patent
litigation with Verizon and as we continue to shift our marketing focus from early adopters to mainstream
customers and acquire customers from new sources, such as outbound telemarketing, that historically have
had a higher churn rate.

Average monthly revenue per line. Average monthly revenue per line for a particular period is
calculated by dividing our total revenue for that period by the simple average number of subscriber lines
for the period, and dividing the result by the number of months in the period. The simple average number
of subscriber lines for the period is the number of subscriber lines on the first day of the period, plus the
number of subscriber lines on the last day of the period, divided by two. Our average monthly revenue per
line was $28.98 for 2006 compared to $27.03 for 2005.

Average monthly telephony services revenue per line. Average monthly telephony services revenue
per line for a particular period is calculated by dividing our total telephony services revenue for that period
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by the simple average number of subscriber lines for the period, and dividing the result by the number of -
months in the period. Qur average monthly telephony services revenue per line was $27.76 for 2006
compared with $25.93 for 2005.

Average monthly direct cost of telephony services per line. Average monthly direct cost of telephony
services per line for a particular period is calculated by dividing our direct cost of telephony services for
that period by the simple average number of subscriber lines for the period, and dividing the result by the
number of months in the period. We use the average monthly direct cost of telephony services per line to
evaluate how effective we are at managing our costs of providing service. Our average monthly direct cost
of telephony services per line increased from $8.44 for 2005 to $10.65 for 2006. Of the $51.3 million
Verizon judgment recorded for the year ended December 31, 2006, $32.0 million pertained to 2006 and the
balance to prior years.

Marketing cost per gross subscriber line addition. Marketing cost per gross subscriber line addition is
calculated by dividing our marketing expense for a particular period by the number of gross subscriber line
additions during the period. Marketing expense does not include the cost of certain customer acquisition
activities, such as rebates and promotions, which are accounted for as an offset to revenues, or customer
equipment subsidies, which are accounted for as direct cost of goods sold. As a result, it does not represent
the full cost to us of obtaining a new customer. Qur marketing cost per gross subscriber line addition has
fluctuated over time and may increase in 2007 for several reasons. Unless we are prohibited from offering
service to new customers as a result of our patent litigation with Verizon, we intend to continue te spend a
substantial amount on advertising and expect to continue to add advertising in more expensive media with
a broader reach, such as television, to enhance our brand awareness. In addition, we believe it is generally
more expensive to acquire mainstream consumers than early adopters of new technologleq and we have
increased our focus on more mainstream consumers.

When we increase our total marketing expense, we generally experience, over the short term, a
significant increase in marketing cost per gross subscriber line addition. However, we track the efficiency
of our marketing programs and make adjustments on how we allocate our funds. These adjustmeants can
result in a subsequent slight decrease in marketing cost per gross subscriber line addition after the initial
increase in marketing expense.

Employees. Employees represent the number of personnel that are on our payroll and exclude
temporary or outsourced labor. Until recently, one challenge we have faced in enhancing the efficiency of
our selling, general and administrative expense has been our high turnover among our customer care
employees. On April 11, 2007, we determined to reduce our total workforce by approximately 10% in the
second quarter of 2007 to reduce costs and improve efficiency. We anticipate incurring a charge of
approximately $5.0 million, all of which would be for one-time employee termination benefits. This charge
will be expensed in the second quarter of 2007 and would result in cash payments of approximately $5. O
million during 2007. ‘
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, as a percentage of consolidated operating revenues, our consolidated
statement of operations for the periods indicated:

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2006 2005 2004

~ Operating Revenues:
Telephony SEIVICES .. ... vt e i %% 96% 95%
Customer equipment and shipping . ........... ... ... o000 4 4 5

100 100 100
Operating Expenses:
Direct cost of telephony services (excluding depreciation and

AMOMIZALOIIY -« . . oot ottt i v ettt it e et n e i n e anes 37 31 29
Directcostof goodssold ........... ... .. ... i 10 15 24
Selling, general and administrative . ........... ... o il 45 58 62
Marketing .. ... 60 90 70
Depreciation and amortization ..............coo e 4 _4 5

156198 190
Loss from Operalions . ... ...t unnt it iir i ir e e e _(é_ﬁ) @) @)
Other Income (Expense):
Interest inCOMIE . .. ...t it it e e it e e 4 1 1
INterest EXPeMSE . ..ottt it i 3 = —
1 1 1
Loss before income tax benefit .. ... ... . i (53) 97) (89)
Income tax benefit ... ... .. ... e - — 1
=T 0 L O E)% Q’{)% -(8_8)%

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2005

Telephony Services Revenue and Direct Cost of Telephony Services

For the Years Ended
December 31,

$ %
2006 2005 Change Change
(dollars in thousands)
Telephony SErvICEs . . . vvvvree i iieiiiianiiinaas $581,806 $258,165 $323,641 125%
Direct cost of telephony services (excluding depreciation and
amortization of $12,715 and $6,671, respectively) ........ 223,303 284,050 139253 166%

Telephony services revenue. The increase in telephony services revenue of $323.6 million, or 125%,
was primarily due to an increase of $240.9 million in monthly subscription fees resulting from an increased
number of subscriber lines, which grew from 1,269,038 at December 31, 2005 to 2,224,111 at
December 31, 2006. The pricing of our service plans did not change during either 2006 or 2003. Also, the
growing number of subscriber lines generated additional revenue from activation fees of $8.1 million,
increased revenue of $21.9 million from a higher volume of international calling, increased revenue of $7.0
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miltion from customers exceeding their plan minutes and increased revenue of $33.6 million in regulatory
fees we collected from customers including $8.0 million of Federal USF which we began collecting on
October 1, 2006. Additionally, add-on features to our service plans generated an increase of $9.6 million.
We also had a $13.3 million increase in the fees we charge for disconnecting our service, offset by an
increase of $11.2 million in bad debt expense. We believe that telephony services revenue will continue to
increase in 2007, as we expect an increase in the number of subscribers. However, we might not experience
the same rapid growth as in prior years.

Direct cost of telephony services. The increase in direct cost of telephony services of $139.3 million,
or 166%, was primarily due to $51.3 million for the judgment entered against us in our on-going patent
litigation with Verizon and the increase in the number of subscriber lines, which increased the fees that we
pay other phone companies for terminating phone calls by $46.2 million. We also incurred increased costs
of $13.0 million for establishing compliance systems for E-911 services and for E-911 call processing. Our
network costs, which includes costs for co-locating in other carriers’ facilities, for leasing phone numbers,
routing calls on the Internet, and transferring calls to and from the Internet to the public switched telephone
network, increased by $12.6 million. Our cost of porting phone numbers for our customers akso increased
by $4.0 million. In addition, the taxes that we pay on our purchase of telecommunications services from
our suppliers and imposed by government agencies increased our costs by $12.0 million.

Customer Equipment and Shipping Revenue and Direct Cost of Goods Sold

For the Years Ended
Decemntber 31, $ %
2006 2005 Change Change
(dollars in thousands)
Customer equipment and shipping ............ $25591  $11,031  $14,560 132%
Directcostof goodssold ... ... .. ... ........ 62,730 40,441 22,289 55%
Customer equipment and shipping gross loss ....  $(37,139) $(29.410) $(7.729) 26%

Customer equipment and shipping revenue. Our customer equipment and shipping revenue increased
by $14.6 million, or 132%, primarily due to an increase in the number of new customers subscribing to our
services, resulting in incremental shipping revenue of $6.1 million. In addition, we changed our default
shipping option to second day shipping in late February 2006 resulting in higher shipping fees. Customer
equipment sales increased by $8.4 million, as in the fourth quarter of 2005 we began to offer our direct
customers the option of upgrading their customer equipment at the time of customer sign-up for an
additional fee.

Direct cost of goods sold. The increase in direct cost of goods sold of $22.3 million, or 55%, was due
largely to the increase in the number of new customers subscribing to our services, which resulted in
additional costs of $16.3 million associated with our provision of customer equipment, as well as additional
costs for shipping customer equipment of $6.0 million, including incremental costs associated with second
day shipping.

Selling, General and Administrative

For the Years Ended

December 31, $ %
2006 2005 Change Change
(dollars in thousands)
Selling, general and administrative .......... $272,826 $154,716 $118.110 76%-




Selling, general and administrative. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses of
$118.1 million, or 76%, was primarily due to an increase in the number of our employees, which grew to
1,790 full time employees at December 31, 2006 from 1,355 at December 31, 2005, and an increase in
outsourced labor. This increase resulted in higher wages, employee-related benefits, fees for recruitment of
new employees and outsourced labor costs of $68.7 million. On January [, 2006, we adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), and accordingly have recognized $27.0 million of
compensation expense for stock-based awards in 2006. As a result of our high turnover among our
customer care employees, we have experienced an increase in training and recruiting costs. Also, we
experienced an increase in our facility maintenance and other administrative expenses of $17.4 million
partially due to the relocation of our headquarters. As we continued to add customers, our credit card, debit
card or ECP fees have increased as well by $9.8 million. We alsb experienced an increase in professional
fees of $2.7 million primarily related to legal fees. This was offset by a reduction in tax expense of $8.8
million relating to our potential obligation for sales tax, While selling, general and administrative expenses
have increased, they have decreased as a percentage of revenue from 58% for 2003 to 45% for 2006.

Marketing
For the Years Ended
December 31, $ %
2006 2005 Change Change
{dollars in thousands)
Marketing .......... ... it $365,349  $243.404 $121,945 50%

Marketing. The increase in marketing expense of $121.9 million, or 50%, was primarily due to an
increase in television advertising, direct mail campaigns and telemarketing fees of $134.1 million offset by
a decrease of $45.1 millien in online and radio advertising. We have slightly shifted our focus of
advertising to reach out to the mainstream consumer and increase brand awareness, primarily with new
television commercials during National Footbail League and University of Notre Dame footbalt games and
by sponsoring events such as the Preakness Stakes, World Cup Soccer, Ryder Cup Golf and the WNBA
all-star game.

We also had increased costs of $3.3 million for advertising agency fees, $17.9 million for alternative
media and $12.1 million for other miscellaneous marketing fees. We had decreased costs of $0.4 million
related to our retail channel, which includes the costs of advertisements and in-store placement fees as well
as activation commissions to retailers.

For 2007, unless the court in our litigation with Verizon prohibits us from offering service to new

customers or we fail to implement workarounds, we will continue to incur a significant amount of
marketing costs as we pursue our growth strategy of increasing our subscriber and revenue base.

Depreciation and Amortization

For the Years Ended
December 31,
$ %
2006 2005 Change Change
(dollars in thousands)
Depreciation and amortization . ................ $23,677 S$11,122  $12,555 113%

Depreciation and amortization. The increase in depreciation and amortization of $12.6 millicn, or
113%, was primarily due to an increase in capital expenditures for the continued expansion of our network,

60




computer equipment for our new employees and leaschold improvements for our Holmdel, New Jersey -
headquarters.

.

Other Income (Expense) - -

For the Years Ended )
December 31, $ %
. 2006 2005 Change Change
‘ : . : ! . « .« ' . . (dollarsin thousands) - .
Interest income .., .. :...vo. ol i $21472  $4347 « § 17,125 . 394%. .
! Interest eXpense ..........vveeirnnna.. (19,583) (1,093) (18490 . *
' Other,net ......... ... ... i, (189) (441) 252 (57)%

| $ 1700 $2813 $ (1.113)  (40)%

| . N . LN

Interest income. The increase in 1nteresl income of $17.1 million .was due 10 an increase in cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securitie$ from dur convertible notes issuéd in December 2005 and January
2006 and our initial public offering in May 2006.

] Interest expense, The increase iminterest expense of $18.5 million was primarily related to interest on
our convertible notes that were issued in December 2005 and January 2006 for $17.3 million and $1.2
. million related to the Verizon jatent litigation judgment.

.

Provision for Income Taxes . - .

We have net losses for fifiancial reporting purposes. Recognition of deferred tax assets will rerq'uire
generation of future taxable income. There can be no assurance that we will generate sufficient taxable
income in future years. Therefore, we established a valuauon allowance on net deferred tax assets of
$278.7 miilion as of December 31, 2006.

2 . . . f . P

W

We pamcnpated in the State of New Jersey s corporanon bllSll'leS tdx beneﬁt cemﬁcate transfer e
program, which allows certain high technology and blotechnology companies to transfer unused New
Jersey net operating loss carryovers to other New J ersey corporatmn busmess taxpayers Durmg 2003 and
2004, we submitted an apphcatlon o the New Jersey Economic Developmem Authority, or EDA, to
parucrpate in the _program and the application was approved The EDA then issued a certificate cemfymg
our eligibility to partictpate in the program. The program requires that a purchaser pay at least 75% of the
amount of the surrendered tax ‘benefit. In tax years 2004, 2005 and 2006, we sold apprommately, $6. 2
million, $5.1 million and $6.5 million, respectively, of our New Jersey State net operalmg loss
carryforwards for a recognized benefit of approximately $0.5 million in 2004, $0.4 million in 2005'and '

. $0.5 million in 2006. Collectively, all transactions represent approximately 82% of the surrendered tax
i benefit each year and have been recognized in the year received, | o e '
oo ’ < P T . O TS C!

As of December 31, 2006, we had net operating loss carryforwards for U.S. federal and state tax
purposes of $545.3 million and $524.6 million, respectively, expiring at various times from years-ending
2020 through 2026. In addition; we had net operating loss carryforwards for Canadian tax purposes of
$45.4 million expiring through 2013, We also had net operaung loss carryforwards for United ngdom tax
purposes of $16.8 million with no expiration date: . _ ., . . . -

R . . 0 * . il




Net Loss : o . L '

For the Years Ended
December 31, $ %
2006 2005 Change Change
{dollars in thousands)
Netloss . ..oovt il i it ieannens $(338,573) $(261,334) $(77,239) 30%

Net Loss. Based on the explanations described above, our net loss of $338.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006 increased by $77.2 million, or 30%, from $261.3 million for the year ended .
December 31, 2005.

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2004

Telephony Services Revenue and Direct Cost of Telephﬁhy Services

For the Years Ended

December 31, $ o
2005 2004 Change Change
) .(dollars in thousands) .
Telephony services .. ..., $258,165 $75,864  $182,301 240%
Direct cost of telephony services (excluding
depreciation and amortization of $6,671 and .
$2,519, respectively) ...... P ¥ 84,050 | 23,209 60,841 262%

Telephony services revenue. The increase in telephony services revenue of $182.3 million, or 240%,
was primarily due to an increase of $147.5 million in monthly subscription fees resulting from an increased
number of subscriber lines, which grew from 390,566 at December 31, 2004 to 1,269,038 at December 31,
20035. The growing number of subscriber linies also generated additional activation fee revenue of
$3.6 million, increased revenue of $20.4 million from a higher volume of international calling, $4.5 milhon
from customers exceeding their plan minutes'and $11.5 million in regulatory fees collected from
customers. Also, add-on features to our service plans generated an increase of $7.4 million and we had a
$4.5 million increase in the fees we charge for disconnecting our service. The increase in revenue from
additional subscriber lines was partially offset by customer credits, ‘rebates and other promouonal items of
$17.6 million and reductions in the monthly price for our residential unlimited plan from $34.99 to $29. 99
in May 2004 and to $24 99 in October 2004

*

Direct cost of telephony services. The increase in direct cost of telephony services of $60.8 million, or
262%, was primarily due to the increase in the number of subscriber lines and the further expansion of our
network, which increased the costs that we pay other phone companies for terminating phone calls by -
$37.8 million, including $3.0 million for establishing compliance systems for E-911 services and for E-911
call processing. Also, our network costs for co-locating in other carriers’ facilities, for leasing phone
numbers, routing calls on the Internet and transferring calls to and from the Internet to the public switched
telephone network increased by $16.1 million and our costs for porting local phone numbers increased by
$6.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. These increases were offset in part by reduced vendor
pricing.
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Customer Equipment and Shipping Revenue and Direct Cost of Goods Sold

For the Years Ended

December 31, $ o,
2005 2004 Change Change
(dollars in thousands)
Customer equipment and shipping ... ......... $11,031 § 3844 § 7,187 187%
Direct costof goodssold .. ................. 40,441 18,878 21,563 114%
Customer equipment and shipping gross loss ...  $(29410) $(15,034) $(14,376) 9%6%

Customer equipment and shipping revenue. Our customer equipment and shipping revenue increased
by $7.2 million, or 187%, primarily due to an increase in the number of new customers subscribing to our
services, resulting in incremental shipping revenue of $5.4 million. Customer equipment sales increased by
$1.8 million as we began to offer our direct customers the option of upgrading their customer equipment at
the time of customer sign-up for an additional fee in the fourth quarter of 2005.

Direct cost of goods sold. The increase in direct cost of goods sold of $21.6 million, or 114%, was due
largely to the increase in the number of new customers subscribing to our services, which resulted in
additional costs of $9.7 million associated with our provision of customer equipment and $3.5 million in
additional amortization of customer equipment. In addition, as part of a promotion during the first part of
2003, we waived the activation fee for certain customers, which resulted in us expensing the entire
customer equipment cost of approximately $2.9 million. Typically, we defer a portion of the customer
equipment expense to the extent of activation fee revenue, and we amortize the revenue and costs equally
over the estimated life of the customer. In the absence of an activation fee, the entire customer equipment
cost is expensed immediately. See “Summary of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates.” Also, the
costs of shipping customer equipment increased by $5.5 million for 2005 compared to 2004.

Selling, General and Administrative

For the Years Ended
December 3, $ %
2005 2004 Change Change
(dollars in thousands)
Selling, general and administrative ........... $154,716  $49,186  $105,530 215%

Selling, general and administrative. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses of
$105.5 million, or 215%, was primarily due to an increase in the number of our employees, which grew o
1,355 full time employees at December 31, 2005 from 648 at December 31, 2004, and an increase in
outsourced labor. This increase resulted in higher wages, employee-related benefits and fees for recruitment
of new employees of $53.8 million. As a result of our high turnover among our customer care employees, we
have experienced an increase in training and recruiting costs, Also, we experienced an increase in rent,
facilities and other administrative expenses of $9.4 million partially for maintenance of two facilities in
November and December 2005 as we moved to our new headquarters. In addition, we had an increase of
$18.4 million in legal, consulting and other professional expenses as we addressed regulatory matters and
related litigation, E-911 compliance, network development and Sarbanes-Oxley compliance. As we continued
to add customers, our credit card and debit card fees increased by $7.6 million, and other customer-related
expenses, such as our customer help number and retail store support, increased by $5.9 million. We also
increased by $8.0 million, compared to 2004, our expense for what we believe we potentially might owe for
sales taxes. While selling, general and administrative expenses have increased, they have decreased as a
percentage of revenue from 62% in 2004 to 58% in-2005.
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Marketing

For the Years Ended
December 31, $ 9%
2005 2004 Change Change
(dollars in thousands)
Marketing ............. ... .. ... $243,404 $56,075 $187,329 334%

Muarketing. The increase in marketing expense of $187.3 million, or 334%, was primarily due to an
increase in online advertising spending and our expansion to other media, such as television, that have a
broader customer reach. The increase in costs relating to advertising was $152.4 million, or 81% of the
total marketing expense increase. We also had increased costs of $9.9 million in telemarketing fees,
$8.3 million for advertising agency fees, $2.6 million for marketing development fund fees and
$3.3 million in connection with our Refer-a-Friend program. In addition, we had increased costs of
$8.9 million related to our retail channel, which was launched toward the end of the second quarter of 2004
and has since grown significantly. The increased costs consist of advertisements and in-store placement
fees as well as activation commissions to retailers, which increased as the number of subscribers from the

retail channel increased.

Depreciation and Amortization

For the Years Ended
December 31, $ %
(4
2005 2004 Change Change
(dollars in thousands)
Depreciation and amortization ................... $11,122  $3,907 §7.215 185%

Depreciation and amortization. The increase in depreciation and amortization of $7.2 million, or
185%, was primarily due to an increase in capital expenditures for the continued expansion of our petwork,
system enhancements for customer care and computer equipment for our new employees.

Other Income (Expense}
For the Years Ended

December 31, $ %
2003 2004 Change Change
{dollars in thousands}
INterest INCOME .. ...\ttt e e n $4347 31,135 § 3,212 283%
Interest expense ...............coiiiiiaan.. (1,093) {5) (1,088) *
Other,net ... .. . e (441) 21 (462) *

$2813 31,151 $ 1,662 144%

Interest income. The increase in interest income of $3.2 million was primarily due to an increase in
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities from our convertible preferred stock offerings.

Interest expense. The increase in interest expense of $1.1 million was primarily related to two weeks
of interest on our convertible notes that were issued in December 2003.

Other, net. The increase in other, net was primarily due to the loss on the disposal of property and
equipment relating to our relocation to our new headquarters.
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Provision for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes. We had net losses for financial reporting purposes, which created deferred
tax assets that can be used to offset future income taxes. Recognition of deferred tax assets will require
generation of future taxable income. There can be no assurance that we will generate earnings in future
years. Therefore, we established a valuation allowance for all of our deferred tax assets, which was
$149.3 mitlion as of December 31, 2005.

Net Loss
For the Years Ended
December 31, $ %
2005 2004 Change Change
{dollars in thousands)
Netloss .. ..o e $(261,334) $(69,921) $(191,413) 274% |

Because the increases in expenses exceeded the increases in revenues described above, our net loss
increased by $191.4 million, or 274%, to $261.3 million for 2005 from $69.9 million for 2004.

65




Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table sets forth quarterly statement of operations data. We derived this data from our
unaudited consolidated financial statements, which we believe have been prepared on substantially the same
basis as our audited consolidated financial statements. The operating results in any quarter are not necessanly
indicative of the results that may be expected for any future period.

For the Quarter Ended
Mar 31, Jun30, Sep 30, Dec 31, Mar 31, Jun 30, Sep 30, Dec 31,
2005 2005 2005 2005 2006 2006 2006 2006
(Restated) (2}
{dollars in thousands, except operating data)
Revenue:
Telephony services ......... $ 38583 $ 57539 $ 71,158 3 90,885 $112,498 $137,623 $155,611 $ 176,074
Customer equipment and
shipping .............. . 2,127 1,896 2,713 4,295 7,225 6,742 6,235 5,389
40,710 59,435 73,8711 95,180 118,723 144365 161,846 181,463
Operating expenses:
Direct cost of telephony
services (1}l 12,108 17,719 24,514 29,709 38,424 39,933 41,396 103,550
Direct cost of goods sold . . . . . 11,588 9,241 9,622 9,990 17,580 16,047 16,934 12,169
Selling, general and
administrative . .......... 20,553 33,225 45,030 55,908 52,875 66,109 72,052 81,790
Marketing . ............... 55436 61,937 58,906 67125 88,288 90,164 91,316 95,581
Depreciation and
amortization . ............ 1,610 2,266 3,150 4,096 4,959 5,740 5946 7,032
101,295 124,388 141,222 166,828 202,126 217,993 227644 300,122
Loss from operations ........ (60,585} (64.953) (67.351) (71.,648) (82,403) (73,628) (65,798) (118,659)
Other income (expense): .
Interest income ............ 578 1,335 1,356 1,078 2,741 3,980 7,721 7,030
Interestexpense ............ — — (1} (1,082) (5,494) (4,434) (3,999) (5,606)
Other,net ................. 5 (5) 1 (442) “) (4) (108} (1)
583 1,330 1,356 (456) 2,757 (508) 3.614 1,351
Loss before income tax benefit .. .. (60,002) (63,623) (65.995) (72,104) (85,160) (74,136)  (62,184) (117,308)
Income tax benefit .............. — — — 390 — — — 215
Netloss ..., $(60,002) $(63.623) 3(65995) $(71.714) $(85.160) $(74,136) $(62,184) 5(117,093)
Net loss per common share
calculation:
NEtloss «ovovnerninnnnn... $(60.002) $(63.623) $(65.995) $(71,714)  $(85.160)  $(74.136) $(62.184) $(i17.093)
Imputed dividend on preferred
shares .................. _ — — (605) _— — — —
Net loss attributable to
common shareholders . .... $(60,002) $(63,623) $(65,995) $(72,319) $(85,160) $(74,136) $(62,184) $(117,093)
Net loss per common share:
Basic and diluted ........... 3 (4383) § (46.32) § (47.79) $ (51.56) $ (60.40) 3 (L16) § (0400 § (0.76)
Weighted-average common shares
outstanding:
Basic and diluted ........... 1,369 1,373 1,381 1,403 1,410 63,995 154,775 154,962
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For the Quarter Ended

Mar 3%,  Jun 30, Sep 30, Dec 31, Mar 31, Jun 30, Sep 30, Dee 31,
2005 2005 2005 2005 2006 2006 2006 2006

Operating Data: '
Gross subscrber line

additions .......... 280,123 262,310 282,176 275,032 421,890 377,005 359,148 312,004
Net subscriber line

additions .......... 249,333 207950 213,937 207,252 328,279 255936 204,591 166,267
Subscriber lines at end .

ofperiod .......... 639,899 847849 1,061,786 1,269,038 1,597,317  1,853253 2057844 2,224,111
Average monthly ’ ’

customer churn .. ... 1.7% 21%. 23% 1.9% 21% 23% 2.6% 2.3%
Average moenthly : '

revenue perline . ..., $ 2634 $ 2663 § 2579 $ 2722 § 2785 $ 2789 § 2759 § 2825

Average monthly

telephony services

revenue perline ... .. $ 2496 § 2578 $ 2484 § 2600 $§ 2617 $ 2659 § 2652 § 274l
Average monthly direct :

costs of telephony ‘

servicesperltine ..... $ 783 § 794 § 856 § 850 $ 894 % 172 3% 706 § 1612
Marketing costs per

gross subscriber line

additions .......... $19790 $ 23612 $ 20876 3 24406 $§ 20927 $§ 23916 $ 25426 $ 306.28
Employees at end of
period .......... ... 1,045 1,397 1,393 1,355 1,416 1,602 1,675 1,790

(1) Excludes depreciation and amortization of $1.0 million, $1.4 million, $2.0 million and $2.3 million for
the quarters ended March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31, 2005, respectively, and $2.6
million, $3.1 million, $3.3 million and $3.8 million for the quarters ended March 31, June 30,
September 30 and December 31, 2006, respectively.

(2) In December 2005 and January 2006, we issued approximately $249.9 million of convertible notes,
and increased the outstanding principal by $3.7 million through the payment of interest in kind in
March 2006. Originally, we believed that the convertible notes contained an embedded derivative and
accordingly accounted for the embedded derivative by bifurcating the embedded derivative from the
converlible notes at the date of issuance and subsequently remeasuring the fair value of the embedded
derivative at December 31, 2005 and March 31, 2006. In May 2006, upon further review, we
concluded that the convertible notes do not contain an embedded derivative. “Restated” amounts in
the Statements of Operations Data reflect the removal of the income attributable to the change in fair
value of derivatives embedded within the convertible notes of $13.4 million and a reduction to interest
expense related to the convertible notes of $1.0 miilion.

Telephony services revenue, Telephony services revenue has increased each quarter corresponding
with the increase in our subscriber lines. This increase in subscriber lines has been driven by our increase
in marketing, as we attempt to capitalize on the current expansion of the broadband and VoIP markets and
to establish and maintain a leading position in the market for broadband telephone services.

Direct costs of telephony services. Direct costs of telephony services have increased each quarter
corresponding with the increase in our subscriber lines. The fourth quarter of 2006 inciudes $51.3 million
related to the Verizon patent litigation judgment entered against us,

Direct cost of goods sold. The fluctuations in direct cost of goods sold expenses between the quarters
were directly associated with the fluctuations in the subscriber line additions except for the fourth quarter
of 2006, which cost decrease was also due to a decrease in customer equipment costs.
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Selling, general and administrative. Selling, general and administrative costs have also increased each
quarter with the exception of the first quarter of 2006 as we have added employees primarily in the
customer care area to support our growing subscriber lines. In the second and third quarter of 2006 we also
expanded the used of outsourced customer care personnel in order to handle increased call volume
attributable to significant growth in the first quarter of 2006, which drove up costs. We have also had an
increase in credit card, debit card or ECP fees and our accrual for potential tax exposure as we have
expanded our revenues and an increase in legal fees as we have addressed regulatory matters and litigation.
In addition, we have recorded share-based compensation of $4.5 million, $8.1 million, $7.4 million and
$7.0 million in the first, second, third and the fourth quarters of 2006, respectively.

Marketing. Marketing costs have increased quarterly for several reasons. We have increased
advertising in more expensive media with a broader reach, such as television, to enhance our brand
awareness. Recently we have also added additional marketing channels such as direct mail, alternative
media and outbound telemarketing while reducing our reliance on online advertising as we hope to reach
more mainstream consumers. In addition, we believe it is generally more expensive to acquire mainstream
consumers than early adopters of new technologies, and we have increased our focus on more mainstream
customers. Over the near term, we expect our marketing cost per gross subscriber line addition to stabilize
as we diversify our marketing spend and our newer markets mature.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated:

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2006 2005 2004
(dolars in thousands)
Net cash used in operating activities .......... P $(188,898) $(189,765) $(38,600)
Net cash used in investing activities ......... e (210,798)  (154,638) (73,707)
Net cash provided by financing activities ............ 477,429 434,006 141,094

We have incurred significant operating losses since our inception. As a result, we have generated
negative cash flows from operations, and have an accumulated deficit of $720.9 million at December, 31,
2006. Our primary sources of funds have been proceeds from privaie placements of our preferred stock, a
private placement of our convertible notes, an initial public offering of our common stock, operating
revenues and borrowings under notes payable from our principal stockholder and Chairman, which were
subsequently converted into shares of our preferred stock. In 2005, we raised proceeds, net of expenses, of
$195.7 million from the issuance of preferred stock and raised proceeds, net of expenses, of $240.0 million
in December 2005 and January 2006 in a private placement of our convertible notes. In 2006, we raised
$491.1 million in net proceeds from an initial public offering, or TPQ, of our common stock which includes
costs of $1.9 million incurred in 2005. We have used the proceeds from the convertible note offering and
intend to use the proceeds from our IPQ for working capital and other general corporate purposes,
including funding operating losses.

Historically, our principal uses of cash have been to fund operating losses, which were initially driven
by start-up costs and the costs of developing our technology and, more recently, have been driven by
marketing expense. We anticipate incurring net losses in the future as we seek to grow our customer base,
which will require significant marketing expense but we intend to reduce our net loss on a quarterly basis
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in the future. For 2006, we spent $365.3 million for marketing expense, compared to $243.4 million in
2005. Because our marketing commitments generally are six weeks or less in duration, we are able to
adjust marketing expense relatively quickly if desirable. Therefore, we do not believe our significant and
growing marketing expense will impair our liquidity. We believe that revenue and cash on hand will fund
our expected marketing expense for at least the next twelve months.

Similarly, we may make expenditures to expand into foreign markets. The associated costs include
legal, regulatory and administrative start-up costs, capital expenditures and marketing expense, which
result in operating losses. However, the capital expenditures are relatively modest, because our technology
platform does not require a significant amount of equipment or software. Legal, regulatory and
administrative start-up costs for new markets in Canada and the United Kingdom have not been material to
our overali business, and we do not expect them to be in the future as we enter other new markets. We
intend to expand into new markets only when we believe that doing so will not impair our liquidity.

In the future we will have to continue paying quarterly interest on our convertible hotes. We may pay
this interest in cash or in kind, the latter of which would have the effect of increasing the principal amount
outstanding under the convertible notes. In March 2006, we paid interest in kind of $3.7 million and in
each of June, September and December 2006 we paid $3.2 million of interest in cash. We will pay interest
in cash on these convertible notes in the future unless we do not have adequate cash available.

We also have contingent liabilities for state and local sales taxes. Ag of December, 31, 2006, we had a
reserve of $7.8 million. If our ultimate liability exceeds this amount, it could have a material adverse effect
on us. However, we do not believe it would significantly impair our liquidity.

In March 2007, a judgment was entered against us in the amount of $58.0 mitlion in our Verizon patent
litigation, This amount plus pre and post judgment interest and costs of $8.0 million was posted as a bond,
which was cash collateralized, to stay execution of the judgment pcnding appeal. We must also deposit into
escrow a 5.3% royalty on a quarterly basis for as long as we are using the infringing technology. For 2007,
we currently estimate the quarterly amount to be $10.5 million, which will fluctuate based on the amount of
revenue we generate. As a result of the uncertainty with respect to this litigation, certain vendors have and
may in the future require prepayments or letters of credit which could have a material adverse affect on us.
However, we currently do not believe it would significantly impair our liquidity. If the courts in the Verizon
litigation hold against us, our business, financial condition and results of operations couid be materially and
adversely affected. Sce “Item 1A, Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business—We are, and may in the
future be, subject to damaging and disruptive intellectual property litigation that could materially and
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition, as well as the continued viability
of our company.”

We expect our cash on hand to fund our net losses and capital expenditures for at least the next twelve
months. ’

To the extent we change our plans, or if our expectations are wrong, we may need to seek additional
funding by accessing the equity or debt capital markets. In addition, although we do not currently anticipate
any acquisitions, we may need to seek additional funding if an attractive acquisition opportunity is presented
to us, However, our significant losses to date may prevent us from obtaining additional funds on favorable
terms or at all. Because of our historical net losses and our limited tangible assets, we do not fit traditional
credit lending criteria, which, in particular, could make it difficult for us to obtain loans or to access the debt
capital markets. For example, we discussed a revolving credit facility with commercial banks in the summer
of 2005. As a result of those discussions, we believe most commercial lenders will require us to very
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significantly reduce our loss from operations before they will lend us money. In addition, the terms of our
outstanding convertible notes provide for additional shares to be issued upon conversion if we sell shares of
our common stock after our initial public offering at a price that is less than the average trading price of our
common stock over the 10-day period prior to any such sale, which might limit our access to the capital
markets. Further, the ability to raise additional capital through the issuance of equity securities may be
impeded due to the events surrounding our JPO and our on-going patent litigation with Verizon.

Interest will accrue on our convertible notes at a rate of 5% per annum and be payable quarterly in
arrears. The interest rate will increase upon certain events, including if we decide to pay interest in kind
rather than in cash, upon a failure to comply with the registration rights agreement with the holders of the
convertible notes and upon certain events of default. The notes are convertible into shares of our common
stock. The convertible notes provide for customary events of default. '

Capital expenditures

Capital expenditures are mainly for the purchase of network equipment and computer hardware as we
continue to expand our network. We continue to invest heavily in networking equipment, technology,
corporate facilities and information technology infrastructure. Our capital expenditures for 2006 were
$48.6 million, of which $9.2 million in leasehold improvements was for the completion of our headquarters
in Holmdel, New Jersey. '

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2005

Cash used in operating activities for 2006 was $188.9 million and consisted of a net loss of $338.6
million, offset by adjustments for non-cash items of $58.7 million and.$91.0 million provided by working
capital and other activities. Adjustments for non-cash items consisted primarily of depreciation and
amortization of $23.7 million, $27.0 million for stock option compensation, $4.0 million for accrued
interest primarily for our convertible notes and $2.0 million for amortization of deferred financing costs.
Working capital activities primarily consisted of a net increase in cash of $104.7 mjlliod for accounts
payable and accrued expenses primarily related to marketing and the Verizon patent litigation judgment
entered against us and $13.1 million for deferred revenue net of deferred product costs offset by a decrease
in cash of $6.2 million for prepaid expenses, $10.2 million for accounts receivable and $10.1 million for
inventory.

Cash used in operating activities for 2005 was $189.8 million and consisted of a net loss of :
$261.3 million, offset by adjustments for non-cash items of $12.5 million and $59.0 million provided by-
working capital and other activities. Adjustments for non-cash items consisted primarily of $11.1 million of
depreciation and amortization. Working capital activities primarily consisted of a net increase in accounts
payable and accrued expenses of $75.9 million which primarily related to the increase in our marketing and
payroll expenses. This was offset by a use of cash for inventory of $15.1 million related to the purchase of
customer equipment.

Cash used in investing activities for 2006 of $210.8 million was attributable to net purchases and sales
of marketable securities of $155.6 million, capital expenditures of $48.6 million and $5.3 million for the
acquisition of three patents. Cash from our initial public offering in May 2006 and debt offering in
December 2005 and January 2006 was invested in marketable securities, pending use to fund our loss from
operations.

Cash used in investing activities for 2005 of $154.6 million was attributable to net purchases of
marketable securities of $71.1 million, capital expenditures of $76.2 million and an increase of restricted
cash of $7.3 million. The restricted cash includes cash collateralization of letters of credit for our Holmdel,
New Jersey headquarters facility. Cash from our equity and debt offerings in 2005 was invested in
marketable securities, pending use to fund our loss from operations.
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Cash provided by financing activities for 2006 of $477.4 million was primarily attributable to net
proceeds frorn our initial public offering in May 2006 of $493.0 million, net of costs, offset by the purchase
of treasury stock of $11.7 million related’ to customers that commrtted to purchase our common stock
through our Directed Share Program and subsequently defaulted on payment, $5.4 million of net payments
to Underwriters related to our Directed Share Program indemnification, offset by $1.8 million proceeds
from our convertible notes, net of issuance costs, in January 2006.

~ Cash provrded by financing actwmes in 2005 of $434.0 million was primarily attributable to net
proceeds from the-issuance of preferred stock for $195.7 million and proceeds from our convertible notes,
net of issuance costs, of $238.2 million in December 2005.

Year Ended December, qi, 2005 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2004

* Cash used in operating activities for 2005 was $189.8 million and consisted of a net loss of
$261.3 million, offset by adjustments for non-cash items of $12.5 million and $59.0 million provided by
working capital and other activities. Adjustments for non-cash items consisted primarily of $11.1 mitlion of
depreciation and amortization. Working capital activities primarily consisted of a net increase in accounts
payable and accrued expenses of $75.9 million which primarily related to the increase in our marketing and
payroll expenses. This was offset by a use of cash for inventory of $15.1 million relatnd io the purchase of
customer ecuipment. )

‘Cash used in operating activities-in 2004 was $38.6 million and consisted of a net loss of
$69.9 miilion, offset by adjustments for non-cash items of $5.1 million and $26.2 million provided by
working capital and other activities, Adjustments.for non-cash items consisted ‘of $3.9 million of .
depreciation and amortization. Working capital activities primarily consisted of a net increase in accounts
payable and accrued expenses of $27 1 million which primarily related 1o the increase in our marketing and
payroll expf nses. . . .. . . - ’

Cash used 1n«investing activities for 2005 of $154.6 million was attributable to net purchases of
marketable securities of $71.1 million, capital expenditures of $76.2 million and an increase of restricted
cash of $7.3 million. The restricted cash includes cash collateralization of letters of credit for our Holmdel,
New Jersey headquarters facility. Cash from our equity and debt offerings in 2005 was invested in
marketable securities, pendmg use to fund our loss from operations. ) ,

Cash used in investing actrvrt:es in 2004 of $73 7 n'ulhon was attributable to net purchases of
marketable securities of $62.7 million and capital expenditures of $10.9 million.

Cash provided by ﬁnanciné activities in 2005 of $434.0 million‘ was primarrly attributable to net
proceeds from the issuance of preferred stock for $195.7 million and proceeds from our‘convertible notes,
net of issuance costs, of $238.2 rmlhon . , .

Cash provrded by ﬁnancmg activities in 2004 of $141.1 million was due prlmanb to proceeds from
our preferred stock offerings, net of costs. - . .
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Contractual Obligations and Other Commercial Commitments

The table below summarizes our conlractual obllgauons at December 31 2006 and the effect such
obligations are expected to have on our hqu1d:ty and cash flow in future periods. The table does not mclude
any impact of the judgment cntered agamet us m our patent htlganon with Verizon or any potential future
royalty payments,

 Payments Due by Period
) Lessthan  2-3 45 After
Lo . i Total 1 year years - years ‘ 5 years

(dollars in thousands)
Contractual Obligations:

Convertible notes, net . ................. Soo... $253612 8 — 8 — 5253612 % —
Interest related to convemblc notes (l) e .. 50,202 12,681 @ 25,361 12,159 —
Capital lease obligations . . ........ . ..coouuiin 44,913 3,988 7.843 8,156 - 24926
Operating lease obligations . .7 ...l euet. 7,345 2,853, 3905 . 587 —
Purchase obligations . ....... SR I 81,862 58936 22926 — —
* Total contractual obligation's ........ ... $437,934 $78/458 860,035 $274,514 '$24,926
Other Commercial Commttments T o L - “,
Standby letters of credit ...................... $ 7549 $7459 $ 90 $§ — § —
Total contractuat obligations and other ‘

commercial comumitments - .. ... .....:. $445483 $85,917 $60,125 $274,5l4 '$24,926

(1) The amounts presented in thls fine item would increase if we pay interest in-kind and decrease if any
of lhe notes are convertéd into-our common stock

P " 1

Convemble Notes and Related Interest Expense. Dunng December 2005 and January 2006, we sold
$249.9 miliion of convertible notes due 2010 in a private placement and paid interest in kind of $3.7
million in March 2006; In the future, we may, at our option, pay interest on the convertible notes in cash or
in kind. The table above assumes interest is paid in'cash. The terms of [he convertible notes are descnbed
in the notes to our consohdated financial statements.

Capital Lease Obligations. At December 31, 2006 we had capnal lease obligations of $44.9 million,
$44.7 million related to our corporate headquarters in Holmdel, New Jersey that expire in 2017 and
$0.2 million for office equipment that explres in 2007

Operating Lease Obligations. At December 31, 2006, future commitments for operatmg leases
included $4.4 million for co-location facilities in the United States that accommodate a portion of our
network equipment through 2009, $1.0 million*for office space leased for our Washington D.C. office
through 2011, $1.2 million for office space leased for our Toronto, Canada office through 2010, $0.5
million for office space leased for our London, UK office through 2010, $0.2 million for Kiosk’s leased in
various locations the United States through 2007 and $0.1 million for office equ:pment leased for cur
Holmdel, NJ office through 2007. 4

Purchase Obligations. At December 31, 2006, future commitments for purchase obligations in the
above table represent non-cancelable contractual obligations. These include $22.9 million in fees through
2008 related to the provision of our E-911 services, $2.0 million in fees to retail stores that sell our product;
$26.0 million for advertising agency fees related to advertising our product in various media outlets
including Notre Dame Football games, Ryder Cup Golf, NFL Network, other online, television and radio;
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$4.8 million for inbound sales support through 2007; $9.9 million in fees for local number portability
through 2009, so that new customers can retain their existing phone numbers; $11.8 million for the
purchase of customer equipment through 2007; $4.5 million for sponsorship through 2007 of an auto racing
team in the [ndianapolis 500 race.

Summary of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are summarized in Note 1 to our ﬁnanc1al statements. The
following dascribes our critical accountmg pohcu:s and estimates:

Use of Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States, which require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported #nd disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including the following:

+ those related to the average period of service to a customer (the “‘customer relationship period”)
used to amortize deferred revenue and deferred customer acquisition costs associated with
customer activation;

» the useful lives of property' and equipment; and

* assumptions used for the purpose of determining stock-based compensation using the Black-
Scholes option model (“Model”), and on various other assumptions that we believed to be
reasonable. The key inputs for this Modei are stock price at valuation date, strike price for the
option, the dividend yield, risk-free interest rate, life of opticen in years and volatility.

We base our estimates on historical experience, available market information, appropriate valuation
methodologies, and on various other assurmptions that we believed to be reasonable, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities.

Revenue Recognition

Operating revenues consist of telephony services revenue and customer equipment (which enables our
telephony services) and shipping revenue. The point in time at which revenue is recognized is determined
in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition, and Emerging Issues Task
Force Consensus No. 01-9, Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a
Reseller of the Vendor’s Products).

Substantially all of our operating revenues are télephony services revenue, which is derived primarily
from monthly subscription fees that customers are charged under our service plans. We also derive
telephony services revenue from per minute fees for international calls and for any calling minutes in
excess of a customer’s monthly plan limits. Monthly subscription fees are automatically charged to
customers’ credit cards, debit cards or ECP in advance and are recognized over the following month when
services are provided. Revenue generated from international calls and from customers exceeding allocated
call minutes under limited minute plans are recognized as services are provided, that is, as minutes are
used, and are billed to a customer’s credit cards, debit cards or ECP in arrears. As a result of our multiple
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biiling cycles each month, we estimate the amount of revenu¢ earned from international calls and from
customers exceeding allocated call minutes under limited minute plans but not billed from the end of each
billing cycle to the end of each reporting period. These estimates are based primarily upon historical
minutes and have been consistent with our actual results.

We also generate revenue by charging a fee for activating service. Through June 2005, we charged an
activation fee to customers in the direct channel. Beginning in July 2005, we also began charging an
activation fee in the retail channel. Customer activation fees, along with the related customer acquisition
amounts for customer equipment in the direct channel and for rebates and retailer commissions in the retail
channel up to but not exceeding the activation fee, are deferred and amortized over the estimated average
customer relationship period. The amortization of deferred customer equipment is recorded to direct cost of
goods sold. The amortization of deferred rebates is recorded as a reduction to telephony services revenue.
The amortization of deferred retailer commissions is recorded as marketing expense. Through
December 31, 2004, this estimated customer relationship period was deemed to be 30 months based upon
comparisons to other telecommunications companies as we did not have an operating history. For 2005, the
estimated customer relationship period was reevaluated based upon our experience and determined to be 60
months. We have applied the 60-month customer relationship period on a prospective basis beginning
January 1, 2005. For 2006 and 2007, we have confirmed that the customer relationship period should be 60
months.

We also provide rebates to customers who purchase their customer equipment from retailers and
satisfy minimum service period requirements. These rebates in excess of activation fees are recorded as a
reduction of revenue over the service period based upon the estimated number of customers that will
ultimately earn and claim the rebates.

Inventory

Inventory consists of the cost of customer equipment and is stated at the lower of cost or market, with
cost determined using the average cost method. We provide an inventory allowance for customer
equipment that has been returned by customers but may not be able to be re-issued to new customers or
returned to the manufacturer for credit.

Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected tax consequences of temperary
differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts using tax rates in
effect for the year the differences are expected to reverse. We have recorded a valuation allowance on the
assumption that we will not generate taxable income.

Net Operating Loss Carryforwards

As of December 31, 2006, we have net operating loss carryforwards for U.S. federal and state tax
purposes of $545.3 million and $524.6 million, respectively, expiring at various times from years ending
2020 through 2026. In addition, we have net operating loss carryforwards for Canadian tax purposes of
$45.4 million expiring periodically through 2013. We also have net operating loss carryforwards for United
Kingdom tax purposes of $16.8 million with no expiration date.

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change”
(generally defined as a greater than 50% change (by value) in its equity ownership over a three-year
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1), the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change of control ret operating loss carry forward and other
hange tax attributes against its post-change income may be limited. The Section 382 limitation is
-pplied annually 50 as to limit the use of our pre-change net operating loss carryforwards to an amount that

generally equals the value of our stock immediately before the ownership change multiptied by a
designated federal long-term tax-exempt rate. In addition, we may be able to increase the base Section 382
limitation amount during the first five years following the ownership change to the extent it realizes
built-in gains during that time period. A built-in gain generally is gain or income attributable to an asset
that was held at the date of the ownership change and that had a fair market vatue in excess of the tax basis
at the date of the ownership change. Section 382 provides that any unused Section 382 limitation amount
can be carried forward and aggregated with the following year’s available net operating losses. Due to the
cumulative impact of our equity issuances over the past three years, a change of ownership occurred upon
the issuance of our Series E Preferred Stock at the end of April 2005. As a result, $171.1 million of the
total U.S. net operating losses will be subject to an annual base limitation of $39.4 million. As noted above,
we believe we may be able 10 increase the base Section 382 limitation for built-in gains during the first five
years following the ownership change.

We evaluated the potential for additional Section 382 limitations in light of our initial public offering
in May 2006. The results of our analysis confirms that no additional limitation in the utilization of the
$374.2 million in demestic net operating losses accumulated since our Series E preferred stock issuance in
April 2005 is necessary.

Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 123 (Revised
2004), Share Based Payment (“SFAS 123(R)”), we accounted for stock-based awards to employees and
directors using the intrinsic value method in accordance with APB 25, as atlowed under Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, or SFAS 123. Under
the intrinsic value method, no stock-based compensation expense for employee stock options had been
recognized in our results of operations in prior periods unless the exercise price of the stock options
granted 10 employees and directors was less than the fair market value of the underlying common stock at
the date of grant. In accordance with the modified prospective transition method that we used in adopting
SFAS 123(R), the consolidated financial statements prior to 2006 have not been restated to reflect, and do
not include, the possible impact of SFAS [23(R).

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2006, the Financial Accounting Standard Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Staff Position
EITF 00-19-2, Accounting for Registration Payment Arrangements (“FSP EITF 00-19-2") which addresses
accounting for registration payment arrangements. FSP EITF 00-19-2 specifies that the contingent
obligation to make future payments or otherwise transfer consideration under a registration payment
arrangement, whether issued as a separate agreement or included as a provision of a financial instrument or
other agreement, should be separately recognized and measured in accordance with FASB Statement No, 5,
Accounting for Contingencies. FSP EITF (0-19-2 further clarifies that a financial instrument subject to a
registration payment arrangement should be accounted for in accordance with other applicable generally
accepted accounting principles without regard to the contingent obligation to transfer consideration
pursuant to the registration payment arrangement. For registration payment arrangements and financial
instruments subject to those arrangements that were entered into prior to the issuance of FSP EITF 00-19-2,
this guidance shall be effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006 and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption of FSP EITF 00-19-2 for
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interim or annual periods for which financial statements or interim reports have not been issued is
permitted. We adopted FSP EITF 00-19-2 as of October 1, 2006.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 “Fair Value Measurements.” The Statement
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”), and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This Statement is effective
for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods
within those fiscal years. We are currently assessing the impact of adopting SFAS 157 on the consolidated
financial statements.

On July 13, 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes—An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting
for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with FASB
Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” FIN 48 also prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. In addition, FIN 438 provides guidance on derecognition, classification,
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.

The provisions of FIN 48 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. Earlier *
application is permitted as long as the enterprise has not yet issued financial statements, including interim
financial statements, in the period of adoption. The provisions of FIN 48 are to be applied to all tax
positions upon initial adoption of this standard. Only tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not
recognition threshold at the effective date may be recognized or continue to be recognized upon adoption
of FIN 48. The cumulative effect of applying the provisions of FIN 48 should be reported as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other appropriate components of equity) for that fiscal year.
We believe the adoption of FIN 48 will not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2006, the FASB ratified the consensus on EITF Issue No. 06-3, “How Taxes Collected from
Customers and Remitted to Governmenial Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement”
(“EITF No. 06-3"). The scope of EITF No. 06-3 includes any tax assessed by a governmental authority that
is directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction between a seller and a customer and may include,
but is not limited to, sales, use, value added, Universal Service Fund (“USF") contributions and excise
taxes. The Task Force concluded that entities should present these taxes in the income statement on either a
gross or net basis, based on their accounting policy, which should be disclosed pursuant to APB Opinion
No. 22, “Disclosure of Accounting Policies.” If such taxes are significant and are presented on a gross
basis, the amount of those taxes should be disclosed. The consensus on EITF No. 06-3 will be effective for
interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2006. We currently record sales, use
and excise taxes on a net basis in our consolidated financial statements whereas USF contributions are
recorded on a gross basis in our consolidated financial statements. The adoption of EITF No. 06-3 is not
expected to have a material effect on our consolidated results of operations or financial condition.

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Instruments
(“SFAS 155”). SFAS 155 allows financial instruments that have embedded derivatives to be accounted for as
a whole (eliminating the need to bifurcate the derivative from its host) if the holder elects to account for the
whole instrument on a fair value basis. This statement is effective for all financial instruments acquired or
issued after the beginning of an entity's first fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006. We will
evaluate the impact of SFAS 155 on our consolidated financial statements. '
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Item 7A. (Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to financial market risks, including changes in currency exchange rates and interest
rates.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Our exposure to foreign currency transaction gains and losses is the result of certain net receivables
due from our foreign subsidiaries and customers being denominated in currencies other than the U.S,
dollar, primarily the British Pound, the Euro, and the Canadian Dollar. Our foreign subsidiaries conduct
their businesses in local currency.

Interest Rate Risk

We invest in a variety of securities, consisting primarily of investments in interest-bearing demand
deposit accounts with financial institutions, money market funds and highly liquid debt securities of
corporations and municipalities. By policy, we limit the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer,

Investments in both fixed rate and floating rate interest earning products carry a degree of interest raie
risk. Fixed rate securities may have their fair market value adversely impacted due to a rise in interest rates,
while floating rate securities may produce less income than predicted if interest rates fall. Due in part to
these factors, our income from investments may decrease in the future.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this Item is contained on pages F-1 through F-43 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our interim chief executive officer and chief financial
officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2006. The
term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e} and 15d-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, means controls and other procedures of a company that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or
submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation,
controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the
reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s
management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing
similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management
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recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives, and management necessarily applies its judgment in
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2006, our interim chief executive officer and chief
financial officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at
the reasonable assurance level.

Section 404 compliance project.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding
internal control over financial reporting or an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm due
to a transition period established by rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission for newly public
companies. Beginning with the year ending December 31, 2007, Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 will require us to include management’s report on our internal control over financial reporting in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In order to achieve compliance with Section 404 within the prescribed period, management has been
conducting a Section 404 compliance project under which management has hired dedicated, internal
Sarbanes-Oxley Act compliance personnel, third-party consultants and adopted a detailed project work
plan to assess the adequacy of our internal control over financial reporting, remediate any control
deficiencies that may be identified, validate through testing that controls are functioning as documented
and implement a continuous reporting and improvement process for internal control over financial
reporting. In connection with this compliance project, we have, among other things, drafted critical
accounting policies and procedures and evaluated our information technology controls and procedures. We
expect to continue to make changes, as appropriate, in our internal control over financial reporting during
the periods prior to December 31, 2007 in connection with our Section 404 compliance project.

Except as described above, during the quarter ended December 31, 2006, there have been no changes

in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The discussion under the headings “Proposal No. 1 - Election of Directors,” “Section 16{a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance,” *Director Nomination Process” and “Corporate Governance - Board
Committees - Andit Committee” in our Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and
in “Executive Officers and Directors of the Registrant” int Part I of this Annual Report on the Form 10-K is
hereby incorporated by reference.

We have adopted a Vonage Code of Conduct applicable to all our officers and empioyees and a
Vonage Finance Code of Ethics applicabie to our chief financial officer and other employees in our finance
organization. The Vonage Code of Conduct and Vonage Finance Code of Ethics are posted in the Investor
Relations section of our website, www.vonage.com. We will provide you with print copies of our codes free
of charge on written request to Vonage Investor Relations, 23 Main Street, Holmdel NJ, 07733. We intend
to disclose any amendments to, or waivers from, provisions of our codes that apply to our principal
executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or any person
performing in similar functions, on our website promptly following the date of such amendment or waiver.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The discussion under the headings “Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider
Participation” and “Compensation Committee Report” in our Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders is hereby incorporated by reference.

The “Compensation Committee Report” contained in our Proxy Statement shall not be deemed
“soliciting material” or “filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commisston or otherwise subject to the
liabilities of Section 1§ of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by
reference in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act, except to the extent we
specifically request that such information be treated as soliciting material or specifically incorporate such
information by reference into a document filed under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockhelder Matters

The discussion under the headings “Stock Ownership Information” and “Equity Compensation Plan
Information” in our Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is hereby incorporated
by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The discussion under the headings “Transactions with Related Persons™ and “Board Determination of
Independence” in our Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is hereby
incorporated by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The discussion under the heading “Proposal No. 2 - Ratification of Independent Registered Public
Accounting FFirm” in our Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is hereby
incorporated by reference.
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PART IV

Itern 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(@

(1) Financial Statements. The index to our financial statements is found on page F-1 of this Form

10-K.

follows:

(2) Financial Statement Schedules. Schedule Il—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts is as
Balance at Additions Balance at
Beginning  Charged to- Charged to Less End of

of Period Revenue Expense Deductions Period

Allewance for Doubtful Accounts:

Year ended December 31,2006 ............ 5 210 $266 $ — $ — $ 476

Year ended December 31,2005 ............ 60 150 —_— — 210

Year ended December 31,2004 ............ — 60 — — 60

Inventory Obsolescence

Year ended December 31,2006 ............ $ 7132 $ $ 1,441 $ (903) $ 1,270

Year ended December 31,2005 ............ 1,239 —_— 625 (1,132) 732

Year ended December 31,2004 . ........... 24 — 1,215 — 1,239

Valuation Allowance for Deferred Tax

Year ended December 31,2006 ............ $149.291 5— $129384 $ — $278.675

Year ended December 31,2005 ............ 46,268 — 103,023 — 149,291

Year ended December 31,2004 ............ 18,351 — 27.917 — 46,268
(3) Exhibits.

Exhibit

Number  Description of Exhibit

31
32
4.1
42
43
44

101
10.2
10.3

10.4

10,5

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Vonage Holdings Corp.(1)

Amended and Restated By-Laws of Vonage Holdings Corp.{1}

Form of Certificate of Vonage Holdings Corp. Common Stock(2)

Form of Senior Unsecured anvertible Note(2)

Stock Purchase Warrant To Purchase Commen Stock of Vonage Holdings Corp.(2)

Stock Purchase Warrant To Purchase Shares of Series A-2 Convertible Preferred Stock, par value
$.001 per share of Vonage Holdings Corp.(2)

2001 Stock Incentive Plan of Vonage Holdings Corp.(2)*
Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan(2) *

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Employees under the 2001 Stock Incentive
Plan(2) *

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Qutside Directors under the 2001 Stock
Incentive Plan(2) *

Vonage Holdings Corp. 401(k} Retirement Plan(2) *
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Exhibit

Diescription of Exhibit P

Lease Agreement, dated March 24, 2005, between 23 Main Street Holmdel Associates LLC and :

. Vonage USA Inc.(2) - T . S .

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated February 8 2006 between Vonage

Holdings Corp. and Jeffrey A. Citron(2) *
' Employment Agreement dated February 7, 2006 between Vonage Hoidlngq Corp and M:chael

Employment Agteement, dated August 1 2(](}5 between VOnage Holdmgs Corp and Johu S

"~ Rego(2) *- - - . e T

Employment Agreement, dated August 1, 2005, between Vonage Holdmgs Corp and Loum A

Mamakos(2) * ~ » ¢ . R

Employment Agreement, dated August 8, 2005 between Vonage ]—Ioldlngn Corp and Sharon

~OLeary(2)*  .© <0 o S

Third Amended and Restated Invéstéis’ Rights Agreeméiit, as amended dated Aprtl 27 2005,
among Vonage Holdings Corp. and the signatories thereto(2) . '

‘Agreement for Services, dated February 9, 2005, between Vonage Ho]dmgq Corp and Thtrcl
Party Venficanon Inc @) - o

- [ .
N re

Reglstratton nghts Agreement dated Decernber 16. 2005 among Vonage Holdmgs Corp and

- . bl ' H

Agreement for Servrces dated Apnl 27 2005 between Vonage Network Inc: and lntrado Inc. and

Tk AV et !

Master Service Agreement, dated July 15 2004, ‘oetween Vonage Holdmgs Corp and Level 3

Y] li‘.

Master Sales’ Agreement dated Tune 8, 2005, between Vonage Network Inc and”
TeleComnunication Systems, Tnc.{2) -

Master, Serv1ces Agreement, dated May 5, 2005 between Vonage Network ]nc and Synchr0n05<

. s et . [ . . oy '
O35S Master Services Agreement dated December 27 2004, between Vonage Ho]dmgs Corp. and

"'1_ . o R L 2 B - R .

2006 Incentive Plan(2) * -~ = &' . . Lt

Form of Indemmﬁcatron Agreement for directors and ofﬁcers(Z)
. it
Amendment #2to the Agreement for Serv1ces dated September 21, 2006 between Intrado [nc

First Amendment to Services Agreement dated June 21 2006 between Thlrd Party

"Verification, Inc: and Vonage Holdings Corp.(3) ' Cen ‘ -

b N

Number
10.6
10,7
10.8

Snyder(2) *
10.9
10.10

+ 1
10.11
10:12
10.13t%:
10.14
‘ the srgnatones thereto(z)
10.15%
" Amendment No. 1 thereto(2)

10.16%

Commutications, LLC(2)
10.17F
10.18%

Technologles Inc 2.
10.19%

I;\Teustar lInc (),
10.20
10.21
1022t

, and Vonage Network lnc (3)

10.23%
10.24f

:Second Amendment to Services. Agreement, dated August 23, 2006 between Third Party
Verification, Inc. and Vonage Network of New Jersey d/b/a’Vonage Network Inc. (asqrgnee,of
Vonage Holding Corp.)(3) ‘
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Exhibit

Amendment to the Master Services Agreement, dated May 26, 2006, between
Telecommunications Systems, Inc. and Vonage Network Inc., along with the accompanying side
letter, dated November 2, 2006, from Vonage Network Inc. to Telecommunication

Amendment #1 1o Master Sales Agreement, dated August 8, 2006, between Telecommunication .
Systems, Inc. and Vonage Network Inc., along with the accompanying side letter, dated
November 2, 2006, from Vonage Network Inc. to Telecommunication Systems, Tne.(3)

Form of Resmcted Stock Unit Agreement under the Vonage Holdings Corp. 2006 Incentive
Form of Nonquahﬁed Stock Option Agreement under the Vonage Holdings Corp. 2006 Incennve

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Vonage Hoidings Corp. 2006 lﬁcentive Plan(5) *

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Vonage Holdings Corp. 2006 Incentive Plan for

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the Vonage Holdings Corp. 2006 Incentive
Plan for Non- Employee Directors(5) *

Written Consent of the Company and Certain Stockholders to the Third Amended and Restated
Investors’ Rights Agreement dated April 27, 2005, as amended(4)

Amendment #3 to the Agreement for Services, dated November 27, 2006 between Intrado Inc.

LI

List of Subsidiaries of Vonage Holdings Corp.(5)
Consent of BDO Seidman, LLP, independent registered public accduf‘iting firm(5)

Certification of the Company’s Interim Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange
Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley

Certification of the C(')mpany s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act
Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes—()xley Act of
2002(3) . . o .

Number Description of Exhibit
10.25¢%

Systems, Inc.(3)
10.26%
10.27

P]an(S) *
10.28

Plan(5) *
10.29
10.30

Non-Employee Directors(5) *
10.31
10.32
10.33

and Vonage Network Inc. (3)
211
23.1
311

Act of 2002(5)
31.2
32.1

Certification of the Company’s Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002(5)

(1) Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holdings Corp ] Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q (Flle No. 001-
32887) filed on August 4, 2006,

(2) Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holdings Corp.’s Registration Statement on Form 5-1 (File

~ No. 333-131659) filed on February 8, 2006.

(3) Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holdings Corp.’s Quarterly Report on Fon'n 10-Q (File No. 001—
32887) filed on November 8, 2006.

(4) Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Current Reporl on Form 8-K (Flle No. 001~
32887) filed on November 14, 2006. ‘

(5) Filed herewith.
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T Portions of this Exhibit have been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Comrnission as part of an application for confidential treatment pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

(b} Financial Statement Schedules

teport of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

authorized, in the city of Holmdel, State of New Jersey, on April 17, 2007.

Vonage Holdings Corp.

Dated: April 17, 2007 By: /s! JOHN S. REGO

John 8. Rego
Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and as of the dates
indicated.

Signature m Date
/s/ JEFFREY A. CITRON Director, Chairman, Chief April 17, 2007
Jeffrey A. Citron Strategist and Interim Chief

Executive Officer
{(principal executive officer)

/s/ JounS.REGO Executive Vice President, April 17, 2007
Jobn 8. Rego Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer (principal financial
officer and principal
accounting officer)

/s/ PETER BARRIS Director April 17, 2007

Peter Barris

/s/ MORTON DAVID Director April 17, 2007
Morton David
/s/ ). SANFORD MILLER Director April 17, 2007

J. Sanford Miller

fs/ GOVERNOR THOMAS J. RIDGE Director April 17, 2007
Governor Thomas J. Ridge

/s/ JoHN J. ROBERTS Director April 17, 2007
John J. Roberts

/s/ HARRY WELLER Director April 17, 2007
Harry Weller
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Vonage Holdings Corp.
Holmdel, New Jersey

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Vonage Holdings Corp. as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity
(deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to
have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits
included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 10, in March 2007 a jury returned a verdict finding that the Company infringed
three patents of Verizon Services Corp and Verizon Laboratories, Inc. in connection with providing VoIP
services and awarded compensatory damages of $58,000,000. Although the trial court has issued a
permanent injunction with respect to the three patents, it will permit the Company to continue to service
existing customers pending appeal, but it will not permit it to service new customers. The trial court
permitted the Company to continue to service existing customers pending appeal, subject to the Company’s
deposit into escrow of a 5.5% royalty on a quarterly basis. On April 6, 2007, the Company appealed the
jury verdict and the court’s decision not to stay the injunction with respect to new customers and the United
States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit issued a temporary stay which will remain in effect until the
appellate court rules on whether to grant a stay for the duration of the appeal.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Vonage Holdings Corp. as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2006, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of
accounting for share-based compensation in 2006 when it adopted SFAS No. 123R, “Share Based
Payment” starting January 1, 2006.

/s/ BDO SEIDMAN, LLP
Woodbridge, New Jersey
April 16, 2007

F-2




VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value)

Dec 31, Dec 31,
2006 2005
Assets
Assets
Current assets: -
Cash and cash equivalBiLs . . ... ... ... oreeii it i et iiiati e e $ 210,253 $ 132,549
Marketable SEOUMtIES - . ..ottt et it e e e 289,483 133,830
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $476 and $210, respectively .. .. ......... ... i . 16,544 6,615
Inventory, net of allowance of $1,270 and $732, respectively .. ... .. ... vl i 24,390 15,687
Deferred customer acquisition COStS, CUITENT . .. . ... i. vttt et tsareaatas e rannennanan 13,022 6,125
Prepaid expenses and Other Current assets ............oonaiiiiii i 16,080 8,728
Total CUTENE ASSELS . . .. .. .ottt e i i et ey 569,772 303,534
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation .......c ... oo i 131,842 103,638
Deferred customer acquisition CoSts, MOM-CULTENL .. . . ... eiiien i e e naaaaaaaranenas e s 34,067 19,899
Deferred financing costs, net . .................., P A 7,861 9,577
Restricted Cash . ... ..o R 8,042 7,453
Due from related parties . . ... oo e i e e s e 60 75
Intangible assets, net .. ... ..o Pt 4,300 —
L0 T T O 1,580 2,386
Totalassets . .......oovvviniinnn.. e e e $ 757,524  § 446,562
Liabilities, Redeemable Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
AccOURLS PAYADIE . .. ... $ 58809 § 16467
ACCIUEH EXPEIISES « 2 v ot v vt vt e e e et et vt st e et et et e et et e e e e e e , 161,505, | 97,713
Deferred revenue, current pomon ....................................................... 38,504 20,449
Current maturities of capital lease obligations . ....... .. .. ... il 1,020 NEE
) Total current Habilities . ... ..o .t i e e 259928 135404
Convertible NOTES, MBL . . ...\t v et ittt it i et i i nn e aia et iarnennn e 253430 247,958
Deferred revenue, net of curmeRt POTHON .. ... vttt i it a e e i 37,730 21,600
Capital lease obligations, net of current maturities .. ... i e 23,235 21,658
Total Habilities . .. .o vttt e e e i 574,323 426,620
Commitments and Contingencies -
Redeemable Preferred Stock
Series A Redecmable Convertible Preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share; authorized 8,000 shares,

8,000 shares issued and outstanding (liquidation preference $16,000) ......... ... .. oot — 15.968
Series A-2 Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share; authorized 6,067 shares, ‘

5,167 shares issued and outstanding (liquidation preference $20,667) ... ......... ... et — 20,292
Series A-2 Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant to purchase 900 shares . .................. — 1,557
Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share; authorized 3,750 shares,

3,750 shares issued and cutstanding (liquidation preference $16,200) ... ... ..o el . . — 14,489
Series C Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share; authorized 8 000 sharcs,

8,000 shares issued and cutstanding (liquidation preference $43,200) ................ccovain. ... — 38,090
Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share; authorized 8,729 sha.res o

8,729 shares issued and outstanding (tiquidation preference $113,389) ........... ... ...l — 102,722
Series E Redeemable Convertible Prefered Stock, par value $0.001 per share; authorized 9,435 shares, . :

9,429 shares issued and outstanding (liquidation preference $215924) .....0..... ... ..ol — 195,736
SOCK SUbSCTIPIOM TECEIVADIE . .. ot e e — 427

Total redeemable preferred stock . ... .. o i i e e e — 388,427
Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Common stock, par value $0.001 per share; authorized 596,950 shares at December 31, 2006 and

December 3[ 2005; 156,353 and 1,642 shares issued at December 31, 2006 and December 31,2005,

respectively; 155,059 and 1,404 shares outstanding at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005,

TR VY . L e e e 156 2
Additional paid-imcapital . ... ... e e 922,097 14,794
Stock subscription receivable . .. ... e e it (5,721} an
Accumulated defiCit . .. . o e e e e e (720,857) (382.289)
Treasury stock, at cost, 1,294 shares and 238 shares, respectively .......... ... i, {12,342) (619
Deferred COMPEASAION .. ... ottt it e e et i e — (167)
Accumulated other comprehensive 1oss ... ... .. e (132) (174)

Total stockholders” equity (deficit) .. ... ... o vttt e 183,201 (368,485}
Total liabilities, redeemable preferred stock and stockholders” equity (deficit) ................ $ 757,524  § 446,562

The accompanying notes are an integrat part of these financial statements
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.

CONSOQOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Operating Revenues:
Telephony SETVICES . ...ttt $ 581,806 $ 258,165 § 75,864
Customer equipment and shipping . . .......... ... ... oL 25,591 11,031 3,844

607,397 269,196 79,708

Operating Expenses:
Direct cost of telephony services (excluding depreciation and

amortization of $12,715, $6,671 and $2,519, respectively) . ... 223,303 24,050 23,200
Directcostof goodssold ........... .. il 62,730 40,441 18,878
Selling, general and administrative ................... ... ... 272,826 154,716 49,186
Marketing .. ..ot e e 365,349 243,404 56,075
Depreciation and amortization ........... ... .o 23,677 11,122 3,907

947,885 533,733 151,255
Loss from Operations . ..........uuivenin i (340,488) (264,537) (71,547)
Other Income (Expense): .
INterest INCOME . . o oo ittt ittt sanar e m et en ey 21,472 4,347 1,135
TRIEIEST EXPENSE . oot ittt tne et ansae e (19,583 (1,093) (5)
L1811 07> 00 1 1= A (189) (441) 21
' 1,700 2,813 1,151
Loss before income tax benefit . .......... ... ... . it (338,788) (261,724) (70,396)
TNCOME AKX BENETIE .« . ottt e e e e e i e et e 215 390 475
I [ B (o A O $(338,573) $(261,334) $(69,921)
Net loss per common share calculation: )
Netloss . v viie et i e emeae O, $(338,573) $(261,334) $(69,921)
Imputed dividend on preferred shares ............. ... ... ... — {605) —
Net loss attributable to common shareholders . ............... © $(338,573) $(261,939) $(69,921)

Net loss per common share:
Basic and diluted . ............. P $  (3.59) $ (189.67) $ (51.41)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding: _
Basic and diluted .. ... e e e 94,207 1,381 1,360

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

For the Years Ended

December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Cash flows from operating activities:
Nt JO8S . o e e $(338,573) $(261.334) §$(69.921)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Bepreciation and 8MOTLZation .. .......... . i 22,709 11,122 3,907
Amortization of intangibles .. .. ... .. L . 968 — —
Beneficial conversion on interest in kind on convertiblenotes ... .................... 32 — —
ACCTUBd INEEIBSE . . .o i et e e e 4,002 199 (186)
Allowance fordoobtful acconnts ... .. ... e 266 150 &0
Allowance forobsolele Inventory . .......... ..t 1,441 623 1,215
Amortization of deferred financing costs ... ... ... o 1,999 73 —
Loss on disposal of fixed assets .. ... ... ... ... i i e 320 438 —
Share-based compensation ... ... ... et e 26,980 15 —
Other . . e (49) (103) 66
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accountsreceivable ... ... e e (10,196) (4,068} (2,100}
IVemtOrY .o e e e (10,133) {15,130y (1,289)
Prepaid expenses and other CUMment @ssels ... .o oot r i e iiia i iianas (6,218) (6,203} (1,518)
Deferred customer aCqUISTHON COSIS - . . . .0t vttt i iiai e e eenaracnnnnns (21.053) (17,613) (5,765)
Due fromrelated parties .. ......... . . e 32 13 13
L0111 1LY < A (294 (2,333) 27
Accountspayable .. ... e 42,407 5,119 3,016
Accrued GXPeNSES . . ... e e e 62,281 70,765 24,103
Deferred revenue . ...ttt e e e 34,181 28,565 9,824
Net cash used in operating activities ......... .. . i i i i (188,898) (189,765)  (38,600)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expendilures . . ... ...t ot it e e e (48,601) {76,261y  (10,867)
Purchase of intangible assets .. ... ... .. . e (5,268) — —
Purchase of marketable securities .. ....... ... .. o . i i e (639,707)  (295,341)  (68,798)
Maturities and sales of marketable securities . .. .. ... ... e 484,116 224249 6,050
Acquisition and development of software assets ... L (795) — —
Increase inrestricted cash . . ... L L e e e (543) (7.285) (92)
Net cash used it investing activities . .. ... ... ettt (210,798)  (154,638)  (73,707)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments on capital lease obligations . . ... ... i it s (826) (177} (26)
Proceeds from nofes ISSUANCE . . .. oo oottt et ettt e e e e e 2,047 247,872 —
DDt IS UANCE 0SS . o o ittt it i et ittt e e e e e e (283) (9,652} —
Proceeds from preferred stock issuance, net ........ ... i e —_ 195,736 140,820
Proceeds from subscription receivable, net .. ... ... e 169 170 300
Proceeds from common SLOCK ISSUANCE, NEL . . ... ottt it et et e e i et it e e e eeenn 493,040 — —
Purchase of treasury stock .. .. ... .. (11,723) — —
Payments for directed share program, net .......... ... ... i e {5,426} — —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options ... ... ... e 431 57 —
Net cash provided by financing activities ................... ... ... 477,429 434006 141,094
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash ... ... ... . o i i (29) (83) 3
Net change incash and cash equivalents . ..... ... ..ouiiii it 77,704 89,520 28,784
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of perdod .. ... ... . o o e 132,549 43,029 14,245
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period . . . ...... ... i i $210253 $ 132549 $ 43,029
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the periods for:
41 1< $ 12445 § 203§ 3
Non-cash transactions during the periods for:
Capital lease obligations incurred . ..., ... .. ... ... . el $ 2650 % 22603 § —
Conversion of preferred stock, preferred stock warrant and subscription receivable . ... .. $ 388444 § - 5 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

(In thousands)
Accumulated
Additional Stock Other
Commen Paid-in  Subscription  Deferred Accumulated Treasury Comprehensive
Stock Capital  Receivable Compensation Deficit Stack Loss Total
Balance at December 31,2003 ......... $ 2 $13942 § (37 5— $ (50424 & (619) $— $ (37.136)
Stock opuion exercises ............... 8 8
Comprehensive loss:
Change in unreatized gain (loss) on
available-for-sale investments ... (9} (€]
Foreign currency translation
adjustment . .......... ... (15 (15)
Netloss ...t . (69.921) . (69,921)
Total comprehensive loss ............. — — — —_ (69,921) — (24) (69,945)
Balance at December 31,2004 . ........ 2 13,950 3n — (120,345) (619) 24) (107,073)
Stock option exercises ............... 57 57
Issuance of stock options for
cCOmPensation ................. ... 182 (182) —
Amortization of deferred
COMPENSALON .. \0vvrneneanenans 15 i5
Beneficial conversion of Series E ’
preferredstock ......... ... ... .0 605 (605) —
Comprehensive loss:
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on
available-for-sale investments . .. i0 10
Foreign currency translation
adjustment . .................. (160} (160)
Netloss . ovvveriieieiiiiiainenas o (261,334} {261,334)
Total comprehensive loss . ............ = — — — (261,334) — (150) {261,484}
Balanceat December 31,2005 .. ....... 2 14,794 {37 (167) (382,284} 619) (174) (368,485)
Stock oplion exercises . .............. 431 431
Share-based compensation . ........... 26,980 26,980
Reverse unamortized deferred
COMPensation ...........coov0hens (167) 167 —
Beneficial conversion of interest in kind
on convertiblenotes ............... 214 214
Issuance of common stock, net . ........ 31 491,113 491,144
Issuance of conunon stock upon
conversion of preferred stock ........ 123 387,175 387,298
Conversion of preferred stock warrant (o
common stock warrant .. ... ... 1,557 1,557
Conversion of preferred stock
subscription receivable to common
stock subscription receivable ........ @11) 41D
Directed share program transactions,
1= (5,426) (11,723) (17,149)
Stock subscription receivable
PAYMENS . ovivni v anens 153 153
Comprehensive loss:
Change in unrealized gain(loss) on
available-for-sale investments ... : 13 13
Foreign currency translation
adjustment . ....... ... oo 29 29
Netloss ..ot iiiiiionnaanns o (338,573) (338,573)
Total comprehensive loss ............. — — — — (338,573) —_ 42 {338.531)
Balance at December 31,2006 ......... §156  $922,097  $(5,721) §— $(720,857) $(12,342) $(132) $ 183,201

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Note 1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations

ELA LETY LIINEYY

Vonage Holdings Corp. (“Vonage”, “Company”, “we”, “our”, “us”} is incorporaled as a Delaware
corporation. The original Certificate of Incorporation was filed in May 2000 as MIN-X.COM, INC., our
original name, which was changed in February 2001 to Vonage Holdings Corp. We are a provider of
broadband Voice over Internet Protocol (“VolP”) services to residential and small and home office
customers. We launched service in the United States in October 2002, in Canada in November 2004 and in
the United Kingdom in May 2005.

We have incurred significant operating losses since inception. As a result, we have generated negative
cash flows from operations, and have an accumulated deficit at December 31, 2006. Our primary source of
funds to date has been through the issuance of equity and debt securities, including net proceeds from the
issnance of redeemable preferred stock of $195,736, in 2005, net proceeds from the issuance of debt
securities of $238,220, in 2005 and $1,764 in 2006, and net proceeds from our initial public offering
("IPO”) of 491,144 in May 2006, which includes costs of $1,896 incurred in 2005.

Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Consolidation

The consotlidated financial statements include the accounts of Vonage and our wholly-owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

Our conselidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States, which require management to make estimatés and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates including the following:

* those related to the average period of service to a customer (the “customer relationship period™)
used to amortize deferred revenue and deferred customer acquisition costs associated with
customer activation;

» the useful lives of property and equipment and intangible assets; and

* assumptions used for the purpose of determining stock-based compensation using the Black-
Scholes option model (“Moedel”}, and on various other assumptions that we believed 1o be
reasonable. The key inputs for this Model are stock price at valuation date, strike price for the
option, the dividend yield, risk-free interest rate, life of option in years and volatility.

We base our estimates on historical experience, available market information, appropriate valuation

methodologies, and on various other assumptions that we believed to be reasonable, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities.
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue Recognition

Operating revenues consists of telephony services revenue and customer equipment (which enables
our telephony services) and shipping revenue. The point in time at which revenue is recognized is
determined in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition, and Emerging
Issues Task Force Consensus No. 01-9, Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer
{Including a Reseller of the Vendor's Products) (“EITF No. 01-9"). Revenue is recorded as follows:

Telephony Services Revenue

Substantially all of our operating revenues are telephony services revenue, which is derived primarily
from monthly subscription fees that customers are charged under our service plans. We also derives
telephony services revenue from per minute fees for international calls and for any calling minutes in
excess of a customer’s monthly plan limits. Monthly subscription fees are automatically charged to
customers’ credit cards, debit cards or electronic check payments (“ECP”) in advance and are recognized
over the following month when services are provided. Revenue generated from interational calls and from
customers exceeding allocated call minutes under limited minute plans is recognized as services are
provided, that is, as minutes are used, and is billed to a customer’s credit or debit card or ECP in arrears.
We estimate the amount of revenue earned but not billed from international calls and from customers
exceeding allocated call minutes under limited minute plans from the end of each billing cycle to the end of
each reporting period and record these amounts in accounts receivable. These estimates are based primarily
upon historical minutes and have been consistent with our actual results.

We also provide rebates to customers who purchase their customer equipment from retailers and
satisfy minimum service period requirements. These rebates in excess of activation fees are recorded as a
reduction of revenue over the minimum service period based upon the estimated number of customers that
will ultimately earn and claim the rebates. '

We also generate revenue by charging a fee for activating service. Through June 2005, we charged an
activation fee to customers in the direct channel (customer equipment provided by us). Beginning in
July 2005, we also began charging an activation fee in the retail channel. Customer activation fees, along
with the related incremental direct customer acquisiﬁon amounts for customer equipment in the direct
channel and for rebates and retailer commissions in the retail channel, up to but not exceeding the
activation fee, are deferred and amortized over the estimated average customer relationship period. The
amontization of deferred customer equipment is recorded to direct cost of goods sold. The amortization of
deferred rebates is recorded as a reduction of telephony services revenue. The amortization of deferred
retailer commissions is recorded as marketing expense. Through December 31, 2004, this period was
30 months based upon comparisons to other telecommunications companies as we did not have a sufficient
operating history. For 2005, the customer relationship period was reevaluated based on our experience to
date and is estimated to be 60 months. We have applied the 60-month customer relationship period on a
prospective basis beginning January t, 2005. For 2006, we have confirmed that the customer relationship
period should be 60 months.

In the United States, we charge regulatory recovery fees on a monthly basis to defray the costs
associated with regulatory compliance and related litigation, E-911 compliance and to cover taxes that we
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Conttinued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

are charged by the suppliers of telecommunications services, In addition, beginning on October 1, 2006, we
began charging customers Federal Universal Service Fund (“USF”) fees, which were $7,984 for 2006. We
record these fees as revenue when billed. . .

Prior to June 30, 2005, we generally charged a'disconnect fee to customers who did not return their
customer equipment to us upon disconnection of service regardless of how long they were a customer. On
July 1, 2005, we changed our disconnect policy and only accept return of the customer equipment within
30 days of activation and a disconnect fee is charged if the customer disconnects their service within one
year of activation. These disconnect fees are recorded at the time the customer disconnects service.
Disconnect fee revenue amounted to $15,150, $6,031 and $1,556 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively,

Customer Equipment and Shipping Revenue

Customer equipment and shipping revenue consists of revenue from sales of customer equipment to
wholesalers or directly to customers for replacement devices, or beginning in the fourth quarter of 2005, for
upgrading their device at the time of customer sign-up for which we charge an additional fee. In addition,
customer equipment and shipping revenue includes the fees that customers are charged for shipping their
customer equipment to them, ‘

For a portion of 2004, customer equipment and shipping revenue included sales to retailers. Customer
equipment and shipping revenue was reduced for payments to retailers and rebates to customers who
purchased their customer equipment through these retailers, who purchased the customer equipment from
us, to the exient of customer equipment and shipping revenue. In the latter part of 2004, the retailers began
purchasing the customer equipment directly from the manufacturers.

Direct Cost of Telephony Services

Direct cost of telephony services consists primarily. of direct costs that we pay to third parties in order
to provide telephony services. These costs include access and interconnection charges that we pay to other
telephone companies to terminate domestic and international phone calls on the public switched telephone
network. In addition, these costs include the cost to lease phone numbers, to co- locate in other telephone
companies’ facilities, to provide enhanced emergency. diating capabilities to transmit 911 calls and to
provide local number portability. These costs also include taxes that we pay on telecommunications
services from our suppliers or imposed by government agencies such as Federal USF and royalties for use
of third-parties’ intellectual property (including patents referenced in the Verizon litigation). For 2006, we
paid $7,984 in Federal USF costs. These costs do not include indirect costs such as depreciation and
amortization, payroll and facilities costs. Our presentation of direct cost of telephony services may not be
comparable to other 51m1!ar companies.

Direct Cost of Goods Sold

Direct cost of goods sold consists primarily of costs that we incur when a customer signs up for our
service, These costs include the cost of customer equipment for customers who subscribe through the direct
sales channel in excess of activation fees. In addition, these costs include the amortization of deferred
customer equipment, the cost of shipping and handling for customer equipment, the installation manual that
accompanies the customer equlpment and the cost of equlpment that we provide to customers as product
promotions.- . - :
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
{In thousands, except per share amounts)

Shipping and Handling

Revenue relating to shipping and handling is included in customer equipment and shipping revenue
and amounted to $14,182, $8,049 and $2,604 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Costs related to
shipping and handling are included in direct cost of goods sold and amounted to $15,386, $9,373 and
$2,421 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs, which are included in marketing expense, are expensed as incurred and amounted
to $296,898, $204,875 and $52,472 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Development Expenses .

Costs associated with the development of new services and changes to existing services are charged to
operations as incurred and are included in seiling, general and administrative expense.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

We maintain cash with several investment grade financial institutions. We invest our excess cash in
money market funds and in highly liquid debt instruments of U.S. corporations, municipalities and the U.S.
government and its agencies. All highly liquid investments with stated maturities of three months or less
from date of purchase are classified as cash equivalents. Interest income was $21,472, $4,347 and $1,135 in
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Management determines the appropriate classification of our investments in debt and marketable
equity securities at the time of purchase and reevaluates such designation at each balance sheet date. Our
debt and marketable equity securities have been classified and accounted for as available for sale. We may
or may not hold securities with stated maturities until maturity. In response to changes in the availability of
and the yield on alternative investments as well as liquidity requirements, we may sell these securities prior
to their stated maturities. These securities are carried at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses
reported as other comprehensive income (loss). Any realized gains or losses on the sale of marketable
securities are determined on a specific identification method, and such gains and losses are reflected as a
component of interest income or expense.,

fnventory

Inventory consists of the cost of customer equipment and is stated at the lower of cost or market, with
cost determined using the average cost method. We provide an inventory allowance for customer
equipment that has been returned by customers but may not be able to be re-issued to new customers or
returned to the manufacturer for credit.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment includes acquired assets and those accounted for under capital leases and
consist principally of network equipment and computer hardware, furniture, software and leasehold
improvements. In addition, the lease of our corporate headquarters has been accounted for as a capital lease
and is included in property and equipment. Network equipment and computer hardware and furniture are
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—{(Centinued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

stated at cost with depreciation provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
the related assets, which range from three to five years. Software is depreciated over three years to five
years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over their estimated useful life of the related assets or the
life of the lease, whichever is shorter. The cost of renewals and subsiantial improvements is capitalized
while the cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to operating expenses as incurred.

Our network equipment and computer hardware, which consists of routers, gateways and servers that
enable our telephony services, is subject to technological risks and rapld market changes due to new
products and services and chariging customer demand. These changes may result m future adjustmems to
the estimated useful lives or the carrying value of these assets, or both.

Capitalized Software Costs

In December 2006, we began capitalizing software costs for purchased and internally developed
software we use for customer acquisition, which is classified as “Other Assets” in the consolidated balance
sheet. Capiialized software is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and the estimated useful life is
two years. Total capitalized software was $795 at December 31, 2006 with no amortization expense
recorded in 2006. We plan to begin amortizing these costs in 2007 once the project is completed.

Restricted Cash and Letters of Credit

We report the collateralization of certain letters of ¢redit as restricted cash. The amount of
collateralized letters of credit primarily related to lease deposits for our officés were $7,549 and $7,210 at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, with corresponding restricted cash of $8,042 and $7 453 at
December 21, 2006 and 2005, respecnvely

Long-Lived Assets )

We review the carrying values of our property and equipment for possible impairment whenever
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognized to the extent the sum of the undiscounted estimated future cash flow expected to result from the
use of the asset is less than the carrying value. No impairments have been incurred to date.

Deferred Financing Costs

Costs incurred in raising debt are deferred and amortized as interest expense over the term of the
related debt. We issued convertible notes in December 2005 and January 2006 and incurred issuance costs
of $9,935, which are being amortized over the life of the notes using the effective interest method.
Amortization expense related 1o these costs is included in interest expense in the consolidated statements of
operations and was $1,999 and $75 in 2006 and 2005, respectively. Accumulated amortization of deferred
financing costs was $2,074 and $75 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected tax consequences of temporary
differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts using enacted tax rates
in effect for the year the differences are expected-to reverse. We record a valuation allowance to reduce the
deferred tax assets to the amount that we estimate is more likely than not to be realized.
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Foreign Currency

Generally, the functional currency of our non-U.S. subsidiaries is the local currency. The financial
statements of these subsidiaries are translated to U.S. dollars using month-end rates of exchange for assets
and liabilities, and average rates of exchange for revenues, costs and expenses. Translation gains and losses
are deferred and recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss as a component of stockholders’
equity. We recorded $29 net translation gains and $160 of net translation losses in 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Net gains and losses resulting from foreign exchange transactions are included in the
consolidated statements of operations. We recognized $27 and $3 of net losses resulting from foreign
exchange transactions for 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss consists of net loss and other comprehensive items. Other comprehensive items
include foreign currency translation adjustments and unrealized losses on available for sale investments.
Assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the period-end exchange rate and revenue and
expense amounts are translated at the average rates of exchange prevailing during the period.

Certain Risks and Concentrations

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of
cash equivalents, marketable securities and accounts receivable. Cash equivalents consist of money market
instruments and U.S. government notes. Marketable securities consist primarily of money market
instruments, U.S. corporate bonds, auction rate securities and U.S. government notes. Accounts receivable
are typically unsecured and are derived from revenues earned from customers primarily located in the
United States. By collecting subscription fees in advance, we are able to minimize our accounts receivable
and bad debt exposure. If a customer’s credit card, debit card or ECP is declined, we generally suspend
international calling capabilities as well as their ability to incur domestic usage charges in excess of their
plan minutes. If the customer’s credit card, debit card or ECP cannot be successfully processed during the
current and subsequent month’s billing cycle, we will terminate the account. In addition, we automatically
charge any per minute fees to our customers’ credit card, debit card or ECP monthly in arrears. To further
mitigate our bad debt exposure, a customer’s credit card, debit card or ECP will be charged in advance of
their monthly billing if their international calling or overage charges exceed a certain dollar threshold.

Patents

The three patents we acquired on June 27, 2006 are directed to the compression of packetized digital
signals commonly used in VoIP technology. We are amortizing the cost of these patents over their
cstimated useful lives of 2.7 years. Amortization for 2006 was $968. Annual amortization will be
approximately $1,928.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

]
The carrying amounts of our financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, marketable
securities, accounts receivable and accounts payable, approximate fair value because of their short
maturities. The carrying amounts of our capital leases approximate fair value of these obligations based
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

upon management’s best estimates of interest rates that would be available for similar debt obligations at
December 31, 2006 and 2005. The convertible notes are carried at estimated fair value less any
unamortized discount, '

Reclassification

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior years’ financial statements in order to conform to the
current year’s presentation,

Beneficial Conversion Feature

When we issue debt or equity which is convertible into common stock at a discount from the common
stock market price at the date the debt or equity is issued, a beneficial conversion feature for the difference
between the closing price and the conversion price multiplied by the number of shares issuable upon
conversion is recognized. The beneficial conversion feature is presented as a discount to the related debt or
a dividend to the related equity, with an offsetting amount increasing additional paid-in capital.

Loss per Share

Basic and diluted loss per common share is calculated by dividing loss to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The effects of potentially
dilutive common shares, including shares issued under our 2001 Stock Incentive Plan and 2006 Incentive
Plan using the treasury stock method and our convertible preferred stock (that convert on a 2.86-to-1 basis)
using the if-converted method, have been excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per common share
because of their anti-dilutive effects.

The following shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per common shaure
because of their anti-dilutive effects:

For the Years Ended

December 31,

2006 2005 2004 .
Redeemable preferred stock as if converted at 2.86to 1 ...... — 123,071 96,131
Common stock warrants . ............ccorirnrannnnnnn-. 3,085 514 © 514
Preferred stock warrants . ... ... ..ot eneninnnnn — 2,571 2,571
Convertible NOteS .. ... .. ... 17,835 17,426 —
Restricted stock units ...... ...t . 1,912 _ —
Employee stockoptions . ... . ... .. iiiii. 17,004 13,373 5,887

39,836 156955 105,103

Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R) (“SFAS 123(R)™),
we accounted for stock-based awards to employees and directors using the intrinsic value method in
accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (“APB 25"} as allowed under Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123. Under the intrinsic value method, no stock-based compensation
expense for employee stock options had been recognized in our results of operations in prior periods. In
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Continued)
{(In thousands, except per share amounts)

accordance with the modified prospective transition method that we used in adopting SFAS 123(R) as of
January 1, 2006, the consolidated financial statements prior to 2006 have not been restated to reflect, and
do not include, the possible impact of SFAS 123(R). The table below reflects the pro forma net loss and net
loss per share for 2005 and 2004:

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2005 2004
Net loss attributable to common shareholders, asreported .......... $(261,939) $(69,921)
Add stock-based employee compensation included in net loss under
intrinsicmethod ... .. .. 15 —
Deduct total stock-based employee compensation expense determined
under fair value based method forallawards ................... (7,521 (879)
Net 10ss, proforma . ..........ovueirir i $(269,445)  $(70,300)
Net loss per common share: : - :
As reported—basic and diluted .. .......... ... $ (189.67) § (51.41)
Pro forma—basicand diluted ............. .. ... $ (195.11) $ (52.06)
Weighted-average common shares outdtanding: ‘
Basicanddiluted . ..........coiiiiiiii e 1,381 1,360

The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-
pricing model.

The assumptions used to value options are as follows:

For the Years Ended
December 31,
- s s a0
Risk-free inferest rate .. ......oovveerrneeannesroaeeennnss 4.55-510% 4.36% 4.12%
Expected stock'price volatility .......... . ... cciiin 50.18-52.50% 0.00% 0.00%
Dividend yield ..........cooiii i 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Expected life (inyears) ....... ... i 7.70-890 8.83 8.88

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2006, the Financial Accounting Standard Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Staff Position
EITF 00-19-2, Accounting for Registration Payment Arrangements (“FSP EITF 00-19-2"), which addresses
accounting for registration payment arrangements. FSP EITF 00-19-2 specifies that the contingent
obligation to make future payments or otherwise transfer consideration under a registration payment
arrangement, whether issued as a separate agreement or included as a provision of a financial instrument or
other agreement, should be separately recognized and measured in accordance with FASB Statement No. 5,
Accounting for Contingencies (“SFAS No. 5"). FSP EITF 00-19-2 further clarifies that a financial
instrument subject to a registration payment arrangement should be accounted for in accordance with other
applicable generally accepted accounting principles without regard to the contingent obligation to transfer
consideration pursuant to the registration payment arrangement. For registration payment arrangements and
financial instruments subject to those arrangements that were entered into prior to.the issuance of FSP
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EITF 00-19-2, this guidance shall be effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2006 and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption of FSP EITF 00-19-2
for interim or annual periods for which financial statements or interim reports have not been issued is
permitted. We adopted FSP EITF 00-19-2 as of October 1, 2006.

In Sepiember 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 157
“Fair Value Measurements.” The Statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair
value in generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP™), and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. This Statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. We are currently assessing the impact of
adopting SFAS 157 on the consolidated financial statements,

On July 13, 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes—An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting
for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with FASB
Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” FIN 48 also prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. In addition, FIN 48 provides guidance on derecognition, classification,
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.

" The provisions of FIN 48 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. Earlier
application is permitted as long as the enterprise has not yet issued financial statements, including interim
financial statements, in the period of adoption. The provisions of FIN 48 are to be applied to alt tax
positions upon initial adoption of this standard. Only tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not
recognition threshold at the effective date may be recognized or continue to be recognized upon adoption
of FIN 48, The cumulative effect of applying the provisions of FIN 48 should be reported as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other appropriate components of equity) for that fiscal year.
We believe the adoption of FIN 48 will not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2006, the FASB ratified the consensus on EITF Issue No. 06-3, “How Taxes Collected from
Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement”
(“EITF No. 06-3"}. The scope of EITF No. 06-3 includes any tax assessed by a governmental authority that
is directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction between a seller and a customer and may include,
but is not limited to, sales, use, value added, Universal Service Fund (“USF") contributions and excise
taxes. The Task Force concluded that entities should present these taxes in the income statement on either a
gross or net basis, based on their accounting policy, which should be disclosed pursuant to APB Opinion
No. 22, “Disclosure of Accounting Policies.” If such taxes are significant and are presented on a gross
basis, the amount of those taxes should be disclosed. The consensus on EITF No. 06-3 will be effactive for
interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2006. We currently record sales, use
and excise taxes on a net basis in our consolidated financial statements whereas USF contributions are
recorded on a gross basis in our consolidated financial statements. The adoption of EITF No. 06-3 is not
expected to have a material effect on our consolidated results of operations or financial condition,

In February 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Instruments (“SFAS 155™). SFAS 155
allows financial instruments that have embedded derivatives to be accounted for as a whole (eliminating
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the need to bifurcate the derivative from its host) if the holder elects to account for the whole instrument on
a fair value basis. This statement is effective for all financial instruments acquired or issued after the
beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006. We will evaluate the impact
of SFAS 155 on our consolidated financial statements.

Note 2. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities consist of the following:

December 31,
, 2006 2005
Cash and cashequivalents .............. ... coiiviiiiiiiine.. $210,253  $132,549
Marketable securities:
Commercial Paper .. ... ittt 58,482 —
US.corporate bonds ... oovviin i 60,021 8,314
AUCtion rate SECUTILES . . .. v vt e e et it e e - 146,175 107,025
U.S. ZOVErnment DOES . . . . ... viniie e iiinaaeerrnannns 24,805 18.491
Total marketable securities . ....... ... . it 289,483 133,830

Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities . . ............ $499.736  $266,379

We have not experienced any realized gains or losses on our investments in the periods presented. We
had a gross unrealized gain of $14 and $1 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. There was a gross
unrealized gain of $13 and $10 for the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of our securities held in marketable securities
classified by the stated maturity date of the security:

December 31,
2006 2005
Due Within ONE YEAT . .. oottt e e e it irinaaarrnenes $289,483  $133,830
Note 3. Property and Equipment _
December 31,
2006 2005
Building (under capital lease) .......... ... .ciiiiiiiiiiiieaann $ 25709 $ 22,830
Network equipment and computer hardware . ................ e 80,952 . 58917
T8 1 12 1 ¢ =R AU 6,227 4,667
Leased eqUIPIIENE o .. .vvvtvn vt iierana e as 371 371
Leasehold improvements . .......... .. i il - 41,124 25,216
Furniture ............. e e e e e e 9,711 5,895
Software ICeNSes v o oot e et 909 909
Vehicles ... ... e e 317 190
Construction N PrOGIESS ...\ v e ae e i ettt e e o 4,266 352
169,586 119,347
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization .................. (37,744) (15,709)
Net property and equipment ............0.. ..o, $131,842  $103,638
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Related depreciation and amortization expense was $22,709, $11,122 and $3,907 in 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively. Included in depreciation and amortization expense for 2006 and 2005 was $2,304 and
3157 related to capital leases, respectively. Interest cost on the debt related to the capital lease for our
headquarters was capitalized during the pre-occupancy period in the amount of $102 in 2006 and $1,731
for 20005. Construction in progress was mainly for the network equipment. A majority of the network
equipment was placed into service in Janvary and February 2007, and the remainder is expected to be
placed into service in the first half of 2007.

In addition, in connection with the relocation of our headquarters to Holmdel, New Jersey, we
incurred costs for the renovation of the facility. The landlord agreed to reimburse $8,750 of these costs.
Except for the 2.5 percent construction supervision fee of $219 which was retained by the landlord and $44
discount which we gave the landlord for early reimbursements, we received reimbursements of $3,506 and
$4,981 in 2006 and 2005, respectively. The reimbursements were recorded as reductions 10 leasehotd
improvements in 2006 and 2005 for $831 and $7,656, respectively.

Note 4. Accrued Expenses

December 31,
2006 2005
Marketing . . ..ot e $ 40,626  $41,094
Compensation and related taxes and temporary labor .. .............. 17,802 11,374
TelecommUNICAHONS . ...ttt in it ie i ieeae et 13,238 15,133
Professional fees . ... o i e 8,115 3,151
Litigation . ... ... i e 2,050 1,050
Taxes and fees .. ... oottt i e e e e s 18,137 11,094
Customer credits . ..o e 2277 1,729
IV e Ty ..o 1,220 2,926
Costs related to new headquarters . .............................. — 3.882
Creditcard fees .. ... ... i e 536 1,097
Accrued INtETeSt . . ..o i e e 1,057 729
Verizon patent litigation judgment and retated interest (see Note 10—
Litigation) ... ... ..ottt e 52,515 —

Other accruals ... . .. e e 3,932 4,456

3161,505 $97.715
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Note 5. Income Taxes

The following table summarizes deferred taxes resulting from differences between financial
accounting basis and tax basis of assets and liabilities. ‘

Decentber 31,
4 2006 2005
Current assets and liabilities: o
Deferred reVenUE . ..o oot e e e $ — $ 6,134
Accounis receivable and inventory allowances .............. 647 377
Accruedexpenses {.................. e - 32,560 7.847
Capital leases ........... [ e 81 385
' Co 33,288 14,743
Valuation allowance . . ... e P . (33,288) (14,743)
Net current deferred tax @sSel ... .o vuvr vt te i iin e iin s $ — 3 —
Non-current assets and liabilities;
Depreciation and amortization .................. e $ (4954) $ "(2,709)
Amortization of start-upcosts . ... L o ol — 518
Research and development tax credit . ..................... 469 —
Stock option compensation ... ....... .. i iaeiii oo 10,840 —
Net operating loss carryforward ........ ... ... ... ... .. 239,032 136,739
’ 245,387 134,548
Valoation allowance ...t iemin e (245,387) ' '(134,548)
Net non-current deferred tax asset ............................ $ — % —

We have net losses for financial reporting purposes. Recognition of deferred tax assets will require
generation of future taxable income. There can be no assurance that we will generate sufficient taxable
income in future years. Therefore, we established a valuation allowance on net deferred tax assets of
$278.,675 as of December 31, 2006 and $149,29! as of December 31, 2005.

The components of loss before income tax benefit are as follows:

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2006 2005 2004
United Staies . ......0v et $(302,278) $(236,342) 3(68,535)
Foreign ..... ... i (36,510) (25,382) (1,861)

$(338,788) $(261,724)  $(70,396)
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The components of the income tax benefit are as follows:

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Current:
State and local taXes ... . .v it e e 8215  $390  $475
Foreign ... ... e — — —
Federal ............ I ettt e, — —_— —
$215  $390  $475
Deferred:
State and local taxes .........vuiiinae .. e $— $— $-
LRI L L .. — — —
Federal . ... ... — — —
$— 5— $—

215 $390  $475

The reconciliation between the U.S. statutory federal income tax rate and the effective rate is as

follows:

For the Years Ended -
December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(GH% (3% (34)%
5% (5% )%
% H% (1%
40%  40%  40%

Effective taxrate . ... ... .. . ..t i e 0% d_O% _(l' Y%

U.S. Federal statutory faxrate . ......... ..ot einnon..
State and local taXes . .. ..ottt i e e
Sale of net operating loss carryforwards ................. . ... .....
Valuation reserve for iNCOME tAXES . v v e enn i eerernraeenenn,

As of December 31, 2006, we have net operating loss carryforwards for U.S. federal and state tax
purposes of $545,329 and $524,640, respectively, expiring at various times from years ending 2020
through 2026, In addition, we have net operating loss carryforwards for Canadian tax purposes of $45,368
expiring periodically between 2011 through 2013. We also have net operating loss carryforwards for
United Kingdom tax purposes of $16,775 with no expiration date. ‘

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change”
(generally defined as a greater than 50% change (by value} in its equity ownership over a three-year
period), the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change of control net operating loss carry forward and other
pre-change tax attributes against its post-change income may be limited. The Section 382 limitation is
applied annually so as to limit the use of our pre-change net operating loss carryforwards to an amount that
generally equals the value of our stock immediately before the ownership change multiplied by a
designated federal long-term tax-exempt rate, In addition, we may be able to increase the base Section 382
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limitation amount during the first five years following the ownership change to the extent it realizes
built-in gains during that time period. A built-in gain generally is gain or income attributable to an asset
that was held at the date of the ownership change and that had a fair market value in excess of the tax basis
at the date of the ownership change. Section 382 provides that any unused Section 382 limitation amount
can be carried forward and aggregated with the following year’s available net operating losses. Due to the
cumulative impact of our equity issuances over the past three years, a change of ownership occurred upon
the issuance of our Series E Preferred Stock at the end of April 2005. As a result, $171,147 of the total U.S
net operating losses will be subject to an annual base limitation of $39,374. As noted above, we believe we
may be able to increase the base Section 382 limitation for built-in gains during the first five years
following the ownership change.

We have evaluated the potential for additional Section 382 limitations in light of our initial public
offering consummated on May 24, 2006. The result of our analysis confirms that no additional limitation in
the utilization of the $374,182 in domestic net operating losses accumulated since our Series E preferred
stock issuance in April 2005 is necessary.

We participated in the State of New Jersey’s corporation business tax benefit certificate transfer
program, which allows certain high technology and biotechnology companies to transfer unused New Jersey
net operating loss carryovers to other New Jersey corporation business taxpayers. During 2003 and 2004, we
submitted an application to the New Jersey Economic Development Authority, or EDA, to participate in the
program and the application was approved. The EDA then issued a certificate certifying our eligibility to
participate in the program. The program requires that a purchaser pay at least 75% of the amount of the
surrendered tax benefit. In tax years 2004, 2005 and 2006, we sold approximately, $6,207, $5,101 and $6,493,
respectively, of our New Jersey State net operating loss carryforwards for a recognized benefit of
approximately $475 in 2004, $390 in 2005 and $496 in 2006. Collectively, all transactions represent
approximately 82% of the surrendered tax benefit each year and have been recognized in the year received.

Note 6. Convertible Notes

In December 2005 and January 2006, we issued $249,900 aggregate principal amount of convertible
notes due December 1, 2010 (the “Notes™). We are using the proceeds from the offering of the Notes for
working capital and other general corporate purposes (including the funding of our operating losses).

The holders may require us to repurchase all or any portion of the Notes on December 16, 2008 at a
price in cash equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes plus any accrued and unpaid interest and
late charges.

We may, at our option, pay interest on the Notes in cash or in kind. If paid in cash, interest will accrue
at a rate of 5% per annum and be payable quarterly in arrears. If paid in kind, the interest will accrue at a.
rate of 7% per annum and be payable quarterly in arrears. Interest paid in kind will increase the principal -
amount outstanding and will thereafter accrue interest during each period. The first interest payment was
made on March 1, 2006. We elected to pay this interest in kind in the amount of $3,645. The interest
payments of $3,170 each due on June 1, September 1 and December 1, 2006 were paid in cash.
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Upon an event of default, the interest rate will be the greater of the interest rate then in effect or .
15% per annum..If interest on the Notes is not paid in full on any interest payment date, the principal
amount of the Notes will be increased for subsequent interest accrual periods by an amount that reflects the
accretion of the unpaid inferest at an annual rate equal to the interest rate then in effect plus 2%, calculated
on a quarterly basis, from, and including, the first day of the relevant interest accrual period..

We may redeem any or all of the Notes at any time beginning June 16, 2007, provided that, among
other things, the Common Stock has traded at a price greater than 150% of the then applicable conversion
price of the Notes for 20 consecutive trading days. The Notes are redeemable at a price equal to 100% of
the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest and any late charges, plus the aggregale‘net present
value of the remaining qcheduled mterest payments thmugh December 16 2008, if any, calcu]ated as
prov1ded in the Notes.

We also may redeem any or all of the Notes at any time after December 16, 2008 at a price equal to
100% of the prmcxpa} amount plus accrued and unpaid interest and any late charges, subject 1o certain
conditions.

Following a change of control (as definéd in the Notes) the holders of the Notes may require us to
redeem the Notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount plas accrued and unpaid interest and late
charges. In addition, upon conversions in connection with certain transactions, including certain changes of
control, holders of the Notes will be entitled to receive a make-whole premium as calculated in the Notes.

The Notes may, at the option of the holder, be converted into shares of Common Stock at any time.
Upon the completion of our IPQ in May 2006, the conversion price was fixed at $14. 22, subject to certain
anti-dilution adjustments.

Following an event of default, the Notes will become due and payable, either automatically or upon
declaration by holders of more than 25% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notjes.

We agreed to file resale shelf registration statements covering the shares of Common Stock issuable
upon conversion of the Notes within 90 calendar days after the IPO. If we failed to meet this timetable, we
would have had to pay the holders of the Notes a fee of 1% of the principal amount of the Notes on the day
that this timetable has not been met and a fee of 2% of the principal amoum of the Notes every 30th day °
thereafter until the failure is cured. The shelf registration statement was ﬁled on August 21, 2006 and was
declared effective in November 2006.

We evaluate the provisions of the Notes periodically to determine whether any of the provisions
would be considered embedded derivatives that would require bifurcation under Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 133, {*Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities™)

(“SFAS No, 133"). Because the shares of Common Stock underlying the Notes had not been registered for
resale at the time of issuance, they were not readily convertible to cash. Thus, the conversion option did not
meet the net settlement requirement of SFAS No. 133 and would not be-considered a derivative if
freestanding. Accordingly, the Notes did not contain an embedded conversion feature that must be
bifurcated. fa November 2006, the underlying shares of Common Stock were registered, which satisfied the
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net settlement required under SFAS No. 133. However, in accordance with FSP EITF 00-19-2, which we
adopted on October 1, 2006, contingently payable registration payment arrangements are no longer
considered part of the related financial instruments and are only recognized when payment is probable and
the amount is reasonably estimable. We evaluated the registration payment arrangement in the Notes in
accordance with SFAS No. 5 and concluded that the likelihood of having to make a registration payment
was not probable. As such, no amounts have been recorded in the financial statements with respect (o the
registration payment arrangement. We identified certain other embedded derivatives and concluded their
value was de minimis.

Since the Notes issued in December 2005 and January 2006 did not contain an embedded conversion
feature that required bifurcation, we evaluated the conversion feature to determine if it was a beneficial
conversion feature under EITF 98-5 and 00-27. The conversion price equaled the fair value of the underlying
Common Stock. As such, there was no beneficial conversion feature for those issuances. For the Notes issued
on March 1, 2006 for the payment of interest in kind, the fair market value of the underlying Common Stock
exceeded the conversion price. Accordingly, in March 2006 we recorded the intrinsic value of the beneficial
conversion feature on 256 shares in the amount of $214 as a discount to the Notes with an offsetting amount
increasing additional paid-in-capital. This beneficial conversion feature will be amortized to interest expense
over the remaining life of the Notes on our consolidated statement of operations using the effective interest
method. The amortization for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $32.

Note 7. Common Stock
Stock Split

In May 2006, our board of directors approved a 1-for-2.8 reverse stock split of our common stock,
which was effected on May 18, 2006. All share and per share amounts contained in our financial statements
have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the reverse stock split.

Initial Public Offering

On February 8, 2006, we filed a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-131659)
(“Registration Statement”) with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) relating to our IPO. The
Registration Statement was declared effective by the SEC on May 23, 2006. The managing underwriters
for our IPQ were Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., UBS Investment Bank
LLC, Bear Stearns & Co. Inc., Piper Jaffray & Co. and Thomas Weisel Partners LLC (“Underwniters”). In
May 2006, we sold 31,250 shares of common stock in our IPQ at a price to the public of $17.00 per share
for an aggregate offering price of $531,250. In connection with the offering, we paid $31,875in
underwriting discounts and commissions and incurred $8,231 of other offering expenses, which includes
$1,896 of costs incurred in 2005. After deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and the
other offering expenses, our net proceeds from the offering were $49 1,144,

Directed Share Program

In connection with our FPO, we requested that our underwriters reserve 4,219 shares for our customers
to purchase at the initial public offering price of $17.00 per share through the Vonage Customer Directed
Share Program (“DSP”). In connection with our IPO, we also entered into an Underwriting Agreement,
dated May 23, 2006, pursuant to which we agreed to indemnify the Underwriters for any losses caused by
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the failure of any participant in the DSP to pay for and accept delivery of the shares that had been allocated
to such participant in connection with our IPQ. In the weeks following the [PO, certain participants in the
DSP that had been allocated shares failed to pay for and accept delivery of such shares. As a result of this
failure and as part of the indemnification obligations, we acquired from the Underwriters or their affiliates
1,056 shares of our common stock which had an aggregate fair market value of $11,723. These shares were
recorded as treasury stock on the consolidated balance sheet using the cost method. We do not anticipate
making any further purchases of securities pursuant to our indemnification obligations under the
Underwriting Agreement. Because we are pursuing the collection of monies owed from the DSP
participants who failed to pay for their shares, we recorded a stock subscription receivabte of $6,110
representing the difference between the aggregate IPO price value of the unpaid DSP shares and the
$11,723 we paid for these shares.

In the second half of 2006, we reimbursed $6,110 of the indemnification obligation due to the
Underwriters in accordance with the Underwriting Agreement. Through December 31, 2006, we aiso
received S684 in payments from certain participants in the DSP that had been allocated shares and failed to
pay for such shares,

Common Stock Warrant

On April 17, 2002, Vonage’s principal stockholder and Chairman received a warrant to purchase 514
shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.70 per share in connection with a loan to us. This loan
was subsequently converted into Series A Preferred Stock.

Note 8. Preferred Stock
Preferred Stock

Prior to our 1PQ, our Certificate of Incorperation, as amended, authorized 43,981 shares of Preferred
Stock at $0.001 par value. The authorized shares were designated as follows: 8,000 as Series A Redeemable
Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series A Preferred Stock™), 6,067 as Series A-2 Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock (“Series A-2 Preferred Stock™), 3,750 as Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
(“Series B Preferred Stock™), 8,000 as Series C Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series C Preferred
Stock™), 8,729 as Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock (*Series D Preferred Stock™) and 9,435
as Series E Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series E Preferred Stock™).

In May 2006, upon completion of our IPO, all of our outstanding preferred stock automatically
converted into 123,069 shares of our common stock.

Subse'quent to our IPO, our Certiﬁ.cate of Incorporation, as amended, authorizes 5,000 shares of preferred
stock at $0.001 par value. We have no outstanding shares of preferred stock as of December 31, 2006.

Preferred Stock Warrant

In connection with $20,000 of notes payable from our principal stockholder and Chairman, we
included aggregate warrants to purchase $3,600 of value of Series A-2 Preferred Stock at the strike price
equal to the stock price paid by Series B Preferred Stock investors. At the time these notes payable were
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converted into Series A-2 Preferred Stock, we issued a warrant to purchase 900 shares of Series A-2
Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $4.00 per share, which equaled the fair market value at that date. In
addition, we determined the relative fair value of the warrants was $1,557 using the Black-Scholes
valuation method. This amount was recorded in 2003 as debt conversion expense and as an increase to
Series A-2 Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant. Upon completion of our IPO, the warrants to
purchase Series A-2 Preferred Stock automatically converted into warrants to purchase common stock and
are included on our balance sheet under additional paid-in capital.

Note 9. Employee Benefit Plans
Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS 123(R), which requires recognition of compensation expense
for all stock-based awards made to employees in our consolidated financial statements. Prior to the
adoption of SFAS 123(R), we accounted for stock-based awards to employees and directors using the
intrinsic value method in accordance with APB 25 as allowed under SFAS 123. Under the intrinsic value
method, no stock-based compensation expense for employee stock options had been recognized in our
results of operations in prior periods, unless the exercise price of the stock options granted to employees
and directors was less than the fair market value of the underlying stock at the date of grant. In accordance
with the modified prospective transition method that we used in adopting SFAS 123(R), our consolidated
financial statements prior to fiscal year 2006 have not been restated to reflect, and do net include, the
possible impact of SFAS 123(R).

Beginning January 1, 2006, we estimated the volatility of our stock using historical volatility of
comparable public companies in accordance with guidance in SFAS 123(R) and Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 107 (“SAB 1077). We will continue to use the volatility of comparable companies until historical
volatility is relevant to measure expected volatility for future option grants. The expected volatilities of
comparable public companies used for 2006 were between 31.35%—71.22%. Prior to the adoption of FAS
123(R), we used 0% expected volatility while we were a private company.

The risk-free interest rate assumption is based upon observed interest rates appropriate for the term of
our employee stock options. The expected term of employee stock options represents the weighted-average
period that the stock options are expected to remain outstanding, which we derive based on our historical
settlernent experience,

As stock-based compensaticn expense recognized in our results is based on awards ultimately
expected to vest, the amount has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. SFAS 123(R) requires forfeitures
to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures
differ from those estimates. Forfeitures were estimated based on our historical experience. Prior to
January 1, 2006, we also used historical experience to estimate forfeitures for the purposes of our pro
forma information under SFAS 123, '

2001 Stock Incentive Plan

In February 2001, we adopted the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, which is an amendment and restatement
of the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan of MIN-X.COM, INC. The 2001 Stock Incentive Plan provides for the
granting of options or restricted stock awards to our officers, directors and employees. The objectives of
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the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan include attracting and retaining personnel, providing for additional
performance incentives, and promoting our success by providing employees the opportunity to acquire
stock. During 2003, the number of shares authorized for issuance pursuant to options or restricted stock
awards was increased from 7,503 to 28,286. At December 31, 2006, 6,241 shares were subject to
exercisable options or restricted stock awards under the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan. In management’s
opinion, all stock options were granted with an exercise price at or above the fair market value of our
common stock at the date of grant with the exception of a grant in 2005 for 125 shares. Initially, we
recorded deferred compensation in 2005 related to this option: grant. On January 1, 2006, we reversed the
remaining deferred compensation balance in accordance with SFAS 123(R}. Stock options generaily vest
over a four-year period and expire ten years after the grant date.

Stock option activity was as follows:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining : Weighted
Range of Average Contractual Agpregate Average
Number Exercise Exercise  Term in Intrinsic  Grant Date
{Shares and Intrinsic Value in Thousands) of Shares Prices . Price Years Value  Fair Value
Awards outstanding at December 31,
2003 L. 1,801 $0.70-%3500 § 1.34
Granted .. ...t 4,282 $1.76-% 420 § 2.07
Exercised ....................... (10)
Canceled ........................ (276) .
Awards outstanding at December 31,
2004 ... 5,887 $0.70-8%35.00 § 1.85
Granted ..........civiiennnn.. 8,331 §742-%1422 $ 8.74
Exercised ....................... (37)
Canceled ............c. i it (809)
Awards outstanding at December 31,
2005 ... 13,372 30.70-$35.00 % 5388
Granted . ......ot e 4,501 %6.76-$18.00 $14.60 $ 5 $9.33
Exercised ........... ... ... ..... {332y $0.70-% 742 $ 1.30 $ 2480 $0.37
Canceled .......... e {1,560) $0.70-%$3500 $ 894 $ 1,607 $4.09
Awards outstanding at December 31, .
2006 ... 15,981 $0.70-$35.00 % 8.12 8.1 $25,327 $3.79
Shares exercisable at December 31, - ' ) :
2006 ....... ety 6,241 $0.70-$35.00 $ 565 74 $17.173  $2.23
Unvested shares at December 31, ' '
2005 . ... 10,207 ' $ 675 $76,443  $2.10
Unvested shares at December 31, ' -

2006 ... 9,740 $0.70- $18.00 $ 9.71 8.5 $ 8,153 $4.79

At December 31, 2006, 11,924 options were available for future grant under the 2001 Stock Incentive
Plan. However, upon the closing of our {PO, our board of directors limited the total amount of stock
options and other equity-based awards that may be granted to 2,000 shares of which 1,558 shares are
currently available.
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The weighted average grant date fair value of opticns granted for the year ended December 31, 2006
was $9.33. The total intrinsic value of options exercised for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $2,480.
The total fair value of options that vested for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $11,330.

Total stock option compensation expense recognized for the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan for the year - -
ended December 31, 2006 was $25,099. As of December 31, 2006, total unamortized stock-based
compensation under the 2001 stock incentive plan was $22,514, which is expected to be amortized over the
remaining vesting period of each grant, up to the next 48 months. Compensation costs for all stock-based
awards are recognized using the ratable single-option approach on an accrual basis.

2006 Incentive Plan

In May 2006 we adopted the 2006 Incentive Plan. The 2006 Incentive Plan permits the grant of stock
options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance stock, performance
units, annual awards and other awards based on, or related to, shares of our common stock. Options
awarded under our 2006 Incentive Plan may be nonstatutory stock options or may qualify as incentive
stock options under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Our 2006 Incentive
Plan contains various limits with respect to the types of awards, as follows:

+ 3 maximum of 20,000 shares may be issued under the plan pursuant to incentive stock options;

« amaximum of 10,000 shares may be issued pursuant to options and stock appreciation rights
granted to any participant in a calendar year;

+ amaximum of $5,000 may be paid pursuant to annual awards granted to any participant in a
calendar year; and .

+ amaximum of $10,000 may be paid (in the case of awards denominated in cash) and a maximum
of 10,000 shares may be issued (in the case of awards denominated in shares) pursuant to awards,
other than options, stock appreciation rights or annual awards, granted to any participant in a
calendar year.

The maximum number of shares of our common stock that are authorized for issuance under our 2006
Incentive Plan will be determined under a formula set forth in the plan, and will equal approximately
17.65% of the number of shares that are issued and outstanding from time to time, less the number of
shares that are available for issuance under our 2001 Stock Incentive Plan. Following termination of our
2001 Stock Incentive Plan, the number of remaining shares available for issuance under our 2001 Stock
Incentive Plan, or that becomes available for issuance upon expiration or cancellation, without payment or
settlement, of awards under our 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, also will become available for issuance under
our 2006 Incentive Plan. Shares issued under the plan may be authorized and unissued shares or may be
issued shares that we have reacquired. Shares covered by awards that are forfeited, cancelled or otherwise
expire without having been exercised or settled, or that are settled by cash or other non-share consideration,
will become available for issuance pursnant to a new award. Shares that are tendered or withheld to pay the
exercise price of an award or to satisfy tax withholding obligations will not be available for issuance
pursuant to new awards. At December 31, 2006, 15,439 shares were available for future grant under the
2006 Stock Incentive Plan,
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Stock option activity was as follows:

Weighted -
Average
‘ Weighted Remaining Weighted
Average Contractual© Aggregate Average
(Shares and Intrinsic Value in Number Range of Exercise Term in Intrinsic ~ Grant Date
Thousands) of Shares ‘ Exercise Prices Price Years Value Fair Value
Awards outstanding at
December 31,2005.......... — '
Granted ..................... 1,060 $6.50-$8.90 $7.08 $143 $4.36
Exercised ................... —_
Canceled .................... (37) 3$6.50-%8.90 $7.37 $ 2 $4.62
Awards outstanding at
December 31,2006 . ......... 1,023 $6.50-%8.90 $7.07 9.8 $141 $4.35
Shares exercisable at ) \
December 31,2006 .......... 7  $8.51-%8.51 $8.51 9.7 5— $5.43
Unvested shares at December 31,
2005 ... —
Unvested shares at December 31,

2006 ... 1,016  $6.50-$8.90  §7.06 9.8 $141 $4.35

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the year ended December 31,
2006 was $4.36. Compensation costs for all stock-based awards are recognized using the ratable single-
option approach on an accrual basis.

Restricted stock and restricted stock unit activity was as follows:

Weighted
Average Apgregate
Number Grant Date Intrinsic

(Shares in Thousands) of Shares  Fair Value Value
Awards outstanding at December 31,2005 . ... ................. ..., — ‘
Granted . ... e 1,986 $6.50 $13,783
EXErCised . ..ottt e e (D $8.51 $ 49
Canceled ... ... e e (67 $6.49 $ 464
Awards outstanding at December 31,20006................... ... 1,912 $6.49 513,267

The weighted average grant date fair value of restricted stock and restricted stock units granted during
the year ended December 31, 2006 was $6.50. Compensation costs for all stock-based awards are
recognized using the ratable single-option approach on an accrual basis.

Total compensation expense recognized under the 2006 Incentive Plan for the year ended
December 31, 2006 was $1,881. As of December 31, 2006, total unamortized stock-based compensation
under the 2006 Incentive Plan was $11,045, which is expected to be amortized over the remaining vesting
period of each grant, up to the next 48 months.
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Retirement Plan

In March 2001, we established a 401(k) Retirement Plan (the “Retirement Plan™} available to
employees who meet the plan’s eligibility requirements. Participants may elect to contribute a percentage
of their compensation to the Retirement Plan up to a statutory limit. We may make a contribution to the
Retirement Plan in the form of a matching contribution. The employer matching contribution was 100% of
each employee’s contributions in each year, not to exceed $6 in 2004 and 2003, and was changed to 50% of
each employee’s contributions not to exceed $6 in 2006. Our expense related to the Retirement Plan was
$1,549, $709 and $270 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Note 10. Commitments and Contingencies
Capital Leases

Assets financed under capital lease agreements are included in property and equipment in the
consolidated balance sheet and related depreciation and amortization expense is included in the
consolidated statements of operations.

On March 24, 2005, we entered into a lease for our headquarters in Holmdel, New Jersey. We took
possession of a portton of the office space at the inception of the lease, another portion on August 1, 2005
and took over the remainder of the office space in early 2006. The overall lease term is twelve (12) years
and five (5) months. In connection with the lease, we issued a letter of credit which requires $7,000 of cash
as collateral, which is classified as restricted cash. The gross amount of the building recorded under capital
leases totaled $25,709 as of December 31, 2006 and accumulated depreciation was approximately $2,258
as of December 31, 2006.

On November 5, 2005, we entered into a lease for office equipment for a lease term of two (2) years.
The gross amount of the equipment recorded under this lease was $371 and accumulated depreciation was
%201 at December 31, 2006.

Operating Leases

We have entered into various non-cancelable operating lease agreements for certain of our existing
office and telecommunications co-location space in the U.S. and for international subsidiaries with original
lease periods expiring between 2007 and 2011. We are committed to pay a portion of the buildings’
operating expenses as determined under the agreements.
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At December 31, 2006, future payments under capital leases and minimum payments under

non-cancelable operating leases are as follows over each of the next five years and thereafter:

December 31, 2006
Capital Operating

Leases Leases
2007 ..., U $ 3988  $2,853
2008 . e 3,383 2,623
2000 L 3,960 1,282
2000 . e e e 4,038 . 475
. 0 1 AP 4,118 112
Thereafter ...............: e e e et 24,926 _
Total minimum payments required .............................. 44913 $7,345
Less amounts representing interest .. ........ ... viirreearnn. (20,658)
Minimum future payments of principal ................ ... ... ... 24,255
CUITeNt POTTION . L.\ttt e e ot e ettt e s e e e et enns 1,020
Long-termportion ............ooiiiiiiiiiennannna ..., feeeean $ 23,235

Rent expense was $687, $1,698 and $1,282 for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Stand-by Letters of Credit

We have stand-by letters of credit totaling $7,549 and $7,210, as of December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively,

End-User Commitments

We are obligated to provide telephone services to our registered end-users. The costs related to the
potential utilization of minutes sold are expensed as incurred. Qur obligation to provide this service is
dependent or: the proper functioning of systems controlled by third-party service providers. We do not have
a contractual service relationship with some of these providers, -

Vendor Commitments

We have an oral agreement in place with our advertising agency for 2007 which requires a payment of
$500 per month. This arrangement can be terminated by either party upon at least ninety (90) days’ prior
written notice to the other party.

We have engaged several vendors to assist with local number portability, which allows customers to
keep their existing phone number when switching to our service. We have committed to pay these vendors
a minimum of $4,620 in 2007, $3,020 in 2008 and $2,220 in 2009.

We have engaged several vendors to assist with provision of E-911 services. We have committed to
pay these vendors up to $11,400 in 2007 and $11,500 in 2008.
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We have engaged a vendor to assist with inbound sales inquiries. We have committed to pay this
vendor $3,296 between January 1 and April 9, 2007, subject to adjustments. After April 9; 2007,:this
arrangement will not be renewed.

We are commitied to purchasing a minimum number of communication devices to maintain our
current pricing structure. If we fail to meet these minimum purchase levels, the purchase price of these
devices will be increased. Historically, we have met these criteria to maintain the current pricing structure.

We have engaged a vendor to assist us with our customer care and inbound sales calls and have -
committed to pay this vendor a totai of $1,500 in 2007 for software configuration and installation
services. This agreement will remain in effect for three years and after the first twelve months that the
agreement has been in effect we have the ability to terminate the agreement for any reason with suxty days
prior written notice, subject to a termination fee.

We are committed to provide sponsorship for an auto racing team in the Indy Racmg League. We
have committed to pay a minimum of $4,500 in 2007 for this sponsorship.

We have entered into an agreement with a retailer for newspaper insert advertisements, .p'roduct
placement and other marketing-related initiatives. We are committed to pay this retailer $2,000 in 2007.

We have agreements with several vendors for the purchase ¢ of related media and sponsorship of certain
sporting events with an estimated cost of $19,804 in 2007 and $6 186 in 2008.

Litigation

IPeria, Inc. On October 10, 2003, we terminated our contract with IPeria, Inc., our former voicemail
vendor. Under the terms of the contract, we were permitted to terminate the contract for any reason. On
April 12, 2004, IPeria filed a complaint against Vonage in the Superior Court for the County of Suffolk,
Massachusetts. [Peria asserted a number of different claims, including breach of contract, copyright
infringement, breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, negligent misrepresentations, fraud
and unfair and deceptive trade practices. In support of these claims, IPeria essentially alleges that it
provided voicemail services to Vonage consistent with the terms of the contract and that Vonage failed to
pay for those services in violation of the contract. The complaint sought payment of $619 plus accrued
interest that IPeria asserts it is owed on the contract and treble damages. On February 11, 2007 the parties
signed a settlement agreement pursuant to which Vonage agreed to pay IPeria $865 in return for a
dismissal of the lawsuit and a release of all claims, which was fully reserved in our December 31, 2006
financial statements. : : ’

Joshua B. Tanzer. On October 18, 2005, Joshua B. Tanzer commenced a suit against Vonage in the
United States District Court for the Southern District of New York seeking damages of approximately
$14,240 and has subsequently sent us a leter increasing his claim to $26,750. Mr. Tanzer claims that
damages are due with respect to our sale of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock and Series E Convertible
Preferred Stock and convertible notes pursuant to the terms of an engagement letter governing services
performed by Nanes Delorme Capital Management for Vonage. We believe that our obligations with
respect to Mr. Tanzer and Nanes Delorme were completely performed at the conclusion of the Series C
Convertible Preferred Stock offering. On December 8, 2006, Vonage and Nanes entered into a settlement
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agreement pursuant to which Vonage agreed to pay Nanes $25 in return for a full release of all claims by
Nanes. However, Vonage intends to vigorously defend Tanzer’s claims and is prepared to file a summary
judgment moticn dismissing Tanzer’s complaint as soon as it 1s granted permission by the Court to do so,
Vonage also believes that an unfavorable outcome would not have a material adverse effect on our resulis
of operations and cash flows in the period in which the matter is resolved. Based upon early settiement
discussions, we have recorded a reserve to cover the potential exposure relating to this litigation, which
reserve was not material to our financial statements.

State Atrorney General Proceedings. Several state attorneys general have initiated investigations and,
in two states, have commenced litigation concerning our marketing disclosures and advertising. We
cooperated with these investigations and on December 14, 2006 entered into agreements to settle the
litigation with the state attommey general of Texas, and the investigations being conducted by the state
attommeys general of Florida, [linois, Massachusetts, Michigan and North Carolina. With respect to our
settlements, we have recorded a reserve to cover the exposure relating to these investigations, which was
not material to our December 31, 2006 financial statements.

*  On May 3, 2005, the Office of the Attorney General for the State of Connecticut filed a
complaint against us, alleging that our advertising and provision of emergency calling service
violated the Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act and certain state regulations. We answered
the complaint on July 7, 2005 and denied its allegations. We have undertaken settlement
discussions with the Connecticut Attorney General and have voluntarily provided information
requested during the course of those discussions, If these discussicons are not successful, we
intend to vigorously defend against the lawsuit.

= On March 7, 2006, the Attorney General of Missouri issued a civil investigative demand for
documents related to our emergency calling service. We responded to the civil investigative
demand on April 3, 2006. The Missouri Attorney General has not filed a complaint against us or
laken other formal action.

*  We received a subpoena dated June 29, 2006 from the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Office of
Attorney General, Bureau of Consumer Protection seeking a wide variety of documents. The
Attorney General’s office has since agreed to narrow the scope of documents it seeks to certain
materials relating to advertising to, and subscriptions by, Pennsylvania consumers, and the
training and general form of compensation paid to personnel that market and provides customer
care functions for our service. We made a rolling production of responsive materials, which was
completed in 2006. '

Federal Trade Commission Investigation. On August 31, 2005, the Federal Trade Commission, or
FTC, issued a Civil Investigative Demand to us which requested information regarding our 911 service and
complaints or notices pertaining to that service, our residential unlimited calling plan and our compliance
and our telemarketing vendors’ compliance with the FTC’s Telemarketing Sales Rule including, but not
limited to, the requirement to refrain from telemarketing to persons who appear on the National Do Not
Call Registry. No formal action has been filed against Vonage at this time. We are unable at this time to
predict the outcome of the FTC’s investigation, whether a formal action will be filed against Vonage, to
assess the likelthood of a favorable or unfavorable outcome in that event, or to estimate the amount of
liability in the event of an unfavorable outcome.
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Patent Litigation.

e Sprint. On October 12, 2005, a lawsuit was filed against us by Sprint Communications Company
L.P. in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas. Sprint alleges that we have
infringed seven patents in connection with providing VolP services. Sprint seeks injunctive
relief, compensatory and treble damages and attorney’s fees in unspecificd amounts. In our
answer filed on November 3, 2005, we have denied Sprint’s allegations and have counterclaimed
for a declaration of non-infringement, invalidity and unenforceability of the patents. We believe
that we have meritorious defenses against the claims asserted by Sprint and intend to vigorously
defend the lawsuit. This matter is currently in the discovery stage and a trial may begin by the
end of 2007. ' '

e Rates Technology. On October 6, 2005, a lawsuit was filed against us by Rates Technology Inc.
in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York, Rates alleged that we
infringed two patents in connection with the least cost routing of telephone calls over the public
switched telephone network. Rates sought injunctive relief, attorney’s fees, compensatory
damages in excess of one billion dollars and a trebling thereof. On March 9, 2007, Rates
dismissed the lawsuit without prejudice.

«  Verizon. On June 12, 2006, a lawsuit was filed against us and our subsidiary Vonage America
Inc., by Verizon Services Corp., Verizon Laboratories Inc., and Verizon Communications, Inc. in
the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia. Verizon alleged that we
infringed seven patents in connection with providing VoIP services and sought injunctive relief,
compensatory and treble damages and attorney’s fees. Verizon dismissed its claims with respect
to two of the patents prior to trial, which commenced on February 21, 2007. After trial on the
merits, a jury returned a verdict finding that Vonage infringed three of the patents-in-suit. The
jury rejected Verizon's claim for willful infringement, treble damages, and attorney’s fees, and
awarded compensatory damages in the amount of $58,000. The trial court subsequently indicated
that it would award Verizon $1,578 in prejudgment interest on the $58,000 jury award. Vonage
filed post-trial motions challenging the jury’s verdict and related rulings, which were denied by
the trial court, The trial court issued a permanent injunction with respect to the three patents the
jury found to be infringed effective April 12, 2007. The trial court permitted Vonage to continue
to service existing customers pending appeal, subject to deposit into escrow of a 5.5% royalty on
a quarterly basis. The trial court ajso ordered that we may not service new customers using our
technology that was found to be infringing pending appeal. In addition, we posted a cash-
collateralized $66,000 bond to stay execution of the monetary judgment pending appeal.

On April 6, 2007, Vonage filed an amended notice of appeal with the United States Court of
Appeats for the Federal Circuit, which issued a temporary stay of the injunction. The temporary
stay will remain in effect until the appellate court rules on whether to grant a stay for the duration
of the appeal. The Court has set a briefing schedule and ordered the parties to appear for oral
argument on Vonage's request for a stay pending appeal on April 24, 2007. We will continue to
vigorously defend against Verizon’s claims, which we believe are without merit.

We have recorded $51,345 as cost of telephony services and $1,170 as pre-judgment interest
expense in our consolidated financial statements. The remaining amounts will be recorded in
2007.

F-32




VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
(In thonsands, except per share amounts)

*  Klausner Technologies. On July 10, 2006, a lawsuit was filed against us and Vonage America by
Klausner Technologies, Inc., or Klausner, in the United States District Court for the Eastern
District of Texas. Klausner alleges that we have infringed one of its patents with voice mail
technology. Klausner seeks injunctive relief, compensatory and treble damages and attorney’s
fees. In our answer filed on September 14, 2006, we denied Klausner’s allegations and have
counterclaimed for a declaration of non-infringement, invalidity and unenforceability of the
patent. We believe that we have meritorious defenses against the claims asserted by Klausner,
and intend to vigorously defend the lawsuit.

With respect to the patent litigation identified above, we believe that we have meritorious defenses
against the claims. However, we might not ultimately prevail in these actions. Whether or not we
ultimately prevail, litigation could be time-consuming and costly and injure our reputation. If any of the
plaintiffs prevail in their respective actions, we may be required to negotiate royaliy or license agreements
with respect to the patents at issue, and may not be able to enter into such agreements on acceptable terms,
if at all. Any limitation on our ability to provide a service or product could cause us to lose revenue-
generating opportunities and require us to incur additional expenses. These potential costs and expenses, as
well as the need to pay additional damages awarded in the favor of the plaintiffs could materially adversely
affect our business. ’

IPQ Litigations. During June 2006 and July 2006, Vonage, several of our officers and directors, and
the firms who served as the underwriters in our initial public offering, or IPO, were named as defendants in
several similar purported class action Jawsuits. The cases were filed in the United States District Court for
the District of New Jersey, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, the
Supreme Court of the State of New York, which was subsequently removed to the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of New York, and the Superior Court of New Jersey, which was subsequently
removed to the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey.,

The complaints assert claims under the federal securities laws on behalf of a professed class consisting
of all those who were allegedly damaged as a result of acquiring our commuon stock in connection with our
IPO. The complaints allege, among other things, that we omitted and/or misstated certain facts concerning
the IPO’s Customer Directed Share Program. Some complaints also allege the [PO prospectus contained
misrepresentations or omissions concerning certain of our products and/or the prior experience of some of
our management, One complaint (Inouye v. Vonage Holdings Corp. et al. ), which was filed in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of New York and subsequently voluntarily dismissed,
included an allegation of open market securities fraud during a purported class period of May 24, 2006 to
June 19, 2006 in addition to claims arising out of the IPO. On January 9, 2007, the Judicial Panel on
Multidistrict Litigation transferred all remaining complaints to the District of New Jersey and we expect a
consolidated complaint to be filed at some time in the future, ‘

On July 14, 2006, Vonage and the firms who served as the underwriters in our IPO were named as
defendants in a separate lawsuit filed in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey'(
Norsworthy v. Vonage Holdings Corp. et al.}. This purported class action lawsuit asserts state Jaw breach
of contract and negligence claims relating to the alleged inability of participants’ in our Customer Directed
Share Program to trade their shares after the IPO. On March 16, 2007, an Order was entered voluntarily
dismissing the case without prejudice. '
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Although we believe that we and the individual defendants have meritorious defenses to the claims
made in each of the aforementioned complaints and intend to contest each lawsuit vigorously, an adverse
resotution of any of the lawsuits may have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of
operations in the period in which the lawsuits are resolved. We are not presently able to reasonably
estimate potential losses, if any, related to the lawsuits.

We also are involved in certain other threatened and pending legal proceedings, including several
class actions asserting claims as relating to our marketing, business practices, and quality of service. From
time to time, we receive subpoenas or civil investigative demands from governmental agencies for
information that may be pertinent to their confidential investigations. Although the results of litigation
claims and investigations cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that the final outcome of such
matters will not have a material adverse effect on our business. Regardless of outcome, litigation can have
an adverse impact on us because of defense costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

Regulation

Telephony services are subject to a broad spectrum of state and federal regulations. Because of the
uncertainty over whether VolP should be treated as a telecommunications or information service, we have
been involved in a substantial amount of state and federal regulatory activity. However, implementation
and interpretation of the existing laws and regulations is ongoing and is subject to litigation by various
federal and state agencies and courts. Due to the nature of the technology in use, there is no guarantee that
regulation or new interpretations of existing regulations will not emerge at any time.

On June 3, 2005, the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC") released its VoIP E-911 order
(the “Order™). Pursuant to the Order, we were required (i) to notify our customers of the differences
between the emergency services available through us and those available through traditional telephony
providers and to receive affirmative acknowledgment from all of our customers that they understand the
nature of the emergency services available through our service and (ii) to provide E-911 services to 100%
of our subscribers by November 28, 2005. We have received affirmative acknowledgment from
substantially all of our customers that they understand our emergency services and therefore we are
substantially in compliance with the first aspect of the Order. We have also taken steps to comply with the
enhanced emergency services rules, but were unable to comply with all of the requirements of the Order by
the November 28, 2005 deadline. Consequently, we are not currently in full compliance and do not expect
to be in full compliance in the short term unless we are granted a waiver of the requirements by the FCC.
On November 28, 2005, we filed a petition for extension of time and limited waiver of centain of the
enhanced emergency service requirements. To the extent the waiver is necessary and not granted, we would
be at risk of an enforcement action including fines, penalties and/or an order to cease and desist selling and
marketing our services in certain areas where E-911 service is unavailable. '

On August 5, 2005, the FCC released an Order extending the obligations of Communications
Assistance for Law Enforcement Act (“CALEA™) to interconnected VolP providers. Under CALEA,
telecommunications carriers must assist law enforcement in executing electronic surveillance, which
include the capability of providing call content and call-identifying information to a local enforcement
agency, or LEA, pursuant to a court order or other lawful authorization.
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The FCC in a subsequemt Order released on May 12, 2006 required all interconnected VoIP providers to
become fully CALEA compliant by May 14, 2007. The FCC allowed VolP providers to comply with CALEA
through the use of a solution provided by a trusted third party, or TTP, with the ability to extract call content
and call-identifying information from a VolIP provider’s network. While the FCC permits carriers to use the
services provided by TTPs to become CALEA compliant by the deadline, the carrier remains ultimately
responsible for ensuring the timely delivery of calt content-and call-identifying information to law
enforcement, and for protecting subscriber privacy, as required by CALEA, We selected a TTP to provide a
solution for CALEA compliant lawful interception of communications by May 14, 2007.

To date, we have taken significant steps towards CALEA compliance, which include testing the
CALEA solution with the FBI. However, recent issues with testing may affect our compliance with the
CALEA requirements by the May 14, 2007 deadline. We are actively working through these issues and
expect resolution prior to May 14, 2007, but in the interim, we are pursuing alternative solutions that will
allow LEAs access to call content and call-identifying information by the deadline. We have also advised
the FCC of our CALEA progress and our efforts at implementing alternative solutions if deemed necessary.
While unlikely, we could be subject to an enforcement action by the FCC if our CALEA solution is not
fully operational by May 14, 2007 and our alternative solutions are proven ineffective.

Customer Proprietary Network lnl‘ormatiqn (CPNI) .

On April 2, 2007, the FCC released its Order extending the application of the cusiomer proprietary
network information (“CPNI”) rules 10 interconnected VolP providers. VolP providers have six months
from the effective date of the Order to implement all the CPNI rules.

CPNl inctudes information such as the phone numbers called by a consumer; the frequency, duration,
and timing of such calls; and any services/features purchased by the consumer, such as call waiting, call
forwarding, and caller 1D, in addition to other information that may appear on a consumer’s bill.

Under the FCC’s existing rules, carriers may not use CPNI without customer approval except in
narrow circumstances related to their provision of existing services, and must comply with detailed
customer approval processes when using CPNI ocutside of these narrow circumstances, The new CPNI
requirements are aimed at establishing more stringent security measures for access to a customer’s CPNI
data in the form of enhanced passwords for on-line access and call-in access to accoum information as well
as customer notification of account or password changes.

At the present time we do not utilize our custorner’s CPNI in a manner which would require us to
obtain consent from our customers, but in the event that we do in the future, we will be required to adhere
to specific CPNI rules aimed at marketing such services. Within the next six months we will be required 1o
implement internal processes in order to be compliant with all the CPNI rules. We have engaged all the
impacted business units and compliance is expected by the deadline.

State and Municip(lil Taxes

We did not collect or remit state or municipal taxes (such as sales, excise, and ad valorem taxes), fees
or surcharges (*“Taxes™) on the charges to our customers for our services, except that we have historically
complied with the New Jersey sales tax. We have received inquiries or demands from a number of state
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and municipal taxing and 911 agencies seeking payment of Taxes that are applied to or collected from
customers of providers of traditional public switched telephone network services. Although we have
consistently maintained that these Taxes do not apply to our service for a variety of reasons depending on
the statute or rule that establishes such obligations, a number of states have changed their statutes as part of
the streamlined sales tax initiatives and we are now collecting and remitting sales taxes in those states. In
addition, a few states address how VoIP providers should contribute to support public safety agencies, and
in those states we began to remit fees to the appropriate state agencies. We have also contacted authorities
in each of the other states to discuss how we can financially contribute to the 911 system. We do not know
how all these discussions will be resolved, but there is a possibility that we will be required to pay or
collect and remit some or al! of these Taxes in the future. Additionally, some of these Taxes could apply to
us retroactively. As such, we have recorded a U. S. tax reserve of $7,820 at December 31, 2006 as our best
estimate of the potential tax exposure for any retroactive assessment. We believe the maximum estimated
exposure for retroactive assessments is $18,742 as of December 31, 2006.

Universal Service Fund

In late June 2006, the FCC released an Order requiring interconnected VolP service providers to
contribute to the USF. This Order requires that we contribute to the Federal USF based on the interim safe
harbor of 64.9%. We have also filed an appeal to the FCC with respect to this Order with the District of
Columbia Circuit Court of Appeals claiming that the FCC’s safe harbor for VoIP providers was
discriminatory. We began recouping our contributions through a customer surcharge on October 1, 2006.

State Attorney General Proceedings

Several state attorneys general have initiated investigations and, in two states, have commenced
litigation concerning our marketing disclosures and advertising. We are cooperating with those
investigations and are pursuing joint settlement negotiations with the attorneys general of Florida, [llinois,
Massachusetts, Texas, Michigan and North Carolina and separate negotiations with the attorney general of
Connecticut. While these complaints seek awards of damages and penalties, no particular amounts have
been specified at this time. In July 2006 we reached an agreement in principle to settle the litigation with
the state attorney general of Texas, and the investigations being conducted by the state attorneys general of
Florida, [llinois, Massachusetts, Michigan and North Carolina. This agreement in principle is subject to
finalizing the documentation memorializing the settlement and executing such settlement
documentation. With respect to our joint settlement negotiations, we have recorded a reserve to cover the
potential exposure relating to these investigations, which was not material to our December 31, 2006
financial statemeats. In January 2007, we completed settlement payments refated to this matter.

+  On May 3, 2005, the Office of the Attorney General for the State of Connecticut filed a
complaint against us, alleging that our advertising and provision of emergency calling service
violated the Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act and certain state regulations. We answered
the complaint on July 7, 2005 and denied its allegations. We have undertaken settlement
discussions with the Connecticut Attorney General and have voluntarily provided information
requested during the course of those discussions. If these discussions are not successful, we
intend to vigorously defend against the lawsuit.
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» On March 7, 2006, the Attorney General of Missouri issued a civil investigative demand for
documents related to our emergency calling service. We responded to the civil investigalive
demand on April 3, 2006. The Missouri Attorney General has not filed a complaint against us or
taken other formal action,

* We received a subpoena dated June 29, 2006 from the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Office of
Attorney General, Bureau of Consumer Protection seeking a wide variety of documents. The
Attorney General’s office has since agreed to narrow the scope of documents it seeks to certain
materials relating to advertising to, and subscriptions by, Pennsylvania consumers, and the
training and general form of compensation paid to personnel that market and provides customer
care functions for our service. We are making a rolling production of responsive materials, and
we made our first production on July 27, 2006, B

Federal Trade Commission Investigation

On August 31, 2005, the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, issued a Civil Investigative Demand to us
which requested information regarding our 911 service and complaints or notices pertaining to that service,
our residential unlimited calling plan and our compliance and our telemarketing vendors’ compliance with the
FTC’s Telemarketing Sales Rule including, but not limited to, the requirement to refrain from telemarketing
to persons who appear on the National Do Not Call Registry. No formal action has been filed against Vonage
at this time. We are unable at this time to predict the outcome of the FTC’s investigation, whether a formal
action will be filed against Vonage, to assess the likelihood of a favorable or unfavorable outcome in that -
event, of Lo estimate the amount of liability in the event of an unfavorable cutcome. ‘

1

Employment Agreements
Chairman and Chief Strategist

Effective February 8, 2006, we entered into a new employment agreement with our principal
stockholder providing for employment as the Chairman of cur Board of Directors and Chief Strategist
through December 31, 2008. The term will automatically renew for additional one-year periods, unless
either party gives notice at least 90 days prior to the end of the then-current term. Under the employment
agreement, the Chairman and Chief Strategist is entitled to receive an annual base salary, subject to review
by our Compensation Committee. The Chairman and Chief Strategist also is eligible to receive an annual
discretionary performance-based bonus in accordance with our annual bonus program for sentor executives
with a target annnal bonus equal to 100% of the Chairman and Chief Strategist’s annual base salary. Under
this agreement, we also will provide the Chairman and Chief Strategist with, and pay the cost of premium
payments on, a term life insurance policy that provides for a death benefit of at least $1,500. The .
agreement also provides that, with respect to reasonable business-related airline expenses, the Chairman
and Chief Strategist will be eligible for air travel reimbursement based on the cost of a first-class ticket on
a commercial airline to and from the applicable business destinations and that any additional business-
related airline expenses incurred, directly or indirectly, by the Chairman and Chief Strategist with respect
to other employees shall be paid in accordance with our travel policy.

During the term of this employment agreement, if we terminate the Chairman and Chief Strategist’s
employment without cause or due to the Chairman and Chief Strategist becoming disabled or he resigns
with good reason and, in each case, the Chairman and Chief Strategist provides us with a general release of
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claims, the Chairman and Chief Strategist wiil be entitled to an amount equal to two times the sum of the
Chairman and Chief Strategist’s annual base salary in effect on the termination date, two times the annual
bonus for the prior year, the pro rata portion of the Chairman and Chief Strategist’s bonus in the year the
termination occurs and the cost of group health continuation coverage for a period of 18 months. Also,
upon termination, 100% of the Chairman and Chief Strategist’s unvested stock incentive awards will vest
and will be exercisable for a twelve-month period. If the Chairman and Chief Strategist’s employment is
terminated by reason of death or disability, the his estate will be entitled to (i) an amount equal to the
Chairman and Chief Strategist’s prior year bonus plus the pro rata portion of the Chairman and Chief
Strategist’s bonus in the year of termination, (ii) twelve months of the Chairman and Chief Strategist’s
annual salary plus the pro rata portion of the Chairman and Chief Strategist’s annual salary in the year of
termination, (iii) the cost of group health continuation coverage for a period of 18 months after termination,
and (iv) 100% of the Chairman and Chief Strategist’s unvested stock incentive awards will vest and will be
exercisable for a twelve-month period after termination.

Under the terms of the Chairman and Chief Strategist’s employment agreement, the Chairman and
Chief Strategist has agreed not to disclose any confidential information concerning our business. In
addition, the Chairman and Chief Strategist has agreed not to solicit or to interfere with our relationship
with any of our employees, officers or representatives or to solicit any of its customers, clients, suppliers,
licensees or other business relations until three years following termination of his employment.
Furthermore, the Chairman and Chief Strategist has also entered into a non-competition agreement
pursuant to which the Chairman and Chief Strategist has agreed not to engage in, become interested in,
enter into employment with or provide services to any business (or any person, firm or corporation engaged
in any business) that directly competes with our business until three years following termination of the
Chairman and Chief Strategist’s employment.

Chief Executive Officer

Effective February 8, 2006, we entered into an agreement with our new Chief Executive Officer
(“CEO") providing for employment as CEO on February 27, 2006, for an initial term of two years. The
term will automatically renew for additional one-year periods, unless either party gives notice at least
90 days prior to the end of the then-current term. In the event of a change in control, the term will also be
automatically extended until the first anniversary of the change of control. The CEOQ reports to the Board
and has responsibility for the day-to-day management and operation of our business, including the
supervision of our finance, legal and human resource functions and the business activities of our principal
operating units in the United States, United Kingdom and Canada. Under the employment agreement, the
CEO is entitled to receive an annual base salary subject to review by our compensation committee. The
CEO also is eligible to receive an annual discretionary performance-based bonus in accordance with our
annual bonus program for serior executives. ' ’

On February 27, 2006, the CEO was granted a sign-on bonus in the form of options to acquire 8§93
shares of our common stock at a price per share equal to the then fair market value-of a share of our
common stock.

During the term of the employment agreement, if we terminate the CEO’s employment without cause
or resigns with good reason and, in each case, the CEO provides us with a general release of claims, the
CEO will be entitled to a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination and an amount equal to two
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times his base salary. If the CEQ’s employment is terminated by reason of death or disability, the CEO will
be entitled to a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination and an amount equal to the CEO’s base
salary for ene year (reduced by the net amount of any disability benefits received under our group
disability policy). In the event of a change in control, the CEQ’s outstanding stock options will vest in full.

Under the terms of the CEQ’s employment agreement, the CEQ has agreed not to disclose any
confidential information concerning our business. In addition, the CEO has agreed not to solicit or to
interfere with our relationship with any of our employees, officers or representatives or to interfere with
our relationship with any of our customers, clients, suppliers, licensees or other business relations until
12 months following termination of the CEQ’s employment ‘Furthermore, the CEQ has entered into our
form non-competition agreement pursuant to which the CEQ has agreed not to engage in, become
interested in, enter into employment with or provide services to any business (or any person, firm or
corporation engaged in any business) that directly competes with our business until 12 months following
termination of the CEQ’s employment.

On April 11, 2007, Michael Snyder stepped down from his position as CEQ (see Note 13 — Reduction
in Workforce).

Chief Financial Officer

Effective August 1, 2005, we entered into an employment agreement with the Chief Financial Officer
{“CFQ") providing for employment as our CFO for an initial term of two years, The term will
automatically renew for additional one-year periods, unless either party gives notice at least 90 days prior
to the end of the then-current term. In the event of a change in control, the term will also be automatically
extended until the first anniversary of the change of contrel. Under this employment agreement, the CFQ is
entitled to receive an annual base salary, subject to review by the Compensation Committee and our Chief
Executive Officer. The CFO also is eligible to receive an annual discretionary performance-based bonus in
accordance with our annual bonus program for senior executives.

During the term of the CFO’s employment agreement, if we terminate the CFO’s employment without
cause or he resigns with good reason and, in each case, the CFO provides us with a general release of
claims, the CFO will be entitled to a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination and an amount equal
10 his base salary for the longer of one year or the remainder of the term. If the CFO's employment is
terminated by reason of death or disability, the CFO will be entitled to a prorated annual bonus for the year
of termination and an amount equal to the CFO’s base salary for one year (reduced by the net amount of
any disability benefits received by the CFO under our group disability policy). In the event of a termination
of the CFO’s employment without cause or for good reason, in each case, on or after a change in control,
the CFQO's cutstanding stock options will vest in full.

Under the terms of the CFO’s employment agreement, he has agreed not to disclose any confidential
information concerning our business. In addition, the CFO has agreed not to solicit or to interfere with our
relationship with any of our emplovees, officers or representatives or to solicit any of our customers,
clients, suppliers, licensees or other business relations until 12 months following termination of the CFO’s
employment, Furthermore, the CFO has entered into our form non-competition agreement pursuant to
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which the CFO has agreed not to engage in, become interested in, enter into employment with or provide
services to any business (or any person, firm or corporation engaged in any business) that directly
competes with our business until 12 months following termination of the CFO’s employment.

Chief Technology Officer

Effective August 1, 2003, we entered into an employment agreement with the Chief Technology
Officer (“CTO”) providing for employment as our CTO for an initial term of two years. The term will
automatically renew for additional one-year periods, unless either party gives notice at least 90 days prior
to the end of the then-current term. Under this employment agreement, the CTO is entitled to receive an
annual base salary, subject to review by the Compensation Committee and the Chief Executive Officer.
The CTO is also eligibte to receive an annual discretionary performance-based bonus in accordance with
our annual bonus program for senior executives.

During the term of the CTO’s employment agreement, if we terminate the CTO’s employment without
cause or he resigns with good reason and, in each case, the CTO provides us with a general release of
claims, the CTO will be entitled to a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination and an amount equal
to his base salary for the longer of one year or the remainder of the term. If the CTO’s employment is
terminated by reason of death or disability, the CTO will be entitled to a prorated annual bonus for the year
of termination and an amount equal to the CTO's base salary for one year (reduced by the net amount of
any disability benefits received by the CTO under our group disability policy).

Under the terms of the CTO’s employment agreement, he has agreed not to disclose any confidential
information concerning our business. In addition, the CTO has agreed not to solicit or to interfere with our
relationship with any of our employees, officers or representatives or to solicit any of our customers,
clients, suppliers, licensees or other business relations until 12 months following termination of the CTO’s
employment. Furthermore, the CTO has entered into our form non-competition agreement pursuant to
which the CTO has agreed not to engage in, become interested in, enter into employment with or provide
services 1o any business (or any person, firm or corporation engaged in any business) that directly
competes with our business until 12 months following termination of the CTO’s employment.

Chief Legal Officer

Effective August 8, 2005, we entered into an employment agreement with the Chief Legal Officer
(“CLO") providing for employment as our CLO for an initial term of two years. The term will
automatically renew for additional one-year periods, unless either party gives notice at least 90 days prior
to the end of the then-current term. In the event of a change in control, the term will also be automatically
extended until the first anniversary of the change of control. Under the CLO’s employment agreement, the
CLO is entitled to receive an annual base salary, subject to review by our Compensation Committee and
our Chief Executive Officer. The CLO also is eligible to receive an annual discretionary performance-
based bonus in accordance with our annual bonus program for senior executives, with a minimum bonus of
$100 payable for 2005.

During the term of the CLO’s employment agreement, if we terminate the CLO's employment without
cause or the CLO resigns with good reason and, in each case, the CLO provides us with a general release of
claims, the CLO will be entitled to a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination and an amount equal
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to the CLO’s base salary for the longer of one year or the remainder of the term. If the CLO’s employment
is terminated by reason of death or disability, the CLO will be entitled to a prorated annual bonus for the
year of termination and an amount equal to the CLO's base salary for one year (reduced by the net amount
of any disability benefits received by the CLO under our group disability policy). In the event of a
termination of the CLO’s employment without cause or for good reason, in each case, on or after a change
in control, the CLO’s outstanding stock options will vest in full.

Under the terms of the CLO’s employment agreement, the CLO has agreed not to disclose any
cenfidential information concerning our business. In addition, the CLO has agreed not to solicit or to
interfere with our relationship with any of our employees, officers or representatives or to interfere with
our relationship with any of our customers, clients, suppliers, licensees or other business relations until
12 months following termination of the CLO’s employment. Furthermore, the CLO has entered into our
form non-competition agreement pursuant to which the CLO has agreed not to engage in, become
interested in, enter into employment with or provide services to any business (or any person, firm or
corporation engaged in any business) that directly competes with cur business until 12 months following
termination of the CLO’s employment.

Note 11. Geographic Information

Our chief operating decision-makers review financial information presented on a consolidated basis,
accompanied by disaggregated information about revenues and marketing expenses by geographic region
for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance. Accordingly, we consider
ourselves 1o be in a single reporting segment and operating unit structure,

Information about our operations by geographic location is as follows:

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Revenue:
United States . ... .. ... ... . $580,845 $260,613  $78,709
Canada ........ ... e 21,991 7,601 999
United Kingdom ............... ... ... ... 4,561 982 —

$607,397  $269,196  §79,708

Dec 31, Dec 31,
2006 2005
Long-lived assets: '
United States . . ... ... .. ... $133,832  $102,226
Canada .. ... . e e 2,198 1,357
UnitedKingdom .. ............................ 112 55

$136,142  §103,638
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Note 12. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following table sets forth the reviewed consolidated quarterly financial information for 2006 and
2005:

For the Quarter Ended

March 31, June 30,  September 30, December 31, Total

Year Ended 2006
Revenue ... ... i, $119.723 $144,365 $161.846 $ 181,463 $ 607,397
Netloss ..o (85,160) (74,136) (62,184) (117,093)(1) (338,573)
Net loss attributable to common

shareholders .................... . (85,160) (74,1306) (62,184) (117,093)(1) (338,573)
Net loss per common share:

Basicand diluted ............... $ (6040) $ (1.16y $ (040) $ (0.76)

(1) The fourth quarter of 2006 includes $52.5 million in costs related to the Verizon patent litigation
judgment entered against us.

Year Ended 2005
REVENUE ..\t ieiiitiecieiaieee e $40,710 $59,435 $73.871 $95180 $ 269,196
NELIOSS oot e (60,002) (63,623) (65,995) (71,714) (261,334)
Net loss attributable 1o commeon
shareholders ...........ccocciiiieninnn, (60,002) (63,623) (65.995) (72,319) (261,939)
Net loss per common share:
Basicand diluted .............. ...... S (43.83) § (46.32) $ (47.79) § (51.56)

Note 13. Subsequent Events
Vendor Commitments

Subsequent to year end, we committed to approximately $6,698 in non-cancelable contractual
obligations. These commitments include $4,183 for the purchase of communication devices through 2008;
$1,155 for constructing new Kiosks to be located throughout the United States in 2007 and $1,360 for
marketing performance analysis services in 2007.

Other Patent Litigation

On March 14, 2007, Web Telephony, LLC filed suit in the United States District Court for the Eastern
District of Texas against Vonage Holdings Corp., Vonage America Inc., and several other defendants. The
complaint in this litigation alleges that we are infringing two telecommunications patents held by Web
Telephony and seeks monetary compensation for claimed damages as well as injunctive relief. We intend
to contest Web Telephony’s infringement allegations vigorously. The Court has not set a discovery or trial
schedule in this matter.
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Restricted Cash

In the first quarter of 2007, our credit card processor requested that a reserve be established to cover
any exposure that may result due to the fact that we collect revenues in advance of providing services
which is customary for their other companies that bill in advance of providing services. As such we have
provided the credit card processor with a cash collateralized letier of credit for $10,000. In addition, the
credit card processor has withheld $9,700 as of April 10, 2007.

Reduction in Workforce

On April 11, 2007, we determined to reduce our total workforce by approximately 10% in the second
quarter of 2007 to reduce costs and improve efficiency. We also announced that Michael Snyder stepped
down from his position as Chief Executive Officer and resigned from the Board of Directors effective April
11, 2007. We anticipate incurring a charge of approximately $5.0 million, all of which would be for
one-time employee termination benefits. This charge will be expensed in the second quarter of 2007 and
would result in cash payments of approximately $5.0 million during 2007.
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Jeffrey Citron, certify that:

1. 1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Vonage Holdings Corp.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of
the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the
registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedureé, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) [Not applicable];

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in
the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to matenally affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The tegistrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability
to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other empioyees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 17, 2007 /s{ JEFFREY CITRON

Jeffrey Citron
Chairman, Chief Strategist and
Interim Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

I, John S. Rego, certify that:

t. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Vonage Holdings Corp.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of
the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)) for the
registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) [Not applicable];

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in
the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal controf over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiee of registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability
to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 17, 2007 ' /s/  JOHN S. REGO

John §. Rego
Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION %06 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jeffrey Citron, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of Vonage Holdings Corp. on Form 10-K for the
annual period ended December 31, 2006, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Form 10-K fairly presents, in
all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Vonage Holdings Corp.

Date: April 17, 2007 /s/ JEFFREY CITRON

Jeffrey Citron
Chairman, Chief Strategist and
Interim Chiel Executive Officer

I, John S. Rego, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 306 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 20012, that the Annual Report of Vonage Holdings Corp. on Form 10-K for the
annual period ended December 31, 2006, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Form 10-K fairly presents, in
all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Vonage Holdings Corp.

Date: April 17, 2007 fs/  JOHN S. REGO

John 8. Rego
Executive Yice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
23 MAIN STREET
HOLMDEL, NJ 67733

April 30, 2007
Dear Stockholders,

We are pleased to invite you to attend the annual meeting of stockholders of Vonage Holdings Corp. to be
held on Tuesday, May 29, 2007 at 2:00 p.m., local time, at the Robert Meyner Reception Center at the PNC Bank
Arts Center, Exit 116, Garden State Parkway, Holmdel, New Jersey (07733, and we look forward to your
attendance either in person or by proxy. For your convenience, we are pleased to offer a live webcast of our
annual meeting on the Investor Relations section of our web site at http:/ir.vonage.com/, Details regarding
admission to the meeting and the business to be conducted are described in the accompanying Notice of Annual
Meeting and Proxy Statement. Included with the Proxy Statement is a copy of our 2006 Annual Report. We
encourage you to read our Annual Report. It includes our audited financial statements and information about our
operations, markets and products.

Your vote is important. Whether or not you plan to attend the annual meeting, we hope you will vote as
soon as possible. You may vote over the Internet, as well as by telephone or by mailing a proxy or voting
instruction card. Voting over the Internet, by telephone or by written proxy will ensure your representation at the
annual meeting regardless of whether you attend in person. Please review the instructions on the proxy or voting
instruction card regarding each of these voting options. Please note that you will not be able to vote at the annual
meeting via the live webcast, and, unless you are otherwise represented at the annual meeting via proxy, you will
not be deemed present or represented at the annual meeting by accessing the webcast.

Also, please let us know if you plan to attend our annual meeting by marking the appropriate box on the
enclosed proxy card or, if you vote over the Internet or by telephone, indicating your plans when prompted.

Thank you for your ongoing support of Vonage. We look forward to seeing you at our annual meeting.

Sincerely,

Jeffrey A. Citron
Chairman, Chief Strategist and Interim Chief Executive Officer




VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP,

23 MAIN STREET
HOLMDEL, NJ 07733

NOTICE OF 2007 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

Items of Business .................

Record Date

Proxy Voting

April 30, 2007

2:00 p.m, local time, on Tuesday, May 29, 2007

Robert Meyner Reception Center
PNC Bank Arts Center

Exit 116, Garden State Parkway
Holmdel, New Jersey 07733

At the meeting, we will ask you and our other stockholders to:

(1) elect three Class [ directors for terms to expire at the 2010 annual
meeting of stockholders; and

(2) raiify the appointment of BDO Seidman, LLP as our independent
registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2007,

The stockholders will also act on any other business as may properly
come before the meeting or any postponement or adjournment of the
meeting.

The board of directors has no knowledge of any other business to be
transacted at the annual meeting.

You may vote if you were a stockholder of record at the close of
business on March 30, 2007.

It is important that your shares be represented and voted at the
meeting. If you are a stockholder of record and do not plan to attend
the meeting, please mark, sign, date and promptly mail your proxy
card in the enclosed postage-paid envelope or vote over the Internet
or by telephone. You may revoke your proxy at any time before its
exercise at the meeting. If your shares are held in street name and you
do not plan to attend the meeting, please follow the instructions
provided by the holder of record to ensure that your shares are voted.

By order of the Board of Directors,

@\ma@&w«\

Sharon A. O’Leary, Secretary
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
23 MAIN STREET
HOLMDEL, NJ 07733 |

PROXY STATEMENT
. GENERAL INFORMATION
For Our Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 29, 2007

Vonage Holdings Corp. (referred to as “we,” “‘us” or “Vonage” in this document), has sent you this proxy
statement and the enclosed proxy card because our board of directors is soliciting your proxy to vote ‘at our 2007
annual meeting of stockholders. The annual meeting will be held on Tuesday, May 29, 2007, at 2:00 p.m., local
time, at the Robert Meyner Reception Center at the PNC Bank Arts Center, Exit 116, Garden State Parkway,
Holmdel, New Jersey 07733, 1f the annual meeting is adjourned for any reason, the proxies may be used at any
adjournments of the annual meeting. For your convenience, we are pleased to offer a live webcast of our annual
meeting on the Investor Relations section of our web site at http://ir.vonage.com/. A replay of the webcast will be
available on our website through June 12, 2007. Please note that you will not be able to vote at the annual
meeting via the live webcast, dnd; unless you are otherwise represented at the annual meeting via proxy, you will
not be deemed present or represented at the annual meeting by accessing the webcast.

This proxy statement summarizes information about the proposals to be considered at the annual meeting
and other information you may find useful in determining how to vote. We are mailing this proxy statement and
the enclosed proxy card to stockholders on or about May 7, 2007. In this mailing, we are also including copies of
our annual report to stockholders for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006. We refer to the year ended
December 31, 2006 as “fiscal 2006” throughout this proxy statement.

Our annual report on Form 10-K for fiscal 2006, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC, including our audited financial statements, is available free of charge on the Investor
Relations section of our web site at htp:/fir.vonage.com/ or through the SEC’s electronic data system at
www.sec.gov. To request a printed copy of our Form 10-K; which we will provide to you free of charge,
either: write to Vonage’s Investor Relations Department at Vonage Holdings Corp., 23 Main Street, -
Holmdel, NJ 47733 or call us at 732.365.1328. -

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE PROXY MATERIALS AND THE ANNUAL MEETING -

. Q: What information is contained in this proxy statement?

A: The information in this proxy statement relates to the proposals to be voted on at the annual meeting, the
voting process, the compensation of our directors and most highly paid executwe ofﬁcers in 2006, and centain
other required information.

Q: What shares can I vote?

A: Each share of Vonage common stock issued and outstanding as of the close of business on March 30,
2007, which we refer to as the Record Date, is entitled to be voted on all items being voted on at the annual
meeting. You may vote all shares owned by you as of the Record Date, including (1) shares held dtrectly in your
name as the stockholder of record and (2) shares held for you as the beneficial owner in street name through a
broker, trustee or other nominee such as a bank. On the Record Date, we had 155,388,353 shares of common
stock issued and outstanding. '

0: How maity voltes am I entitled to per share?

A: Each holder of shares of COMMmOon qtock is entitled to one vote for each qhare of common stock held as of
the Record Date. ‘




Q: What is the difference between holding shares as a stockholder of record and as a beneficial owner?

A: Most Vonage stockholders hold their shares through a broker or other nominee rather than directly in
their own name. As summarized below, there are some distinctions between shares held of record and those
owned beneficially,

Stockholder of Record

If your shares are registered directly in your name with our transfer aéem, American Stock Transfer &
Trust Company, you are considered, with respect to.those shares, the stockholder of record, and these proxy
materials are being sent directly to you by Vonage. As the stockholder of record, you have the right to grant
your voting proxy directly to Vonage or to vote in person at the annual meeting. Vonage has enclosed or,
sent a proxy card for you to use.

Beneficial Owner

If your shares are held in a brokerage account or by another nominee, you are considered the beneficial
owner of shares held in street name, and these proxy materials are being forwarded 1o you together with a
voting instruction card by your broker, trusiee or nominee, as the case may be. As the beneficial owner, you
have the right to direct your broker trustee or nominee how to vote, and you are also mvnted to attend the
annual meeting. .

Since a beneficial owner is not the stockholder of record, you may not vote your shares in person at the
annual meeting unless you obtain a “legal proxy” from the broker, trustee or nominee that holds your shares
giving you the right to vote the shares at the meeting. Your broker, trustee or nominee has enclosedor
provided voting instructions for you to use in directing the broker, trustee or nominee how to vote your
shares.

.

Q: How can I attend the annual meeting?

A: You are entitled to attend the annual meeting only if you were a Vonage-stoclc‘holder or joint holder as of
the Record Date, the close of business on March 30, 2007, or you hold a valid proxy for the annual meeting.
Since seating is limited, admission to the meeting will be on a first-come, first-served basis. You should be
prepared to present government-issued photo identification (such as a driver’s license or passport) for
admittance. If you are a stockholder of record, you should bring the top portion of your proxy card for proof of
ownership. If you are not a stockholder of record but hold shares in street name through a broker, trustee or
nominee, you should provide proof of beneficial ownership as of the Record Date, such as your most recent
account statement prior to March 30, 2007, a copy of the voting instruction card provided by your broker, trustee
or nominee, or other similar evidence of owner'ship.

If you do not provide photo identification or comply with the other procedures outlmed above you will not
be admitted to the annual meeting. For security reasons, you may be subject to search prior to your admittance to
the meeting. .

v

Please let us know if you plan to attend the meeting by marking the appropriate box on the enclosed proxy
card or, if you vote over the Internet or by telephone, indicating your plans when prompted.

The meeting will begin promptly at 2:00 p.m., local time. Check-in will begin at 1:00 p.m. local time, and
you should allow ample time for the check-in procedures.
Q: How can I vote my shares in person at the annual meeting?

A: Shares held in your name as the stockholder of record may be voted by you in person at the annual
meeting. Shares held beneficially in street name may be voted by you in person at the annual meeting only if you
obtain a legal proxy from the broker, trustee or nominee that holds your shares giving you the right to vote the
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shares. Even if you plan to attend the annual meeting, we recommend that you also-submit your proxy or voting
instructions as described below so that your vote will be counted if you later decide not to attend the meeting.

Q: How can I vote my shares without attendirig the annual meeting?

A: Whether you hold shares directly as the stockholder of record or beneficially in street name, you may
direct how your shares are voted without attedding the annual meeting. If you are a stockholder of record, you
may vote by submitting a proxy. If you hold shares beneficially in street name, you may vote by submitting -
voting instructions to your broker, trusteé or nominee. For directions ‘on how to vote, please refer to the
instructions below .and those included on your proxy card or, for shares held beneficially in street name, the
voting instruction card provided by your broker, trustee or nominee.

By Internet—Stockholders of record of Vonage common stock with Internet access may,submit proxies by
following the “INTERNET” instructions on their proxy cards until 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, on May 28, 2007.
Most Vonage stockholders who hold shares beneficially in street name may vote by accessing the web site .
specified on the voting instruction cards provided by their brokers, trustees or nominees. Please check the voting
instruction card for Internet voting availability.

Please note that you will not be able to vote at the anncal meeting via the live webcast, and, unless you are
otherwise represented at the annual meeting via proxy, you will not be deemed present or represented at the

annual meeting by accessing the webcast. ) - . ,

By Telephone—Stockholders of record of Vonage common stock who live in the United States or Canada
may subrhit proxies by following the “TELEPHONE” instructions on their proxy cards until 11:59 p.m/; Eastern
Time, on May 28, 2007. Most Vonage stockholders who hold shares beneficially in street name and live in the
United States or Canada may vote by phone by, calling the number speciﬁed on the voting instruction cards.
provided by their brokers, trustees or nominees. Please check the voting instruction card for telephone volmg
availability.

By Mail—Stockholders of record of Vonage common stock may submit proxiés by completing, signing and
dating their proxy cards and mailing them in the-accompanying pre-addressed envelopes. Proxy cards submitted
by mail must be received by the time of the meeting in order for your shares to be voted. Vonage stockholders
who hold shares beneficially in street name may vote by mail by completing, signing and dating the voting |
instruction cards provnded by their brokers trustees or nominees and mailing them in the accompanying
pre-addressed envelopes.

i

Q Canl cf;:‘,t'ngc‘e my vote?

+

A: You may change your vote at any time prior to the vote at the annual meeting. If you are the stockholder
of record, you may change your vote by granting a new proxy bearing a later date (which autornatically revokes'
the earlier proxy) using any of the methods described above (and until the applicable deadline for each method),
by providing a written notice of révocation to Vonage's Corporate Secretary at Vonage Holdings Corp., 23 Main
Street, Holmdel, NJ 07733 prior to your shares being_voted, or by attending the annual meeting and voting in
person. Attendance.at the meeting will not cavse your previously granted proxy to be revoked unless you -
specifically so request. For shares you hold beneficially in street name, you may change your vote by submitting
new voting instructions to your, broker, trustee or nominee following the instruction they provided, or, if you
have obtained a legal proxy from your broker or nominee glvmg you the right to vote your shares, by attending
the meeting and voting in person.

©: How many shares must be present or represented to conduct business at the annual meeting?

A: The quorum requirement for holding the annual meeting and transacting business is that holders of a
majority of the voting power of the issved and outstanding common stock of Vonage must be present in person or
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represented by proxy. Both abstentions and broker non-votes (described below) are counted for the purpose of
determining the presence of a quorum.

Q: What is the voting requirement to apprt; ve each of the proposals?

A: In the election of directors, the three persons receiving the highest number of “FOR” votes. at the annual
meeting will be elected. The proposal to ratify the appointment of BDO Seidman, LLP as our independent
registered public accounting firm requires the affirmative “FOR” vote of a majority of those shares present in
person or represented by proxy and voting on the proposal at the annual meeting. .

If you hold shares beneficially in street name and do not provide your broker with voting instructions, your
shares may constitute “broker non-votes.” Generally, broker non-votes occur on a matter when a broker is not
permitted to vote on that matter without instructions from the beneficial owner and instructions are not given. In
tabulating the voting result for any particular proposal, shares that constitute broker non-votes and abstentions are
not considered votes cast on that proposal and will have no effect on the outcome of such proposal. Thus, broker
non-votes and abstentions will not affect the outcome of any matter being voted on at the meeting, assuming that
a quorum is obtained. : S

Q: Is cumulative voting permitted for the election of directors?

' ! . . Y- :
A: No. You may not cumulate your votes for the election of directors.

Q: What happens if additional matters are presented at the annual meeting?

A: Other than the items of business described in this proxy statement, we are not aware of any other
business to be acted upon at the annual meeting. If you grant a proxy, the persons named as proxy holders, will
have the discretion to vote your shares on any additional matters properly presented for a vote at the meeting. If
for any reason any of our nominees is not available as a candidate for director, the persons named as proxy
holders will vote your proxy for such other candidate or candidates as may be nominated by the board of
directors.

Q: Who will serve as inspector of elections?

1

‘A: The inspector of elections will be a representative from American Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

Q: What should I do if I receive more than one set of voting materials?

A: You may receive more than one set of voting materials, including multiple copies'of this proxy statement
and multiple proxy cards or voting instruction cards. For example, if you hold your shares in more than one
brokerage account, you may receive a separate voting instruction card for each brokerage account in which you
hold shares. If you are a stockholder of record and your shares are registered in more than one name, you will
receive more than one proxy card. Please complete, sign, date and return each Vonage proxy card and voting
instruction card that you receive.

' Q: How may I obtain a separate or additional copy of the 2006 Annual Report and proxy matéﬁals?

A: If you share an address with another stockholder, each stockholder may not receive a separate copy of
our 2006 Annual Report and proxy materials. Stockholders who do not receive a separate copy of our 2006
Annual Report and proxy materials may request to receive a separate copy by sending an e-mail through the
Vonage Investor Relations website at http:/ir.vonage.conv, calling 732.365.1328 or writing to:

+

Vonage Investor Relations
23 Main Street
Holmdel, NJ 07733

Any stockholder may request additional copies of our 2006 Annual Report and proxy materials by following
these same instructions. We will promptly deliver the requested copies.
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Stockholders who share an address and receive muitiple copies of our 2006 Annual Report and proxy
materials can request to receive a single copy of our Annual Report and proxy, materials in the futurg;by . -
following the instructions above, Stockholders can also-revoke their consent and receive separate copies of our ,
Annual Report and proxy materials in the future by following the instructions above. Current and prospective
investors can access or order free copies of our Form 10-K, proxy statement and other financial information by
following these same instructions. - s . e ,

-

. ' ] - .
. .

Q: Who will bear the cost of :qaliqi'ting votes for the annual meeting? .., . . ‘ o .
A: Vonage is making this solicitation and will pay the entire cost of preparing, assembling, printing, mailing
and distributing these proxy materials and soliciting votes. [f you choose to access the proxy materials or vote
over the Internet, you are responsible for Internet access charges you may incur. If you choose to vote by
telephone, you are responsible for telephone charges you may incur. In addition to the mailing of these proxy
materials, the solicitation of proxies or votes may be made in person, by telephone or by electronic
communication by our directors, officers and employees, who will not receive any additional compensation for
such solicitation activities. We also have hired Georgeson Shareholder Communications Inc. to assist us in the
distribution of proxy materials and the solicitation of votes described above. We will pay Georgeson Shareholder
Communications Inc. a fee of $5,000 plus customary costs and expenses for these services. We have agreed to
indemnify Georgeson Shareholder Communications Inc. against certain liabilities arising out of or in connection

with the distribution of proxy materials and the solicitation of votes.

Q: What is the deadline to propose actions for consideration at next year’s annual meeting of
stockholders or to nominate individuals to serve as directors?

A: You may submit proposals, including director nominations, for consideration at future stockholder
meetings.

Stockholder Proposals: For a stockholder proposal to be considered for inclusion in our proxy statement
for the annual meeting next year, the Corporate Secretary of Vonage must receive the written proposal at our
principal executive offices no later than January 8, 2008. Such proposals also must comply with SEC regulations
under Rule 14a-8 regarding the inclusion of stockholder proposals in company-sponsored proxy materiais.
Proposals should be addressed to:

Vonage Holdings Corp.
Attn: Corporate Secretary
23 Main Street
Holmdel, New Jersey 07733

For a stockholder proposal that is not intended to be included in Vonage’s proxy statement under
Rule 14a-8, the stockholder must (1) provide the information required by our bylaws and (2) give timely notice
to the Corporate Secretary of Vonage in accordance with our bylaws, which, in general, require that the notice be
received by the Corporate Secretary of Vonage:

» nol earlier than January 30, 2008, and
* not later than February 29, 2008.

Nomination of Director Candidates: You may propose director candidates for consideration by the board
of directors’ nominating and governance committee. Any such recommendations should include the nomineg’s
name and qualifications for board of directors membership and should be directed to the Corporate Secretary of
Vonage at the address of our principal executive offices set forth above. For additional information regarding
stockholder recommendations for director candidates, see “Corporate Governance—Director Nomination
Process” below in this proxy statement.

In addition, our bylaws permit stockholders to nominate directors for election at an annual stockholder
meeting. To nominate a director, the stockholder must provide the information required by our bylaws. in
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addition, the stockhelder must give timely notice to our Corporate Secretary in accordance with our bylaws,
which, in general, require that the notice be received by our Corporate Secretary within the time period described
above under “Stockholder Proposals™ for stockholder proposals that are not intended to be included in our proxy
statement.

Copy of Bylaw Provisions: You may contact our Corporate Secretary at Vonage Holdings Corp., Attn;
Corporate Secretary, 23 Main Street, Holmdel, New Jersey 07733 for a copy of the relevant bylaw provisions
regarding the requirements for making stockholder proposals and nominating director candidates. :




PROPOSAL NO. 1
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

General

Our board of directors is divided into three classes. One class is elected each year and members of each
class hold office for three-year terms. The board has set the number of directors at seven. The Class I, Class II
and Class III directors were elected to serve until the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2007, 2008 and
2009, respectively, and until their respective successors are elected and qualified. Qur board of directors’
currently consists of seven members, Mr. Barris, Governor Ridge and Mr. Weller are Class I directors.

Mr. Miller and Mr. Roberts are Class II directors. Mr. Citron and Mr. David are Class III directors.

Our board of directors, on the recommendation of our nominating and governance committee, has
nominated Mr. Barris, Governor Ridge and Mr. Weller for election as Class I directors to hold office until the
2010 annual meéting of stockholders and until their respective successors are elected and qualified.

The persons named in the enclosed proxy card will vote to elect each of these nominees as a director, unless
the proxy is marked otherwise. Each of the nominees is currently a director. Each nominee has indicated a
willingness to serve as a director, if elected. If any nominee becomes unable or unwilling to serve, however, the
proxies may be voted for substitute nominees selected by our board of directors.

- No directar, or associate of any director, is a party adverse to us or any of our subsidiaries in any material
proceeding or has any material interest adverse to us or any of our subsidiaries. No director is related by blood,
marriage or adoption to any other director or executive officer.

Recommendation

QOur board of directors recommends a vote FOR the election to the board of directors of each of the Class |
director nominees.

Nominees and Continuing Directors

The following information regarding the principal occupation, affiliations and business experience for each
of the directors, including the nominees for election as Class I directors, has been furnished to us by the directors:

Nominees for Term Expiring in 2010 (Class I Directors)

Peter Barris, age 55, joined our board of directors in September 2004, Mr. Barris has served as Managing
General Partner of New Enterprise Associates, LLC, or NEA, since 1999. He has been with NEA since 1992, and
he serves as either an executive officer or General Partner of various NEA entities. Mr. Barris serves on the
boards of direciors of the Mid-Atlantic Venture Association, Innerworkings, Inc., the National Venture Capital
Association and Venture Philanthropy Partners and is a Member of the Board of Trustees of Northwestern
University, the Board of Overseers of the Tuck School at Dartmouth College and the Board of Advisors of the
Tuck’s Center for Private Equity and Entrepreneurship at Dartmouth College. )

Governor Thomas J. Ridge, age 61, joined our board of directors in August 2005. Governor Ridge currently
provides consulting services for the U.S. Government on a variety of national and international issues. From
January 2003 to January 2005, Govertior Ridge served as the Secretary of the United States Department of
Homeland Security. From 2001 through 2002, Governor Ridge served as the Special Assistant to the President
for Homeland Security, an Executive Office created by President Bush in October 2001. Governor Ridge served
as Governor of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania for two terms from 1995 through 2001 and was a member of
the U.S. House of Representatives from 1983 through 1995. Governor Rldge currently serves on the boards of -
directors of The Home Depot, Inc. and Exelon Corporation.
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Harry Weller, age 37, joined our board of directors in November 2003. Mr. Weller joined NEA in 2002 as a
Pariner and serves as Assistant Vice President of NEA Development Corp. From 1998 to 2001, Mr, Weller
served as a Partner at FBR Technology Veénture Partners. Mr. Weller currently serves on the board of directors of
Sourcefire, Inc.

Directors Whose Terms Expire in 2008 (Class II Directors)

J. Sanford Miller, age 57, joined our board of directors in January 2004, Mr. Miller is a General Partner in
Institutional Venture Partners, or IVP, which he joined in April 2006. Prior to joining IVP, Mr. Miller was a
Senior Partner at 3i, which he joined in 2001. Prior to joining 3i, Mr. Miller co-founded Thomas Weisel Partners
in 1998, where he was a Member of the Executive Committee, Chief Administrative and Strategic Officer and
Co-Director of Investment Banking. From 1990 to 1998, Mr. Miller was a Senior Partner at Montgomery
Securities, where he led the technology and healthcare groups. Previously, he was a Managing Director and ran
the technology and healthcare investment banking divisions in San Francisco for Merrill Lyach from 1987 to
1990. Mr. Miller is a College Trustee at the University of Virginia and serves on the Management Board of the
Stanford Graduate School of Business. Mr. Miller is our Lead Independent Director.

John J. Roberts, age 62, joined our board of directors in August 2004. Mr. Roberts served as Global
Managing Partner for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP from 1998 until his retirement in June 2002. From 1994 to
1998, Mr. Roberts served as Chief Operating Officer of Coopers & Lybrand, which merged with Price
Waterhouse in 1998. He currently serves on the boards of directors and audit committees of Armstrong World
Industries, Inc. and Safeguard Scientifics, Inc. and the board of trustees and audit committee of the Pennsylvania
Real Estate Investment Trust. He ts a Member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Directors Whose Terms Expire in 2009 (Class III Directors)

Jeffrey A. Citron, age 36, was our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer from January 2001 through
February 2006. He resigned from his position as Chief Executive Officer and became our Chief Strategist in
February 2006. On April 11, 2007, in connection with the resignation of Michael Snyder as our Chief Executive
Officer, our board of directors appointed Mr. Citron as our Interim Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Citron is
expected to serve in the role on a short-term basis. In 1995, Mr. Citron founded The Island ECN, a computerized
trading system designed to automate the order execution process. Mr. Citron became the Chairman and CEO of
Datek Online Holdings Corp. in February 1998 and departed The Island ECN and Datek in October 1999. For
more information about Mr. Citron, see “Information Concerning Our Founder, Chairman, Chief Strategist, and
Interim Chief Executive Officer.”

Morton David, age 70, joined our board of directors in August 2001. Mr. David served as the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of Franklin Computer Corporation (later Franklin Electronic Publishers, Inc.) from 1983
to 1998, Mr. David currently-serves on the board of directors of Sharper Image Corporation and previously
served on the board of directors of Dalek Online Holdings Corp. from 1998 unti! its acquisition by Ameritrade
Holdings in 2002.

Information Concerning our Founder, Chairman, Chief Strategist, and Interim Chief Executive Officer

Prior to joining Vonage, Mr. Citron was associated with Datek Securities Corporation and Datek Online
Holdings Corp., including as an employee of, and consultant for, Datek Securities and, later, as cne of the
principal executive officers and largest stockholders of Datek Online. Datek Online was a large online brokerage
firm. Datek Securities was a registered broker-dealer that engaged in a number of businesses, including
proprietary trading' and order execution services. During a portion of the time that Mr. Citron was associated with
Datek Securities, the SEC alleged that Datek Securities, Mr. Sheldon Maschler (another principal executive
officer and large stockholder of Datek), Mr. Citron and certain other individuals participated in an extensive
fraudulent scheme involving improper use of the Nasdaq Stock Market’s Small Order Execution System, or
SOES. In Janvary 2003, Mr. Maschler, Mr. Citron and others entered into settlement agreements with the SEC to

8




resolve charges that they had improperly .used SOES from 1993 until early 1998, when Datek Securities’
day-trading operations were sold to Heartland Securities Corporation. Mr. Maschler and others, but not

M. Citron, were alleged 10 have continued such improper use until June 2001 at Heartland Securities.. To settle
the charges, Mr. Maschler, Mr. Citron and the other individuals paid $70 million in civil penalties and
disgorgements of profits, of which Mr. Citron paid $22.5 million in civil penalties. In addition, Mr. Citron was
enjoined from future violations of certain provisions of the U.S. securities laws, including the antifraud
provisions set forth in Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, Section 10{b) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated under the Exchange Act. Mr. Citron also agreed to accept an SEC order that
permanently bars him from association with any securmes broker or dealer. Mr. Maschler and the other
individuals and corporations agreed to similar restncnons Mr. Citron settled theses charges without admitting or
depying the allegations in the SEC’s complaint.

Transactions with Related Persons
Policies and Procedures for Re!ated Person Transactmns

On January 18, 2007 our board adopted wntten policies and procedures for the review of any transaction,
arrangement or relationship in which Vonage is a participant, the amount involved exceeds $120,000, and one of
our executive officers, directors, director nominees or 5% stockholders {or their immediate family members),
each of whom we refer to as a “related person,” has a direct or indirect material interest. - '

If a related person proposes to enter into such a transaction, arrangement or relationship, which we refer to
as a “related person transaction,” the related person must report the proposed relatéd person transaction to our
chief legal officer. The policy calls for the proposéd related person transaction to be reviewed and, if deemed
appropriate, approved or ratified by the board’s audit committee. Whenever practicable, the reporting, review and
approval will occur prior to entry into the transaction. If advance review and approval is not practicable, the
committee will réview, and, in its discretion, may ratify the related person transaction. The policy also permits
the chairman of the committée to review and, if deemed appropnate approve proposed related person
transactions that aris¢ between committee meetings, subject 1o ratification by the committee at its next meetmg
Any related person transactions that are ongoing in nature will be reviewed annually. ' '

A related person transaction_ rev_iewed under Lhe policy will be considered approved or ratified if it is
authorized by the committee after full disclosure of the related person’s interest in-the transaction. As appropriate
for the circumstances, the committee will review and consider: ‘ ; b - \ '

+ the related person’s interest in the related person transaction;
' E

» the approximate dollar value of the amount involved in the related person transacuon

» the approximate dollar value of the amount of the related person 5 1nterest in the transactlon without
regard to the amount of any profit or loss;
» whether the transactmn was undertaken in the ordinary course of our busmess, .

[l + !

« whether the terms of the transacnon are no less favorable to us than terms that could have been reached
with an unrelated third party; . . :

r 1 .

* the purpose of, and the potential benefits to us of, the transaction; and

» any other information regarding the related person transaction or the related person in the context of the
) proposed transaction that would be material to investors in light of the circumstances of the particular .
transaction.
The committee may approve or ratify the transaction only if the comniittee determines that, under all of the
circumstances, the transaction is in, or is not inconsistent with, Vonage’s best interests. The committee may
impose any conditions on the related person transaction that it deems appropriate.
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In addition to the transactions that are-excluded by the instructions 1o the SEC’s related person transaction
disclosure rule, the board has determined that the following. transactions do not create a material direct or indirect
interest on behalf of related persons and, therefore, are not related person transactions for purposes of this policy:

+  interests arising solely from the related person’s position as an executive officer of another enfity
(whether or not the person is also a director of such entity), that is a participant in the transaction,
where (a) the related person and all other related persons own in the aggregate less thin a 10% equity

" interest in such entity, (b) the related person and his or her immediate family members are not involved
in the negouanon of the terms of the transaction and do not receive any special benefits as a result of
the transactlon (c) the amoum mvolved in the transactlon cquals less than the greater of $1 million

" dollars or 2% of the annual gross revenues of the other entity that is a party to the transacnon and
(d) the amount mvolved in the transaction equals less than 2% of Vonage's annual gross revenues; and

= atransaction that is specnﬁcally contemplated by provisions of Vonage s charter or bylaws.

The policy provides that transactions involving compensation of executive officers qhall be reviewed and
approved by the compensation committee in the manner spec1fied in its charter. We did not follow our related
person.transaction policy for the transacuons described below as we entered into such transactions prior to
adopnon of the pohcy . . . o L

Business Travel on Aircraft Owned by New World Aviation, Inc.

. Certain of our employees have traveled for business on aircraft owned by New World Aviation, Inc., a
corporanon wholly owned by Mr. Citron and his wife. In 2006 we paid New World Aviation an aggregate of
$216,312 for travel by our employees, mcludmg M, Citron. Mr. Citron’s employment agreement provides that
with respect to reasonable business-related airline expenses, Mr. Citron will be eligible for air travel
reimbursement based on the cost of a first-class ticket on a commercial airline to and from the appllcable
business destmauons and that any additional business- related airline expenses incurred, directly or mdlrectly, by
Mr. Citron with respect to other employees shall be pald in accordance with our travel policy. '

.'. - + ".‘

Purchase of Routers from F orce] 0 Networks, Inc. .,

We purchase routers from Force 10 Networks, Inc. on an as-needed basis. In 2006, we paid Forcel()
Networks an aggregate'of $396,116 under the contract. Affiliatés of New Enterprise Associates, a holder of more
than 5% of our voting capital stock, own an approximate 24% interest in Force'l 0 Networks. In addition, an
affiliate of Meritech Capital Partners II L.P., also a holder of more than 5% of our voting capitat stock, owns a
6.8% interest in Force10 Networks. An employee of Meritech Capital Partners and an employee of New
Enterprise Associates serve on the board of directors of Force 10 Networks. Two of our directors, Peter Barris and
Harry Weller, are affiliated with New Enterprise Associates. See ““—Nominees and Continuing Directors.”

Registra!ioﬁ Rl:ghts for Holders of Our Formerly Qutstanding Convertfble-Preferred S;(.)r:k

In April 2005, we and the holders of all of our formerly. outstanding series of our convertible preferred stock
entered into a third amended and restated investors’ rights agreement. Holders of our formerly outstanding series
of our convertible preferred stock inchide Mr, Citron and New Enterprise Associates, 3i Group plc, Meritech
Capital Partners and Bain Capital, LLC, each a holder of more than 5% of our'voting capital stock. *

Under the agreement, as amended in November 2006, if requested by the former holders of our Series B, C,
D or E'convertible preferred stock, we will effect, subject to certain terms and conditions, a registration statement
on Form -3, if it is available, to facilitate the sale and distribution of the shares of common stock issued upon
the conversion of the Series B, C, D and E convertible preferred stock. Further, these holders have the right to
demand of us, subject to certain terms and conditions, that we register the shares of common stock issued or
issuable upon the conversion of their shares of convertible preferred stock after April 1, 2007, under the
Securities Act. Finally, if we propose to register any of our capital stock under the Securities Act, the holders of
all series of our convertible preferred stock will be.entitled to-customary “piggyback” registration rights.
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PROPOSAL NO. 2
RATIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

General

Vonage is asking the stockholders to ratify the audit committee’s appointment of BDO Seidman, LLP as
Vonage’s independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2007. Although
stockholder approval of the audit committee’s appointment of BDO Seidman, LLP is not required by law, the
board of directors and the audit committee believe that it is advisable to give stockholders an opportunity to ratify
the appointment. In the event the stockholders fail to ratify the appointment, the andit committee will reconsider
this appointment. Even if the appointment is ratified, the audit committee, in its discretion, may direct the
appointment of a different independent registered public accounting firm at any time during the year if the audit
committee determines that such a change would be in Vonage’s and its stockholders’ best interests.

BDO Seidman, LLP has audited Vonage’s consolidated financial statements annually since Vonage’s 2004
fiscal year. Representatives of BDO Seidman, LLP are expected to be present at the meeting and will have the
opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so. It is also expected that those representatives will be
available to respond to appropriate questions. .

4 -

Auditors’ Fees

The following table summarlzes the fees of BDO Seidman, LLP, our reglstered public accounting firm since
April 22, 2005, billed to us for each of the last two fiscal years.

Fee Category - Fiscal 2006  Fiscal 2005

Audit Fees (1) ... ... P $1,536,361  $975,500
Tax Fees (3) oo 79,782 —
TOAl FEES - ..ot $1,616,143  $975,500

(1) Audit fees consist of amounts biiled for the audit of our annual financial statements included in our annual
report on Form 10-K, the review of the interim financial statements included in our quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, services rendered in connection with our initial public offering, and other professional services
provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.

(2) Tax fees consist of amounts billed for advisory services regarding sales tax compliance and taxability issues.
None of our tax fees billed in fiscal 2005 or 2006 were provided under the de minimis exception to the audit
committee pre-approval requirements.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our audit committee has adopted policies and procedures relating to the approval of all audit and non-audit
services that are to be performed by our registered public accounting firm. This policy generally provides that we
will not engage our registered public accounting firm to render audit or non-audit services unless the service is
specifically approved in advance by the audit committee or the engagement is entered into pursuant to one of the
pre-approval procedures described below.

From time to time, our andit committee may pre-approve specified types of services that are expected to be
provided to us by our registered public accounting firm during the next 12 months. Any such pre-approval is
detailed as to the particular service or type of services to be provided and is also generally subject to a maximum
dollar amount,

Qur audit committee has also delegated to the chairman of the audit committee the authority to approve any
audit or non-audit services 1o be provided to us by our registered public accounting firm. Any approval of
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services by a member of the audit committee pursuant to this delegated authority is reported on at the next
meeting of the audit committee.

Changes in Accountants

On March 1, 2004, we dismissed Amper, Politziner & Mattia P.C. as our independent registered public
accounting firm previously engaged as the principal accountant to audit our financial statements. We re-engaged
Amper, Politziner & Mattia P.C. on June 30, 2004, and dismissed the firm again on April 21, 2005. Amper,
Politziner & Mattia'P.C.’s report on our financial statements for the year ended Detember 31, 2003 did not
contain any adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion and was not 0therw15e qualified or modified as to
uncertainty, audit scope or accounting prmc1p1es

Each decision to dismiss Amper, Politziner & Mattia P.C. was approved by our audit committee. During the
2003 fiscal year and the subsequent interim period preceding Amper, Politziner & Mattia P.C.’s dismissal, there
were no reportable events or disagreements with Amper, Politziner & Mattia P.C. on any matter of accounting
principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which disagreements, if not
resolved to the satisfaction of Amper, Politziner & Mattia P.C., would have caused it to make reference to the
subject matter of the disagreements in connection with its report. ' :

Following Amper, Politziner & Mattia P.C.’s dismissal, we engaged BDO Seidman, LLP as our independent
registered public accounting firm effective April 22, 2005. Our audit committee authorized and approved the
engagement of BDO Seidman, LLP. During the 2003 fiscal year, and the subsequent interim period prior to
engaging BDO Seidman, LLP, neither we nor anyone on our behalf consulted BDO Seidman, LLP regarding
either (1) the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction regarding us, either completed or
proposed, or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on our financial statements, or (2) any matter

regarding us that was a reporiable event. X

Recommendation of the Board of Directors

The board of directors recommends that the stockholders xote. FOR the ratification of the appointment of
BDO Seidman, LLP to serve as Vonage s independent reglstered pubhc accounting firm for the year ending
December 31, 2007,

N . ¥ & F ok ok
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our board of directors believes that good corporate governance is important to ensure that Vonage is -
managed for the long-term benefit of stockholders. This section describes key corporate governance principles
and practices that our board has adopted. Complete copies of our governance principles, committee charters,
code of conduct and finance code of ethics are available on the Corporate Governance section of our web site at
http:/fir.vonage.com. Alternatively, you can request a copy of any of these documents by writing to Vonagé
Holdings Corp.. Attn: Corporate Secretary, 23 Main Street, Holmdel, New Jersey 07733, v

Governance Principles

Our board has adopted governance principles to assist in the exercise of its duties and responsibilities and to
serve the best interests of Vonage and our stockholders. These principles, which provide a fram::work for Lhe
conduct of the board’s business, provide that:

» the board’s principal responsibility is to oversee the management of Vonage
* a majonty of the members of the board shall be mdependent dlrectors
* the non-management directors meet regularly in executive sessnon,

» directors have full and free access to management and, as necessary and appropriate, mdependem

advisors; T

* new directors participate in an orientation program and all directors are expected to participate in
continuing director education on an ongoing basis; and |

*  at least annually, the board and its committees will conduct a self-evaluation to determine whether they
are functioning effectively.

Board Determination of Independence

Under applicable New York Stock Exckllange or NYSE rules, a director will only qualify as “independent”
if our board affirmatively determines that he or she has no material relationship with Vonage (either directly or as
a partner, stockholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship with us), Our board has established
guidelines to assist it in determining whether a director has such a material relationship. Under these guidelines, a
director is not considered to have a material relationship with Vonage if he or she is independent under
Section 303A.02(b) of the NYSE Listed Company Manual and he or she:

* is an executive officer of another company which is indebted to Vonage, or to which Vonage is
indebted, unless the total amount of either company’s indebtedness to the other is more than one
percent of the total consolidated assets of the company for which he or she serves as an executive
officer; or

* serves as an officer, director or trustee of a tax exempt organization, unless Vonage's discretionary
contributions to such organization are more than the greater of $1 million or 2% of that organization’s
consolidated gross revenues. Vonage’s automatic matching of employee charitable contributions will
not be included in the amount of Vonage’s contributions for this purpose.

In addition. ownership of a significant amount of our stock, by itself, does not constitute a material
relationship.

For relationships not covered by the guidelines set forth above, the determination of whether a material
relationship exists is made by the other members of our board who are independent.

Our board has determined that Peter Barris, Morton David, J. Sanford Miller, Governor Thomas J. Ridge,
John J. Roberis and Harry Weller meet the categorical standards described above, that none of these directors has
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a material relationship with Vonage and that each of these directors is “independent” as determined under

Section 303A.02(b) of the NYSE Listed Company Manual. Qur board reached a similar determination with

respect 10 Orit Gadiesh, who served as a director from August 2005 until February 15, 2007, Hugh Panero, who

served as a director from January 2006 until August 18, 2006, and Betsy Atkins, who served as a director from \
July 2005 until March 30, 2007.

In determining the independence of the directors listed above, our board considered the transactions with
Forcel( Networks, Inc. discussed in “Transactions with Related Persons.”

Board Meetings and Attendance

Our board met eight times during fiscal 2006. During fiscal 2006, with the exception of Governor Ridge,
each director attended at least 75% of the aggregate of the number of board meetings and the number of meetings
held by all committees on which he then served.

Director Attendance at Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Our governance principles provide that directors are encburaged to attend the annual meeting of
stockholders. We did not hold an annual meeting of stockholders in 2006.

Board Committees

Our board has established three standing committees—audit, compensation, and nominating and
governance—each of which operates under a charter that has been approved by our board. Current copies of each
committee’s charter are posted on the Corporate Governance section of our web site at http./ir.vonage.com.

Our board has determined that all of the members of each of the board’s three standing committees are
independent as defined under the rules of the NYSE, including, in the case of all members of the audit
comimittee, the independence requirements contemplated by Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Exchange Act.

'-" a4

Audit Committee

The audit committee’s responsibilities include:

* appointing, approving the compensation of, and assessing the independence of our registered public
accounting firm;

* overseeing the work of our registered public accounting firm, including through the receipt and
consideration of reports from such firm;

¢ reviewing and discussing with management and the registered public accounting firm our annual and
quarterly financial statements and related disclosures;

* monitoring our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures;
* oversecing our internal audit function;
* discussing our risk management policies;

* establishing policies regarding hiring employees from the registered public accounting firm and
procedures for the receipt and retention of accounting related complaints and concerns;

» meeting independently with our internal auditing staff, registered public accounting firm and
management;

» reviewing and approving or ratifying any related person transactions; and

* preparing the audit committee report required by SEC rules, which is included betow in this proxy
statement.
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The members of our audit committee are Mr. Roberts (Chairman), Mr, David and Mr. Miller. Each member
of our audit committee meets the standards for financial knowledge for companies listed on the NYSE. In
addition, our board of directors has determined that Mr. Roberts is an “audit committee financial expert” as
defined by apﬁlicable SEC rules. No member of our audit commitiee simultaneously serves on the audit
committees of more than three public companies, except for Mr. Roberts, who serves on three audit committees
in addition to ours. Our board of directors has determined that Mr. Roberts’ simultaneous service does not itpair
his ability to effectively serve on our audit committee. Our audit committee met 19 times during fiscal 2006.

Compensation Commlttee
The compensation comn‘utlee s responsibilities mclude - ) ,

+ anpually reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our
Chief Strategist, CEC and other executives; : n

+ determining our Chief Strategist’s and CEQ's compensation;

» reviewing and approving, or making recommendations to our board with respect to, the compensanon
of our other executive officers; - . .

» overseeing and administering our cash and equity incentive plans; -

 reviewing and discussing annually with management our “Compensatlon Dlscussmn and AnalySIS
Wthh is included below in this proxy statement; and’ ' \ .

. prepmng the compensation committee report required by SEC rules whxch is included below in th].S
proxy statement.

The compensation committee has the authority to engage its own independent advisor to assist in carrying
out its responsibilities under its charter. The compensation committee has engaged an independent compensation
consultant, Hewilt Associates, or the compensation consultant, to advise the committee in connection with its
oversight of our compensation program. The compensation consultant generally attends meetings of the
compensation committee and also communicates with the compensation committee outside of meetings. The
compensation consultant reports to the compensation committee rather than to management, although the
compensation consultant may meet with management from time to time for purposes of gathering information on
proposals that management may make to the compensation committee. The compensation committee is free to -
replace the compensation consultant or hire additional consultants at any time. The compensation consultant does
not provide any other services to us and receives compensation only with respect to the services provided to the
compensation committee. The processes and procedures followed by our compensation committee in considering
and determining executive compensation are described below uhder the heading “Compensatlon Dlscussmn and
Analysis.” - - - ! ' ‘

Qur Chairman and Chief Strategist and our Chief ExecutiveOfﬁcer, aided by our human resources and
finance departments, provided statistical data and made recommendations to the compensation committee to
assist it in determining 2006 compensation levels. While the compensation committee utilized this information
and valued management’s observations with regard to compensation, the ultimate decisions regarding executive,
compensation were made by the compensation committee.

Compensation committee meetings typically have included, for all or a portion of each meeting, not only the
committee members but also other board members, our Chairman and Chief Strategist, our Chief Executwe
Officer, our Chief Legal Ofﬁcer and our Executive Vlce Pre51dent of Human Resources.

.

The members of our compensation committee are Mr. David (Chairman), Mr. Barris, Mr. Miller and
Governor Ridge. Qur compensation committee met five times during fiscal 2006.

Nominating and Governance Committee . ) .
The nominating and governance committee’s responsibilities include:

* identifying individuals qualified to become board members;

15




.+ recommending to our board the persons to be nominated for election as directors and to each of the
board’s committees; . ;

* reviewing and making recommendations to the board with respect to the compensation of
non-executive directors;

* developing and recommending governance principles to the board; and

+ overseeing an annual evaluation of the board.

The processes and procedures followed by the nominating and governance committee in identifying and
evaluating director candidates are described below under the heading “Director Nomination Process.”

The members of our nominating and governance committee are Mr. Weller (Chairman), Governor Ridge
and Mr. Barris. Our nominating and governance committee met seven times during fiscal 2006,

Director Nomination Process

The process followed by our nominating and governance commitiee to identify and evaluate director
candidates includes requests to board members and others for recommendations, meetings from time to time to
evaluate biographical information and background material relating to potential candidates and interviews of
selected candidates by members of the committee and the board. We also use the services of a third- -party search
firm to identify and evaluate potential director candidates.

In determining whether to recommend any particular candidate for inclusion in the board’s slate of
recommended director nominees, our nominating and governance committee considers a number of factors,
including the candidate’s integrity, business acumen, knowledge of our business and industry, experience,
diligence, conflicts of interest and the ability to act in the interests of all stockholders. The committee does not
assign specific weights to particular criteria, and no particular criterion is a prerequisite for each prospective
nominee. Our board believes that the backgrounds and qualifications of its directors, considered as a group,
should provide a composite mix of experience, knowledge and abilities that will allow it to fulfill its
responsibilities. L . .-

Stockholders may recommend individuals to our nominating and governance committee for consideration as
potential director candidates by submitting their names, together with appropriate biographical information and
background materials and a statement as to whether the stockholder or group of stockholders making the
recommendation has beneficially owned more than 5% of our common stock for at least a year as of the date
such recommendation is made, to the nominating and governance committee, Vonage Holdings Corp., Attn:
Corporate Secretary, 23 Main Street, Holmdel, New Jersey 07733, Assuming that appropriate biographical and
background material has been provided on a timely basis, the committee will evaluate stockholder-recommended
candidates by following substantially the same process, and applying substantially the same criteria, as it follows
for candidates submitted by others, If the board determines to nominate a stockholder-recommended candidate
and recommends his or her election, then his or her name will be included in our proxy card for the next annual
meeting.

Stockhoiders also have the right under our bylaws to directly nominate director candidates, without any
action or recommendation on the part of the commitiee or the board, by following the procedures set forth under
“Questions And Answers About The Proxy Materials And The Annual Meeting- What is the deadline to propose
actions for consideration at next year's annual meeting of stockholders or to nominate individuals to serve as
directors?” Candidates nominated by stockholders in accordance with the procedures set forth in the bylaws will
not be included in our proxy card for the next annual meeting.
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Communicating with the Independent Directors

Our board will give appropriate attention to i&jﬁtt'en communications that are submitted by stockholders and
other interested parties, and will respond if and as appropriate. The Lead Independent Director, with the
assistance of our Chief Legal Officer, is primarily responsible for momtonng communications from stockholders .
and other interested parties and for providing copies or summaries to the other directors as he or she considers
appropriate. The Lead Independent Director serves as the presiding director at all executive sessions of our
non-management directors.

Communications are forwarded to all directors if they relate to important substantive matters and include
suggestions or comments that the Lead Independent Director considers to be important for the directors to know.
In general, communications relating to corporate governance and corporate strategy are more likely to be
forwarded than communications relating to ordinary business affairs, personal grievances and matters as to which
we receive repetitive or duplicative communications. .

Stockholders who wish to send communications on any topic to our board should address such
communications to board of directors, Vonage Holdings Corp., Attn: Corporate Secretary, 23 Main Street,
Holmdel, New Jersey 07733,

Codes of Conduct

We have adopied a code of conduct applicable to all our officers and employees and a finance code of ethics
applicable to our chief financial officer and other employees in our finance organization. The code of conduct
and the finance code of ethics are.posted in the Corporate Governance section of our Investor Relations website,
http./fir.vonage.com/. We will provide you with print copies of our codes free. of charge on written request to
Vonage Holdings Corp., Attn: Corporate Secretary, 23 Main Street, Holmdel, New Jersey 07733. We intend to
disclose any amendments to, or waivers from, provisions of our codes that apply to our principal executive
officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or any person performing similar
functions, on our Investor Relations website promptly following the date of such amendment or waiver.

1 Y . . |

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During fiscal 2006, the members of our compensation committee were Morton David, Peter Barris, J.
Sanford Miller, Governor Thomas J. Ridge and Hugh Panero. Mr. Panero resigned from the board of directors in
August 2006. None of the members of our compensation committee was at any time in fiscal 2006, or formerly,
an officer or employee of Vonage, and none of the members of our compensation committee had any relationship
with Vonage requiring disclosure as a related person transaction under Item 404 of Regulation 8-K. During fiscal,
2006, none of our executive officers served as a member of the compensation committee of any entity that had
one or more executive officers that served on our compensation committee,

Compensation Committee Report

The information contained in this report shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or “filed” with the
SEC or subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent that
Vonage specifically incorporates it by reference into a document filed under the Securities Act of 1933 or the
Exchange Act.

The compensation committee is responsible for evaluating and approving the compensation for the
executive officers. Management has primary responsibility for our financial statements and reporting process,
including the disclosure of executive compensation. The compensation committee has reviewed and discussed
with management the Compensation Discussion and Analysis set forth below. The compensation committee is
satisfied that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis fairly represents the objectives and actions of the
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compensation committee. Based on the foregoing review and discussion, the compensation committee has
recommended to the board of directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this proxy
statement for filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission. .

By the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Vonage Holdings Corp.

Morton David, Chairman
). Sanford Miller

Peter Barris

Governor Tom Ridge

Audit Committee Report

The audit committee has reviewed our audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2006 and discussed them with our management and registered public accounting firm.

The audit committee has also received from, and discussed with, our registered public accounting firm
various communications that our registered public accounting firm is required to provide to the andit commitiee,
including the matters required to be discussed by the Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, as amended
(AICPA, Professional Standards, Vol. 1, AU section 380), as adopted by the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board in Rule 3200T.

The audit committee has received the written disclosures and the letter from our registered public
accounting firm required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 (Independence Standards Board
Standard No. 1, Independence Discussions with Audit Committees), as adopted by the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board in Rule 3600T, and has discussed with our registered public accounting firm their
independence.

Based on the review and discussions referred to above, the audit committee recommended to our board of
directors that the audited financial statements be includéd in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2006, . Lot
By the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of Vonage Holdings Corp.

John I. Roberts, Chairman

Morton David
I, Sanford Miller
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COMPENSATION

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In order to maintain our leadership position in the Voice over Internet Protocol, or VolIP. industry and
achieve our goal of helping people communicate when, where and how they choose, we require enthusiasm,
innovation, dedication, passion and a sense of urgency from all our employees. We expect our executive officers,
including the named executives officers, or NEOs (as more fully described below), to lead with enthusiasm and
integrity while achieving and exceeding corporate goals and thereby increasing stockholder value.

In this Compensation Discussion and Analysis, we address the compensation provided to our NEQs listed in
the Summary Compensation Table that immediately follows this discussion and the goals that we seek to achieve
through our executive compensation program. The NEOs are our Chairman and Chief Strategist, Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Technology Officer, Chief Legal Officer and President of our network
subsidiary. Jeffrey A. Citron was our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer from January 2001 through
February 2006. He resigned from his position as Chief Executive Officer and became our Chief Strategist in
February 2006, when Michael Snyder became our Chief Executive Officer. On April 11, 2007, in connection
with the resignation of Michael Snyder as our Chief Executive Officer, our board of directors appointed
Mr. Citron as our Interim Chief Executive Officer.

The compensation committee of our board of directors oversees and administers our executive '
compensation program, including the evaluation and approval of compensation plans, policies and programs
offered to our NEOs. The compensation committee operates under a written charter adopted by our board of
directors and consists entirely of independent, non-employee directors as determined in dccordance with various
NYSE, SEC and Internal Revenue Code rules. ' '

Compensation Objectives

We have structured our company-wide employee compensation program to attract, develop, motivate and *
retain top talent and to focus our employees, including our NEOs, on key business goals that enhance stockholder
value. Our compensation program reinforces the imp‘ortpfppe of meeting and exceeding-identifiable and
measurable goals through superior awards for superior performance. We use compensation as a means {0
reinforce our desired culture and unigue corporate environment. Qur compensation program is designed to foster
a sense of ownership, urgency and overall entrepreneurial sprit and to link rewards to measurable corporate and
individual performance.

The compensation committee has based our executive compensation on the same overall goals as those
applicable to employee compensation throughout Vonage The 2006 compensation for our executive ofﬁcers was
designed to meet the following objectives:

» Ensure executive compensation is aligned with our corporate strategies and business objectives;

« Condition a substantial portion of an executive officer’s compensation on both short-term and long-
term performance that enhances stockholder value;

+ Reinforce the importance of meeting and exceeding identifiable and measurable goals;

» Provide meaningful equity ownership by our executive officers to align executives’ incentives with the
creation of stockholder value;

» Provide compensation that is competitive in markets in which we compete for executive talent in order
to attract, retain and motivate the best possible talent; and

»  Provide an incentive for long-term continued employment with our company.

To achieve these objectives, the compensation committee evaluates our executive compensation program
with the goal of setting compensation at levels the committee believes are competitive with those of other
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growth technology companies that compete with us for executive talent. Our executive compensation program
ties a substantial portion of each NEO’s overall compensation to key strategic, financial and operational goals.
We also provide a portion of our executive compensation in the form of stock-based awards that vest over time,
which we believe helps retain our executives and aligns their interests with those of our stockholders by allowing
them to participate in our longer term success as reflected in stock price appreciation,

The principal components of 2006 compensation that we provided to our executive ofﬁccrs to meet these
objectives are as follows:

* Salary: Provides competitive compensation;
s Annual Cash Bonus: Provides performance incentives and competitive compensation;

+ Stock Options: Provides performance incentives, competitive compensation, retention incentives and
alignment with stockholder interests; :

*» Restricted Stock Units: Provides performance incentives, competitive compensatlon retention
" incentives and alignment with stockholder interests;

* Perquisites: Provides competitive compensation;

= Insurance, retirement and other employee benefits: Provides competitive benefits and reténtion
incentives; and

0 |
» Severance and change-of control benefits: Provides competitive benefits and retention incentives.

We also provide indirect compensation in the form of broad-based savings and health f_vlans for our
employees, including the NEQOs,

Our compensation committee reviews the compensation program periodically, including each of the above
elements to determine whether they provide appropriate incentives and motivation to our executive officers and
whether they adequately compensate our executive officers relative to comparable officers in other companies
with which we compete for executive talent. Based upon the information and data presented to it, the
compensation committee generally views the compensation paid to our executive officers as fair, reasonable, and
competitive. -

Engagement of Compensation Consultant

The compensation committee has the authority to engage its own independent advisor to assist in carrying
out its responsibilities under its charter. The compensation committee has engaged an independent compensation
consultant, Hewitt Associates, or the compensation consultant, to advise the committee in connection with its
oversight of the Vonage compensation program. For more information on the role of Hewitt Associates, see
“Corporate Governance—Board Committees—Compensation Committee.”

Determination of Competitive Compensation

In assessing competitive compensation for 2006, we relied principally on data published in the Radford
Executive Survey, the Mercer US Executive Compensation Survey, and the Watson Wyatt Top Management
Compensation Survey. We benchmark our salary and target incentive levels and compensation practices as well
as our performance results in relation to other comparable companies. We believe that a group consisting of
companies in the telecommunications industry and companies of similar size in terms of revenue and market
capitalization represents an appropriate comparison group. Such companies have similar attributes and
characteristics to us and are the companies against whom we compete for executive talent.

While we target base salaries for executive officers at the market 50 percentile other than Mr. Citron, we
also seek to provide our executive officers a total cash compensation opportunity, which is base salary and
annual target bonus, at a level that is up to the 75th percentile as measured against the market surveys described
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above. We have targeted Mr. Citron’s. base salary.at the 75th percentage as measured against the market surveys
described below. We also seek to provide our executive officers a total direct compensation opportunity, which is
base salary, annual target bonus and stock-based grants, at a level that is up to the 75th percentile as measured
against the market surveys. We believe these.target levels are appropriate because we set aggressive performance
targets and believe that if achieved, our performance will be commensurate with top quartile performance in the
market. This target philosophy aligns our pay with relative performance. Variations to these general targets may
occur as dictated by the experience level of the individual and market factors. In particular, where an executive
officer is uniquely key to our success, our compensation committee may provide compensation in excess of these
percentiles. :

A significant portion of our.compensation is performance-based, and as a result, actual cash compensation
paid to our NEOs may vary from that paid to executives in the surveys based on achievement of performance
targets. We target to base approximately 60% of an executive officer’s total compensation on variable pay and
long-term stock-based compensation.

Salaries

The objective of our base salary compensation is to provide financial stability through market competitive
salary levels, recognizing experience, knowledge, skills, relative value and sustained contribution to Vonage. We
make annual adjustments to base salary based on individual performance and contributions, market trends,
competitive position and our financial situation. For 2006 compensation, we reviewed the benchmarking data
described above. Based on the Radford surveys, we determined that some of our executive officer salaries were
below the targeted 50th percentile, so we made adjustments to their 2006 salaries to bring them closer to the 50th
percentile. The market data suggested that the following increases would position them at approximately the 50th
percentile, and we provided increases accordingly:

Name Salary Increase 2006 Salary Rate
JohnS.Rego ... e $50,000 -+ $300,000
Louis Mamakos . .................. e e e e $20,000 $220,000
Sharon A. O'Leary .................... e e $40,000 $290,000

Mr. Snyder’s $500,000 base salary for 2006 was determined through the negotiation of his employment
agreement. Mr. Citron’s $600,000 base salary for 2006 was the same base salary that he had under his
employment agreement entered into as of September 2005. This base salary was determined through an
assessment of base salaries at certain comparator companies listed below and Mr. Citron’s significant
contributions to Yonage, including his role as a founder of Vonage. Mr. Citron’s salary was not increased in 2006
and reflected Mr. Citron's transfer of certain responsibilities and duties to Michael Snyder in connection with
Mr. Citron’s transition from Chief Executive Officer to his new position as Chairman and Chief Strategist. The
comparator companies that were analyzed in connection with the review of Mr. Citron’s salary were the
following 15 publicly traded companies with characteristics similar to Vonage:

Alamosa Holdings Inc. Netflix Inc.

Ask Jeeves Inc. Sirius Satellite Radio Inc.
Earthlink Inc. . . TiVo Inc,

Echostar Communications Corp. ‘ ' United Online Inc.

Google Inc. . : United States Cellular Corp.
Infospace Inc. XM Satellite Radio
Interactive Data Corp. Yahoo Inc.

Level 3 Communications Inc.
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Timothy Smith’s base salary was reviewed separately and increased in September 2006 from $175,000 to
$275,000 as a result of the increases in his responsibilities, consideration of internal consistency regarding pay
levels for similar positions within our organization, and his promotion to interim president of the our global
network and systems organization. Mr. Smith’s job responsibilities substantially increased after he was appointed
President of Vonage Network Inc. and assumed leadership of a significant business unit within Vonage.

Annual Cash Bonuses

We have designed our annual cash bonus program to stimulate and support a high-performance environment
by aligning employees’ goals with organizational strategies and operational and financial goals and by
recognizing superior performance. The annual cash bonuses are intended to compensate for the achievement of
these strategic, operational and financial goals and individual performance objectives.

When determining the annual bonuses of our executive officers, the compensation committee takes into
account achievement of objective performance criteria as described below. The compensation committee also
considers discretionary factors such as the executive officer’s personal contribution to Vonage and competitive
factors such as total cash compensation as compared to the companies with which we compete for executive
talent. :

We set target award levels for our executives based on a percentage of their salary. For 2006, the applicable
percentages were as follows: ’

Percentage of Salary Payable at

Name . Target Award Level
JeffreyCitron ... 100%
Michael Snyder ...... ... ... ... . . . 100%
John 8. Rego . ... .. . i e 100%
Louis Mamakos .............. . 0 iiiiiiriiiinnnnnnn 50%
Sharon A.O'Leary ........ ... .. i, 80%
Timothy Smith ........ ... ... . . 50%

For 2006, we based the annual bonuses for the executive officers, in part, on attaining the following
objective performance goals with respect to our annual budget:

* Achievement of our telephony services revenue goal; and

* Achievement of our adjusted operating loss goal.

Vonage defines adjusted operating loss as-loss from operations, as calculated in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP), excluding depreciation and amortization and non-cash stock
compensation expense. Telephony services revenues are derived from monthly subscription fees that we charge
our customers under our service plans, activation fees, termination fees, international calling and other usage
charges.

The compensation committee selected telephony services revenue and adjusted operating loss as measures
of performance because it believed that, as a rapidly-growing company preparing for its initial public offering,
we should reward revenue growth, but only if that revenue growth is achieved cost effectively. Similarly, the
compensaticn committee believed that an income-generating company with little or no growth was not
acceptable. Accordingly, our compensation committee believed the chosen metrics were the best indicators of
financial success and stockhoelder value creation.
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The corporate performance rating for 2006 was determined as follows, based on percentage achicvement of '
the performance goals:

% of Bonus Bonus as a ‘
Budget % T of
Achieved Payable Weighting Target
"Telephony Services Revenue ..................... 96% 90% 75% 67% J
“Adjusted Operating Loss ......................... 69% 23% 25% 6%
Bonus payout as a percent of targetbonus ....... .. .. 73%

In order for the payout for 2006 annual cash bonuses to equal 100% of the targeted bonus payout, the
telephony services revenue achieved had to be a minimum of 132% higher and the adjusted operating loss
achieved had to be a minimum ot 23% lower than the telephony services revenue and adjusted operating toss
achieved in 2005. These targets were viewed as significant stretch targets by both management and the
compensation committee. In calculating our corporate performance rating, our compensation committee may
adjust our results for unusual, non-recurring or other items in the committee’s discretion. To calculate our
corporate performance rating for 2006, we excluded the impact of Universal Service Fund fees because such fees
represent pass-through revenue that is not controlled by our management as well as the impact of our patent
litigation with Verizon. For additional details regarding the calculation of annuat cash bonuses for the NEOs,
please see footnote | for the Grants of Plan-Based Awards-2006 Table.

Based on the corporate performance rating, the determination of the executive officer’s personal
contribution to Vonage, and the recommendation of the committee, our board of directors approved the following
annual bonus payments to our Chairman and Chief Strategist and our Chief Executive Officer:

2006 Award as Percentage

Bonus " of Target Award
Name Award Opportunity
Jeffrey Citron . ... ... .. ... i i, $438,000 13%
Michael Snyder ......... ... ... ... L $302,000 13%

Based on the corporate performance rating and the compensation committee’s determination of the
executive officer’s personal contribution to Vonage, the committee approved the following annual bonus
payments to the following executive officers:

. . 2006 Award as Percentage

. ' . Bonus of Target Award
Name Award Opportunity
JohnS.Rego ... .. ... $£225,000 18%
Louis Mamakos ... ... .....vtimiiiaeaennnns $ 82,000 T6%
Sharon A.O’Leary .......... .. .. ... i it $170,000 76%
Timothy Smith . ....... ... ... . ... ... ... ..... $ 75,000 76%

Long-Term Incentives

We provide long-term incentive compensation through awards of stock options and restricted stock units
that generally vest over multiple years. Qur equity award program is the primary vehicle for offering long-term
incentives to our executive officers. We believe that stock-based grants provide our executive officers with a
strong link to our long-term performance, create an ownership culture and help to align the interests of our
executives and our stockholders. We also believe that the vesting feature of our equity grants furthers our goal of
exectitive retention because this feature provides an incentive to our executive officers to remain in our employ
during the vesting period. In determining the size of equity grants 10 our executive officers, our compensation
committee considers competitive market levels, our company-level performance, the executive’s performance,
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the amount of equity previously awarded to the executive, the vesting of such awards and the recommendations
of management. Stock-based compensation is core to our strategy of paying for performance and retaining key
employees.

New Hire Equity Grants: We make an initial stock-based grant to all newly hired employees, including
executive officers, in order to build an ownership mentality from the beginning of the employment relationship
and in recognition of our fast-paced environment and results-oriented culture, which expects employees to
deliver immediate value. The amount of the stock-based awards granted to new hires who are executive officers
is individually determined by the compensation committee based on the amount determined to be appropriate to
attract such executives and provide them with an ownership stake, thereby ensuring alignment with our goat of
stockholder value creation.

In connection with Michael Snyder’s employment in February 2006 as our Chief Executive Officer,
Mr. Snyder received a sign-on bonus option grant to acquire 892,858 shares of common stock. The amount of
this grant was largely determined based upon the goal of providing Mr. Snyder with enough of an equity i
opportunity to ensure that his interests were aligned with those of our stockholders. New hire grants to other
executive officers who had been recently hired were also considered in determining the amount of Mr. Snyder’s
sign-on option grant.

Annual Stock Option Grants: In 2006, the compensation committee approved stock option grants to the
executive officers based on 2005 corporate performance, competitive market data, the level of the individual’s
responsibility, and individual contributions to Vonage. Although most of these stock options were approved in
January 2006, they were granted as of March 15, 2006 along with all of the other annual grants made to our
employees.

The compensation committee determined, based on the Radford surveys, that some of our executive
officers’ total cash compensation for 2005 fell below the 2005 total cash compensation goal. Therefore, the stock
option grants made in 2006 were adjusted to take into account this shortfall. The compensation committee
recognized that these option grant levels would cause total direct compensation for 2005 to exceed the targeted
75th percentile of market, but the compensation committee determined that each of our exccutive officers made
significant contributions to Vonage during 2005 and their significant effort should be appropriately rewarded.
The extraordinary contributions of each executive officer principally related to a combination of the following, as
appropriate: the executive officer’s role in assisting with our financing activities, his or her role in preparing us
for our initial public offering and operation as a public company, his or her role in the relocation of our corporate
headquarters, and his or her role in our enhanced emergency calling services or E911 compliance and related
regulatory efforts. The compensation committee also took into account the number of stock options that each of
our executive officers had previously been awarded. Accordingly, the executive officers received the following
stock option grants in March 2006:

Name . Stock Options
John 8. REZO o e 250,000
Lotis MamaKos .. .o v vttt it ie ettt et re e e e 142,858
Sharon A. O Leary ... ..ot e 107,143
Timothy Smith .. ... .. e e 78,572

Timothy Smith received an additional 89,286 share option grant in March 2006 to recognize the increased
responsibilities assumed by Mr. Smith, his importance to our overall success, and the critical role performed by
Mr. Smith in connection with the relocation of our corporate headquarters in November 2005. In addition, the
compensation committee sought to bring the equity awarded to Mr. Smith more in line with that granted to other
executive officers.

We did not grant stock options to Mr. Citron in 2006, because in August 2005 we made a special option
grant to Mr: Citron to purchase 3,571,429 shares of our common stock at the fair market value per share of our
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stock on the date of grant. This grant was made to Mr. Citron in recognition of his valuable contributions as our
founder, to further align Mr. Citron’s interests as Chief Executive Officer with those of our stockholders, and to
provide additional incentives for Mr. Citron to continue to position us for our initial public offering. At that time,
the compensation commitiee indicated that it did not intend to consider additional stock-based grants 1o

Mr. Citron prior 1o 2007.

Special Retention RSU Grant: In August 2006, we made a special grant of restricted stock units to our
employees, including executive officers, in an effort to minimize employee attrition and boost morale. We
believe that restricted stock units provide a strong incentive to increase stockholder value by providing
employees with a more predictable value than stock options. While this was the first time that we had issued
restricted stock units to any of our employees, we followed the market trend of including restricted stock units as
a component of our long-term compensation strategy. The compensation committee based the grant amounts for
the executive officers on the recommendation of our Chairman and Chief Strategist, as well as the officer’s
individual performance, risk of departure, difficulty of replacement and importance to our future. The restricted
stock units vest annually over a four-year period. The executive officers received the following restncled stock
unit grants in August 2006:

Restricted Stock
Name Units
Michael Smyder ... ... ... .. . . 50,000
John S Re0 .. i i i e e 50,000
LouisMamakos . ....... ... .. ..o i e 25,000
Sharon A. O'Leary ... .. .. e e 50,000
Timothy Smith . ...... ... ... 50,000

The number of shares underlying aptions and restricted stock units granted to the executive officers in 2006
are set forth below in the Grants of Plan Based Awards table. The dollar amounts shown in the Summary
Compensation Table for stock-based awards generally reflect the dollar amounts recognized for financial
statement purposes in 2006. Therefore, the Summary Compensation Table includes amounts with respect to
options and restricted stock units granted in 2006 and pnor years. See the footnotes to the Summary
Compensation Table for further information:

Stock Ownership Guidelines: During 2006, we did not have stock ownership guidelines for our executive
officers because we had just completed our initial public offering. However, the compensation commitiee has
recommended that we adopt such guidelines in 2007.

Perquisites

We seck to maintain an egalitarian culture in our facilities and operations. We do not have separate parking
or dining facilities for executive officers, and we generally do not have programs for providing personal benefit
perquisites.to executive ofticers. However, some of our NEOs negotiated certain personal benefit perquisites in
connection with their employment arrangements. We pay premiums for medical, dental, short-term disability,
long-term disability, and life and accidental death and dismemberment coverage for Louis Mamakos, Michael
Snyder, Jeffrey Citron, and John Rego. We pay premiuims for short-term disabitity, long-term disability, and life
and accidental death and dismemberment coverage for Sharon O’ Leary. The incremental costs for these
perquisites are shown in the Summary Compensation Table.

Broad-Based Programs

Our executive officers participate in our broad-based medical, dental and vision insurance, long-term and
short-term disability insurance, life and accidental death and dismemberment insurance, health and dependent
care flexible spending accounts, relocation services, and 401(k) savings plan. Under the 401(k) savings plan, we
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match employee contributions at the rate of 50% for each dollar contributed up to $6,000. The matching
contributions vest based on a three-year cliff vesting schedule.

The 401(k) savings plan and other generally available benefit programs allow us to remain competitive for
employee talent. We believe that the availability of these benefit programs generally enhances employee
productivity and employee loyalty.

Retention of Michael Snyder

The 2006 compensation of Michael Snyder, our former Chief Executive Officer, was largely based on the
terms of an employment agreement that he negotiated with us in connection with the commencement of his
employment in February 2006. The compensation included in Mr. Snyder’s employment agreement was in large
part determined based on the compensation paid to his predecessor as Chief Executive Officer. In addition, the
compensation committee reviewed the compensation paid to our other executive officers in setting Mr. Snyder’s
compensation. On April 11, 2007, Michael Snyder stepped down from his position as Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
and resigned from our board of directors,

Retention of Jeffrey Citron

The 2006 compensation of Jeffrey Citron, our Chairman and Chief Strategist, was largely based on the
terms of an amended and restated employment agreement that we entered into in connection with his elevation to
the position of Chairman and Chief Strategist in February 2006. The February 2006 employment agreement was
generally based upon the terms of Mr. Citron’s earlier employment agreement, which was entered into as of
September 2005. In connection with establishing the compensation arrangements contained in the September
2005 employment agreement, the compensation committee requested that its compensation consultant review the
then current provisions of Mr, Citron's employment agreement in July 2005 and provide guidance on
compensation levels. The following data sources provided the basis for the compensation consultant’s report and
the compensation committee’s determination: Executive Employment Agreements Among Forfune 200
Companies, 2004; Executive Change-in-Control Arrangements Anllong Fortune 200 Companies, 2004; Executive
Severance Arrangements (not related to change in control) Among Fortune 200 Companies, 2004; internal
databases maintained by the compensation consultant; and proxy filings for the comparator companies listed
under “Salaries” above. On April 11, 2007, in connection with the resignation of Michael Snyder as our Chief
Executive Officer, our board of directors appointed Mr. Citron as our Interim Chief Executive Officer.

M. Citron is expected to serve in this role on a short-term basis.

Equity Grant Practices

The compensation committee approves all grants of stock options and restricted stock units, except for
grants to newly hired employees below the Senior Vice President level, as described below. The compensation
committee usually makes annual grants in March of each year in connection with our regularly scheduled March
compensation committee meeting. The compensation committee makes grants for newly hired or newly
promoted officers at the time of hire or promotion, and otherwise makes grants at other times of the year only in
special circumstances. In 2006, as described earlier, the compensation committee made special grants of
restricted stock units in order to boost morale and retain employees.

The compensation committee has established formal guidelines by which initial option grants are made to
newly hired employees. The Chief Strategist and the Chief Executive Officer, acting singly or together, are
authorized to make initial stock option grants to newly hired employees at the Vice President level or below, as
long as the grants are within the guidelines approved by the compensation committee. The grants are reported to
the compensation committee at its next regularly scheduled meeting. Newly hired hourly employees receive an
automatic grant of restricted stock units effective upon the date of hire.
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We do not backdate grants of stock options or restricted stock units, nor do we time grants to coincide with
the release of material non-public information about Vonage.

Prior to the completion of our initial public offering in May 2006, we determined the fair value of our
common stock based upon (i) the implied valuations suggested by arms-length transactions in our common stock
and various series of our convertible preferred stock and convertible notes and (ii) a number of other factors,
including discounted cash flow analysis of our financial results and other metrics such as revenue multiples,
EBITDA multiples and-subscriber line multiples. Because the discounted cash flow analysis took into account all
elements of our fifancia} performance, we selected the midpoint of the discounted cash flow analysis as the basis
for determining our initial public offering price target. Based upon the available information, we determined that
the fair value of our common stock between the filing of our initial registration statement and the completion of
the initial public offering would initially be equal to 80% of the initial public offering price target, and would *
increase each month based upon growth of the business, up to a maximum value of 95% of the initial public
offering price target. This methodology was meodified slightly in December 2005 to adjust the common stock
price to the then-effective conversion price of ‘'our convertible notes of $14.22, as the convertible notes were sold
in arm'’s length transactions. We believe that this approach provided for an appropriate option pricing model
leading up to an initial public offering bécause it factored in the growth of the business as the initial public
offering approached, but also recognized that there should be some level of discount given r.hat there is some
element of risk assoc:atcd w1t]1 the mmng of an initial public offermg '

After our initial public offering, we set the exercise price of stock options based on the closing price of our
common stock on the day before the date of grant as reported on the NYSE. We changed this practice in August
2006, so that the exercise price of options is now based on the closing sale price of a share of our common stock
on the date of grant as reported on the NYSE, or, if there were no sales on that date, on the most recent date on
which a sale occurred. We made this change in response to the SEC amendments to its executive compensation
disclosure rules, which require additional information if the exercise price of options is not determined based on
the closing price of the stock on the principal trading market on the date of grant.

Ongoing and Post-Employment Compensétjo}:

We have employment agreements with each of our NEOs except for Timothy Smith, which set forth the
terms of their employment with us. We believe that the employment agreements provide a competitive total
compensation package that enhances our ability to retain capable executives. The employment agreements
provide financial security, in the form of severance compensation, to an executive officer in the event the
executive officer’s employment is terminated without cause or his or her responsibilities are significantly
diminished. The agreements also provide clear statements of the rights of the executive officers and protect them
against an unfavorable change in employment terms by an acquirer in the event of a change in control. Qur
executive officers are bound by confidentiality, non-solicitation and non-competition covenants that protect our
confidential infermation and business,

Generally, the employment agreements provide for payments and other benefits if we terminate an
executive officer’s employment without cause, or if an executive officer terminates employment for “good
reason.” We believe that these benefits are appropriate for the caliber of executives hired and for the size of
Vonage. Moreover, these arrangements are intended to attract and retain qualified executives who have
alternatives that may appear to them to be less risky absent these arrangements.

In the event of a termination of Mr. Rego’s or Ms. O’Leary’s employment without cause or for good reason,
in each case on or after a change in control of Vonage, Mr. Rego’s and Ms. O’Leary’s outstanding stock options
and restricted stock units will vest in full. Mr. Rego and Ms. O’Leary’s change in control benefits are structured
as “double trigger” benefits. In other words, the change in control does not itself trigger equity vesting; rather,
equity vesting occurs only if their employment is terminated during a specified period after the change in control.
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Mr. Citron’s and Mr. Snyder’s employment agreements provide for “single trigger” change in control equity
vesting. All of Mr. Snyder’s outstanding stock options will vest in full-upon a change in control of Vonage.
Mr. Citron’s employment agreement provides for acceleration of vesting of stock-based compensation in the
event of termination of employment without cause, termination of employment for “good reason”, or in the event
of a change in control of Vonage. _ .

We believe that the change in control benefits that we have provided to Mr. Rego, Ms. O’Leary, ,
Mr. Snyder, and Mr. Citron provide the appropriate incentives to cooperate in negotiating any change in control
of Vonage without regard to the potential effect on their positions. The enhanced change in control benefits
granted to Mr. Snyder were designed to encourage him to join us as our Chief Executive Officer in the middle of
our initial public offering. Mr. Citron’s change in control benefits were provided in recognition of his role as our
founder and his efforts to position us for our initial public offering.

Under Mr. Citron’s employment agreement, if Mr. Citron becomes liable for payment of any excise tax
under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code with respect to any payment in connection with.a change in
control, we will make an additional payment to him. This payment is designed so that, after payment of all excise
taxes and any other taxes payable in respect of the additional payment, Mr. Citron will retain the same amount as
if no excise tax had been imposed. The committee believes that these payments relating to the excise tax are
appropriate to preserve the intended benefits under Mr. Citron’s employment agreement. See “Potential
Paymenis Upon Termination or Change in Control” for further information regarding the employment
agreements for the NEOs.

Tax Considerations

Section 162(m) of the Intemal Revenue Code limits to $1 mlllmn the deductibility for federal income tax
purposes of annual compensation paid by a pubhcly held company to its chief executive officer and its four other
highest paid executives, unless certain conditions are met. We structure our, stock options to preserve, to the
extent otherwise available, the deductibility of income realized upon the exercise of stock options. While we and
the Committee may take actions in the future to ensure deducublhty of other elements of pay, the committee
retains the flexibility to authorize compensation that may. not be deductible if we believe it is in the best interests
of our company. While the compensation for each of the NEOs exceeded the $1 million deductmn limit in 20006,
we determined that these amounts were appropnate under the circumstances.

ko ok ok koK koK
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- Summary Compensation Table—2006

Non-Equity .
Name and ’ ' Stock Option - - Incentive Plan All Other
Principal Position Year Salary Bonus(l) Awards(2) Awards{3) Compensation (4) Compensation -~  Total
Michael Snyder (5) .... 2006 $413,462 - $68,113 34,551,696 $302,000 B111,049(6) $5,446,320
CEO . y
Jeffrey A. Ciron (7) ... 2006 $663,077(8) — - —  $4354257 $438,000 $ 21,242(9) $5,476,576
Chairman and Chief
Strategist )
JohnS.Rego ......... 2006 $288.846 $14,103 $68,113  $1,457.077 $210,897 $  9,402(10) $2,048,438
Executive Vice ’
President, CFO and
Treasurer . . . .
! Sharon A. O'Leary .... 2006 $281,077 % 5,838 $68,113 § 715,608 $164,162 $ 12,906(11) $1,247,704
Executive Vice ‘ .
President, Chief .
Legal Officer and ,
Secretary )
Louis A. Mamakos .... 2006 $215538 3 3306 $34,056 $§ 861,925 $ 78,694 $ 8,244(12) $1,201,763
Chief Technology ‘
Officer

(1)
(2

{3)

4

®

(6)

Timothy Smith ....... 2006 $198,077 $ 2,693 $68,113 $ 818452 5 72,307 $ 6,000013) $1,165,642
President, Vonage . .
Network Inc.

The amounts reported represent discretionary cash bonuses earned during 2006,

Stock awards consist only of restricted stock units. The amounts shown do not reflect compensation actually
received by the named executive officer. Instead, the amounts shown are the compensation costs recognized
by us in 2006 with respect to stock awards for financial statement purposes, computed in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or' SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment,” or
SFAS 123R, but without giving effect to estimated forfeitures. The assumptions used to calculate the value
of stock awards are set forth under Note | of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 filed with the SEC on April 17,
2007. '

The amounts shown do not reflect compensation actually received by the named executive officer. Instead,
the amounts shown are the compensation costs recognized by us in 2006 with respect to stock options for
financial statement purposes, computed in accordance with SFAS 123R, but without giving effect to
estimated forfeitures. These compensation costs reflect options granted in and prior to 2006. The
assumptions used to calculate the value of stock options are set forth under Note 1 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2006 filed with the SEC on April 17, 2007.

The amounts in this column represent total performance-based bonuses earned for services rendered during
2006. These bonuses were based on our financial performance. The bonuses earned in 2006 were paid in
2007. Please see the section titled “Annual Cash Bonuses” in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis as
well as foornote 1 of the Grants of Plan-Based Awards—2006 table for more information regarding our
bonus plan and performance measures.

On April 11, 2007, Michael Snyder stepped down from his position as Chief Executive Officer and resigned
from our board of directors.

This amount consists of $108,805 in relocation expense reimbursement paid to Mr. Snyder and our payment
on behalf of Mr. Snyder of premiums for accidental death and dismemberment, term life, medical, dental
and short- and long-term disability insurance.
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(7) Mr. Citron was formerty our Chief Executive Officer and became our Chairman and Chief Strategist as of
February 27, 2006, On April 11, 2007, in connection with the resignation of Michael Snyder as our Chief
Executive Officer, our board of directors appointed Mr. Citron as our interim Chief Executive Officer.
M. Citron is expected to serve in the role on a short-term basis. ‘

(8) This amount includes a payment of $63,077 on February 3, 2006 due to an administrative oversight in
implementing the $200,000 base salary increase that Mr. Citron received in 2005 under his September 2005
employment agreement, which raised his base salary from $400,000 to $600,000.

(9) This amount consists of our payment on behalf of Mr. Citron of premiums for accidental death and
dismemberment, term life, medical, dental and short- and long-term disability insurance, the cost to us
related to the office use by two employees of companies affiliated with Mr. Citron and our matching
contribution under our tax-qualified 401(k) plan.

(10) This amount consists of our payment on behalf of Mr. Rego of premiums for accidental death and
dismemberment, term life, medical, dental and short- and long-term disability insurance and our matching
contribution under our tax-qualified 401(k) plan.

(11) This amount consists of relocation expense reimbursement paid to Ms. O’Leary and our payment on behalf
of Ms. O’Leary of premiums for accidental death and dismemberment, term life and short- and long-term
disability insurance.

- t
(12) This amount consists of our payment on behalf of Mr. Mamakos of premiums for accidental death and
dismemberment, term life, medical, dental, short- and long-term disability insurance and our matching
contribution under our tax-qualified 401(k) plan.

(13) Reflects our matching contribution under our tax-qualified 401(k) plan.

The relationship of each named executive officer’s base salary in proportion to the amount in the “Total”
column is as follows:

o ' . Salary asa %

, . of Total
Name ‘ o Compensation
Michael Snyder .................. e P 7.6%
Jeffrey A. Citron .....cooovvenninn. e 12.1%
JOMNS. REGO s etteeeee e et e e e et e e 14.1%
Sharon A. OPLEAIY ...\ ovoverene e et anaaa e 22.5%
Louis A. MamaKoS .. ...oovrrrarsiriraennareranananseissonnesas 17.9%
Timothy Smith ....:.......... S 17.0%
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards—2006

R . All Other All Other
lgstlmalel}i l;ossg) € Gtock Awards: Option Awards: Grant Date
Ey ou{s ln err von- Number of Number of  Exercise or Fair Value
Date of P:Il:: X “cfj" 21‘; Shares of Securities Base Price  of Stock

Grant Corporate an Awarcs Stock Underlying of Option and Option
Name Date Action Threshold Target or Units (2) Options (3)  Awards (4) Awards (5)
Michael Snyder ...... 242712006 2/612006 892,858 $15.06 $7.156,546
8/4/2006 8/412006 50,000 $ 241477

$10,337 $413,462

Jeffrey A. Citron ..... $15,000 $600,000
John S.Rego ........ 3/15/2006 1/19/2006 250,000 $15.06 $1,996512
81412006 8/412006 50,000 $ 241477

$ 7,221 5288.846
Louis A, Mamakos ... 3/15/2006 1/19/2006 142,858 $15.06 $1,140,868
8/4/2006 8/4/2006 25,000 $ 120,735

$ 2,694 $107,769
Sharon A. Q'Leary ... 3/15/2006 1/19/2006 107,143 51506 3 855,654
8/4/2006 8/4/2006 50,000 § 241477

$ 5622 $224,862
Timothy Smith .. ..... 3/15/2006(6) 3/23/2006 167,858 $15.06  $1,335,040
8/472006 8/412006 50,000 $ 241477

$ 2476 $ 99.039

(1) The amount shown represents the minimum and target award payout amounts for each named executive
officer under our bonus plan for 2006 performance. The actual payouts are reflected in the “Non-Equity
Incentive Plan Compensation” column in the Summary Compensation Table. Please see the section titled
*Annual Cash Bonuses” in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis for more information regarding our
bonus plan and performance measures. The amount shown in the “Target” column represents the target
percentage for each named executive officer’s 2006 base salary, For 2006 the target percentages were:
100% for each of Messrs. Snyder, Citron and Rego, 50% for Mr. Mamakos; 80% for Ms. O’ Leary and 50%
for Mr. Smith. The bonus is uncapped, so there is no set maximum. The amount shown in the “Threshold”
column represents the amount payable if only the minimum level of company performance is attained,
which is 2.5% of the target amount shown above. As discussed in the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis, the annual cash bonus awards are attributable to financial performance measures, which are
Telephony Services Revenue and Adjusted Operating Loss, weighted at 75% and 25%, respectively. The

" bonus plan provides that if company performance is less than or equal to 60% of the targeted revenue and
operating loss goals, each reviewed separately for achievement, no bonus amount is paid to the named
executive officer under that particular metric. In order to receive payments under the bonus plan, at Jeast one
of the financial metrics must be equal to or greater than 61% of the targeted goal. For each percentage point
above 61%, the named executive officer would be entitled to additional 2.5% of potential bonus with no set
maximum. Therefore, if company performance exceeded 100%, then for each percentage point above 100%,
the named executive officer would be entitled to an additional 2.5% of potential bonus. For example, if
company performance for each metric was 150% of the goal, the named executive officer would be entitled
10 225% of the target bonus amount, ‘

The table below displays percentage points of the goal achieved and the resulting potential bonus payout.
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(2)

(3)

4)

% of Potential

Attainment Bonus %

_ofGoal Payout
150% 225.0%
125% 162.5%
102% 105.0%
101% 102.5%
100% 100.0%
99% 97.5%
98% 95.0%
97% 92.5%
96% 90.0%

The 2007 bonus payment for 2006 performance is made based on the metrics described above and in the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis, at 73% of target, and is shown in the Summary Compensation
Table in the column titled “Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation.” Because the compensation
committee also considers discretionary factors in determining an executive officer’s bonus, such as the
executive officer’s personal contribution to Vonage and competitive factors such as total cash compensation
as compared to the companies with which we compete for executive talent, bonus payments were adjusted
upwards by approximately 5% for Mr. Rego and approximately 3% for each of Ms. O'Leary and Messrs.
Mamakos and Smith for each of their contributions to Vonage. These npward adjustments are shown in the
“Bonus” column in the Summary Compensation Table—2006.

Amounts in this column represent restricted stock units granted under our 2006 Incentive Plan. These grants
were a special grant to our employees, including our named executive officers, in an effort to minimize
employee attrition and boost morale. Please see the section titled “Special Retention RSU Grant” in the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis for more information regarding these grants. The restricted stock
units vest in equal annual installments on the first through fourth anniversaries of August 4, 2006. For each
of Mr. Snyder, Mr. Rego and Ms. O'Leary, in the event such executive officer’s employment terminates not
later than 180 days after a change in control, due to termination by us without cause or by the executive
officer for good reason, any remaining unvested restricted stock units will vest as of the date of termination
of employment. For each of Mr. Mamakos and Mr. Smith, ini the event that such executive officer’s
employment terminates not later than 180 days after a change in control, due to termination by us without
cause or by the executive officer for good reason, the restricted stock units will vest as to one-half the
number of unvested restricted stock units as of the date of termination of employment. For more information
please see the section titled *Ongoing and Post-Employment Compensation” in our Compensation
Discussion and Analysis for a discussion of the acceleration of our stock-awards upon a change in control.

Amounts in this column represent stock options granted under our 2001 Stock Incentive Plan. The options
for Mr. Snyder vest in equal monthly installments over a period of four years beginning on March 31, 2006.
The options for each of the other named executive officers vest in equal monthly installments over a period
of four years beginning on April 30, 2006. For each of Mr. Snyder, Mr. Rego and Ms. O’Leary, in the event
of a change in control, any remaining unvested options will vest. For each of Mr. Mamakos and Mr. Smith,
in the event that such executive officer’s employment terminates not later than 180 days after a change in
control, due to termination by us without cause or by the executive officer for good reason, the options will
vest as to one-half the number of unvested options as of the date of termination of employment. For more
information please see the section titled “Ongoing and Post-Employment Compensation” in our
Compensation Discussion and Analysis for a discussion of the acceleration of our stock options upon a
change in control.

The amounts in this column represent the fair market vajue of a share of our common stock, as determined
by our board of directors, on the option’s grant date, which was prior to the date of our initial public offering

‘and prior to our listing on the NYSE. Please see the section titled “Equity Grant Practices” in the

Compensation Discussion and Analysis for a discussion of how we valued our common stock prior to our
listing on the NYSE.

32




(5) The value of a stock award or option award is based on the fair value as of the grant date of such award
determined under SFAS 123R. Stock awards consist only of restricted stock units. Regardless of the value
placed on a stock option on the grant date, the actual value of the option will depend on the market value of
our common stock at such date in the future when the option is exercised, less the exercise price. ‘

(6) Mr, Smith was not an exccutive officer in March 2006, Therefore the stock option awards granted to him in
March 2006 were not granted by the compensation committee, but were instead granted by the Chief
Executive Officer and reported to the compensation commitiee in accordance with the compensation
committee’s policies. Please see the section title “Equity Grant Practices” in the Compensation Discussion
and Analysis for a discussion of our equity grant practices.

Name

Michael Snyder .....

Jeffrey A. Citron . ...

John 8. Rego .......

Louis A. Mamakos

Sharon A. O’Leary

Timothy Smith . ... ..

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End—2006

Option Awards Stock Awards

. Market

Number of Number of ~ Number of Value of

Securities Securities Shares or Shares or

Underlying Underlying Units of Units of

Unexercised Unexercised Qplion Option Stock that Stock that

Options (#) Options (#) Exercise  Expiration Have Not Have Not

Exercisable  Unexercisable (1) Price Date Vested (1) (2) Vested (3)
.......... 186,012 706,846(4) $15.06 2/27/2016

50,000 $347,000
.......... 15,625 _ $ 644 9/18/2010
400,935 — § 070 6/19/2012
48,661 —_— $ 1.40 9/18/2013
1,018,446 727490(5) $ 1.76 ©/1/2014
148,808 208,335(6) $ 7.42  4/1/2015
1,190,458 2,380,971(7) § 8.82 8/1/2015
.......... 53511777 —  $070 10/1/2012
33,482 T11,161(8) § 1.40  8/1/2013
. 53,571 53,572(9) $ 176 2/27/2014
77,231 108,127(6) § 7.42  4/1/2015
.29,762 59,524(7) §$ 8.82  8/1/2015
46,875 203,125(10) $15.06 3/15/2016

. 50,000 $347,000
.......... 26,786 26,786(11) § 1.76  7/30/2014
37,202 52,084(6) $§ 7.42  4/172015
29,762 59,524(7) § 8.82- 8/1/2015
26,786 116,072(10) $15.06  3/15/2016

’ 25,000 $173,500
.......... 59,523 119,049(7) § 8.82 8/8/2015
20,089 87,054(10) $15.06 3/15/2016

50,000 $347,000
.......... 3,125 7:590(12) $11.73  10/9/2015
29,612 138,246(10) $15.06 3/15/2016

50,000 $347,000

(1} Please see the section titled “Ongoing and Post-Employment Compensation” in our Compensation
Discussion and Analysis for a discussion of the acceleration of our stock-awards upon a change in control.

(2) The restricted stock units vest in equal annual installments on the first through fourth anniversaries of
August 4, 2006. Vested units are payable in shares of our common stock, net of any withholding taxes owed,
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(3) Based on the closing price of our common stock as of December 29, 2006 ($6.94), as reported on the NYSE.
(4) The options vest in equal monthly installments over a period of four years beginning on March 31, 2006.

{(5) The options vest in equal monthly installments over a period of four years beginning on July 31, 2004.

(6) The options vest in equal monthly installments over a period of four years beginning on May 31, 2005.

(7) The options vest in equal monthly installments over a period of four years beginning on September 30,
2005. .

(8) The options vest in four equal annual installments over a period of four years beginning on August 1, 2003.

(9) The options vest in four equal annual installments over a period of four years beginning on February 27,
2004.

(10) The options vest in equal monthly installments over a period of four years beginning on April 30, 2006.
(11) The options vest in four equal annual installments over a period of four years beginning on July 30, 2004.

(12) The options vest in equal monthly installments over a period of four years beginning on November 30,
2005.

POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE IN CONTROL

The following are descriptions of our employment agreements with our named executive officers. The table
following the description of our employment agreements quantifies the potential payments and benefits under our
arrangements with each named executive officer to which the named executive officer would be entitled to for
various scenarios involving a terminatton of employment or change-in-control. The amounts shown assume that
the termination was effective as of December 31, 2006, and thus includes amounts earned through such time and
are estimates of the amounts which would be paid out to the executives upon their termination. The actual
amounts to be paid out can only be determined at the time of such executive’s separation.

Employment Agreements
Michael Snyder

On April 11, 2007, Mr. Snyder stepped down from his position as Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Snyder’s
employment agreement had an initial term of two years and would have automatically renewed for additional
one-year periods, unless either party gave notice at least 90 days prior to the end of the then-current term. In the
event of a change in control, the term would have been automatically extended until the first anniversary of the
change of control, subject to automatic annual renewals as described above. As Chief Executive Officer,

Mr. Snyder reported to our board of directors and was responsible for the day-to-day management and operation
of our business, including the supervision of our finance, legal and human resource functions and the business
activities of our principal operating units in the United States, United Kingdom and Canada. Under his
employment agreement, Mr. Snyder was entitled to receive an annual base salary of $500,000, subject to review
by our compensation committee, On March 14, 2007, our compensation committee recommended a pay increase
for Mr. Snyder from $500,000 to $550,000, effective April 1, 2007, which was approved by our board of
directors. Mr. Snyder also was eligible to receive an annual discretionary performance-based bonus in
accordance with our annual bonus program for senior execultives.

In February 2006, we granted Mr. Snyder a sign-on bonus in the form of options to acquire 892,858 shares
of our common stock at a price per share equal to the then fair market value of a share of our common stock.

Under the terms of his employment agreement, if Mr. Snyder’s employment is terminated without cause or
he resigns with good reason and, in each case, Mr. Snyder provides us with a general release of claims, he is
entitled to a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination payable on the date such bonus would have been
payable, an amount equal to two times his base salary payable in (1) substantially equal installments over the
lesser of (x)} a six month period, or (y) such shorter period that is the longest permissible in order for the payment
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not to be considered nonqualified deferred compensation under the tax code, or (2} a lump-sum payment six
months after separation, and up to $50,000 of outplacement services. If Mr. Snyder’s employment is terminated
by reason of death or disability, he is entitled to.a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination and an
" amount equal to his base salary fof one year (reduced by the net amount of any disability benefits received by
Mr. Snyder under our group disability policy). If Mr. Snyder’s employment is terminated for cause or he resigns
without good reason, Mr. Snyder is only entitled to receive his unpaid base salary through and including the date
of termination or re51gnat10n In the event of a change in control, Mr. Snyder’s ouistanding stock opuons vest in
full. " '
Under the terms of Mr. Snyder’s employment agreement, he agreed not to disclose any confidential
information concerning our business. In addition, Mr. Snyder agreed not to solicit or to'interfere with our
relationship with any of our employees, officers or representatives or to interfere with our relationship with any
of our customers, clients, suppliers, licensees or other businéss relations until 12 months following termination of
his employment. Furthermore, Mr. Snyder entered into our form noncompetition agreement pursuant to which he
has agreed not to engage in, become interested in, enter into employment with or provide services to any business
(or any person, firm or corporation engaged in any business) that directly competes wnth our business until ‘.
12 months following termination of his employment

We are currently discussing a potential severance arrangement with Mr. Snyder, the terms of which have not
been finalized.

Jeffrey Citron

Effective February 8, 2006, we entered into an amended and restated employment agrecment with
Mr. Citron-providing for his employment as our Chairman and Chief Strategist. On April 11, 2007, in connection
with the resignation of Michael Snyder as our Chief Executive Officer, our board of directors appointed
Mr. Citron as our Interim Chief Executive Officer. The term of Mr. Citron’s agreement, which will end'on
December 31, 2008, will automatically renew for additional-one-year periods, unless either party gives notice at
least 90 days prior to the end of the then-current-term. In addition, in the event of a change in control as defined
under our 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, the term will be extended to the first anniversary of such event, subject to
automatic annual renewals as described above. : ‘

Under his employment agreement, Mr. Citron is entitled to receive an annual base salary of at least
$600,000.-Mr. Citron also is eligible to feceive an annual discretionary performance-based bonus in accordance |
with olir annual bonus program for senior executives. Mr. Citron’s employment agreement contains a target
annual bonus equal to 100% of Mr. Citron’s annual base salary. .

Under his agreement, we also will provide Mr. Citron with, and pay the cost of premium payments on, a
term life’insurance policy that provides for a death benefit of at least $1.5 million. The agreement also provides
that, with reSpect to reasonable business-related airline expenses, Mr. Citron will be eligible for air travel
reimbursement based on the cost of a first-class ticket on a commercial.airline to and from the applicable
business destinations and that any additional business-related airline expenses incurred, directly or indirectly, by
Mr. Citron with respect to other employees shall be paid in accordance with our travel policy.

¢
4 . | [ . ' 1 »

During the term of his employment agreement, if we terminate Mr. Citron’s employment without cause or -
he resigns with good reason and, in each case, Mr. Citron provides us with a general release of claims, he will be
entitled to a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination, an amount equal to two times the sum of his |
annual base salary payahlie within 15 days of the effective date of the general release and annual bonus for the
prior year payable within 15 days of the effective date of the general release, the payment of premiums for group
health continuation coverage for a period of 18 months, 100% accelerated vesting and exercisability of the
unvested portion of any equity-based awards or other long-term incentive compensation without regard to the
satisfaction of any performance criteria, and the right to exercise each stock option for 12 months following
termination of employment or; if earlier, until the expiration of the original maximum term of such option. In the
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event of Mr. Citron’s death or disability during the term of his employment agreement, he will receive the same
termination benefits as described above in the case of a termination without cause or resignation for good reason,
except that he or his estate will receive a payment equal to one times, rather than two times, his salary and prior
year’s bonus. In the event we terminate Mr. Citron’s employment for cause or he resigns without good reason, he -
would only be entitled to receive his unpaid base satary through and including the date of termination or
resngnatlon

Immedlalely priorto a change in control, all unvested equity-based or other long-term incentive awards held
by Mr. Citron will fully vest and become exercisable without regard to the satisfaction of any performance
criteria. Mr. Citron also will be grossed up for any excise taxes payable. by him under the Internal Revenue
Code’s “golden parachute tax rules. . .

Under the terms of Mr. Citron’s employment agreement, he has agreed not to disclose any confidential
information concerning our business. In addition, Mr. Citron has agreed not to solicit or to interfere with our
relationship with any of our employees, officers or representatives or to solicit any of our customers, clients,
suppliers, licensees or other business relations until three years following termination of his employment.
Furthermore, Mr. Citron has entered into our form noncompetition agreement pursuant to which he has agreed
not to engage in, become interested in, enter into employment with or provide services to any business (or any
person, firm or corporation engaged in any business) that directly competes with our business until three years
following termination of his employment.

John §. Rego

Effective August 1, 2005, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Rego providing for his
employment as our Chief Financial Officer for an initial term of two years. The term will automatically renew for
additional one-year periods, unless either party gives notice at least 90 days prior to the end of the then-current
term. In the.event of a change in control, the term will also be automatically extended until the first anniversary
of the change of control. Under his employment agreement, Mr. Rego is entitled to receive an annual base salary
of $250,000, subject to review by our compensation committee and our Chief Executive Officer. On January 18,
2006, our compensation committee raised Mr. Rego’s salary to $300,000, effective March 15, 2006. Mr. Rego
also is eligible to receive an annual discretionary performance-based bonus in accordance with our annual bonus
program for senior executives. Annual bonus payments under the program generally are related to the
achievement of revenue and income (loss) from operations before depreciation and amortization targets, as well
as personal contribution. Our budget and business plan for the last several years has involved significant net
losses and losses from operations before depreciation and amortization. Therefore, annual bonuses are paid even
if we have net losses or losses from operations before depreciation and amortization. .

During the term of his employment agreement, if we terminate Mr. Rego’s employment without cause or he
resigns with good reason and, in each case, Mr. Rego provides us with a general release of claims, he will be
entitled to a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination payable on the date such bonus would have been
payable and an amount equal to his base salary for the longer of one year and the remainder of the term payable
in substantially equal instaliments over the lesser of (1) a six-month period, or (2) such shorter period that is the.
longest period permissible in order for payments not to be considered nonqualified deferred compensation under
the tax code. If Mr. Rego’s employment is terminated by reason of death or disability, he will be entitled to a
prorated annual bonus forthe year of termination and an amount equal to his base salary for one year (reduced by
the net amount of any disability benefits received by Mr. Rego under our group disability policy). In the event we
terminate Mr. Rego’s employment for cause or he resigns without good reason, he would only be entitled to
receive his unpaid base salary through and including the date of termination or resignation. In the event of a
termination of Mr. Rego’s employment without cause or for good reason, in each case, on or after a change in
control, Mr. Rego’s outstanding stock options will vest in full.

Under the terms of Mr. Rego’s employment agreement, he has agreed not to disclose any confidential
information concerning our business. In addition, Mr. Rego has agreed not to solicit or to interfere with our
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relationship with any of our employees, officers or representatives or to solicit any of our customers, clients,
suppliers, licensees or other business relations until 12 months following termination of his employment.
Furthermore, - Mr. Rego has entered into our form noncompetition agreement pursuant to which he has agreed not
1o engage in, become interested in, enter into employment with or provide services to any business (or any
person, firm or corporation engaged in any business) that directly competes with our business until 12 months
following termination of his employment.

Louis A. Mamakos

Effective August 1, 2003, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Mamakos providing for his
employment as our Chief Technology Officer for an initial term of two years. The term will automatically renew
for additional one-year periods, unless either party gives notice at least 90 days prior to the end of the then-
current term. Under his employment agreement, Mr. Mamakos is entitled 1o receive an annual base salary of
$200,000, subject to review by our compensation committee and our Chief Executive Officer. On January 18,
2006, our compensation committee raised Mr. Mamakos® salary to $220,000, effective March 15, 2006.

Mr. Mamakos is also eligible to receive an annual discretionary performance-based bonus in accordance with our
annual bonus program for senior executives. Annual bonus payments under the program generally are related to
the achievement of revenue and income (loss) from operations before depreciation and amortization targets, as
well as personal contribution. Our budget and business plan for the last several years has involved significant net
losses and losses from operations before depreciation and amortization, Therefore, annual bonuses are paid even
if we have net losses or losses from operations before depreciation and amomzatlon

Dunng the term of his employment agreement, if we terminate Mr. Mamakos' employmem without cause or
he resigns with good reason and, in each case, Mr. Mamakos provides us with a general release of claims, he will
be entitled to a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination payable on the date such bonus would have
been payable and an amount equal to his base salary for the longer of one year and the remainder of the term
payable in substantially equal installments over the lesser of (1) a six-month period, or (2} such shorter period
that is the longest period permissible in order for payments not to be considered nonqualified deferred
compensation under the tax code. If Mr. Mamakos’ employment is terminated by reason of death or disability, he
will be eatitled to a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination and an amount equal to his base salary for
one year (reduced by the net amount of any disability benefits received by Mr. Mamakos under our group
disability policy). In the event we terminate Mr. Mamakos®” employment for cause or he resigns without good
reason, he would only be entitled to receive his unpaid base salary through and including the date of termination
or resignation.

Under the terms of Mr. Mamakos® employment agreement, he has agreed not to disclose any confidential
information concerning our business, In addition, Mr. Mamakos has agreed not to solicit or to interfere with our
relationship with any of our employees, officers or representatives or to interfere with our relationship with any
of our customers, clients, suppliers, licenses or other business relationships until 12 months following
termination of his employment. Furthermore, Mr. Mamakos has entered into our form noncompetition agreement
pursuant to which he has agreed not to engage in, become interested in, enter into employment with or provide
services to any business (or any person, firm or corporation engaged in any business) that directly competes with
our business until 12 months following termination of his employment.

Sharon A. OQ'Leary

Effective August 8, 2005, we entered into an employment agreement with Ms. O’Leary providing for her
employment as our Chief Legal Officer for an initial term of two years. The term will automatically renew for
additional one-year periods, uniess either party gives notice at least 90 days prior to the end of the then-current
term. In the event of a change in control, the term will also be automatically extended until the first anniversary
of the change of control. Under her employment agreement, Ms. O’Leary is entitled to receive an annual base
salary of $250,000, subject to review by our compensation committee and our Chief Executive Officer. On
January 18, 2006, our compensation committee raised Ms, O’Leary’s salary to $290,000, effective March 15,
2006. Ms. O’Leary also is eligible to receive an annual discretionary performance-based bonus in accordance
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with our annual bonus program for senior executives. Annual bonus payments under the program generally are
related to the achievement of revenue and income (loss) from operations before depreciation and amortization
targets, as well as personal contribution. Our budget and business plan for the last several years has involved
significant net losses and losses from operations before depreciation and amortization. Therefore, annual bonuses
are paid even if we have net losses or losses from operations before depreciation and amortization. In addition,
Ms. O'Leary will receive an annual benefits stipend beginning in 2006, in a net amount of $2,200, to pay the
premium on disability insurance.

During the term of her employment agreement, if we terminate Ms. O’Leary’s employment without cause or
she resigns with good reason and, in each case, Ms. O’Leary provides us with a general release of claims, she
will be entitled to a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination payable on the date such bonus would have
been payable and an amount equal to her base salary for the longer of one year and the remainder of the term
payable in substantially equal installments over the lesser of (1) a six-month period, or (2) such shorter period
that is the longest period permissible in order for payments not to be considered nonqualified deferred
compensation under the tax code. If Ms. O’Leary’s employment is terminated by reason of death or disability,
she will be entitled to a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination and an amount equal to her base salary
for one year (reduced by the net amount of any disability benefits received by Ms. O'Leary under our group
disability policy). In the event we terminate Ms. O'Leary’s employment for cause or she resigns without good
reason, she would only be entitled to receive her unpaid base satary through and including the date of termination
or resignation. In the event of a termination of Ms. O’Leary’s employment without cause or for good reason, in
each case, on or after a change in control, Ms. O’ Leary’s outstanding stock options will vest in full.

Under the terms of Ms, O’Leary’s employment agreement, she has agreéd not to disclose any confidential
information concerning our business. In addition, Ms. O’Leary has agreed not to solicit or to interfere with our
relationship with any of our employees, officers or representatives or to interfere with our relationship with any
of our customers, clients, suppliers, licensees or other business relations until 12 months following termination of
her employment. Furthermore, Ms. O’Leary has entered into our form noncompetition agreement pursuant to
which she has agreed not to engage in, become interested in, enter into employment with or provide services to
any business (or any person, firm or corporation engaged in any business) that directly competes with our
business until 12 months following termiration of her employment,

The following table quantifies potential payments to our named executive officers upon termination of

employment or change-in-control assuming the triggering event took place on December 29, 2006, the last
business day of our last completed fiscal year.
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Acceleration
Acceleration of Continuation
of Stock  Restricted of Medical/  Excise
Cash Pro Options  Stock Units Dental and Tax  Outplace-  Total
.. Severance Bonus Rata (Unvested) (Unvested) Vision Gross-up  ment  Termination
Name Payment Payment Bonus (1) [P} Benefits 3) Services  Benefits

Jeffrey’A. Citron .........

Termination without

cause or resignation for B

good reason $1,200,000 $1,080,000 $£540,000 $3,768,398 517,190  $4.067,590 $10,673,178
Termination upon death )

or disability . $ 600,000% 540,000 $540,000 $3,768,398 $17.190  $3,296,016 . $ 8,761,604
Change in Control $3,768,398 $2,147,326 $ 5915724
Termination without E .-

cause or resignation for

good reason following

a Change in Control

Michael Snyder .......... - -

Termination without . . .

cause or resignation for

good reason $1,100,000 $302,000 * T $50,000 $ 1,452,000
Termination upon death : . } L . \

or disability $ 550,000 $302,000 $ 852,000
Change in Control ' ’
Termination without

cause or resignation for ‘

good reason following ’ ‘

a Change in Control - $347,000 . $ 347,000

JohnS. Rego ............
Termination without
cause or resignation for
good reason $ 300,000 $225,000 . ‘ ) $ 525000
Termination upon death :
or disability $ 300,000 $225,000 $ 525000
Change in Control : .
Termination without
cause or resignation for
good reason following . . ' :
a Change in Control $ 339335  $347,000 $ 686,335

Louis A. Mamakos ....,.. : o
Termination without
cause or resignation for ‘
good reason $ 220,000 $ 82,000 $ 302,000
Termination upon death
.or disability $ 220,000 $ 82,000 $ 302,000
Change in Control
Termination without
cause or resignation for
good reason following
a Change in Control $ 86,750 $ 86750

Sharon A. O'Leary .......
Termination without
cause or resignation for
good reason $ 290,000 $170,000 $ 460,000
Termination upon death
or disability $ 290,000 $170,000 8§ 460,000
Change in Control
Termination without
cause or resignation for
good reason following
a Change in Control $347,000 $ 347,000

Timothy Smith ..........
Termination without
cause or resignation for
good reason
Termination upon death
or disability
Change in Control
Termination without
cause or resignation for
good reason following
a Change in Control $173,500 $ 173,500
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(1) The payments relating to stock options represent the value of unvested stock options as of December 29,
2006 that would be accelerated upon a change in control or termination of employment, calculated by
multiplying the number of shares underlying unvested options by the excess of the closing price of our
common stock on December 29, 2006 ($6.94) over the exercise price. For each of Mr. Snyder, Mr. Rego and
Ms. O’Leary, in the event of a change in control, any remaining unvested options will vest. For each of
Mr. Mamakos and Mr. Smith, in the event that such executive officer’s employment terminates not later
than 180 days after a change in control, due to termination by us without cause or by the executive officer

for good reason, the options will vest as to one-half the number of unvested options as of the date of
termination of employment. For more information please see the section titled “Ongoing and Post- -
Employment Compensation” in our Compensation Discussion and Analysis for a discussion of the
acceleration of our stock-awards upoen a change in control. : . ) .

(2) The payments relating to restricted stock units represent the value of unvested and accelerated restricted
stock units as of December 29, 2006, calculated by multiplying the number of unvested shares by the
closing price of our common stock on December 29, 2006. For each of Mr. Snyder; Mr. Rego and

Ms. O’Leary, in the event such executive officer’s employment terminates not later than 180 days after a
change in control, due to termination by us without cause or by the executive officer for good reason, any
remaining unvested restricted stock units will vest as of the date of termination of employment. For each of
Mr. Mamakos and Mr. Smith, in the event that such executive officer’s employment terminates not later
than 180 days after a change in control, due to termination by us without cause or by the execitive officer
for good reason, the restricted stock units will vest as to one-half the number of unvested restricted shares as
of the date of termination of employment. For more information please see the section titled “Ongoing and
Post-Employment Compensation” in our Compensation Discussion and Analysis for a discussion of the
acceleration of our stock-awards upon a change in control,

(3) Upon a change in control, employees may be subject to an excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal
Revenue Code. We have agreed to reimburse Mr. Citron for that excise tax as well as any income dnd excise
taxes payable by Mr. Citron as a result of any reimbursements for the Section 4999 excise tax. The amount
in the table is based on a Section 4999 éxcise tax rate of 20 percent, a 40 percent federal income tax rate, a
1.45 percent Medicare tax rate, and a 9 percent state income tax rate. Each of the other named executives is
subject to Section 4999 and payments to such executive may be adjusted to avoid incurring the excise tax.
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DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

We use a combination of cash and equity-based compensation to attract and retain qualified candidates to
serve on our board of directors. In setting director compensation, we consider the significant amount of time that
our directors expend in fulfilling their duties as well as the skill-level required by us of members of our Board.

Cash Compensation Paid to Board Members

Directors’ annual retainer fees in 2006 were as follows:

*  Base annual retainer for all non- emp]oyee directors ........... e $50,000
»  Additional retainer:
+  Lead Director and Audit Commlttee Chairperson ........... ..ot i $25.,000
+  Other Audit Commiltee MembDerS . .. ...ttt it ittt atanans $10,000
»  Compensation Committee Chairperson and Nominating and Governance Committee
ChairPerson . ... .. ...ttt e e iai e $10,000
*  Other Compensation Commmee and Nommatmg and Governance Committee

11T T S $ 5,000
Board and Board Committee Meeting fees for 2006 for non-employee directors were as follows:

»  Fees per regular Board meeting attended . ............ ... .. i $ 3,000
*  Fees per special Board meeting attended .................... ... ... ... P - % 500
»  Fees per regular Board committee meeting:

¢ Audit Committee

*  Chairperson :..... SR P e oo, § 3,000
s  Othermember.......... e e e e e e P v.... $ 2,000
+ Compensation Committee ‘
B 1Ty ot 10" P $ 2,500
o Othermember . . . o e ... $ 2,000
»  Nominating and Governance Committee .
*  Chairperson ...... e e e $ 2,500
» Othermember............... e e e $ 2,000
+  Fees per Special Board Committee meetings . . ....................... e - § 3500

In addition, we reimburse all directors for reasonable and necessary expenses they incur in performing their
duties as directors of our company.

Equity-Baséd Grants to Board Members

On the date they commence service on our board of directors, newly elected directors receive an option to
purchase 45,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price not less than the fair market value of our
common stock on the date of grant. Fair market value was determined by our board for grants prior to our initial
public offering. For grants after our initial public offering and prior to December 1, 2006, fair market value was
based on the closing price of our common stock as reported on the NYSE on the day prior to the date of grant and
thereafter fair market value is based on the closing price on the date of the grant. The stock option vests over a
period of four years, vesting as to 25% of the underlying shares on the first anniversary of the date of grant and
as to the remaining underlying shares in equal quarterly installments thereafter. The stock options vest in fuli
upon a change in control. Beginning September 1, 2006 and the first day of the last month of each quarter,
directors who are not officers or employees of our company are awarded options to purchase 3,750 shares of our
common stock at an exercise price not less than the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant
determined as described in the preceding paragraph, and 3,750 shares of restricted common stock. In order to be
eligible for such grants, the director must have served on our board for the entire previous quarter. These options
granted on a quarterly basis vest quarterly over a one-year period, subject to full vesting in the event of a change
in control.
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The table below summarizes the compensation paid by the Company to non-emplayee directors for the *
fiscal year ended December 31, 2006. . Do . P L

' DIRECTOR COMPENSATION—2006 . -

Fees .
Earnedor =~ st
. _Paid in . Stock Qption

' Name (1) Cash - Awards (2) - Awards(3)’ Total *
.+ Betsy S.Atkins ............. PP s 3103000 $23.855. $240,582  $367437

PeterBarris ... i i e $ 65,000 $23,855 $206,779 . $295,634

MortonDavid ............ ... .. .. cciiin.. . $ 98500 . $23,855 $201,291 $323,646

OritGadiesh ... i i eaea $ 65,000 . $23.855 -$245,281 - $334,136

| J. Sanford Miller . ................. heaeaa . $114,500 $23,855 $ 43231  $181,586
HughPanero ..........ooiiiiiiiiiiiaannn, $ 5,000 $ — $316,598 . $321,598

Governor Thomas Ridge . ... ... .. e $ 79,000 $23,855 $326,798  $429,653

JohnJ. Roberts ... ... it $106,500 $23,855 $206,779, $337,134

| HarryWeller ..., $ 67,000 $23,855  $206,779  $297,634
|

(1) Ms. Atkins resigned from our board on March 30, 2007, Ms. Gadiesh resigned from our board on
_ February 15, 2007 and Mr. Panero resigned from our board on August 18, 2006.

(2) Stock awards consist only of restricted stock. The amounts shown do not reflect comp_ensatio'n actually
received by the directors. Instead, the amounts shown are the compensation costs recognized by us in 2006
with respect to stock awards for financial statement purposes, computed in accordance with SFAS 123R, but
without giving effect to estimated forfeitures. The assumptions used to calculate the value of stock awards
are set forth under Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 filed with the SEC on April 17, 2007, With the
exception of Mr. Panero, each of the directors held 7,500 shares of restricted stock as of December 31, 2006.
‘Mr. Panero held no shares of restricied stock as of December 31, 2006. The restricted stock granted to each
of the directors on September 1, 2006 and December 1, 2006 had a grant date fair value computed in

. accordance with SFAS 123R of $29,725 and $22,349, respectively. :

(3) "The amounts shown do not reflect compensation actually received by the directors. Instead, the amounts
shown are the compensation costs recognized by us in 2006 with respect to stock options for financial
statement purposes, computed in accordance with SFAS 123R, but without giving effect to estimated
forfeitures. These compensation costs reflect option awards granted in and prior to 2006. The assumptions
used to calculate the value of stock options are set forth under Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006
filed with the SEC on April 17, 2007. The following numbers of options were held by each of the directors
as of December 31, 2006: Betsy S. Atkins, 159,287; Peter Barris, 221,787; Morton David, 345,522; Orit
Gadiesh, 159,287; J. Sanford Miller, 16,429; Hugh Panero, 18,602; Governor Thomas Ridge, 159,287; John
J. Roberts, 221,787; and Harry Weller, 221,787, The options granted to each of the directors on March 1,
2006, June 8, 2006, September 1, 2006 and December 1, 2006 had a grant ‘date fair value computed m ‘
accordance wnh SFAS 123R of $7l 590 $55,623, $18,983 and $13, 353 respectively. '
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EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN. INFORMATION

‘The following table provides information about the securities authorized for issuance under our equlty
compensation plans as of December 31, 2006. K T

S B Number of Securities
- .  Remaining Available for
Number of Securities to ~ Weighted-average Future Issuance Under

be Issued Upon:Exercise.  Exercise Price of o Equity Compensation
of Outstanding Options Outstanding  ~* Plans (excluding securities
Plan Category . and Rights . Options and R.lghts reflected in column (a))
@ (b) {©)
Equity compensalion plans approved by . . e C 5 o0
, security holders .. ..o it e . - 18916208 . . $7.25 -, . . [ 27.3633670)
Equny compensation plans: not. approvedby, . . -, - TR o
securityholders (2) ................... Pt - . T Lo — s g
Total ....... S Z*:.!..’-.". ISR 18 916,208" e '$725 Co 27, 363 367

—_— T A N [T P

(1) - The number of securities remammg for future 1ssuance consrsts 01:_ 1 1 924 364 shares issuable under our
2001 _Sroek Incentive Plan and 15,439,003 shares issuable under our 2006 Incentive Plan, both of which,
were approved by our stockholders. There are 28,286,393 shares authorizfed for options grants or restricted
stock grants under the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan. Currently, our board of directors has limited the total

- amount of future stock options.and other equity-based awards that may be granted‘'under our 2001 Stock

Incentive Plan to 2,000,000 shares; of which 1,557,786 shares are available for:grant as of December 31,
2006. The maximum number of shares.of our common stock-that are authorized.for issuvance under our 2006
Incentive Plan will be determined under a formula set forth in the plan, and will equal approximately
17.65% of the nurnber of sharés that are-issiied and outstanding from time to time, less the number of-shares
that are available for issuance under otr 2001 Stock Incentive Plan. ‘Awards under the 2001 Stock Incentive
Plan and 2006 Incentive Plan” ‘mdy include restricted stock, unrestrlcted stock, stock appreciation rlghts ‘
performance shares or other equ1ty based awards as the boarcl of directors may determlne CT e

' . . Thye

.

(2) We have no equity compensatlon plans not approved by securlty holders

-
B
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" STOCK OWNERSHIP INFORMATION

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of
March 1, 2007 by:

« each person or group who is known by us to own beneficially more than 5% of our common stock;
» each of our directors; . '
« each of our named executive officers; and'

« all of our directors and executive officers as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and generally includes any
shares over which a person exercises sole or shared voting or investment power. Shares of common stock subject
to options or warrants that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of March 1, 2007 are
considered outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding the options or warrants for the purpose of
computing the percentage ownership of that person but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of
computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Shares issuable upon conversion of convertible notes
are considered outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding the convertible notes for the purpose of
computing the percentage ownership of that person but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of
computing the percentage ownership of any other person. : ’ '

Unless otherwise indicated, each of the stockholders listed below has sole voting and investment power with
respect to the shares beneficially owned. Except as indicated below, the address for each stockholder, director or
named executive officer is 23 Main Street, Holmdel, New Jersey 07733.

This table assumes 155,163,295 shares of common stock outstanding as of March 1, 2007, assuming no
conversion of convertible notes and no exercise of outstanding warrants or options. This table includes the
unvested portion of the 3,750 shares of restricted common stock granted to each non-employee director on each
of September 1, 2006, December 1, 2006 and March 1, 2007. These shares of restricted common stock vest
quarterly over one year from the date of grant and vest in full upon a change in control.

Number of Percentage

Shares of Shares
Beneficially  Beneficially
Beneficial Owners of 5% or More Owned Owned
Jeffrey A.Citron (1) ... oovvvi e e 55,175,640 34%
Affiliates of Bain Capital, LLC(2) ... .. ovi it 12,051,594 8%
Meritech Capital Partners (3) .........oiairii i 13,613,620 9%
New Enterprise Associates (4) ...........oioieiiiiiiii i 29,281,065 19%
=5 T N R R R 12,960,348 8%

Par Investment Partners, LLP. (6) ... ..ttt it 8,000,000 5%
Directors and Named Executive Officers ’
Jeffrey A, GItron (1) ... uin e 55,175,640 34%
Michael Snyder (7) ... ovoti it 260,517 *
John S.Rego(B) . oo v i s 338,197 *
Louis A. MamaKkos (9) ...t e it ae it e e 150,019 *
Sharon A, O'Leary (10) ... ..ouut it e 108,422 *
Timothy Smith (11) ..ot 49,479 *
Peter Barris (12) ... .ovvvvn i, e e 29,281,065 19%
Morton David (13} ... .ottt i e 1,857,314 1%
J.Sanford MAller (34) ..o vvn it e et e 3,351,190 2%
Governor Thomas J. Ridge (15) ... ..o e e 75,899 *
John T, Roberts (168) . . i vt ittt i eir et e eaa e ia e e 129,387 *
Harry Weller (17) ..o oot iint i iae i e iaina e 29,281,065 19%
All directors and executive officers asa group (11 persons) ...................... 90,777,129 57%

*  Less than one percent.




(1) Includes 178,959 shares of common stock owned by KEC Holdings; 1,000,000 shares held by a charitable
organization for which Mr. Citron-serves as a director; 3,085,715 shares issuable upon conversion of
warrants; 2,816,814 shares owned by Kyra Elyse Citron 1999 Descendants Annuity Trust; 2,816,814 shares
owned by Noah Aidan Citron 1999 Descendants Annuity Trust; 9,599,140 shares owned by Jeffrey Adam
Citron 2003 Qualifted Seven Year Annuity Trust; 2,337,898 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise
of stock options; and 178,407 shares issuable upon conversion of convertible notes. With respect-to the
shares Held by a charitable orgamzatlon Mr: Citron disclaims beneﬁctal ownership of such shares.

2) Shares include (i) 1,747,634 shares owned by Bain Capttal Venture Fund 2005, L.P. (“Bam Venture Fund")
whose sole general partner 1s Bain Capltal Venture Partners 2005, L.P. (“BCVP™), whose sole general
partner is Bain Capital Venture Investors LLC (“BCVI™), (it) 247,371 shares owned by BCIP
Associates I, LLC ("BCIP III”) whose manager is BCIP Assocnates ITl, whose sole managmg general
partner is ‘Bain Capital Investors LLC (“BCI") and whose attorney in-fact with respect to such shares’is
BCVI, (iii) 6,642 shares owned by BCIP Associates I1I-B, LLC (“BCIP III-B,” and together with BCIP III,
the “BCIP Entitics™), whose manager is BCIP Associates I1I-B, whose solé managing partner is BCI and
whose attorney-in-fact with respect to such shares is BCV1, {iv) (a) 5,391,648 shares, and (b) 356,314 shares,
issuable upon conversion of convertible notes owned by Brookside Capital Partners Fund, L.P. (“Brookside
Fund”), whose sole general partner is Brookside Capital Investors, L.P. (“Brookside Investors™), whose sole
general partner is Brookside Capital Management, LLC (“Brookside Management”), (v) {a) 673,957 shares,
and (b) 241,206 shares issuable upon conversion of convertible notes owned by Sankaty Credit
Opportunities, L.P. (“SCO”). whose sole general partner is Sankaty Credit Opportunities Investors, LLC
(“SCI"), whose managing member is Sankaty Credit Member, LLC (“SCM™}, (vi) (a) 1,752,285 shares, and
(b) 505,248 shares issuable upon conversion of- convertlble notes owned by Sankaty Credit Opportunities II,
LP. (“SCO II“) whose sole general.partner is Sankaty Credit Qpportunities Investors II, LLC (“SCI II™),

. whose managing member is SCM, (vii) (a) 269,582 shares, and-(b) 472,421 shargs issuable upon conversion
of convertible notes owned by Prospect Harbor Credit Partners, L.P. (“PH”), whose sole general partner is
Prospect Harbor Investors, LLC (“PHI”) whose managing member is SCM,; (viii} 235,497 shares issuable
upon conversion of convertible notes owned by Sankaty High Yield Partners II, L.P., whose sol¢ general '
partner is Sankaty High Yield' Asset Investors ILLLC (“SHYA ), whose sole managing member is
Sankaty Investors II, LLC (*SI II"); and (ix) 151,289 shares issuable’ upon conversion of convertible fiotes
owned by Sankaty High Yield -Partners III, L.P, whose sole general partner is Sankaty High Yield Asset
Investors 111, LLC (“"SYHA III”), whose sole managmg member is Sankaty Investors III LLC (“SIIIT™),
Michael A, Krupka is the sole managing member of BCVI. Domenic Ferrante is the ranaging member of
Brookside Management.- Jonathan $. Lavine is the-managing member of each of SCM, S11I and SI IIl. Each
of Mr. Krupka, Mr. Ferrante and Mr. Lavine is (a} a limited partner of each of BCVP and Brook51de
Investors, (b) a member of BCI, BCVI, Brookside Management, SCI, SCI I, SCM, PHI, SHYA 11,
SHYA III, S1IY and SIIII, and (c) a general partner of BCIP Associates II. Mr. Krupka, Mr: Ferrante and
Mr. Lavine, and the entities listed above other than record holders of the shares listed above may each be

- deemed to share votmg and dlsposmve power with respect to these shares, but each disclaims beneficial
ownership of such shares except to the extent of thelr pecuniary interests therein, The .1ddress of each listed
entlty and 1ndw1dual 15 IIl Huntmgton Avenue Boston, MA 02199

3 'Ineludes {D(a) 12 414, 270 shares, and (’o) 759, 635 share:, issuable upon conversion of convertible notes
owned by Meritech Capital Partners II L.P.; (ii)(a) 319,429 shares, and (b) 19,546 shares issuable upon,
conversion of convertible notes owned by Meritech Capital Affiliates II L.P.; and (ii1) (a) 94,931 shares, and
{(b) 5,809 shares issvable upon conversion of convertible notes owned by MCP Entrepreneur Partners 11 L.P.
Meritech Management Associates II L.L.C., a managing member of Meritech Capital Associates I L.L..C., the
.general partner of Meritech Capital Partners II L.P.,-Meritech Capital Affiliates I L.P. and MCP Entreprencur
Partners 11 L.P., has sole voting and disposiiive power with respect to the shares held by Meritech Capital
Partners H L.P., Meritech Capital Affiliates II L.P. and MCP Entrepreneur Partners Il L.P. The managing
members of Meritech Management Associates I L.L.C, are Pau] S. Madera and Michael B. Gordon, who
disclaim beneficial ownership of these shares except to the extent of their pecuniary interest therein, The

. address for Meritech Capital Partners is 285 Hamilton Avenue, Suite 200, Palo Alto, CA 94301. .
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Includes: (i) 21,428 shares owned by NEA Ventures 2003, L.P.; (i) (a) 21,092,371 shares, and (b) 802,831
shares issuable upon conversion of convertible notes owned by New Enterprise Associates 10,L.P;
(iii) (a) 6,838,051 shares, and (b) 267,610 shares issuable upon conversion of convertible notes owned by

New Enterprise Associates 11, L.P.; and (iv) 236,274 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of

stock options. The General Partner for NEA Ventures 2003, Limited Partnership is J. Daniel Moore. The
General Partner for New Enterprise Associates 10, Limited Partnership is NEA Partners 10, Limited
Partnership. The individual general partners of NEA Partners 10, Limited Partnership are M. James Barrett,
Peter J. Barris, Richard Kramlich, Peter T. Morris, Charles W. Newhall, HI, Mark W. Perry, Scott D.
Sandell and Eugene A. Trainor, I1L. The General Partner for New Enterprise Associates 11, Limited
Partnership is NEA Partners 11, Limited Partnership. The general partner for NEA Partners 11, Limited
Partnership is NEA 11 GP, LLC. The individual managers of NEA 11 GP, LLC are M. James Barrett,
Peter J. Barris, Ryan D. Drant, Krishna “Kittu” Kolluri, C. Richard Kramlich, Charles M. Linehan, Peter T.
Morris, Charles W. Newhall, III, Mark W. Perry, Scott D, Sandeli and Eugene A. Trainor, III. The address
for New Enterprise Associates is 1119 St. Paul Street, Baltimore, MD 21202.

Includes (i) 90,985 shares owned by 3i Global Technology 2004-06, L..P.; (ii) 530,742 shares owned by 3i
Pan European Technology 2004-06, L.P.; (iii) 11,633,384 shares owned by 3i Technology Partners, L.P.;
(iv) 591,400 shares owned by Mayflower, L.P.; and (v) 113,837 shares of common stock issuable upon
exercise of stock options held for the benefit of 3i Corporation. These entities are collectively referred to in
this prospectus as 3i. Each of 3i Corporation and 3i Investments plcis a 100% indirect subsidiary of 3i
Group plc, a public company listed on the London Stock Exchange. Either 3i Corporation or 3i Investments
ple acts as the manager of each of the entities referred to above and; as such, has the discretionary power to
control the exercise of the investment and voting power to the shares owned by such entities. 3i Group plc
disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares owned by each of the entities referred to above, except to the

" extent of its pecuniary interest therein. The address for 3i is 91 Waterloo Road, London, SE1 8XP, United

®

D
(8)
€)

(10) Includes 1b3,422 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.

" Kingdom.

Information is based solely on'a Schedule 13G/A dated February 14, 2007 filed with the SEC. Each of Par
Investment Partners, L.P., ParGroup, L.P. and Par Capital Management, Inc. reports that it has sole power to
vote and sole power to dispose of 8,000,000 shares of common stock.

Includes 260,417 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options,

Includes 311,427 shares of common stock issuable upén exercise of stock options.

‘Includes 147,322 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.

(11) Includes 49,479 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.
(12) Includesi (i) 21,428 shares owned by NEA Ventures 2003, L.P.; (ii) () 21,092,371 shares, and (b) 802,831

shares issuable upon conversion of convertible notes owned by New Enterprise Associates 10,L.P;

(iii) (a) 6,838,051 shares issuable upon conversion of preferred stock, and (b) 267,610 shares issuable upon
conversion of convertible notes owned by Néw Enterprise Associates 11, L.P.; and (iv) 236,274 shares of
common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options. The General Partner for NEA Ventures 2003, -~
Limited Partnership is J. Daniel Moore. The General Partner for New Enterprise Associates 10, Limited
Partnership is NEA Partners 10, Limited Partnership. The individual general partners of NEA Partners 10,
Limited Partnership are M. James Barrett, Peter J. Barris, Richard Kramlich, Peter T. Morris, Charles W.
Newhall, ITI, Mark W. Perry, Scott D. Sandell and Eugene A. Trainor, III. The General Partner for New
Enterprise Associates 11, Limited Partnership is NEA Partners 11, Limited Partnership. The general partner
for NEA Partners 11, Limited Partnership is NEA 11 GP, LLC. The individual managers of NEA'11

GP, LLC are M. James Barrett, Peter J. Barris, Ryan D. Drant, Krishna “Kittu” Kolluri, C. Richard
Kramlich, Charles M. Linchan, Peter T. Morris, Charles W. Newhall, III, Mark W.'Perry, Scott D. Sandell
and Eugene A. Trainor, I1I. As Mr. Barris is a general partner of NEA Partners 10, Limited Partnership*
(which is the general partner of New Enterprise Associates 10, Limited Partnership) and a manager of NEA

46




11 GP, LLC (which is the general partner of NEA Partners 11, Limited Parinership, the general partner of
New Enterprise Associates 11, Limited Partnership), he may be deemed to have voting and dispositive
power with respect to such shares listed. Mr. Barris does not have voting or dispositive power with respect
to the shares held by NEA Ventures 2003, L.P. Mr, Barris disclaims beneficial ownership of all these shares,
except to the extent of his proportionate pecuniary interest therein.

(13) Includes 311,428 shares owned by David & Edward Cohen Trustees FBO Aaron; 311,428 shares owned by
David & Edward Cohen Trustees FBO Claudia; 311,428 shares owned by David & Edward Cohen Trustees
FBO lJulien; 311,428 shares owned by David & Edward Cohen Trustees FBO Zachary; 262,706 shares of
common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options owned by Morton David; and 14,265 shares issuable
upon conversion of convertible notes.

(14) Includes: (i) 2,875,002 shares owned by Institutional Venture Parters X1, L.P. (“IVP XI""), which is under
common control with Institutional Venture Partners XI GmbH & Co. Beteiligungs KG (“IVP XI KG”).;
(ii) 460,266 shares owned by IVP XI KG, which is under common control with IVP X1.; and (iii) 4,672
shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options. Institutional Venture
Management XI, LLC (“IVM XI") is the General Partner of IVP X1. IVM XI is the Managing Limited
Partner of [VP X1 KG. Mr. Miller is a Managing Director of IVM XI and IVM XI. Mr. Mitler disclaims
beneficial ownership of the shares reported herein, except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein and
the shares underlying the options issued directly to him.

(15) Includes 62,149 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.
(16) Includes 118,137 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.

(17) Includes: (i) 21,428 shares owned by NEA Ventures 2003, L.P.; (ii) (a) 21,092,371 shares, and (b) 802,831
shares issuable upon conversion of convertible notes owned by New Enterprise Associates 10, L.P.;
(ii1) (a) 6,838,051 shares issuable upon conversion of preferred stock, and (b} 267,610 shares issuable upon
conversion of convertible notes owned by New Enterprise Associates 11, L.P.; and {iv} 236,274 shares of
common siock issuable upon exercise of stock options. The General Partner for NEA Ventures 2003,
Limited Partnership is J. Daniel Moore. The General Partner for New Enterprise Associates 10, Limited
Partnership is NEA Partners 10, Limited Partnership. The individual general partners of NEA Partners 10,
Limited Partnership are M. James Barrett, Peter J. Barris, Richard Kramlich, Peter T. Morris, Charles W,
Newhall, 1], Mark W. Perry, Scott D. Sandell and Eugene A. Trainor, [11. The General Partner for New
Enterprise Associates 11, Limited Partnership is NEA Partners 11, Limited Partnership. The general partner
for NEA Pariners 11, Limited Partnership is NEA 11 GP, LLC. The individua! managers of NEA 11
GP, LLC are M. James Barrett, Peter J. Barris, Ryan D. Drant, Krishna “Kittu” Kolluri, C. Richard
Kramlich, Charles M. Linehan, Peter T. Morris, Charles W. Newhall, Iil, Mark W. Perry, Scott D. Sandell
and Bugene A. Trainor, I1I. NEA Partners 10, Limited Partnership and NEA Partners 11, Limited
Partnership have voting and dispositive power over these shares, Harry Weller is a Partner of New
Enterprise Associates but does not have voting or dispositive power with respect to all of these shares listed,
except with respect to the shares underlying the options issued directly to him, Therefore, Mr. Weller
disclaims beneficial ownership of all these shares listed, except to the extent of his proportionate pecuniary
interest therein.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our directors, executive officers and holders
of more than 10% of our common stock to file with the SEC reports regarding their ownership and changes in
ownership of our securities. We believe that, during fiscal 2006, our directors, executive officers and 10%
stockholders complied with all Section 16(a) filing requirements.

In making these statements, we have relied upon examination of the copies of Forms 3, 4 and 5, and
amendments thereto, provided to us and the written representations of our directors, executive officers and 10%
stockholders.
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Vonage Holdings Corp.

Headquarters:

23 Main Street
Holmdel, NJ 07733
Phone: {732) 528-2600
Fax: (732) 834-0189
Email: info@vonage.com

Vonage Investor Relations:

23 Main Street

Holmdel, N) 07733

Phone: (732) 365-1328
Website: http:/~irvonage.com

Stock Transfer Agent Information:
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
</o Vonage Holdings Corp.
59 Maiden Lane, Plaza Level
New York. NY 10038
Phone: (800) 937-5449 or

{718) 921-8124 (international callers)
Website: http.//www.amstock.com

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm:
BDO Seidman, LLP

90 Woodbridge Center Dr., 7th Floor
Woadbridge, N) 07095

Form 10-K:

A copy of the Company's Annual Report
on Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, is also available
to stockholders by calling the Investor
Relations Hotline at (732} 365-1328 or online
by accessing the Company’s Investor
Relations website at http:/~irvonage.com.

Annual Meeting:

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be
held at 2:00 p.m. ET on Tuesday, May 29, 2007 at;

Robert Meyner Reception Center

PNC Bank Arts Center 'J*’:!-"‘:

. Fxit 116, Garden State Parkway
Hglmdel, NJ 07733
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Note &n Forward-Locking Statements

We have provided certain information
which is deemed to be “forward-looking”
within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995
{the “Litigation Reform Act”).

The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,’
“expect,” “intend,” “will,” “should” and
similar expressions, as they relate to us,
are intended to identify forward-looking
statemients, Such statements reflect our
current views with respect to future
events and are subject to certain risks.
uncertainties and assumptions, Should
one or more of these risks or uncertain-
ties materialize, or should underlying
assumptions prove incorrect, actual
results may vary raterially from those
described herein as anticipated, believed,
estimated, expected or intended or using
other similar expressions. We do not
intend to update these forward-looking
statements, except as required by law.

b
In accordance with the provisions of the
Litigati'on Reform Act, we are making
investors aware that such forward-looking
statements, because they relate to future
events 'are by their very nature subject
to many important factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially
from those contemplated by the forward-
looking statements contained herein.
Such factors are set forth in the "Risk
Factors” section, the “Legal Proceedings”
section, the "Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Results of Operations
and Financial Condition” section and
other sections of our Annual Report

on Form 10-K.
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